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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
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(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended D ber 31, 2023 D ber 31, 2024

Oor
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission file number: 001-36468

ARISTA NETWORKS, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 20-1751121
(State or other jurisdiction of (.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

5453 Great America Parkway
Santa Clara, California 95054
(Address of principal executive offices)
(408) 547-5500
(Regi: 's telephone r y ir ing area code)
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, $0.0001 par value ANET New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.  Yes No [
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act. Yes [ No
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No [J
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12

months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes No [
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated

filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer O
Non-accelerated filer O Smaller reporting company O
Emerging growth company O

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to
Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. []

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management's assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report.

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial
statements. [

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the registrant's executive officers during the relevant
recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). [J

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes [ No

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant was approximately $40.8 $90.2 billion as of June 30, 2023 June 28, 2024 (the last business day of the
registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter) based on the closing price of the registrant's common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on such date. Shares held by persons who may be deemed affiliates

have been excluded. This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for other purposes.
On February 7, 2024 February 12, 2025, 312,633,612 1,261,122,596 shares of the registrant's common stock were outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant's definitive Proxy Statement relating to its 2024 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the registrant's fiscal year end of December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024 are incorporated by reference into Part Il of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the sections entitled “Business,” “Risk Factors,” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations,” contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which statements involve substantial risks and uncertainties. The words “believe,” “may,

“anticipate,” “intend,

could,” “would,” "should", “project,

plan,” “predict,

events or outcomes are intended to identify forward-looking statements.

These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements concerning the following:

will,” “potentially,” "likely" “estimate,” “continue,”

expect”, the negative of any of these words and similar expressions that convey uncertainty of future

« our ability to maintain an adequate rate of revenue growth and our future financial performance, including our expectations regarding our revenue, cost of revenue, gross

profit or gross margin and operating expenses;
» our belief that the networking market is rapidly evolving and has a significant potential opportunity for growth;
« our business plan and our ability to effectively manage our growth;
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« our ability to expand our leadership position in the networking industry and to develop new products and expand our business into new markets such as the Al Ethernet
switching, campus workspace, enterprise data center and security markets;

* our ability to satisfy the requirements for networking solutions and to successfully anticipate technological shifts and market needs, including the impact of artificial
intelligence, innovate new products, rapidly develop new features and applications, and bring them to market in a timely manner;

« our ability to fulfill our customers’ orders despite supply chain delays, issues with access to key commodities or technologies or geopolitical events that impact our
manufacturers or their suppliers such as the recent U.S. escalating tariff and non-tariff-related international trade wars, measures, the Russia-Ukraine and Israel-Hamas
conflicts, the Houthi attacks on marine vessels in the Red Sea or the impact of global pandemics such as the global coronavirus ("COVID-19") pandemic;

e our expectations related to our inventory and purchase commitments;

« our ability to identify, complete and realize the benefits of recent and future acquisitions of, or investments in, complementary companies, products, services or technologies;

« costs associated with defending intellectual property infringement and other claims and the potential outcomes of such disputes, such as any claims discussed in “Legal
Proceedings”;

< our ability to retain and increase sales to existing customers and attract new customers, including large customers;

» our ability to expand our business domestically and internationally;

« the effects of increased competition in our market and our ability to compete effectively;

« the budgeting cycles and purchasing practices of customers, including large customers who may receive lower pricing terms due to volume discounts or who may elect to
re-assign allocations to multiple vendors based upon specific network roles or projects;

« the growth and buying patterns of our large customers and resulting volatility in our customer concentration in which large bulk purchases may or may not occur in certain
quarters or may be deferred into future quarters or cancelled due to adjustments in their capital expenditure forecasts;

« the deferral or cancellation of orders by customers, warranty returns or delays in acceptance of our products;

< our ability to further penetrate our existing customer base and sell more complex and higher-performance configurations of our products;

« our belief that increasing channel leverage will extend and improve our engagement with a broad set of customers;

« our plans to continue to expand our sales force, marketing activities and relationships with channel, technology and system-level partners;

« our ability to scale our operational and manufacturing capacity;

e our plans to invest in our research and development;

« our ability to timely and effectively scale and adapt our existing technology;

« the benefits realized by our customers in their use of our products and services including lower total cost of ownership;

« our ability to detect breaches of our cybersecurity systems or other security breaches;

« the effects of seasonal and cyclical trends on our results of operations;

« our relationships with and expectations concerning third parties, including, but not limited to our large customers, suppliers, distributors, systems integrators, channel
partners and value-added resellers;

« the attraction and retention of qualified employees and key personnel;

< our ability to maintain, protect and enhance our brand and intellectual property;

« economic and industry trends;

« estimates and estimate methodologies used in preparing our financial statements;

e future trading prices of our common stock;

« our belief that we have adequately reserved for uncertain tax positions;
« the impact of global economic and political conditions that introduce instability into the U.S. and other economies;

« the impact of climate change and natural disasters;

« the impact of global and domestic tax reform;

» the impact of tariffs or other changes in international trade policies imposed by the U.S. on goods from other countries and tariffs imposed by other countries on U.S. goods;
and

e our belief that our existing cash and cash equivalents together with cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet our working capital requirements and our growth
strategies for the foreseeable future.

These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including those described in the section titled “Risk Factors” and
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment, and new risks emerge from time to time. It is not
possible for our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause
actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking
events and circumstances discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in
the forward-looking statements. You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events.
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The forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We undertake no
obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our
forward-looking statements and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any
future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or investments we may make.
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PART |
Item 1. Business

Arista Networks is an industry leader in data-driven, client to cloud client-to-cloud networking for large Al, data center, campus and routing environments. Arista’s platforms
deliver availability, agility, automation, analytics, and security through an advanced network operating stack. Since Arista’s inception, our founders have reimagined cloud networks
for performance, scale and programmability with a focus on differentiating in three ways: uncompromising reliability built on the foundation of robust quality assurance capabilities
with a suite of automated diagnostics, advanced open and standards-based technology and a robust quality assurance capability built intelligent automation to decrease the manual
workload on a suite of automated diagnostics. the operator.

At the core of Arista’s platform is Arista’s Extensible Operating System (EOS® ("EOS®"), a modernized publish-subscribe state-sharing networking operating system. Arista
EOS, combined with a set of network applications and our Ethernet switching and routing platforms using best of breed merchant silicon, provides customers with a highly
competitive and diversified portfolio of products with improved price/performance and time to market.

Our current portfolio of offerings products, services and technologies are categorized in grouped into the following three product categories:

Core: high-speed Data Core (Data Center, Cloud and Al Networking), Cognitive Adjacencies (Campus and Routing), and Cognitive Network (Software and Services). Our
customers include companies of all sizes and span a range of industries and geographies and are grouped into the following categories: Cloud Networking systems including newer
artificial intelligence ("Al") Ethernet switching platforms.

Cognitive Adjacencies: campus wired and wireless products Al Titans, Enterprise and advanced routing systems addressing Core Routing, Edge Routing, Data Center
Interconnect (DCI), Multi-cloud and Wide Area Networking (WAN) use cases.

Network Software and Services: a suite of value-add software solutions that leverage Arista’'s EOS to provide advanced end-to-end orchestration, automation, analytics,
network monitoring and security.

Providers. Since we began shipping our products in 2008, we have experienced rapid growth, and, according to market research in 2023, 2024, we have achieved the
leadership position in high-speed Ethernet port shipments of 100G and above and the second largest market share in overall data center Ethernet switch ports and
revenue. revenue and continue to lead the market in higher speed Ethernet port shipments of 100G and above. We have been profitable and cash flow positive since 2010.

Our Market Opportunity

We sell our products through both a direct sales force and channel partners, competing primarily in the high-speed data center Ethernet switching markets for 10 Gigabit
Ethernet ("GbE") and above, including the Cloud and Al Ethernet switching markets, Enterprise Data Center switching/routing market, the cloud-grade and enterprise routing
markets, and the campus wired and wireless markets. In recent years, we have We also entered into participate in the Network Monitoring, and Network Detection and Response
(NDR) ("NDR") and Network Access Control security markets through both acquisition and organic development.

Our Customers

Our customers span a range of industries and geographies, includinginclude large cloud customers or hyperscalers, Cloud and Al Titans, other internet providers, and
service providers, including specialty and Al Neoclouds, and a wide breadth of enterprise customers, including financial services organizations and government agencies and a
cross section of enterprise customers. Over the past five years, we have diversified agencies. We continue to diversify the types of enterprise customers we sell to and have
continued to expand our presence across a wide spectrum of industries including media and entertainment, healthcare, oil and gas, education, manufacturing, industrial, and more.
Meta Platforms and Microsoft, two of our cloud Cloud and Al Titan end customers, each accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue for the years ended December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

Market Drivers
Digital Transformation

Digital transformation is fundamentally changing the way technology is integrated into business operations and as a result how IT infrastructure is built, and applications are
delivered across cloud and end-customer environments. The expanded dependency of business operations on the network has increased the complexity of the network and
heightened the importance of network availability, predictable performance, open programmability, security, and operational simplicity.

The public Public cloud leaders pioneered the development of large-scale cloud data centers to meet these growing demands from their users, including business
customers. Enterprises now have the option to move applications to the cloud as cloud services are generally easier and more cost effective to deploy, scale and operate than
traditional applications. These cloud metrics have become the baseline for performance, cost and efficiency of IT infrastructure investments. Enterprises and service
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providers around the world are also now adopting cloud computing technologies and principles to their own non-cloud or hybrid operations in order to achieve similar performance,
operational efficiencies and cost reductions.

Arista addresses our customers' requirements through our approach to network architecture, our platforms and our software. Our comprehensive R-series, X-series and X-
series Etherlink switching and routing portfolios running the highly programmable EOS, transform networks with simplified and scalable architectures across multiple use-cases.

Artificial Intelligence (Al)

The expansion of generative Al computing and distributed applications is further pushing the boundary of predictable scale and performance in the network. A common
characteristic of these Al workloads is that they are both data and compute intensive. A typical Al workload involves large sparse matrix computations, distributed across hundreds
or thousands of processors (CPU, GPU, TPU, etc.) with intense computations for a period of time and requires a high-bandwidth, scalable, lossless network in order to service these
workloads. With the exponential growth of Al applications, the need for standardized transport like Ethernet becomes paramount, enabling a power-efficient interconnect while
overcoming the complexities of traditional approaches.

Arista's Al strategy is based on achieving two key objectives. Arista first offers to customers the Arista Autonomous Virtual Assist ((AVAT™v)) using natural processing
language to provide Al assisted outcomes for security and observability. Arista also provides network switching products intended to provide a robust interconnect that seamlessly
links GPUs, compute and storage to deliver fast job completion time for training and generative Al workloads. Arista also offers customers the Arista Autonomous Virtual Assist
("AVATv?) which uses natural processing language to provide Al-assisted outcomes for network operations, security and observability.

An overview of our Al enabled solutions is shown below:

o Screenshot 2025-01-26 130728.jpg

As a proud founding member, Arista is committed to leading the Ultra Ethernet Consortium (UEC) ("UEC") to achieve scalable and efficient remote memory access,
implemented with enhanced packet spraying, flexible ordering, and modern congestion control algorithms.

Hybrid Work

In the post-pandemic world, the traditional “campus” has been redefined and the boundaries between the office, home, teleworker and user have converged. At the same
time, the proliferation and sophistication of devices that connect the campus, such as smart devices, security cameras and Internet of Things ("loT"), has grown dramatically. The
challenge lies in successfully transitioning the existing siloed campus into a data-driven, distributed campus model with a common experience, while addressing the growing security
and availability needs.

Arista’s campus portfolio was driven by customers desiring the same quality and operational efficiency available from EOS and CloudVision® throughout their entire
enterprise network. We entered the campus market with a diverse portfolio of modular and fixed form factor Campus spine switches, Power-over-Ethernet (PoE) ("PoE") leaf
switches and WiFi access points based on EOS and Wi-Fi
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EOS and access points managed through CloudVision. We continue to expand our campus portfolio to offer the advantages of EOS across the entire enterprise network. Most
recently, we have added incremental Enterprise WAN products as well as embedded NDR security sensors into our campus switches to address more of the security challenges
that face campus administrators.

Zero Trust Networking Security

Today, Zero trust architectures attempt to mitigate risk associated with cyber threats by eliminating implicit trust in a device simply because it is on the “internal” network.
However, this is easier said than done, given today’s changing definition of the network that spans campus, data center, cloud, and more. Adding multiple network security layers
such as firewalls, network access control, and threat detection, among others, comes with tremendous cost, complexity, and brittleness, whereas the benefits are often hard to
quantify.

Avrista offers a full suite of security solutions built on the foundations of our unified operating system in EOS® and the common management plane in CloudVision™. These
solutions map to the Cybersecurity and Infrastructure Security Agency’s Zero Trust Maturity Model and help organizations accelerate their journey toward optimal zero trust
networking approach to maturity. Moreover, these network security is paramount controls can help compensate for organizations looking to build a robust cybersecurity program.
Irrespective of which device, application, or user is accessing an enterprise resource, gaps in the organization’s zero trust focuses on complete visibility posture in domains such as
identity, devices, workload, and control over all activity on the network.

Arista’s zero trust networking principles, based on NIST 800-207, help customers address this challenge with three cornerstones: visibility, continuous diagnostics, and
enforcement. The Arista NDR platform delivers continuous diagnostics for the entire enterprise threat landscape, processes countless points of data, senses abnormalities or
threats, and reacts if/iwhen warranted. data.

Limitations of Traditional Enterprise Data Center and Campus Networks

The introduction of large scale, highly complex, public cloud environments and the digital transformation of end customer business models meant that the traditional ways of
building networks were no longer adequate to meet the needs of customers for the deployment and provision of cloud applications and more recently generative Al applications, and
new applications. New innovations were needed to push network performance forward.
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Historically, most common network designs were rigidly hierarchical, based on a 3-tiered model developed in the early days of the internet for sparse north/south traffic
patterns. This model was limited in the number of devices that could be connected to a network and introduced many points of congestion as customers tried to scale the solution.
As more applications move to the cloud, network connections must scale, and the increased east/west traffic must be managed without congestion.

In addition, the switches and routers used to build these tiered networks were based on proprietary, application-specific integrated circuits ("ASICs") that historically
underperformed when measured against Moore’s Law, and operating systems that lacked the openness and programmability necessary to automate and effectively manage these
networks. As demand for scale and performance increased, the end-user experience was degraded, operational costs increased, and the host cost-per-connection increased.

Similarly, traditional enterprise networks have been mired in complexity, proprietary features and architectures, custom ASICs, siloed designs, and fragile software offerings
built up over the previous three decades. Because of this, operating a legacy network is riddled with challenges; critical outages that cause risk-averse behaviors, labor-intensive
rollouts that impede business initiatives, limited visibility that prevent problem detection and isolation, and overall lack of automation and uniformity that results in inefficiency. In
addition, there had historically been little or no attempt to address the needs of building and operating a network infrastructure at massive, cloud scale. As a result, as enterprises
moved applications to the cloud and implemented hybrid and multi-cloud strategies, there have been insufficient solutions that could configure, deploy, automate, and manage these
scaled and dispersed resources.

In the post-pandemic world, enterprise campus wired and wireless networks must cope with an ever increasing number of endpoint IoT devices and remote work locations
that require users to be connected from virtually anywhere. Campus administrators have sought to address the resulting increased network complexities and bottlenecks through the
adoption of a myriad of platforms, operating systems, proprietary features and network management tools. Coupled with the explosive growth of loT and the requirement for remote
workloads, the operational costs of managing these complexities have become prohibitive.

Visibility is a critical component to a more efficient cloud-like network. Being able to capture what a network is ‘thinking’ or ‘doing’ is the basis for true network automation
and analytics. Legacy networking has long suffered from limitations in network visibility largely due to inefficient polling mechanisms that only provide a limited subset of data. As a
result, the operators of legacy networks have been essentially blinded when it comes to true network insight.

Our Data-Driven Cloud Networking Solutions

The core of our cloud networking platform is our data-driven operating system, EOS, which runs on top of standard Linux and offers programmability at all layers of the
stack. System state and data are stored in EOS and maintained in a highly efficient, centralized system database where data is accessed via an automated publish/subscribe
model. This distinct design principle provides module independence, self-healing resiliency, and multi-process software stability. EOS is packaged as a perpetual license on Arista
hardware platforms, virtualized EOS (VEOS) and CloudEOS for production or simulations use cases with flexible platform support including third-party hardware.

Our cloud networking innovations started with pioneering a modern software platform, Arista EOS, which provides switching, routing, state-streaming and telemetry
functions across all Arista platforms. EOS established a new standard in networking for large-scale cloud operators, opened the door to the widespread adoption of merchant silicon
hardware in
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networks, and provided dramatic decreases in deployment and operating costs while delivering high reliability for cloud customers, service providers, enterprises, and more.

The Arista EOS network stack architecture provides a foundation for consolidation of streamed device state, telemetry, packet, flow, alert, sensor and third-party data into an
aggregated Network Data Lake (Arista EOS NetDL™). Arista EOS NetDL consolidates diverse datasets required for effectively applying Al/Machine Learning (ML) methods in by
Arista AVA for Network Operations (NetOps) and Security Operations (SecOps) environments, and ituse cases. NetDL also presents a single application programming interface
("API") surface for access to network and network-related data for enhancing Arista and third-party applications.

An overview of our cloud networking solutions is shown below:

l».Screenshot 2024-02-06 203803.jpg

The key benefits of our cloud networking solutions are as follows:
Capacity, Performance and Scale

Our data-driven cloud networking platforms enable data center networks to scale to hundreds of thousands of physical servers and millions of virtual machines with the least
number of switching tiers. We achieve this by leveraging standard protocols, non-blocking switch architectures and EOS to meet the scale requirements of cloud computing. We
architect active-active Layer 2 and Layer 3 network topologies to enable customers to build extremely large and resilient networks.

Emerging capabilities including recent developments related to Al will continue to place increased demands on networking infrastructure. Arista’s strategic commitment to
using merchant silicon is also a key competitive differentiator for Arista in addressing these capacity demands. Merchant silicon not only provides the best price/performance
available but allows Arista to bring next generation platforms to market early, allowing customers to benefit from Moore’s Law.

Availability

Networks are only useful when they are available. Arista’s modular EOS architecture and software testing innovations provide features and network designs that keep the
network available even during maintenance and upgrades. EOS publish-subscribe architecture provides self-healing resiliency through live patching, upgrades, fault isolation and
containment and graceful process restart to reduce maintenance windows and allow for intelligent insertion and removal of network elements.
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Openness and Programmability

Customers demand open, standards-based networking that avoids vendor lock-in and enables third-party integration to support best in-class technology ecosystems. Arista
EOS, built on Linux, features open standard protocols, such as Border Gateway Protocol ("BGP") and Ethernet VPN ("EVPN"), offering interoperable solutions. Our well-structured
set of APIs and EOS Software Development Kit ("SDK") as well as multiple DevOps integrations, enable enterprises to automate networking provisioning without manual
intervention. EOS also natively supports Ansible, CFEngine, Chef, Puppet, virtual network orchestration applications and third party third-party management tools.

Visibility
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Monitoring network performance in real time is a core need for current and next-generation architectures to run dependably. Arista EOS and CloudVision bring a modern
approach to network telemetry and a replacement for legacy polling mechanisms. CloudVision Analytics analytics engines and CloudVision Telemetry Apps telemetry apps leverage
the state streaming infrastructure of EOS and NetDL to give Arista customers an unprecedented level of visibility into their network operations.

Arista EOS also supports multiple telemetry tracers that bring deeper workload-level visibility by integrating with distributed applications like big data, cloud, container and
virtualized environments.

Security

Arista focuses on building security into the networking layers through features native to EOS, such as segmentation and encryption, as well as and network access control
and NDR powered by Al. Most importantly, Arista’s zero trust networking principles, based on NIST 800-207, help customers address integrated security challenges toolset uses the
underlying network infrastructure from switches to WAN routers to deliver key security capabilities and integrates seamlessly with three cornerstones: visibility, continuous
diagnostics, the organization’s existing security program and enforcement. The Arista NDR platform delivers continuous diagnostics for the entire enterprise threat landscape,
processes countless points of data, senses abnormalities or threats, and reacts if necessary. tools.

Operational Efficiency
Automation is critical to delivering operational efficiency and Arista has taken the lessons learned from building large public clouds and engineered network automation into
our CloudVision management platform. CloudVision eliminates burdensome manual tasks so organizations can become more agile in making changes to network infrastructure.

Fewer manual configurations enable faster time to service and improved availability for our customers. Our open APIs enable standards-based integration with third-party tools as
well, supporting additional automation capabilities.

Total Cost of Ownership

We believe our programmable, scalable leaf-spine architectures, combined with our applications, significantly reduce networking costs when compared to legacy network
designs, enabling faster time to service and improved availability. Our automation tools reduce the operational costs of provisioning, managing and monitoring a data center network
and speed up service delivery. Our tools provide visibility into complex network environments without the need for additional data collection equipment.

Cognitive Campus Workspace Solutions

Arista’'s Cognitive campus Campus is based on a data driven architecture and offers consistent, unified management across the campus edge for wired and wireless
networks as well as integrated security & proactive network assurance. Our Cognitive Campus Networking networking solutions are based on three capabilities: pillars:

Universal Cloud Network (UCN)Networking - Offered Customers want a network that minimizes planned and unplanned downtime. Arista delivers that through
capabilities such as smart software upgrades that can update a switch to a new version of code without taking an alternative to brittle, proprietary solutions from legacy vendors,
Arista UCN is an open, outage. Moreover, Arista’s standards-based design focusing on data-driven control principles. Arista’s Splinetm architecture, 7300 Series spine switches,
720/750 Series POE leaf switches, offerings minimize the learning curve for operators both in the wired and Wi-Fi platforms consolidate campus layers into simpler topologies that
reduce costs and improve reliability. the wireless space.

Cognitive Zero Touch Operations - The Cognitive management features built into Arista’s solutions are designed from the ground up for real-time telemetry, automation,
and Al for networking based on our unified network data lake architecture. As a result, customers can achieve faster deployment to new locations and lower their cost of network
operations.

Zero Trust Network - Arista CloudVision rely delivers a combination of capabilities that help customers secure their campus networks, from controlling who can get on
NetDL to collect real time streaming telemetry from across the campus network and automates many critical IT functions. These features provide real time visibility into the state of
the network including traffic flows. CloudVision's Al-enabled AVA leverages data from NetDL for Al/ML-driven outcomes, helping via network access control (“CloudVision AGNI") to
detect anomalies indetecting threats using network detection and response ("Arista NDR") or wireless intrusion prevention. Arista also provides identity-based micro segmentation
("Arista MSS") to ensure the network, identify root causes and offer recommendations for mitigation. The Wi-Fi access points in conjunction with CloudVision also provide proactive
network assurance zero trust posture extends to monitor end user experience without every critical asset within the need for an overlay network. organization.
Zero-trust Network Security - Securing the Campus requires a built-in approach to network segmentation, encryption, device compliance and auditing, as well as service
integration with Arista’s security partners. Arista delivers these capabilities through EOS and CloudVision AVA. Arista campus leaf switches have an integrated AVA sensor that
enables the access layer to provide Arista NDR capability without the complexity and cost of additional network monitoring devices. Arista’s Macro Segmentation Service Group
(MSS-G) provides a simpler, standards-based approach to segmenting traffic in the campus that is more flexible than other proprietary solutions. We believe Arista’s Wireless
Intrusion Prevention Service (WIPS) provides strong security while eliminating false positives.
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Our Competitive Strengths
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We believe the following strengths will allow us to maintain and extend our technology leadership position in data-driven cloud networking and next-generation data center
and campus workspace Ethernet products:

Purpose-Built Cloud Networking Platform -

We have developed a highly scalable cloud networking platform that uses software to address the needs of large-scale cloud companies, cloud service providers, and large
enterprises, including Al, virtualization, big data and low-latency applications. As a result, our cloud networking platform does not have the inherent limitations of legacy network
architectures.

Broad and Differentiated Portfolio -

Using multiple merchant silicon architectures, we deliver switches, capable of routing, with industry-leading capacity, low latency, port density and power efficiency, and have
innovated in areas such as deep packet buffers, highly available modular hardware, and reversible cooling options. Our broad portfolio has allowed us to offer customers products
that best match their specific requirements.

Single Binary Image Software -

The single binary image of EOS software allows us to maintain feature consistency across our entire product portfolio and enables us to introduce new software innovations
into the market that become available to our entire installed base without a “forklift upgrade” (i.e., a broad upgrade of the data center infrastructure).

Rapid Development of New Features and Applications -

Our highly modular EOS software has allowed us to rapidly deliver new features and applications while preserving the structural integrity and quality of our network
operating system. We believe our ability to deliver new features and capabilities more quickly than legacy switch/router operators provides us with a strategic advantage given that
the requirements in cloud and next-generation data center and campus networking continue to evolve rapidly.

Deep Understanding of Customer Requirements -

We have developed close working partnerships with many of our largest customers that provide us with insights into their needs and future requirements. This has allowed
us to develop and deliver products to the market that meet customer demands and expectations as well as to rapidly grow sales to existing customers.

Strong Management and Engineering Team with Significant Data Center Networking Expertise -

Our management and engineering team consists of networking veterans with extensive data center and campus networking expertise. Our Chief Executive Officer and
Chairperson, Jayshree Ullal, has over 40 years of networking expertise from silicon to systems companies, and Kenneth Duda, our Founder, Chief Technology Officer and Director,
leads our software development team including EOS. Our technical team also includes highly experienced leaders such as Hugh Holbrook, our Chief Development Officer, who
leads our platform driven software engineering, and Andy Bechtolsheim, our Founder and Chief Architect, who was previously a founder and chief system architect at Sun
Microsystems.

Significant Technology Lead -

We believe that our networking technology represents a fundamental advance in networking software. Our EOS software is a key cloud networking software stack that is
state-driven and a result of tremendous research and development efforts.

Our Products and Technology Services
Our portfolio of products and technology consists of services are grouped into the following three categories:
Core Data Centerl/ center/Cloud/Al Switching Products, Adjacent Campus and Routing Products and Network Software and Services.
Extensible Operating System (EOS)

The core of our cloud networking platform is our data-driven operating system, EOS, which runs on top of standard Linux and offers programmability at all layers of the
stack. System state and data are stored in EOS and maintained in a highly efficient, centralized system database where data is accessed via an automated publish/subscribe
model. This distinct design principle provides module independence, self-healing resiliency, and multi-process software stability.

We have continued to evolve the EOS software stack transforming the centralized EOS network database into a multi-modal, multi-tenant, capable data lake. The EOS
NetDLtv unifies the multiple data types gathered in a network and allows for external data ingestion and enrichment. NetDLtv aggregates data from systems, platforms, and
services enabling smoother operations between NetOps, CloudOps, and DevOps operators.

EOS is packaged as a perpetual license on Arista hardware platforms, virtualized EOS (VEOS) for production or simulations use cases or containerized EOS (cEOS) for
flexible platform support including third-party hardware.

Core Datacenter/Cloud/Al
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Arista offers one of the broadest product portfolios of data-driven, high-speed, cloud and datacenter data center Ethernet switches. Built on top of the superior quality and
openness of Arista EOS, we deliver high performance, industry-leading capacity, ultra-low latency, feature rich features, and powerful efficient solutions to meet our customers’
demand for customers building capacity and operating cloud networks. network speeds for both front-end and back-end storage, compute and Al zones. Our core switching portfolio
contains both fixed and modular form factors, varying port configurations and densities, and options in power delivery all driven by customer requirements.

The Arista Etherlink Al portfolio of 800G switches, coupled with Arista's EOS innovations such as Al Analyzer along with optimal load balancing solutions, offer compelling
solutions for contemporary Al applications and deployment. Arista also continues to be innovative in such areas as deep packet buffer architectures, virtual output queuing, non-
disruptive upgrades, embedded optics and next-generation optics, reversible cooling and overall system power efficiency. The Arista 7800R Al Spine, 7060 Al Leaf and the
Distributed Etherlink Switch ("DES") are designed to address the demanding scale and performance requirements driven by large-scale Al networks. Arista also provides solutions
for compute, GPU and storage interconnects in driving Al/ML workloads, leveraging its IP/Ethernet switches to deliver unparalleled performance and scalability. With

The Arista 7700R4 DES is an ultra-scalable, intelligent distributed system engineered to meet the exponential growth rigorous demands of large-scale Al applications, and
machine learning ("ML") environments. Building upon the need foundations of the 7800R4 series, the 7700R4 DES delivers strong performance and scalability for standardized
transport like Ethernet becomes paramount, enabling accelerated computing. The Arista 7700R4 represents a power-efficient interconnect while overcoming significant advancement
in networking technology, offering a robust and scalable solution tailored for the complexities most demanding Al and ML workloads. Its combination of traditional approaches. high
throughput, deterministic performance, and advanced congestion management makes it an ideal choice for organizations aiming to build or expand their Al infrastructure.

Al workloads require optimized performance and availability at all times, to minimize job completion time and thus maximize utilization of expensive XPU accelerators. The
7800R EOS-based Al spine and 7060X Al leaf switches, coupled with Arista's EOS innovations such as Al Analyzer Agent can reside either directly on a SmartNIC or on a server
CPU, to provide local configuration management of NICs along with optimal load balancing solutions offer compelling solutions streaming telemetry of NIC performance fed to
directly-attached Arista EOS-based switches. This ensures the QoS parameters for contemporary Al applications and deployment.

We continue optimization are consistently applied from the NIC to innovate the network alike, to avoid misconfigurations which might cause performance bottlenecks without
an easy-to-diagnose root cause. And with every generation of switching platforms. Most recently, Arista has brought to markettelemetry data spanning the Arista 7800R Al
Spine NICs and the 7060 Al Leaf to address networking platforms, the demanding scale network operations team can have comprehensive visibility into the entire traffic path with
immediate insight into performance and performance requirements driven by large-scale Al networks. We also continue to be innovative in areas concerning deep packet buffer
architectures, virtual output queuing, non-disruptive upgrades, embedded optics and next-generation optics, reversible cooling and overall system power efficiency. problems.

Cognitive Adjacencies

Cognitive Campus Switching

- Arista’s Cognitive Campus switching products, powered by EOS, offer consistent, unified management across the campus edge for wired and wireless networks as well as
integrated security & proactive network assurance. Our campus products include the Arista 7300 Series spine/SplineTM, Spline™, 720/750 Series POE switches, and a broad range
of indoor and outdoor Cognitive Wi-Fi Access Points.

Cloud-Grade Routing

- Arista’s Cloud-Grade Routing platforms, powered by EOS, combine high performance routing, high port density, deep buffers, integrated DWDM and wirespeed wire speed
encryption. Our 7280R3 Universal Leaf and 7500R3 and 7800R3 Universal Spine platforms serve a variety of use cases including high speed multi-cloud connect, Data Center
Interconnect (DCI), controller-based traffic engineering, peering, business VPNs, core routing and Secure Enterprise edge routing.

WAN Routing System

Arista’s new 5000- The Arista AWE-7200R Series of WAN Routing System, purpose built by Arista and powered by Arista EOS, offers high performance and scale to meet
enterprise modern WAN edge and aggregation requirements. The 5000 We believe the Arista AWE-7200R Series supports sets the standard for aggregation and critical site
interconnect by supporting 1/10/100GbE interfaces and flexible network modules while delivering modules. It delivers from 5Gb 1Gb to over 50Gb of bidirectional AES256 encrypted
traffic with high VRF and tunnel scale.

Networking Software and Services
CloudVision Our software and services are based on subscription-based models and include the following offerings:

CloudVision - CloudVision is Arista’s modern, multi-domain management platform that leverages cloud networking principles to deliver a simplified end-to-end network
operations experience for our Enterprise market. Unlike traditional domain-specific management solutions, CloudVision enables consistent zero touch network operations across
data center, campus wired and wireless, routing interconnect and multi-cloud networks helping to break down the complexity of siloed management approaches.

CloudVision is built on Arista’s NetDL architecture and leverages real-time network state to provide an abstraction of the physical network to a broader, network-wide
perspective allowing for a more efficient approach for several operational and network telemetry capabilities.
CloudVision’s cloud-native architecture gives customers a choice to consume CloudVision as a subscription service or an on-premise licensed appliance.

Arista A-Care Services
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- We have designed our customer support offerings, Arista A-Care Services, to provide our customers with high levels of support. Our global team of support engineers
engages directly with client IT teams and is always available over e-mail, by phone or through our website.

We offer multiple service options that allow our customers to select the product replacement service level that best meets their needs. We stock spare parts in over 200
locations around the world through our third-party logistics suppliers. All our service options include unlimited access to bug-fixes, new-feature-releases, online case management
and our community forums.

DANZ Monitoring Fabric (DMF)

- DANZ Monitoring Fabric (DMF) ("'DMF") is a next-generation network packet broker (NPB) architected for pervasive, organization-wide visibility and security, delivering
multi-tenant monitoring-as-a-service. Leveraging Arista's high-performance and versatile Ethernet switch platforms with DMF, IT operators can pervasively monitor all user,
device/loT and application traffic (north-south and east-west) by gaining complete visibility into physical, virtual and container environments. Deep hop-by-hop visibility, predictive
analytics, contextual insights and scale-out packet capture, integrated through a single dashboard, enables simplified network performance monitoring (NPM) (“NPM") and SecMon
workflows for real-time and historical context across production data centers, enterprise campus/branch and 4G/5G mobile networks. DMF switch licenses are sold as subscription
licenses.

Arista Guardian Network Identity (AGNI)

- To overcome the new security challenges and the explosion of clients in today’s perimeter-less enterprise networks, Arista delivers a novel Al-driven network Identity
service, Arista Guardian for Network Identity (AGNI) to connect the network, users, and devices across remote and geographically dispersed locations. Based on Arista’s flagship
CloudVision, the new AGNI platform brings scale, simplicity, and security across users, their associated endpoints, and IoT devices. AGNI integrates with Arista NDR and other
third-party XDR and EDR solutions for post-admission control functionality. AGNI is sold as subscription licenses.

Arista's Al-driven Network Detection and Response (NDR)

- An Al-driven Security Platform, powered by AVAT, Arista NDR analyzes billions of network communications to autonomously discover, profile and classify every device,
user, and application across perimeter, core, 10T, and cloud networks. Based on this deep understanding of the attack surface, the platform then detects threats to and from these
entities, while providing the context necessary to respond rapidly.

The analysis begins with AVA Sensors that span the network and perform deep packet inspection. These sensors are available in a variety of form
factors: physical hardware, virtual, cloud-based, and now also incorporated into Arista campus switches. Arista NDR licenses are sold as a subscription license.

CloudeEOS™

- CloudEOS is Arista’s multi-cloud and cloud-native networking solution supporting autonomic operation to deliver an enterprise-class, highly secure, and reliable networking
experience for any cloud. As part of the Arista EOS and CloudVision product family, it delivers consistent segmentation, automation, telemetry, provisioning and troubleshooting for
the enterprise edge, WAN, campus, data center and multiple public and private clouds. To provide a scalable and automated network experience, CloudEOS integrates with Arista
CloudVision to simplify the operator's experience of interconnecting and managing multi-cloud, cloud-native and on-premises enterprise networks.

CloudEOS is designed for consumption on Amazon AWS, Microsoft Azure, and Google public clouds via their marketplace and service catalogs, and it is also available as a
cloud-native instance for deployment in Kubernetes clusters. catalogs.

Our portfolio of products and technology consists of our Core Data Center/Cloud Switching Products, our Adjacent Campus and Routing Products and our Network Software
and Services.

Sales and Marketing

We market and sell our products through our direct sales force and in partnership with our channel partners, including distributors, value-added resellers, systems
integrators and original equipment manufacturer ("*OEM") partners. We also sell in conjunction with various technology partners. To facilitate channel coordination and increase
productivity, we have created a partner program, the Arista Partner Program, to engage partners who provide value-added services and extend our reach into the
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marketplace. Authorized training partners perform technical training of our channel partners and end customers. Our partners commonly receive an order from an end customer
prior to placing an order with us, and we confirm the identification of the end customer prior to accepting such orders. Our partners generally do not stock inventory received from us.

Our sales organization is supported by systems engineers with deep technical expertise and responsibility for pre-sales technical support and solutions engineering for our
customers, systems integrators, OEMs, and channel partners. In general, the personnel in our sales organization are formed into teams, and each team is responsible for a
geographical territory, has responsibility for a number of major direct end-customer accounts or has assigned accounts in a specific vertical market. A pool of shared channel sales
and marketing representatives also supports these teams.

Our marketing activities consist primarily of technology conferences, webinars, web marketing, trade shows, product demonstrations, seminars and events, public relations,
analyst relations, demand generation and direct marketing to build our brand, increase end-customer awareness, communicate our product advantages and generate qualified leads
for our field sales force and channel partners.
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Seasonality

We operate on a December 31st year end and typically have lower sequential quarter over quarter revenue growth in the first quarter of each fiscal year, often followed by
stronger sequential revenue growth in the ensuring ensuing quarters. We believe that this seasonality results from a number of factors, including the procurement, budgeting and
deployment cycles of many of our customers. The effects of recent supply chain disruptions and our rapid growth may have reduced the impact of seasonal or cyclical factors that
might otherwise have influenced our business and broader industry performance. If our growth rates slow, seasonal or cyclical variations in our operations may become more
pronounced over time and may materially affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. In addition, any supply chain shortages and manufacturing
disruptions that result in extended lead times may impact our ability to manufacture and ship products to our customers in a timely manner, which may disrupt typical seasonal
trends.

Research and Development

Our success relies on the timely enhancement of existing products and the development of new solutions and features to address changing customer needs and
technological advancements. Our in-house engineering personnel are responsible for the development, testing, documentation, support and release of our products. We have a
highly skilled team of software and hardware engineers with extensive experience in wired and wireless networking technologies, network protocols, network security, operating
systems, programming languages, compilers, databases, hardware system design, Field-Programmable Gate Array programming, high-speed signal integrity, and other related
technologies.

Our research and development strategy focuses on advancing our core products and expanding into new markets while maintaining high product quality. We are focusing
research and development efforts in (1) adapting EOS for new and existing silicon architectures, especially to support the unique requirements of Al workloads; (2) adding or
enhancing EOS control plane and management plane functionality; (3) expanding our CloudVision management stack with enhanced automation, provisioning, monitoring, and
security capabilities; (4) building related services, such as NDR and Network Access Control (NAC); (5) improving the security and scalability of our software development
infrastructure and software supply chain; and (6) maintaining high product quality throughout. We have dedicated significant time and resources in test automation, ensuring high
test pass rates, and working with our support group whenever customers experience technical defects in our products. Collaboration with customers and other industry leaders is
integral to our approach, though uncertainties persist regarding the successful development and market acceptance of emerging technologies. Looking ahead, we plan to continue
to invest in resources to conduct our research and development efforts to evolving evolve and extending extend our portfolio's capabilities, ensuring our products continue to address
dynamic market needs and solidify our industry leadership.

Manufacturing

We subcontract the manufacturing of allthe majority of our products to various contract manufacturers. Our primary manufacturing partners are Jabil Inc., Sanmina
Corporation, Flex Ltd. and Foxconn Hon Hai. This approach allows us to reduce These partners manufacture our costs, manufacturing overhead products internationally in Malaysia,
Vietnam, Mexico and inventory position and allows us to adjust more quickly to changing end-customer demand. other countries. We require all our manufacturing locations to be
1SO-9001 certified. After manufacturing and testing, the products are shipped to direct fulfillment facilities in the United States, the Netherlands and Singapore for further
transformation as needed and distribution. We have four direct fulfillment facilities worldwide to hold finished goods inventory and perform final product transformations, configuration
and install our EOS software to ship shipping to customers and partners. After distribution, our products are installed by the customers or by third-party service providers such as
system integrators or value-added resellers on their behalf.

Our contract manufacturing partners procure the majority of the components needed to build our products and assemble our products according to our design specifications.
This allows us to leverage the purchasing power of our contract
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manufacturing partners. We retain complete control over the bill of materials, qualified component suppliers, test procedures and quality assurance programs. Our personnel work
closely with our partners and review on an ongoing basis the forecasts, inventory levels, processes, capacity, yields and overall quality. Our contract manufacturing partners procure
components and assemble our products based on our demand forecasts. These forecasts represent our estimates of future demand for our products based upon historical trends
and analyses from our sales and product management functions as adjusted for overall market conditions. For example, when industry-wide supply chain shortages resulted in
extended lead times for components, we were required to extend the time horizon of our demand forecasts and increase our purchase commitments for long lead time components.

Our products rely on key components, including merchant silicon, integrated circuit components and power supplies purchased from a limited number of suppliers, including
certain sole source providers. We may also see increased consolidation among our component suppliers. In particular, we are primarily reliant upon our predominant merchant
silicon vendor,

Broadcom, for our switching chips. Generally, neither we nor our contract manufacturers have a written agreement with these component providers to guarantee the supply of the
key components used in our products, nor do we have exclusive rights to such key components, and our suppliers could suffer shortages, delay shipments, prioritize shipments to
other vendors, increase prices or cease manufacturing such products or selling them to us at any time. The supply of components may also be adversely affected by geopolitical
conditions such as international escalating tariff and non-tariff trade wars like measures imposed by the U.S. trade war with, Mexico, China the Houthi attacks on marine vessels and
other countries present in the Red Sea, and the impact of public health epidemics like COVID-19. our supply chain.
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Our product development efforts also depend upon continued collaboration with our key suppliers including our merchant silicon vendors such as Broadcom and
Intel. Broadcom. As we develop our product roadmap and continue to expand our relationships with these and other merchant silicon vendors, it is critical that we work in tandem
with our key merchant silicon vendors to ensure that their silicon includes improved features and that our products take advantage of such improved features. This enables us to
focus our development resources on software core competencies and to leverage the investments made by merchant silicon vendors to achieve cost-effective solutions.

Once the completed products are manufactured and tested, our contract manufacturing partners ship them to various direct fulfillment facilities in the United States, the
Netherlands and Singapore for final configuration, quality-control inspection and shipment to our distribution partners and customers. After the products are shipped to our
customers, our products are installed by the customers or by third-party service providers such as system integrators or value-added resellers on their behalf.

Competition

The markets in which we compete are highly competitive and characterized by rapidly changing technology, changing end-customer needs, evolving industry standards,
frequent introductions of new products and services and industry consolidation. We expect competition to intensify in the future as the market for cloud and Al networking expands
and existing competitors and new market entrants introduce new products or enhance existing products.

The data center and campus networking markets have been historically dominated by Cisco, with competition also coming from other large network equipment and system
vendors, including Nvidia, DellEMC, Extreme Networks, Del/lEMC, Hewlett Packard Enterprise, Huawei, Juniper Networks, Nvidia, and Juniper Networks. white box networking
vendors utilizing open-source operating systems. Most of our competitors and some strategic alliance partners have made acquisitions and/or have entered into or extended
partnerships or other strategic relationships to offer more comprehensive product lines, including cloud networking solutions. For example, Broadcom has acquired VMWare VMware
and Hewlett Packard Enterprises has entered into an agreement to acquire Juniper Networks.

With the emergence of Al networking, new competitive technologies may enter the market to address the requirements of Al clusters. Ethernet, today, faces competition
from both InfiniBand (IB) ("IB") and NV Link interconnects for back-end Al networking clusters. IB has traditionally been used in supercomputer clusters due to its high reliability, low
latency and high bandwidth. Both IB and NV Link are often sold as part of a vertical solution along with the GPUs from Nvidia.

We also face competition from other companies and new market entrants, current technology partners and customers who may acquire or develop network switches and
cloud service solutions for internal use and/or to broaden their portfolio of products to market and sell to customers. Some of these competitors are developing "white box"
networking products based on off-the-shelf or commoditized hardware technology, or “white box” hardware, particularly where a customer’s network strategy seeks to emphasize
deployment of such product offerings or adopt a disaggregated approach to the procurement of hardware and software. Customers may also increase their adoption of networking
solutions based upon open-source network operating systems that may be provided for free and used either on off-the-shelf or commoditized hardware technology, or “white box”
or hardware, while other competitors may adopt a disaggregated approach to the procurement of hardware and their proprietary hardware. software. The entrance of new
competitors into our markets or the increased adoption of these new technology solutions or consumption models may cause downward pricing pressures, result in lost sales or
otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.
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In the NDR market, our Arista NDR offerings compete with other network security vendors including Cisco, DarkTrace, Darktrace, and ExtraHop. In the network packet
broker (NPB) ("NPB") market, Arista DANZ Monitoring Fabric (DMF) ("DMF") competes with Cisco, Gigamon, Keysight, Cisco, Netscout AVIZ networks and other network monitoring
software providers.

Our relationships with our strategic alliance partners or suppliers may also shift as industry dynamics change. If strategic alliance partners acquire or develop competitive
products or services, our relationship with those partners may be adversely impacted, which could lead to more variability to our results of operations and impact the pricing of our
solutions.

The principal competitive factors applicable to our products include:
« breadth of product offerings and features;
< reliability and product quality;
« ease of use;

*  pricing;

« total cost of ownership, including automation, monitoring and integration costs;
« performance and scale;

* programmability and extensibility;

« interoperability with other products;

« ability to be bundled with other vendor offerings;

e product availability and shipment lead times; and

« quality of service, support and fulfillment.
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We believe our products compete favorably with respect to these factors. Our EOS software offers high reliability, integrates with existing network protocols and is open and
programmable. We believe the combination of EOS, a set of network applications and our 1/2.5/5/10/25/40/50/100/200/400/800 Gigabit Ethernet platforms make our offering highly
competitive for both cloud and enterprise data centers. However, many of our competitors have greater name recognition, longer operating histories, larger sales and marketing
budgets and resources, broader distribution and established relationships with channel partners and end customers, greater access to larger customer bases, greater customer
support resources, greater manufacturing resources, the ability to leverage their sales efforts across a broader portfolio of products, the ability to leverage purchasing power when
purchasing subcomponents, the ability to bundle competitive offerings with other products and services, the ability to develop their own silicon chips, the ability to set more
aggressive pricing policies, lower labor and development costs, greater resources to make acquisitions, larger intellectual property portfolios and substantially greater financial,
technical, research and development or other resources.

Intellectual Property

Our success and ability to compete depend substantially upon our core technology and intellectual property. We rely on patent, trademark and copyright laws, trade secret
protection and confidentiality agreements with our employees, customers, resellers, systems integrators, manufacturers, and others to protect our intellectual property rights. We file
U.S and foreign patent applications to protect our intellectual property and believe that the duration of our issued patents is adequate relative to the expected lives of our products.
Patents generally have a duration of twenty years from filing. The remaining duration on the individual patents in our patent portfolio varies.

We cannot assure that any of our patent applications will result in the issuance of a patent or whether the examination process will result in patents of valuable breadth or
applicability. In addition, any patents that may be issued may be contested, circumvented, found unenforceable or invalidated, and we may not be able to prevent third parties from
infringing upon them. We also license software from third parties for integration into our products, including open-source software and other software available on commercially
reasonable terms. We own a number of trademarks in the U.S. and other jurisdictions, and Arista, EOS, and CloudVision are among our core trademarks.

We control access to and use of our software, technology and other proprietary information through internal and external controls, including contractual protections with
employees, contractors, customers and partners. Our software is protected by U.S. and international copyright, patent and trade secret laws. Despite our efforts to protect our
software,
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technology and other proprietary information, unauthorized parties may still copy or otherwise obtain and use our software, technology and other proprietary information. In addition,
we intend to expand our international operations, and effective patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret protection may not be available or may be limited in foreign countries.

Our industry is characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and frequent claims and related litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property rights. If
we become more successful, we believe that competitors will be more likely to try to develop products that are similar to ours and that may infringe our proprietary rights. It may also
be more likely that competitors or other third parties will claim that our products infringe their proprietary rights. In particular, large and established companies in our industry have
extensive patent portfolios and are regularly involved in both offensive and defensive litigation. From time to time, third parties, including certain of these large companies and non-
practicing entities, may assert patent, copyright, trademark and other intellectual property rights against us, our channel partners or our end customers, whom our standard license
and other agreements obligate us to indemnify against such claims.

Successful claims of infringement by a third-party, if any, could prevent us from distributing certain products or performing certain services, require us to expend spend time
and money to develop non-infringing solutions or force us to pay substantial damages, royalties or other fees. We cannot assure that we do not currently infringe, or that we will not
in the future infringe, upon any third-party patents or other proprietary rights.

Human Capital Management
At Arista, we seek to maintain an environment that is open, diverse and inclusive, and where our people feel valued, included and accountable. One of our key principles is
always doing the right thing for our employees. We are committed to maintaining the highest level of professional and ethical standards in the conduct of our business around the

world. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we employed approximately 4,023 4,412 full-time employees worldwide. None of our employees are represented by unions.
We consider our relationship with our employees to be good and have not experienced significant interruptions of operations due to labor disagreements.

Avrista is proud to have been recognized in November 2024 by Forbes magazine as one of America’s Best Companies to Work & Invest For as well as by Time Magazine as
one of the World's Best Companies.

Inclusion, Diversity and Equal Employment
We seek to maintain an environment that is open, diverse and inclusive, and where our employees feel valued. We believe that diverse and inclusive teams enhance

individual and company performance and help us attract and retain the best talent available. talent. We strive to build an inclusive culture that encourages, supports and celebrates
the diverse voices of our employees. As part of the Arista way, we believe in treating peers with respect, mentoring individuals and developing teams for overall success.

We are proud to be anone of a few S&P 500 company companies with both a female CEO and CFO.We were also recognized by Comparably in 2023 2024 amongst the
Top 50 best large companies for diversity culture, happiness, leadership and Top 100 best large companies for happiness, work-life balances career growth as well as compensation.
50% of our board of directors are women or underrepresented minorities. We Arista also supports inclusion through mentorship opportunities for our employees which are also
continuing to make progress towards building diversity in the workspace. In 2023, the percentage offered through Women@Arista, one of our employee population that were women
or underrepresented minorities increased compared to 2022. We offer mentorship opportunities to our employees facilitated by our Women@Arista employee resource group. In
addition, we groups; support of numerous under-represented employee affinity organizations organizations; and actively recruitactive recruiting from historically black colleges and
universities, women'’s colleges and Hispanic/Latinx and African-American professional societies and job fairs.

We affirm the principle of equal employment opportunity without regard to any protected characteristic, including but not limited to race, religion, national origin, color,
gender, age, disability, pregnancy, marital status, ancestry, military status or sexual orientation. We practice and promote such policies in all locations as appropriate under
applicable law. We affirm this principle of freedom from discrimination in all aspects of the employment relationship from recruitment and hiring, through performance evaluations,
compensation and promotions. At Arista, we believe that all employees should be treated with dignity and respect.

Health and Safety
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We are Arista is committed to protecting the health and safety of our employees, visitors, and the public. Our health and safety policy is to maintain our facilities and run our
business operations in a manner that does not jeopardize the occupational health and safety of employees. We work have implemented our injury and illness prevention program to
provide safe working environments in our operations. protect employees from occupational risks of injury or illness.

Compensation and Benefits
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We provide competitive and comprehensive benefit packages that are designed to help and empower employees to make the best decisions for themselves, their family and
their lifestyle. Arista offers a broad variety of physical and mental wellness offerings to our global employees in a virtual as well as on-demand format, including fitness classes,
webinars on practical wellness takeaways, strategies for stress reduction, financial planning and education, career development and a variety of other topics. In addition, in the
United States, we offer our employees an employee stock purchase plan, healthcare and retirement benefits, paid time off and family leave, flexible time away, family planning
benefits, backup resources for childcare and elder care, and other employee assistance programs including behavioral health and emotional support assistance. In addition to base
salary and benefits, Arista’s employees patrticipate in stock and bonus incentive plans that support our organizational philosophy of allowing employees to share in our performance
and success. We are committed to paying our employees fairly and equitably and regularly and work with a third party to identify and resolve any gaps. Our executive compensation
program is designed to attract, retain, and reward performance and align incentives with the achievement of Arista’s strategic plan and both short- and long-term operating
objectives. Our compensation committee provides an oversight of our compensation policies, plans, benefit programs and overall compensation philosophy.

Along with our traditional healthcare benefits, we have created Arista offers a detailed injury broad variety of physical and illness prevention program mental wellness
offerings to better protect our global employees from occupational risks of injury or iliness. in a virtual as well as on-demand format, including fitness classes, webinars on practical
wellness takeaways, strategies for stress reduction, financial planning and education, career development and social activities. We periodically also host periodic wellness weeks,
whose purpose is to raise awareness on health issues, increase education on preventive medicine and available services and shift employee behavior through interactive activities
and live presentations. We also maintain aproudly support an active community employee engagement program, which provides opportunities for our employees to engage in
volunteering and community service. service in support of the communities they live, work, and thrive in. We employ a hybrid work model for designated roles, giving our employees
the flexibility to work offsite or onsite and regularly survey our employees to gain valuable feedback and suggestions on improvements to our culture and strategy. Arista was
recognized in 2024 by Most Loved Workplace as a Most Loved Workplace for Wellness and Volunteering.

Employee Training, Development and Development Upskilling

Our employees receive regular periodic training on various topics, numerous subjects, including our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct, information security, data privacy,
intellectual property, anticorruption, insider trading, and other topics. anticorruption. In addition, Arista provides extensive training and accreditation opportunities to employees in
Sales, Customer Engineering and Software Research and Development roles including our Arista Certified Engineering (ACE) ("ACE") certification program as well as mentorship
programs facilitated sponsored by our Women@Avrista employee resource group. Additional career development content including management and Al training is available through
our E-Learning portal to facilitate a culture of lifelong learning.learning and allow employees to personalize their development. Our engineering teams have the opportunity
to Technical employees can further develop their technical skillsupskill through our internal Arista PREP Training Program, technical summits, and participation in industry
conferences or associations.

We also offer a variety of webinars on physical and mental health, career development and financial wellness topics, fithess classes, and social engagement activities. We
also partner with non-profit organizations across the globe to provide volunteer opportunities to our employees.

Available Information

Our website is located at www.arista.com and our investor relations website is located at investors.arista.com. Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange (“Exchange Act”), are available free of charge on the Investors portion of our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with,
or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) ("SEC"). The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other
information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov.

Webcasts of our earnings calls and certain events we participate in or host with members of the investment community are on our investor relations website. Additionally, we
announce investor information, including news and commentary about our business and financial performance, SEC filings, notices of investor events, and our press and earnings
releases, on our investor relations website. Investors and others can receive notifications of new information posted on our investor relations website in real time by signing up for
email alerts and RSS feeds. Further corporate governance information, including our corporate governance guidelines, board committee charters, and code of conduct, is also
available on our investor relations website under the heading “Governance.” The contents of our websites, or information that can be accessed through our websites, are not
incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or in any other report or document we file with the SEC, and any references to our websites are intended to be
inactive textual references only.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which could materially
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. The risks described below are not the only risks facing us. Risks and uncertainties not currently known
to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may also materially affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Risk Factors Summary
Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties. These risks include, but are not limited to, the following:
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

» large purchases by a limited number of customers represent a substantial portion of our revenue;
« adverse economic conditions, continuing uncertain economic conditions or reduced information technology and network infrastructure spending may adversely affect our
business;
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some key components in our products come from sole or limited sources of supply and increases the risk of supply shortages, extended lead times or supply changes;

our revenue and revenue growth rates are volatile and may decline or not meet our or our investor's expectations;

our results of operations may vary significantly from period to period and can be unpredictable;

the networking market is rapidly evolving;

failure to successfully carry out new products product and service offerings and expand into adjacent markets could adversely impact our business;
we expect our gross margins to vary over time and may be adversely affected by numerous factors;

we face intense competition and industry consolidation;

we are subject to risks associated with the expansion of our international sales and operations;

we face risks associated with the investments in and acquisitions of complementary companies, products or technologies;
seasonality and industry cyclicality may cause fluctuations in our revenue;

fluctuations in currency exchange rates could adversely affect our business;

failure to raise additional capital on favorable terms could harm our business.

Risks Related to Customers and Sales

inability to attract new large customers or sell additional products and services to our existing customers could adversely affect our revenue growth;
sales of our switches generate most of our product revenue;

large customers require more favorable terms;

inability to increase market awareness or acceptance of our new products and services may adversely affect our revenue;
sales prices of our products and services may decrease;

sales cycles can be long and unpredictable;

inability to offer high quality support and services could adversely affect our business;

declines in maintenance renewals by customers could harm our business;

indemnification provisions under our standard sales contracts could expose us to losses;

we rely on distributors, systems integrators and value-added resellers to sell our products;

sales to government entities are subject to a number of challenges and risks;

we are exposed to the credit risk of our channel partners and some of our end customers.

Risks Related to Products and Services

product quality problems, defects, errors or vulnerabilities could harm our business;
failure to anticipate technological shifts could harm our business;
our products must interoperate with operating systems, software applications and hardware that is developed by others.

Risks Related to Supply Chain and Manufacturing

managing the supply of our products and product components is complex;

primarily reliant upon a predominant merchant silicon vendor;

we depend on third-party manufacturers to build our products;

future sales forecasts may be materially inaccurate change, which could result in incorrect levels of inventory and purchase commitments;
shipment interruptions or delays could cause our revenue to fall.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property and Other Proprietary Rights

assertions by third parties of intellectual property rights infringement, misappropriation or other violation could harm our business;
failure or inability to protect or assert our intellectual property rights could harm our competitive position;

we rely on the availability of licenses to third-party software and other intellectual property;

failure to comply with licenses to software and other technology could restrict our ability to sell our products;

risk that our competitors could develop products that are similar to or better than ours because we provide access to our software and selected source code to certain

partners.

Risks Related to Litigation

we may become involved in litigation that may materially adversely affect us.

Risks Related to Cybersecurity and Data Privacy,

defects, errors or vulnerabilities in our products, failure of our products to detect security breaches or incidents, misuse of our products or risks of product liability could harm

our business;

breaches of our cybersecurity systems or other security breaches could degrade our ability to conduct our business operations and deliver products and services to our
customers, cause vulnerabilities in our products and services or subject us to regulatory enforcement actions and or fines or liabilities for damages incurred by our

customers or partners.

Risks Related to Accounting, Compliance, Regulation and Tax

failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could adversely affect the accuracy and timing of our financial reporting;

if our critical accounting policies are based on incorrect assumptions, our results of operations could fall below analyst and investor expectations and result in a decline in

the market price of our common stock;
enhanced U.S. tax, tariff, import/export restrictions, Chinese regulations or other trade barriers may negatively affect our business;
changes in our income taxes, effective tax rate or new tax laws could adversely affect our results;
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» failure to comply with government laws and regulations could harm our business;

« issues in the development and use of artificial intelligence, combined with an uncertain regulatory environment, may result in reputational harm, liability, or other adverse
consequences to our business operations;

« we are subject to governmental export and import controls that could impair our ability to compete in international markets or subject us to liability for violations.

« failure to comply with anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws and anti-money laundering laws, and similar laws, could subject us to penalties and other adverse consequences.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

< the trading price of our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile and the value of your investment could decline;

« any future decisions to reduce or discontinue repurchasing our common stock pursuant to our stock repurchase programs program could cause the market price of our
common stock to decline;

« sales of substantial amounts of our common stock could reduce the market price of our common stock;

» insiders have substantial control over us;

« our charter documents and Delaware law could discourage takeover attempts and lead to management entrenchment.

General Risks

« inability to hire, retain, train and motivate qualified personnel and senior management could cause our business to suffer;
« earthquakes, fire, power outages, floods, health epidemics and other catastrophic events could harm our business;
* we have not paid dividends in the past and do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We expect large purchases by a limited number of customers to continue to represent a substantial portion of our revenue, and any loss, delay, decline or other change
in expected purchases could result in material quarter-to-quarter fluctuations of our revenue or otherwise adversely affect our results of operations.

Historically, large purchases by a relatively limited number of customers have accounted for a significant portion of our revenue. We have experienced unpredictability in the
timing of orders from these large customers primarily due to the time it takes these customers to evaluate, test, qualify and accept our products, the overall complexity of these large
orders and changes in demand patterns specific to these customers, including reductions in or changes in mix of capital expenditures by these customers and the impact of cost
reduction and other efficiency efforts by these customers. For example, sales to our end customers customer Microsoft represented 20%, 18% and Meta Platforms in fiscal 16% of
our total revenue for the years ended 2024, 2023 and 2022 collectively respectively. And sales to our end customer Meta Platforms represented 39% 15%, 21% and 42% 26% of our
total revenue, respectively whereas sales to Microsoft in fiscal 2021 amounted to 15% of our revenue for the years ended 2024, 2023 and sales to Meta Platforms in fiscal 2021
represented less than 10% of our revenue. 2022. This variability in customer concentration has been linked to the timing of new product deployments, and spending cycles with
these customers, and we expect continued variability in our customer concentration and timing of sales on a quarterly and annual basis. In addition, we typically provide pricing
discounts to large customers, which reduces gross margins for the period in which such sales occur.

As a consequence of the concentrated nature of our customer base and their purchasing behavior, our quarterly revenue and results of operations have fluctuated from
quarter to quarter and are difficult to estimate. estimate and we expect the fluctuations to continue. Changes in the business requirements or focus, upgrade cycles, vendor
selection, project prioritization, manner in which spending allocations are assigned among multiple vendors based upon specific network roles or projects, financial prospects, lack of
growth of our large customers, capital resources and expenditures or purchasing behavior and deceleration in spending of these customers could significantly decrease our sales to
such customers or could lead to delays, reductions or cancellations of planned purchases of our products or services. In addition, an increased focus on the deployment of Al
enabled solutions by these customers has accelerated the need for advanced technology offerings including some offerings from potential new market entrants. This prioritization of
Al related infrastructure investment has at times come in conjunction with the announcement of various cost reduction measures by such customers, including optimization and
increased efficiency in non-Al related capital expenditures. In addition, although the focus on deployment of Al enabled solutions has driven increased demand for networking, the
long-term trajectory is unknown. As such, demand estimates for our new products are difficult to forecast and can create volatility in our revenue. In some instances, such measures
have had, and may continue to have, an impact on certain current or future projects and have reduced our visibility to customer demand increased and may result in a reduction or
uncertainty in the timing of orders from these large customers, which may negatively impact our revenue and increase the risk of excess and obsolescence charges on existing
products, our products. In addition, fiscal 2024 was marked by a year of new product introductions and expanded use cases, particularly in the Al Ethernet market, and we expect
this to continue into fiscal 2025. This has resulted in increased customer trials and contracts with acceptance periods, and an increase in the volatility and magnitude of our product
deferred revenue balances, which in turn may create variability in our revenue results on a quarterly and annual basis. In addition, if we are not able to satisfy the requirements
under customer trials or contracts with acceptance periods, we may be required to accept product returns from our customers, which would prevent us from recognizing revenue on
such transactions and may result in reductions in future demand and negatively impact our revenue, financial condition, business or prospects. the write-down of inventory.

Moreover, because our sales are based primarily on purchase orders, some of our customers may have previously and could continue to cancel, delay, reduce or otherwise
modify their purchase commitments with little or no notice to us. For example, due to manufacturing and supply chain disruptions resulting in increased lead times, customers had
placed have, and may continue to place orders based on longer planning horizons. These customers may decide to delay or cancel such orders for any reason, including changes in
their IT investment priorities, if economic conditions worsen or their financial performance, condition or prospects deteriorate. This limited visibility regarding our customers’ product
needs or changes in those needs, the timing and quantity of which could vary significantly, requires us to rely on estimated demand forecasts to determine how much material to
purchase and product to manufacture. Our failure to accurately forecast demand combined with extended Extended supplier lead times on some newer technologies can create
greater pressure on our ability to forecast future demand, which can lead to excess inventory or product shortages which could lead and to delays in fulfilling current and future
purchase orders that can impede production by our customers and harm our customer relationships. Further, if we are unable to reduce our lead times, customers may also cancel
existing orders or reduce future orders. In the event of any cancellations or reductions of orders, or any reductions in future demand, we may not have enough time to reduce
operating expenses to mitigate the effect of the lost revenue on our business, and in addition, could incur increased excess and obsolete inventory-related charges, all of which
could materially affect our operating results.
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We may be unable to sustain or increase our revenue from our large customers, grow revenue with new or other existing customers at the rate we anticipate or at all, or
offset a decline or discontinuation of concentrated purchases by our larger customers with purchases by new or existing customers. These customers could reduce their spending
levels or otherwise could choose to divert all or a portion of their business with us to one of our competitors, re-assign spending allocations, increase their adoption of "white box"
solutions and open-source network operating systems, demand pricing concessions for our services, or require us to provide enhanced services that increase our costs. Moreover,
the Al market is new and customers continue to evaluate their opportunity in this market, recent advances in network architecture may result in increased efficiencies and lowering
of infrastructure spending and the potential demand for our Al Ethernet switches may not develop as anticipated or at all. If these factors drive some of our large customers to cancel
all or a portion of their business relationships with us, the growth in our business and the ability to meet our current and long-term financial forecasts may be materially impacted. We
expect that such concentrated purchases will continue to contribute materially to our revenue for the foreseeable future and that our results of operations may fluctuate materially as
a result of such larger customers’ buying patterns. In addition, we may see consolidation of our customer base, such as among Internet companies and cloud service providers,
which could result in the loss of customers. The loss of such customers, or a significant delay or reduction in their purchases, including reductions or delays due to customer
departures from recent buying patterns, or an unfavorable change in competitive conditions could materially harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.

Adverse economic conditions, continuing uncertain economic conditions or reduced information technology and network infrastructure spending may adversely affect
our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Our business depends on the overall demand for information technology, network connectivity and access to data and applications. Weak domestic or global economic
conditions and continuing economic uncertainty, fear or anticipation of such conditions, a recession, geopolitical pressures, including international trade disputes, global pandemics
such as the COVID-19 pandemic, or a reduction in information technology and network infrastructure spending or a deterioration of the financial performance, condition or prospects
of our customers, even if economic conditions improve, could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects in a number of ways, including
longer sales cycles, reduced demand or lower prices for our products and services, higher default rates among our channel partners, reduced unit sales and lower or no growth.
While all our markets may be adversely affected by negative macroeconomic conditions, the impact may be particularly significant in our enterprise market where we are seeking to
increase our penetration into this market. In addition, the global macroeconomic environment has been negatively affected by, among other things, the uncertainty in the global
banking and financial services markets, epidemics, instability in global economic markets, the new U.S. presidential administration, increased uncertainty associated with recent and
scheduled increases in U.S. trade tariffs in the context of escalated and unresolved trade disputes and tensions between the U.S., China, Mexico, Canada and other countries,
inflationary pressures, higher interest rates, instability in the global credit markets, the impact and uncertainty regarding global central bank monetary policy, instability in the
geopolitical environment, the Russia-Ukraine and Israel-Hamas conflicts, the Houthi attacks on marine vessels in the Red Sea, political tensions between Taiwan and China, political
demonstrations, and foreign governmental debt concerns which have caused, and are likely to continue to cause, uncertainty and instability in local economies and in global
financial markets. While some of our customers may be adversely affected by negative macroeconomic conditions, the impact may be particularly significant in our enterprise
market where we are seeking to increase our penetration into this market. A government shutdown or a default by the U.S. government on its debt obligations, or related credit-
rating downgrades could also have adverse effects on the broader global economy and contribute to, or worsen, an economic recession. We believe that any extended or renewed
economic disruptions or deterioration in the global economy could have an adverse impact to our liquidity or to our current and projected business operations, financial condition or
results of operations. For example, if banks or other financial institutions with whom we have banking relationships or whose corporate bonds are held in our marketable securities
investment portfolio, enter receivership or become insolvent in the future, we may be unable to access, and we may lose some of our existing cash, cash equivalents and
investments to the extent those funds are not insured or otherwise protected by the FDIC. In addition, in such circumstances we might not be able to timely pay key vendors and
others. We regularly maintain cash balances that are not insured or are in excess of the FDIC's insurance limit. Any delay in our ability to access our cash, cash equivalents and
investments (or the loss of such funds) or to timely pay key vendors and others could have a material adverse effect on our operations and cause us to need to seek additional
capital sooner than planned.

In addition, business disruptions and supply chain and manufacturing disruptions may result in customers delaying or canceling or reprioritizing capital expenditures on
information technology and network infrastructure, which may affect the overall demand for our products. Customers may also be placing orders based on longer planning horizons
to ensure supply. We also believe that our customers continue to assess the impact of these macroeconomic factors on their businesses and future investment plans, resulting in
business uncertainty and a more constrained approach to forecasts and orders. Continuing or

worsening economic instability or the deterioration of the financial performance, condition or prospects of our customers could result in a cancellation of, or defaults in the payments
for, such orders or otherwise adversely affect spending for IT, network infrastructure, systems and tools, and limit our ability to forecast future demand for our products, which could
reduce expected revenue or result in a write-down of excess or obsolete inventory. A downturn or a recession may also significantly affect financing markets, the availability of
capital and the terms and conditions of any financing arrangements, including the overall cost of financing as well as the financial health or creditworthiness of our customers.
Circumstances may arise in which we need, or desire, to raise additional capital, and such capital may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.

Because some Some of the key components in our products come from sole or limited sources of supply, we have entered into significant purchase commitments and
are susceptible to supply shortages, extended lead times or supply changes, which could disrupt or delay our scheduled product deliveries to our customers and may
result in the loss of sales and customers. supply.

Our products rely on components, including merchant silicon chips, integrated circuit components, printed circuit boards, connectors, optics, cables, custom-tooled sheet
metal and power supplies that we purchase, or our contract manufacturers purchase on our behalf from a limited number of suppliers, including certain sole source providers.
Generally, we do not have guaranteed supply contracts with our component suppliers, and our suppliers have suffered and could continue to suffer shortages, require longer lead
times, delay shipments, prioritize shipments to other vendors, decommit orders, increase prices, impose expedite fees or cease manufacturing such products or selling them to us at
any time. Supply of these components worldwide was and could continue to be adversely affected by supply constraints, as well as industry consolidation and geopolitical conditions
such as international trade wars like the U.S. trade war with China, the Russia-Ukraine conflict, Israel-Hamas conflict, the Houthi attacks on marine vessels in the Red Sea, and
increased political tensions in Russia, Europe or Asia. Such shortages, increased component lead times, reduced allocations of components and decommitments of orders have
resulted in and may continue to result in increased component prices, fewer sourcing options, unpredictability of supply, prolonged manufacturing disruptions and increased product
lead times, which has impacted and may continue to adversely impact our revenue and gross margins.

Although we have entered into significant purchase commitments to support long-term customer demand, if In particular, we are unable to obtain sufficient quantities of any
of these components on commercially reasonable terms or in a timely manner, or if we are unable to obtain alternative sources primarily reliant upon our predominant merchant

silicon vendor, Broadcom, for these components, shipments of our products could be delayed or halted entirely, or we may be required to redesign our products. Any of these events
could result in the cancellation of orders, lost sales, reduced gross margins or damage to our customer relationships, which would adversely impact our business, financial condition,
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results of operations and prospects. Additionally, if our suppliers do not meet their commitments, customers cancel orders or actual demand is less than our demand forecasts, it
could result in excess or obsolete inventory, which we would be required to write down to its estimated realizable value, which in turn could result in lower gross margins and
operating income. Our operating cash flows have also been and may continue to be negatively impacted by significant component inventories on hand or at our contract
manufacturers. switching chips.

Our reliance on component suppliers also yields the potential for the infringement, misappropriation or other violation of third-party intellectual property rights due to the
incorporation of such components into our products. We may not be indemnified by such component suppliers for such infringement, misappropriation or other violation claims. Any
litigation for which we do not receive indemnification could require us to incur significant legal expenses in defending against such claims or require us to pay substantial royalty
payments or settlement amounts that would not be reimbursed by our component suppliers.

Our product development efforts are also dependent upon the success of our continued collaboration with our key merchant silicon vendors such as Broadcom and
Intel. Broadcom. As we develop our product roadmap, we select specific merchant silicon from these vendors for each new product. It is critical that we work in tandem with these
vendors to ensure that their silicon includes improved features, that our products take advantage of such improved features, and that such vendors are able to supply us with
sufficient quantities on commercially reasonable term to meet customer demand. Reliance on these relationships allows us to focus our research and development resources on our
software core competencies while leveraging their investments and expertise. The merchant silicon vendors may not be successful in continuing to innovate, develop products that
outperform their competitors or meet the requirements of our customers, meet deadlines for the release of their products or produce a sufficient supply of their products. Moreover,
these vendors may not collaborate with us or may become competitive with us by selling merchant silicon for “white boxes” with open-source network operating systems or other
products to our customers.

If our key merchant silicon vendors do not continue to innovate, develop products that outperform their competitors or fail to meet the requirements of our customers, if there
are delays in the release of their products or supply shortages, if they no longer collaborate in such fashion or if such merchant silicon is not offered to us on commercially
reasonable terms, our products may become less competitive, our own product launches could be delayed or we may be required to redesign our products to incorporate alternative
merchant silicon, which could result in lost sales, reduce gross margins, damage to our customer relationships or otherwise have a material effect on revenue and business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We have entered into significant purchase commitments and are susceptible to supply shortages, extended lead times or supply changes, which could disrupt or delay
our scheduled product deliveries to our customers and may result in the loss of sales and customers.

Generally, we do not have guaranteed supply contracts with our component suppliers, and our suppliers have, or in the future could continue to, suffer shortages, require
longer lead times, delay shipments, prioritize shipments to other vendors, reject orders, decommit orders, increase prices, impose expedite fees or cease manufacturing such
products or selling them to us at any time. Supply of these components worldwide was and could continue to be adversely affected by supply constraints, as well as industry
consolidation and geopolitical conditions such as international trade wars and increased political tensions. Such shortages, increased component lead times, reduced allocations of
components and rejections or decommitments of orders have resulted in and may continue to result in increased component prices, fewer sourcing options, unpredictability of
supply, prolonged manufacturing disruptions and increased product lead times, which has impacted and may in the future adversely impact our revenue and gross margins.

Although we have entered into significant purchase commitments to support long-term customer demand, if we are unable to obtain sufficient quantities of any of these
components on commercially reasonable terms or in a timely manner, or if we are unable to obtain alternative sources for these components, shipments of our products could be
delayed or halted entirely,

or we may be required to redesign our products. Any of these events could result in the cancellation of orders, lost sales, reduced gross margins or damage to our customer
relationships, which would adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Additionally, if our suppliers do not meet their commitments,
customers cancel orders or actual demand is less than our demand forecasts, it could result in excess or obsolete inventory, which we would be required to write down to its
estimated realizable value, which in turn could result in lower gross margins and operating income. Our operating cash flows have also been and may in the future be negatively
impacted by an increase of component inventories on hand or at our contract manufacturers.

In the event of a shortage or supply interruption from our component suppliers, we may not be able to develop alternate or second sources in a timely manner. Further, long-
term supply and maintenance obligations to customers increase the duration for which specific components are required, which may increase the risk of component shortages or the
cost of carrying inventory. In addition, our component suppliers change their selling prices frequently in response to market trends, including industry-wide increases in demand, or
charge additional fees to expedite orders, and because we do not have contracts with these suppliers or guaranteed pricing, we are susceptible to availability or price fluctuations
related to raw materials and components. If we are unable to pass component price increases along to our customers or maintain stable pricing, our gross margins could be
adversely affected and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could suffer.

Our revenue and our revenue growth rates are volatile and may decline or not meet our or our investors' expectations.

Our revenue growth rates in previous periods may not be indicative of our future performance. We have experienced annual revenue growth rates of 19.5%, 33.8%, 48.6%,
27.2%, and -3.9% 27.2% in 2024, 2023, 2022 2021 and 2020, 2021, respectively. In the future, our revenue growth rates will continue to be volatile due to cyclical trends in our
business, and as we become more penetrated in our existing customer base and product markets and look to enter and expand into new markets. In addition, we have experienced
supply constraints that have resulted in manufacturing and shipment delays, which have negatively affected the timing of revenue recognition. If these manufacturing and supply
chain disruptions recur and/or if we are unable to reduce our lead times it could also result in the cancellation of orders by customers, reduce demand from existing customers in
future periods, and increase difficulty in adding new customers. Other factors may also contribute to declines in our growth rates, including changes in demand for our products and
services, particularly from our large customers, the deterioration of the financial performance, condition or prospects of our large customers, changes in capital spending by our
large customers, increased competition, price sensitivities from our customers to increases in our pricing, our ability to successfully manage our expansion or continue to capitalize
on growth opportunities, the maturation of our business, the Russia-Ukraine geopolitical pressures, recession risks and Israel-Hamas conflicts, the Houthi attacks on marine vessels
in the Red Sea, a potential global economic downturn or recession that would particularly impact our enterprise customers, uncertainty in the global banking and financial service
markets and other general economic and international trade conditions such as political tensions between Taiwan and China and international trade wars involving the U.S. and
China and other countries, monetary policy shifts, and our ability to be successful in the Al market and adjacent markets, such as campus switching, WiFi Wi-Fi networking markets
and network security markets. We Recent technologies, such as generative Al models, have experienced emerged, and while they have driven increased demand for networking,
the long-term trajectory is unknown and it is difficult for us to predict the demand for such new technologies. Customers may overestimate demand for their Al build outs and cancel,
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delay, reduce or otherwise modify their purchase commitments with little or no notice to us. In addition, customer may implement changes to their network architecture to improve
efficiencies and reduce demand for our products. As such, demand estimates for our new products are difficult to forecast and create volatility in our revenue. In addition, given the
timing and prioritization of customer orders and shipment patterns, near term revenue trends may not be reflective of current demand levels. Furthermore, any prolonged economic
disruptions or deterioration in the global economy could have a negative impact on demand from certain of our large customers and some ofin future periods, particularly in the
enterprise market where we are continuing to expand our large customers have announced various cost reduction measures or are considering changing technology roadmaps and
priorities including the need for the rapid deployment of Al and related technologies, which have had and could continue to have, an impact on certain current or future projects and
have reduced our visibility to demand for these customers, penetration. which may result in reductions in overall demand from these customers in future periods and negatively
impact our revenue, financial condition, business or prospects. You should not rely on our revenue for any prior quarterly or annual period as an indication of our future revenue or
revenue growth. If we are unable to maintain consistent revenue or revenue growth, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially
adversely affected, and our stock price could be volatile.

Our results of operations have varied significantly from period to period and are unpredictable and if we fail to meet the expectations of analysts or investors or our
previously issued financial guidance, or if any forward-looking financial guidance does not meet the expectation of analysts or investors, the market price of our
common stock could decline substantially.

Our results of operations have historically varied from period to period, and we expect that this trend will continue. As a result, you should not rely upon our past financial
results for any period as indicators of future performance. Our results of operations in any given period have been and could continue to be influenced by a number of factors, many
of which are outside of our control and may be difficult to predict, including:

« general economic conditions, both domestically and in foreign markets, and disruptions in our business and the markets due to, among other things, recessionary risks and
a global economic downturn, higher interest rates, monetary policy shifts, inflationary pressures, supply chain and labor shortages, the new U.S. presidential administration,
the recent banking crisis, potential disruptions from the Russia-Ukraine and Israel-Hamas conflicts, the Houthi attacks on marine vessels in the Red Sea, political tensions
between Taiwan and China and international trade wars involving the U.S. and China and other countries; geopolitical pressures;

« ourinability to fulfill our customers’ orders, the deferral, reduction or cancellation of orders or the delay in shipment of our products;

¢ the reduction in future demand for our products by our customers or increased difficulty in adding new customers due to the unavailability or unpredictable supply of
inventory, supply chain delays, access to key commodities or technologies, manufacturing disruptions or other events that impact our manufacturers or their suppliers;

« deferral, a reduction, or cancellation uncertainty in the timing, of orders from customers due to long lead times, our large customers;

* announcements by us or other competitors of new products or product enhancements, warranty returns, general economic conditions or other factors;

« our ability to increase sales to existing customers and attract new customers, including large customers;

« the budgeting, sales, implementation and refresh cycles, purchasing practices, technology roadmaps and priorities and buying patterns of customers, including large
customers who generally receive lower pricing terms due to volume discounts and who may or may not make large bulk purchases in certain quarters or who may elect to
re-assign

allocations to multiple vendors based upon specific network roles or projects or who may be placing orders based on longer planning horizons to ensure supply;

« changes in the growth rate of existing or new customers or the deterioration of the financial performance, condition or prospects of existing or new customers, including
large customers and service providers, changes in end-customer, distributor or reseller requirements or market needs, and changes in growth rates of the networking
market;

¢ the inclusion of any acceptance provisions in our customer contracts and increased customer trials, and any delays in acceptance, or rejection, or any return, of those
products;

« the cost and potential outcomes of existing and future litigation;

* increased expenses resulting from increases in component, production and logistics costs resulting from factors such as global inflationary pressures, shortages in supply
for semiconductors, and China's controls on the use of certain products and on the export of metals used in semiconductor manufacturing, or the tariffs imposed by the U.S.
on goods from other countries and tariffs imposed by other countries on U.S. goods, including the tariffs implemented by the U.S. government on various imports from
China; China and Mexico;

« changes in our pricing policies, whether initiated by us or as a result of competition;

« the amount and timing of operating costs and capital expenditures related to the operation and expansion of our business;

« difficulty forecasting, budgeting and planning due to limited visibility into the spending plans of current or prospective customers;

« excess or obsolete inventory resulting in write-downs and charges related to supplier liabilities;

« the inclusion of any acceptance provisions in our customer contracts or any delays in acceptance of those products;

« the actual or rumored timing and success of new product and service introductions by us or our competitors or any other change in the competitive landscape of our
industry, including consolidation among our competitors or customers;

« our ability to successfully expand our business domestically and internationally;

« our ability to increase the size and production of our sales or distribution channel, or any disruption in, or termination of, our sales or distribution channels;

« decisions by potential customers to purchase our networking solutions from larger, more established vendors, white box vendors with open-source network operating
systems or their primary network equipment vendors;

« disruptions caused by pandemics, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, and the government restrictions in response to the pandemic; pandemics;

« insolvency or credit difficulties confronting our customers, which could adversely affect their ability to purchase or pay for our products and services, or confronting our key
suppliers, including our sole source suppliers, which could disrupt our supply chain;

« seasonality or cyclical fluctuations in our markets;

« future accounting pronouncements or changes in our accounting policies;

« our overall effective tax rate, including impacts caused by any reorganization in our corporate structure, any changes in our valuation allowance for domestic deferred tax
assets and any new legislation or regulatory developments;
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* increases or decreases in our expenses caused by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, as an increasing portion of our expenses are incurred and paid in
currencies other than the U.S. dollar;

* increases in cybersecurity threats, including security threats from state sponsors; and

e other risk factors described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Any one of the factors above or the cumulative effect of several of the factors described above may result in significant fluctuations in our financial and other results of
operations and may cause the market price of our common stock to decline. This variability and unpredictability could result in our failure to meet our revenue, gross margins, results
of operations or other expectations contained in any forward-looking financial guidance we have issued or the expectations of securities analysts or investors for a particular period.
If we fail to meet or exceed such guidance or expectations for these or any other reasons, the market price of our common stock could decline substantially, and we could face
costly lawsuits, including securities class action suits. In the past, we have failed to meet investor financial expectations and the market price of our common stock declined.

The networking market is rapidly evolving. If this market does not evolve as we anticipate or our target customers do not adopt our networking solutions, we may not
be able to compete effectively, and our ability to generate revenue will suffer.

A substantial portion of our business and revenue depends on the growth and evolution of the networking market, including the evolution of the market for Al networks and
the future deployment of Ethernet networking solutions in these Al

networks. The market demand for networking solutions has increased in recent years as customers have deployed larger, more sophisticated networks and have increased the use
of virtualization and cloud computing. The continued growth of this market will be dependent upon many factors including but not limited to the adoption of and demand for our
customers’ products and services, the expansion, evolution and build out of our customers’ networks, the capacity utilization of existing network infrastructures, changes in the
technological requirements for the products and services to be deployed in these networks, the amount and mix of capital spending by our customers, including any changing
technology priorities such as the rapid deployment of Al and related technologies, the development of network switches and cloud service solutions by our large customers for
internal use, the financial performance and prospects of our customers, the availability of capital resources to our customers, changes in government regulation that could impact
networking business models including those regulations related to Al, cybersecurity, privacy, data protection and net neutrality, our ability to provide networking solutions that
address the needs of our customers more effectively and economically than those of other competitors or existing technologies and general economic conditions.

In particular, recent technologies, such as generative Al models, have emerged, and while they have driven increased demand for networking, the marketlong-term
trajectory is unknown and it is difficult for us to predict the demand for such new technologies. Customers may overestimate demand for their Al applications is build outs and cancel,
delay, reduce or otherwise modify their purchase commitments with little or no notice to us. In addition, customers may implement changes to their network architectures to improve
efficiencies and reduce demand for our products. As such, demand estimates for our new products are difficult to forecast and create volatility in our customers are continuing to
evaluate their opportunity in this market. revenue and inventory levels. If the Al market does not develop as anticipated or at all, then the potential demand for Al Ethernet switches
may not be realized. Moreover, even if the market for Al applications does develop, the successful adoption of Al Ethernet products will be dependent upon their ability to compete
against more established InfiniBand products or against the Al Ethernet products of other competitors to address Al networking clusters.

If the networking solutions market including the Al Ethernet market does not develop in the way we anticipate or otherwise experiences a slow-down, if our solutions do not
offer benefits compared to competing networking products or if customers do not recognize the benefits that our solutions provide, then our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects could be materially adversely affected.

We pursue new product and service offerings and expand into adjacent markets, and if we fail to successfully carry out these initiatives, our business, financial
condition, or results of operations could be adversely impacted.

We have made substantial investments to develop new products and services and enhancements to existing products through our acquisitions and internal research and
development efforts to expand our product offerings and maintain our revenue growth. If we are unable to anticipate technological changes in our industry by introducing new or
enhanced products and services in a timely and cost-effective manner or if we fail to introduce products and services that meet market demand, we may lose our competitive
position, our products may become obsolete, and our business, financial condition or results of operations could be adversely affected. For example, with our most recently
introduced 800 GbE and Al focused Ethernet

products, our ability to continue to maintain our competitive position with our customers will depend on our ability to deliver these new products in a timely manner, our customers'
acceptance of these products and the growth of the markets that these products serve. In addition, the evaluation, testing and qualification of our new products by our customers
may be lengthy and may require contractualincreased customer trials and contracts with acceptance clauses, which could delay revenue recognition may negatively impact our
revenue.

Fiscal 2024 was marked by a year of new product introductions and expanded use cases, particularly in the Al Ethernet market, and we expect this to continue into fiscal
2025. This has resulted in increased customer trials and contracts with acceptance periods, and an increase in the volatility and magnitude of our product deferred revenue
balances, which in turn may create variability in our revenue recognition results on a quarterly and impactannual basis. In addition, if we are not able to satisfy the requirements
under customer trials or contracts with acceptance periods, we may be required to accept product returns from our customers, which would prevent us from recognizing revenue on
such transactions and deferred revenue balances. may result in the write-down of inventory.

Additionally, from time to time, we invest in expansion into adjacent markets, including campus and WiFi Wi-Fi networking, Al networking, cloud and enterprise routing
markets, network security markets and SD-WAN markets. Although we believe these solutions are complementary to our current offerings, we have less experience and a more
limited operating history in these markets, and our efforts in this area may not be successful. Expanding our services in existing and new markets and increasing the depth and
breadth of our presence imposes significant burdens on our marketing, compliance, and other administrative and managerial resources. Our plan to expand and deepen our market
share in our existing markets and possibly expand into additional markets is subject to a variety of risks and challenges. Our success in these new markets depends on a variety of
factors, including but not limited to our ability to develop new products, new product features and services that address the customer requirements for these markets, attract a
customer base in markets in which we have less experience, compete with new and existing competitors in these adjacent markets, and gain market acceptance of our new
products. In addition, when we introduce new products, we expect that it will take time for manufacturing to ramp production and fulfill customer demand.

Developing our products is expensive, and the investment in product development may involve typically involves a long payback cycle. We expect to continue to invest
heavily in software development in order to expand the capabilities of our cloud networking platform and introduce new products and features. We expect that our results of
operations will be impacted by the timing and size of these investments. These investments may take several years to generate positive returns, if ever.
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Additionally, future market share gains may take longer than planned and cause us to incur significant costs. If we are unable to attract new large customers or to sell
additional products and services to our existing customers, our revenue growth will be adversely affected, and our revenue could decrease. Difficulties in any of our new product
development efforts or our efforts to enter adjacent markets could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.

We expect our gross margins to vary over time and may be adversely affected by numerous factors.

We expect our gross margins to vary over time and the gross margins we have achieved in recent years may not be sustainable and may be adversely affected in the future
by numerous factors, including but not limited to pricing pressure on our products and services due to competition, the ability of more fully integrated competitors to bundle their
networking products with other products, or utilize proprietary silicon in their products, the mix of sales to large customers who generally receive lower pricing, the mix of products
sold, manufacturing-related costs, including costs associated with sourcing key components from sole or limited suppliers and potential changes to our manufacturing and supply
chain to respond to international trade wars, supply chain sourcing activities, merchant silicon costs, and excess/obsolete inventory and supplier liability charges, including charges
for excess/obsolete component inventory held byand fees to expedite supplier components and costs related to tariffs from our contract manufacturers. products that are
manufactured internationally. In addition, other factors that may impact our gross margins over time include the introduction of new products and new business models including the
sale and delivery of more software and subscription solutions, entry into new markets or growth in lower margin markets, entry in markets with different pricing and cost structures,
pricing discounts given to customers, costs associated with defending intellectual property rights infringement, misappropriation or other violation claims and the potential outcomes
of such disputes, increased costs arising from epidemics, changes in distribution channels, increased warranty costs, and our ability to execute our operating plans. In addition,
inflationary pressures and shortages have increased and may continue to increase costs for certain materials, components, supplies and services. As a result of cost inflation in our
supply chain, we have implemented targeted price increases from time to time. However, these price increases could result in a decrease in demand for our products which would
decrease revenue. In addition, if business were subject to sustained economic

stress or recession, many of the risk factors identified in this risk factors section could be heightened. We determine our operating expenses largely on the basis of anticipated
revenue and a high percentage of our expenses are fixed in the short and medium term. As a result, a failure or delay in generating or recognizing revenue could cause significant
variations in our operating results and operating margin from quarter to quarter. Failure to sustain or improve our gross margins reduces our profitability and may have a material
adverse effect on our business and stock price.

We face intense competition, especially from larger, well-established companies and industry consolidation may lead to further increased competition, which may harm
our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The markets in which we compete, including the markets for data center, campus networking and network visibility and security, are intensely competitive, and we expect
competition to increase in the future from established competitors, industry consolidation and new market entrants. This competition has resulted in increased pricing pressure,
which could result in reduced profit margins, increased sales and marketing expenses and the loss of market share, any of which would likely harm our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects.

The data center and campus networking markets have been historically dominated by Cisco, with competition also coming from other large network equipment and system
vendors, including Del/EMC, Extreme Networks, Del/EMC, Hewlett Packard Enterprise, Nvidia, Huawei, Juniper Networks, Nvidia and white box networking vendors.vendors
utilizing open-source operating systems. Most of our competitors and some strategic alliance partners have made acquisitions and/or have entered into or extended partnerships or
other strategic relationships to offer more comprehensive product lines, including cloud networking solutions and network security. For example, Cisco acquired Acacia
Communications, Broadcom acquired Brocade Communications and VMware, Dell acquired Forcel0 Networks, Hewlett Packard Enterprise recently announced the acquisition of
Juniper Networks. This industry consolidation may lead to increased competition and may harm our business. Large system vendors are increasingly seeking to deliver vertically
integrated cloud networking solutions to customers that combine cloud-focused hardware and software solutions as an alternative to our products. We expect this trend to continue
as companies attempt to strengthen their market positions in an evolving industry and as companies are acquired or are unable to continue operations. Industry consolidation may
result in stronger competitors that are better able to compete with us, and this could lead to more variability in our results of operations and could have a material adverse effect on
our business, the pricing of our solutions, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We also face competition from other companies and new market entrants, including current technology partners, suppliers and customers or other cloud service providers
who may acquire or develop network switches and cloud service solutions for internal use and/or to broaden their portfolio of products to market and sell to customers. Some of
these competitors are developing "white box" networking products based on open-source network operating systems that may be provided for free and off-the-shelf or commoditized
hardware technology, or “white box” hardware, particularly where a customer’s network strategy seeks to emphasize deployment of such product offerings or while other competitors
may adopt a disaggregated approach to the procurement of hardware and their proprietary software. Customers may also increase their adoption of networking solutions based
upon open-source network operating systems that may be provided for free and used either on “white box” or proprietary hardware. As new markets emerge like Al, we expect the
field to remain intensely competitive. In addition, we have not established broad market awareness or acceptance of our Al Ethernet products that will compete against more
established InfiniBand products. products or against the Al Ethernet products of other competitors. Furthermore, the entrance of new competitors into our markets or the increased
adoption of these new technology solutions or consumption models may cause downward pricing pressures, result in lost sales or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our
business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.

Our relationships with our strategic alliance partners or suppliers may also shift as industry dynamics changes. If strategic alliance partners acquire or develop competitive
products or services, our relationship with those partners may be adversely impacted, which could lead to more variability to our results of operations and impact the pricing of our
solutions.

Many of our existing and potential competitors enjoy substantial competitive advantages, such as greater name recognition and longer operating histories, larger sales and
marketing budgets and resources, broader distribution and established relationships with channel partners and end customers, the ability to leverage their sales efforts across a
broader portfolio of products, the ability to bundle competitive offerings with other products and services or to reduce the price of products and services that compete with ours in
order to promote the sale of other products or services, the ability to develop their own silicon chips, the ability to set more aggressive pricing policies, lower labor and development
costs, greater resources to make acquisitions, larger intellectual property rights portfolio, and substantially greater financial, technical, research and development or other resources.

In addition, large competitors may have more extensive relationships with and within existing and potential customers that provide them with an advantage in competing for
business with those customers. customers or may have a dominant market position in certain markets that they can utilize to leverage sales of their Ethernet switching products. For
example, certain large competitors encourage customers of their other products and services to adopt their data networking solutions through discounted bundled product packages.
Our ability to compete will depend upon our ability to provide a better solution than our competitors at a more competitive price. We may be required to make substantial additional
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investments in research, development, marketing and sales in order to respond to competition, and we cannot assure you that these investments will achieve any returns for us or
that we will be able to compete successfully in the future.

We also expect increased competition if our market continues to expand. As we continue to expand globally, we have seen and continue to see new competition in different
geographic regions. In particular, we have experienced and could continue to experience price-focused competition from competitors in Asia, especially from China. As we expand
into new markets, we will face competition not only from our existing competitors but also from other competitors, including existing companies with strong technological, marketing,
and sales positions in those markets, as well as those with greater resources, including technical and engineering resources, than we do. Conditions in our market could change
rapidly and significantly as a result of technological advancements or other factors.

We are subject to a number of risks associated with the expansion of our international sales and operations.

Our ability to grow our business and our future success will depend to a significant extent on our ability to expand our operations and customer base worldwide. Many of our
customers, resellers, partners, suppliers and manufacturers operate around the world. Operating in a global marketplace, we are subject to risks associated with having an

international reach and compliance and regulatory requirements. Our international sales and operations are subject to a number of risks, including the following:

« ability to establish necessary business relationships and to comply with local business requirements, including distributor and reseller relationships;

- greater difficulty in enforcing contracts and accounts receivable collection and longer collection periods and non-standard terms with customers related to payment,
warranties or performance obligations;

* increased management complexity involved in, and expenses incurred in establishing and maintaining our international operations;

« deterioration of political relations between the U.S. and China, Canada, Mexico, Russia and EU including international trade wars and increased tariffs between the U.S. and
such countries or regions, which could have a material adverse effect on our sales as well as our manufacturing operations and supply chain in these countries;

« fluctuations in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies where we do business;

« general economic and political conditions in these foreign markets;

« global macroeconomic conditions, including recessionary cycles;

e risks associated with U.S. and foreign legal requirements, including those relating to anti-corruption, anti-bribery, telecommunications, cybersecurity, supply chain integrity,
privacy, data protection and the importation, certification and localization of our products in foreign countries;

« risks associated with government trade restrictions, including those which may impose restrictions, including prohibitions on the exportation, re-exportation, sale, shipment
or other transfer of programming, technology, components, and/or services to foreign persons;

» changes in trade controls, economic sanctions, or other international trade regulations, which have in general recently trended toward increasing breadth and complexity of
controls, and which may affect our ability to import or export our products to and from various countries;

« risks of unexpected changes in regulatory practices, tariffs and tax laws and treaties;

» greater risk of unexpected changes in tariffs imposed by the U.S. and other countries;

« deterioration of political relations between the U.S. and China, Russia, the United Kingdom and the EU as well as the Israel-Hamas conflict and Houthi attacks on marine
vessels in the Red Sea, which could have a material adverse effect on our sales and operations as well as our supply chain in these countries;

¢ possible deterioration in relations between Taiwan and China, and other factors affecting military, political, or economic conditions in Taiwan or elsewhere in Asia;

e issues related to cloud-specific and/or Al regulatory requirements in certain countries, including the UK, EU and Asia-Pacific countries;

« the uncertainty of protection and enforcement for intellectual property rights in some countries; and

* heightened risk of unfair or corrupt business practices in certain geographies and of improper or fraudulent sales arrangements that may impact financial results and result
in restatements of, or irregularities in, financial statements.

These and other factors could harm our ability to gain future international revenue and, consequently, materially affect our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects. Expanding our existing international operations and entering into additional international markets will require significant management attention and financial
commitments. Our failure to successfully manage our international operations and the associated risks effectively could limit our future growth or materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We have invested and may continue to invest in or acquire other businesses which could require significant management attention, disrupt our business, dilute
stockholder value and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

As part of our business strategy, we have made and could continue to make investments in complementary companies, products or technologies which could involve
licenses, additional channels of distribution, discount pricing or investments in or acquisitions of other companies. For example, we completed the acquisition of Untangle Holdings
and Pluribus Networks in 2022, which required management to focus efforts on integrating these acquisitions with the company. In addition, the privately-held companies in which
we invested are in the startup or development stages. These investments are inherently risky because the markets for the technologies or products these companies are developing
are typically in the early stages and may never materialize, and we could lose our entire investment in these companies. We may not be able to find suitable investment or
acquisition candidates and we may not be able to complete such investments or acquisitions on favorable terms, if at all. If we do complete investments or acquisitions, we may not
ultimately strengthen our competitive position or achieve our goals, and any investments or acquisitions we complete could be viewed negatively by our customers, investors and
securities analysts. Through acquisitions, we continue to expand into new markets and we may experience challenges in entering into new markets for which we have not previously
manufactured and sold products, including facing exposure to new market risks, difficulty achieving expected business results due to a lack of experience in new markets, products
or technologies or the initial dependence on unfamiliar distribution partners or vendors.

In addition, investments and acquisitions may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures. For example, if we are unsuccessful at integrating any acquisitions
or retaining key talent from those acquisitions, or the technologies associated with such acquisitions, into our company, the business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects of the combined company could be adversely affected. We may have difficulty retaining the employees of any acquired business or the acquired technologies or research
and development expectations may prove unsuccessful. Any integration process may require significant time and resources, and we may not be able to manage the process
successfully. Acquisitions may also disrupt our ongoing business, divert our resources and require significant management attention that would otherwise be available for
development of our business. We may not successfully evaluate or utilize the acquired technology or personnel or accurately forecast the financial effects of an acquisition
transaction, including accounting charges. Any acquisition or investment could expose us to unknown liabilities. Moreover, we cannot assure you that the anticipated benefits of any
acquisition or investment would be realized or that we would not be exposed to unknown liabilities. We may not be successful in retaining or expanding the customers and sales
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activities of any acquired business or in realizing the expected operational and cost efficiencies anticipated with the acquisition. We may have to pay cash, incur debt or issue equity
securities to pay for any such investment or acquisition, each of which could adversely affect our financial condition or the market price of our common stock. The sale of equity or
issuance of debt to finance any such acquisitions could result in dilution to our stockholders. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased fixed obligations and could
also include covenants or other restrictions that would impede our ability to manage our operations. Moreover, if the investment or acquisition becomes impaired, we may be
required to take an impairment charge, which could adversely affect our financial condition or the market price of our common stock.

Seasonality and industry cyclicality may cause fluctuations in our revenue and results of operations.

We operate on a December 31st year end and typically have lower sequential quarter over quarter revenue growth in the first quarter of each fiscal year, often followed by
stronger sequential revenue growth in subsequentthe ensuing quarters. We believe that this seasonality results from a number of factors, including the procurement, budgeting and
deployment cycles of many of our customers. The effects of recent supply chain disruptions and our rapid growth may have reduced the impact of seasonal or cyclical factors that
might otherwise have influenced our business and broader industry performance. If our growth rates slow, seasonal or cyclical variations in our operations may become more
pronounced over time and may materially affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. In addition, any supply chain shortages and manufacturing

disruptions that result in extended lead times may impact our ability to manufacture and ship products to our customers in a timely manner, which may disrupt typical seasonal
trends.

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Our sales contracts are primarily denominated in U.S. dollars, and therefore, substantially all of our revenue is not subject to foreign currency risk; however, as a result of
the strengthening U.S. dollar, there has been an increase in the cost of our products to our customers outside of the U.S., which could adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects. In addition, a decrease in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to foreign currencies could increase our product and operating costs in
foreign locations. Further, a portion of our operating expenses is incurred outside the U.S., is denominated in foreign currencies and is subject to fluctuations due to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. If we are not able to successfully hedge against the risks associated with the currency fluctuations, our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects could be adversely affected.

If we needed to raise additional capital to expand our operations, invest in new products or for other corporate purposes, our failure to do so on favorable terms could
reduce our ability to compete and could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We expect that our existing cash and cash equivalents, will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for the foreseeable future. If we did need to raise additional
funds to expand our operations, invest in new products or for other corporate purposes, we may not be able to obtain additional debt or equity financing on favorable terms. If we
raise additional equity financing, our stockholders may experience significant dilution of their ownership interests, and the market price of our common stock could decline.
Furthermore, if we engage in debt financing, the holders of such debt would have priority over the holders of common stock, and we may be required to accept terms that restrict our
ability to incur additional indebtedness or impose other restrictions on our business. We may also be required to take other actions that would otherwise be in the interests of the
debt holders, including maintaining specified liquidity or other ratios, any of which could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. If we need
additional capital and cannot raise it on acceptable terms, we may not be able to, among other things, enhance our products and services, expand our sales and marketing and
research and development organizations, acquire complementary technologies, products or businesses, and respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated working capital
requirements. Our failure to do any of these things could seriously harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Risks Related to Customers and Sales

If we are unable to attract new large customers or to sell additional products and services in the Al Ethernet, Campus Workspace and Network Security Markets, to our
existing customers, our revenue growth will be adversely affected and our revenue could decrease.

To increase our revenue, we must add new customers, especially large customers, and sell additional products and services to existing customers. For example, one of our
sales strategies is to targetexpand our current footprint by targeting specific projects at our current customers because they are familiar with the operational and economic benefits
of our solutions, thereby reducing the sales cycle into these customers. We also believe the opportunity with current customers is significant given their existing infrastructure and
expected future spend. Another one of our sales strategies is focused on increasing penetration in the enterprise, campus and campus Al markets. However, sales strategies
focused on expansion to adjacent markets can require more time and effort since enterprise and campus customers typically start with small purchases, and in the case of new
markets such as Al where we are introducing new products there is are often a long longer testing period. and qualification periods. For this reason, in order to grow our revenue, it is
important for us to attract new large customers. Some factors that may limit our ability to attract new large customers include, but are not limited to, saturation with certain large
cloud networking customers, customers priorities and initiatives to invest in new technology, competition, decreased capital spending by such customers, a limited number of such
customers, and a decline in growth at such customers. If we fail to attract new large customers, including enterprise, campus and campus Al customers, or fail to reduce the sales
cycle and sell additional products to our existing customers or if our products are not accepted by these customers, our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects will be harmed.

Sales of our switches generate most of our product revenue, and if we are unable to continue to grow sales of these products, our business, financial condition, results
of operations and prospects will suffer.

Historically, we have derived substantially all of our product revenue from sales of our switching and routing platforms, and we expect to continue to do so for the
foreseeable future. We have experienced declines in sales for some of our products over time as they mature and are superseded by products with improved performance and
functionality. A decline in the price of switches and related services, or our inability to increase sales of these products, would harm our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects more seriously than if we derived significant revenue from a larger variety of product lines and services. Our future financial performance will also depend
upon successfully developing and selling next-generation versions of our switches. If we fail to deliver new products, new features, or new releases that customers want and that
allow us to maintain leadership in what will continue to be a competitive market environment, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects will be harmed.

Our large customers generally require more favorable terms and conditions from their vendors and may request price concessions. As we seek to sell more products
to these customers, we may be required to agree to terms and conditions that may have an adverse effect on our business or ability to recognize revenue.

Our large customers have significant purchasing power and, as a result, generally receive more favorable terms and conditions than we typically provide to other customers,
including lower prices, bundled upgrades, extended warranties, acceptance terms, indemnification terms and extended return policies and other contractual rights. As we seek to
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sell more products to these large customers, an increased mix of our shipments may be subject to such terms and conditions, which may reduce our margins or affect the timing and
amount of our revenue, recognition and thus may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

If we are unable to increase market awareness or acceptance of our new products and services, our revenue may not continue to grow or may decline.

We have not yet established broad market awareness or acceptance of products and services that we have introduced in the Al Ethernet, campus workspace and network
security markets. Market awareness of our value proposition and products and services will be essential to our continued growth and our success, particularly for the service
provider and broader enterprise markets. Additionally, because we are introducing new products in markets such as the Al Ethernet market, some products are subject to trials,
testing, qualification and acceptance periods. If our marketing efforts are unsuccessful in creating market awareness of our company and our products and services or in gaining
access to new customer markets, or if these new products and services are not accepted by customers, then our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects
will be adversely affected, and we will not be able to achieve sustained growth.

The sales prices of our products and services may decrease, which may reduce our gross profits and adversely affect our results of operations.

The sales prices for our products and services may decline for a variety of reasons, including competitive pricing pressures, discounts, a change in our mix of products and
services, the introduction of new products and services by us or by our competitors including the adoption of “white box” solutions, promotional programs, or broader
macroeconomic factors. In addition, we have provided, and plan to continue to in the future provide, pricing discounts to large customers, which may result in lower margins for the
period in which such sales occur. Our gross margins may also fluctuate as a result of the timing of such sales to large customers.

We have historically experienced declines in sales prices for some of our products and services and could continue to experience such declines. Competition continues to
increase in the markets in which we participate, and we expect competition to further increase in the future, thereby leading to increased pricing pressures. Larger competitors with
more diverse product and service offerings may reduce the price of products and services that compete with ours or may bundle them with other products and services. Additionally,
although we generally price our products and services worldwide in U.S. dollars, currency fluctuations in certain countries and regions may adversely affect actual prices that
partners and customers are willing to pay in those countries and regions. Furthermore, sales prices and gross profits for our products may decrease over product life cycles.
Decreased sales prices for any reason may reduce our gross profits and adversely affect our result of operations.

Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, and our sales efforts require considerable time and expense. As a result, our sales and revenue are difficult to predict
and may vary substantially from period to period, which may cause our results of operations to fluctuate significantly.

The timing of our sales and revenue recognition is difficult to predict because of the length and unpredictability of our products’ sales cycles. A sales cycle is the period
between initial contact with a prospective customer and any sale of our products. End-customer orders often involve the purchase of multiple products. These orders are complex
and difficult to complete because prospective customers generally consider a number of factors over an extended period of time before committing to purchase the products and
solutions we sell. Customers, especially our large customers, often view the purchase of our products as a significant and strategic decision and require considerable time to
evaluate, test and qualify our products prior to making a purchase decision and placing an order. The length of time that customers devote to their evaluation, contract negotiation
and budgeting processes varies significantly. In addition, customers may delay upgrades to their network infrastructure which extends the upgrade and sales cycle. Our products’
sales cycles can be are lengthy in certain cases, especially with respect to our prospective large customers and certain markets including the enterprise, campus and campus Al
markets. During the sales cycle, we expend significant time and money on sales and marketing activities and make investments in evaluation equipment, all of which lower our
operating margins, particularly if no sale occurs. Even if a customer decides to purchase our products, there are many factors affecting the timing of our recognition of revenue,
which makes our revenue difficult to forecast. For example, there may be unexpected delays in a customer’s internal procurement processes, particularly for some of our larger
customers for which our products represent a very small percentage of their total procurement activity. In addition, due to macroeconomic uncertainties, the sales cycle may be
extended and there may be delays and reductions of expenditures and cancellations by customers. There are many other factors specific to customers that contribute to the timing
of their purchases and the variability of our revenue recognition, including the strategic importance of a particular project to a customer, budgetary constraints and changes in their
personnel.

Even after a customer makes a purchase, there may be circumstances or terms relating to the purchase that delay our ability to recognize revenue from that
purchase. purchase including acceptance terms contained in such agreements. In addition, the significance and timing of our product enhancements, and the introduction of new
products by our competitors, may also affect customers’ purchases. For all of these reasons, it is difficult to predict whether a sale will be completed, the particular period in which a
sale will be completed or the period in which revenue from a sale will be recognized. recognized, if at all. If our sales cycles lengthen or acceptance of such products is not achieved,
our revenue could be lower than expected, which would have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Our ability to sell our products is highly dependent on the quality of our support and services offerings, and if we are unable to offer high-quality support and services
this could adversely effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Once our products are deployed within our customers’ networks, our customers depend on our support organization and our channel partners to resolve any issues relating
to our products. High-quality support is critical for the successful marketing and sale of our products. If we or our channel partners do not assist our customers in deploying our
products effectively, do not succeed in helping our customers resolve post-deployment issues quickly or do not provide adequate ongoing support, or if we experience quality issues
with these new products, it could adversely affect our ability to sell our products to existing customers and could harm our reputation with potential customers. In addition, as we
continue to expand our operations internationally, our support organization will face additional challenges, including those associated with delivering support, training and
documentation in languages other than English. Our failure or the failure of our channel partners to maintain high-quality support and services could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Our business depends on customers renewing their maintenance and support contracts. Declines in maintenance renewals by customers could harm our future
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We typically sell our products with maintenance and support as part of the initial purchase, and a portion of our annual revenue comes from renewals of maintenance and
support contracts. Our customers have no obligation to renew their maintenance and support contracts after the expiration of the initial period, and they may elect not to renew their
maintenance and support contracts, to renew their maintenance and support contracts at lower prices through alternative channel partners or to reduce the product quantity under
their maintenance and support contracts, thereby reducing our future revenue from maintenance and support contracts. If our customers, especially our large customers, do not
renew their maintenance and support contracts or if they renew them on terms that are less favorable to us, our revenue may decline and our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects will suffer.

Our standard sales contracts contain indemnification provisions requiring us to defend our customers against third-party claims, including against infringement,
misappropriation or other violation of certain intellectual property rights that could expose us to losses which could seriously harm our business, financial conditions,
results of operations and prospects.
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Under the indemnification provisions of our standard sales contracts, we agree to defend our customers and channel partners against third-party claims asserting
infringement, misappropriation or other violation of certain intellectual property rights, which may include patents, copyrights, trademarks or trade secrets, and to pay judgments
entered on such claims. An adverse ruling in such litigation may potentially expose us to claims in the event that claims are brought against our customers based on the ruling and
we are required to indemnify such customers.

Our exposure under these indemnification provisions is frequently limited to the total amount paid by our customer under the agreement. However, certain agreements
include indemnification provisions that could potentially expose us to losses in excess of the amount received under the agreement. Any of these events, including claims for
indemnification, could seriously harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

In addition to our own direct sales force, we rely on distributors, systems integrators and value-added resellers to sell our products, and our failure to effectively
develop, manage or prevent disruptions to our distribution channels and the processes and procedures that support them could cause a reduction in the number of
customers of our products.

Our future success is highly dependent upon maintaining our relationships with distributors, systems integrators and value-added resellers and establishing additional sales
channel relationships. We anticipate that sales of our products to a limited number of channel partners will continue to account for a material portion of our total product revenue for
the foreseeable future. We provide our channel partners with specific training and programs to assist them in selling our products, but these steps may not be effective. In addition,
our channel partners may be unsuccessful in marketing, selling and supporting our products and services. If we are unable to develop and maintain effective sales incentive
programs for our channel partners, we may not be able to incentivize these partners to sell our products to customers. These partners may have incentives to promote our
competitors’ products to the detriment of our own or may cease selling our products altogether. One of our channel partners could elect to consolidate or enter into a strategic
partnership with one of our competitors, which could reduce or eliminate our future opportunities with that channel partner. Our agreements with our channel partners may generally
be terminated for any reason by either party with advance notice. We may be unable to retain these channel partners or secure additional or replacement channel partners. The loss
of one or more of our significant channel partners requires extensive training, and any new or expanded relationship with a channel partner may take several months or more to
achieve productivity.

Where we rely on the channel partners for sales of our products, we may have little or no contact with the ultimate users of our products that purchase through such channel
partners, thereby making it more difficult for us to establish brand awareness, ensure proper delivery and installation of our products, service ongoing end-customer requirements,
estimate end-customer demand and respond to evolving end-customer needs. In addition, our channel partner sales structure could subject us to lawsuits, potential liability and
reputational harm if, for example, any of our channel partners misrepresent the functionality of our products or services to customers, fail to comply with their contractual obligations
or violate laws such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act or other applicable anti-corruption laws or our corporate policies. If we fail to effectively manage our existing sales
channels, or if our channel partners are unsuccessful in fulfilling the orders for our products, if we are unable to enter into arrangements with, and retain a sufficient number of, high-
quality channel partners in each of the regions in which we sell products and keep them motivated to sell our products, our ability to sell our products and our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects will be harmed.

A portion of our revenue is generated by sales to government entities, which are subject to a number of challenges and risks.

We anticipate increasing our sales efforts to U.S. and foreign, federal, state and local governmental customers in the future. Sales to government entities are subject to a
number of risks. Selling to government entities can be highly competitive, expensive and time consuming, often requiring significant upfront time and expense without any assurance
that these efforts will generate a sale. The substantial majority of our sales to date to government entities have been made indirectly through our channel partners. Government
certification requirements for products like ours may change and, in doing so, restrict our ability to sell into the government sector until we have attained revised certifications.
Government demand and payment for our products and services may be affected by public sector budgetary cycles and funding authorizations, with funding reductions or delays
adversely affecting public sector demand for our products and services. Government entities may have statutory, contractual or other legal rights to terminate contracts with our
distributors and resellers for convenience or due to a default. Selling to government entities requires us to comply with various regulations that are not applicable to sales to non-
government

entities, including regulations that may relate to pricing, prohibitions against use of certain foreign components in our products and services, anti-corruption and other matters. The
U.S. government may require certain products that it purchases to be manufactured in, or may require that products it purchases contain a certain threshold of “domestic origin”
components from, the U.S. and other relatively high-cost manufacturing locations, and we may not manufacture all products in locations that meet these requirements.

Complying with these regulations may also require requires us to put in place controls and procedures to monitor compliance with applicable regulations that may be costly
or not possible. Governments also routinely investigate and audit government contractors’ administrative processes and contract compliance. Failure to comply with the terms of our
government contracts or applicable regulations, or an unfavorable audit, could result in the government ceasing to buy our products and services, a reduction of revenue, fines or
civil or criminal liability, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We are exposed to the credit risk of our channel partners and some of our customers, which could result in material losses.

Most of our contracts with customers are on an open credit basis, with standard payment terms payment terms of 30 days and the remainder generally between 30 to 90
days. We monitor individual end-customer payment capability in granting such open credit arrangements, seek to limit such open credit to amounts we believe the customers can
pay and maintain reserves we believe are adequate to cover exposure for doubtful accounts. We are unable to recognize revenue from shipments until the collection of those
amounts becomes reasonably assured. Any significant delay or default in the collection of significant accounts receivable could result in an increased need for us to obtain working
capital from other sources, possibly on worse terms than we could have negotiated if we had established such working capital resources prior to such delays or defaults. Any
significant default could adversely affect our results of operations and delay our ability to recognize revenue.

A material portion of our sales is derived through our distributors, systems integrators and value-added resellers. Some of our distributors, systems integrators and value-
added resellers may experience financial difficulties, which could adversely affect our collection of accounts receivable. Distributors tend to have more limited financial resources
than other systems integrators, value-added resellers and customers. Distributors represent potential sources of increased credit risk because they may be less likely to have the
reserve resources required to meet payment obligations. Our exposure to credit risks of our channel partners may increase if our channel partners and their customers are
adversely affected by global or regional economic conditions. One or more of these channel partners could delay payments or default on credit extended to them, either of which
could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Risks Related to Products and Services

Product quality problems, defects, errors or vulnerabilities in our products or services could harm our reputation and adversely affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects.
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We produce highly complex products that incorporate advanced technologies, including both hardware and software technologies. Despite testing prior to their release, our
products may contain undetected defects or errors, especially when first introduced or when new versions are released. Product defects or errors could affect the performance of
our products, could result in a failure of appropriate updates to be distributed or installed, could delay the development or release of new products or new versions of products, and
could result in warranty claims and product liability claims from customers. Any actual or perceived defect, error, or vulnerability in our products or services, or other allegations of
unsatisfactory performance could cause us to lose revenue or market share, increase our service costs, cause us to incur substantial costs in analyzing, correcting or redesigning
the products or otherwise addressing defects, errors or vulnerabilities, cause us to lose significant customers, harm our reputation and market positions, subject us to liability for
damages, subject us to litigation, regulatory inquiries or investigations, and divert our resources from other tasks, any one of which could materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

From time to time, we have had to replace certain components of products that we had shipped and provide remediation in response to the discovery of defects or bugs,
including failures in software protocols or defective component batches resulting in reliability issues, in such products, and we may be required to do so in the future. We may also
be required to provide full replacements or refunds for such defective products. We cannot assure you that such remediation or any of the other circumstances described above,
including claims, litigation, or regulatory investigations, would not have a material effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

If we do not successfully anticipate technological shifts and develop products and product enhancements that meet those technological shifts, if those products are
not made available in a timely manner or do not gain market acceptance, or if we do not successfully manage product introductions, we may not be able to compete
effectively, and our ability to generate revenue will suffer.

We must continue to enhance our existing products and develop new technologies and products that address emerging technological trends, evolving industry standards
and changing end-customer needs. The process of enhancing our existing products and developing new technology is complex and uncertain, and new offerings require significant
upfront investment that may not result in material design improvements to existing products or result in marketable new products or costs savings or revenue for an extended period
of time, if at all.

In addition, new technologies could render our existing products obsolete or less attractive to customers, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects could be materially adversely affected if such technologies are widely adopted. For example, customers may prefer to address their network switch requirements by
licensing software operating systems separately and placing them on “white box” hardware rather than purchasing integrated hardware products as has occurred in the server
industry. Additionally, customers may require product upgrades including higher Ethernet speeds and additional functionality to address the increasing demands of the cloud
computing environments.

In the past several years, we have announced a number of new products and enhancements to our products and services, including new products in the Al Ethernet,
campus workspace and network security markets. The success of our new products depends on several factors including, but not limited to, appropriate new product definition, the
development of product features that sufficiently meet end-user requirements, our ability to manage the risks associated with new product production ramp-up issues, component
costs, availability of components, timely completion and introduction of these products, prompt solution of any defects or bugs in these products, our ability to support these
products, differentiation of new products from those of our competitors and market acceptance of these products. For example, our new product releases will require strong
execution from our third-party merchant silicon chip suppliers to develop and release new merchant silicon chips that satisfy end-customer requirements, to meet expected release
schedules and to provide sufficient quantities of these components. If we are unable to successfully manage our product introductions or transitions, or if we fail to penetrate new
markets, as a result of any of these or other factors, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be adversely affected.

Our product releases introduced new software products that include the capability for disaggregation of our software operating systems from our hardware. The success of
our strategy to expand our software business is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties including the additional development efforts and costs to create these new products or
make them compatible with other technologies, the potential for our strategy to negatively impact revenue and gross margins and additional costs associated with regulatory
compliance.

We may not be able to successfully anticipate or adapt to changing technology or end-customer requirements on a timely basis, or at all. If we fail to keep up with
technology changes or to convince our customers and potential customers of the value of our solutions even in light of new technologies, we may lose customers, decrease or delay
market acceptance and sales of our present and future products and services and materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.

Our products must interoperate with operating systems, software applications and hardware that is developed by others, and if we are unable to devote the necessary
resources to ensure that our products interoperate with such software and hardware, we may lose or fail to increase market share and experience a weakening demand
for our products.

Generally, our products comprise only a part of the network infrastructure and must interoperate with our customers’ existing infrastructure, specifically their networks,
servers, software and operating systems, which may be manufactured by a wide variety of vendors and OEMs. Our products must comply with established industry standards in
order to interoperate with the servers, storage, software and other networking equipment in the network infrastructure such that all systems function efficiently together. We depend
on the vendors of servers and systems in a data center to support prevailing industry standards. Often, these vendors are significantly larger and more influential in driving industry
standards than we are. Also, some industry standards may not be widely adopted or implemented uniformly and competing standards may emerge that may be preferred by our
customers.

In addition, when new or updated versions of these software operating systems or applications are introduced, we must sometimes develop updated versions of our
software so that our products will interoperate properly. We may not accomplish these development efforts quickly, cost-effectively or at all. These development efforts require capital
investment and the devotion of engineering resources. If we fail to maintain compatibility with these systems and applications, our customers may not be able to adequately utilize
our products, and we may lose or fail to increase market share and experience a weakening in demand for our products, among other consequences, which would adversely affect
our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Risks Related to Supply Chain and Manufacturing

Managing the supply of our products and product components is complex. Insufficient component supply and inventory and the time to manufacture our products may
result in lost sales opportunities or delayed revenue, while excess inventory may harm our gross margins.

Managing our manufacturing capacity and extended supply chain is complex, and our inventory management systems and related supply-chain visibility tools may not
enable us to forecast accurately and effectively manage the supply of our products and product components. Our ability to manage our supply chain has also and could continue to
be adversely affected by other factors including geopolitical conditions such as the Russia-Ukraine conflict and related economic sanctions against Russia, the Israel-Hamas
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conflict, the Houthi attacks on marine vessels in the Red Sea, the U.S. changing international trade war with China policies and political tensions between China and Taiwan. Global
geopolitical and macroeconomic uncertainties have resulted in prolonged manufacturing and supply chain disruptions, including temporary closures of certain contract
manufacturer manufacturing and supplier facilities particularly within China and controls on certain supplies including China's restrictions in the use of Micron products and its
controls on metals used in semiconductor manufacturing such as gallium and germanium which, in turn, have caused and may continue to cause shortages of, and extended lead
times for, components used to manufacture our products, increases in the prices for such components, a reduction, unpredictability or interruption of supply, prioritization of
component shipments to other vendors and decommitments of orders. In addition, China imposed additional export controls on critical metals including tungsten, tellurium, bismuth,
molybdenum, and indium (and related compounds) in February 2025 as part of its response to the United States’s imposition of an additional 10% tariff on products from China.
Insufficient component supply, and increases in the time required to manufacture our products may lead to prolonged inventory shortages, manufacturing disruptions and increased
customer lead times for our products that could result in increased cancellation of orders or loss of future sales opportunities altogether as potential customers turn to competitors’
products that are readily available. In addition, in order to meet customer lead times, we have, and may continue to expedite the supply of components and make incremental
investments in our supply chain to increase our capacity for manufacturing products, which increases our product costs.

In order to reduce manufacturing lead times and plan for adequate component supply, we have issued and expect to continue to issue purchase orders for components and
products that are non-cancellable and non-returnable, including purchase commitments for semiconductors as disclosed in Note 5. Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Industry wide Our business is emerging from a period of unprecedented global
supply chain shortages resulted in extended lead time for components, which required us to extend the lead time horizon of our demand forecast for such components and
increased ourdisruptions. Throughout this period, we made significant supply chain investments, including incremental purchase commitments for long lead time
components. components in response to extended visibility to deployment plans from our customers. Although the global supply chain has shown improvement, we have had to
invest in inventory to address forecast uncertainty and expect that our inventory and purchase commitments will remain volatile as we ramp new product introductions. In particular,
we have increased our purchase commitments for componentsto respond to the rapid deployment of Al networks and products have recently declined, they remain at elevated
levels, and may continue to remain elevated in the near term, and there reduce overall lead times which will increase our working capital requirements. There is no guarantee that
suppliers will meet their commitments commitments or that actual customer demand will not be lower than our demand forecasts. As customer lead times improve more broadly, we
have seen and expect to continue to see a commensurate reduction in visibility to customer demand and a gradual return to a somewhat shorter demand-planning horizon.
Additionally, certain customers have and may continue to engage in cost reduction measures including reductions in capital expenditures and other efficiency efforts which may
result in a cancellation of orders or reduce demand for our products. We establish a liability for non-cancellable, non-returnable purchase commitments with our component
inventory suppliers for quantities in excess of our demand forecasts, or for products that are considered obsolete. In addition, we establish a liability and reimburse our contract
manufacturer for component inventory purchased on our behalf that has been rendered excess or obsolete due to manufacturing and engineering change orders, or in cases where
inventory levels greatly exceed our demand forecasts. The larger magnitude of these balances, combined with a reduction in customer demand-planning horizons and shifting
product priorities, has resulted in increased risk that we may not be able to sell all of this inventory, which in turn has resulted, and may in the future result, in additional excess

and obsolete inventory-related charges. Our non-cancellable commitments and the cash deposits to secure our purchases with our contract manufacturers are disclosed in Note 5.
Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part Il, ltem 8, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If we ultimately determine that
we have excess or obsolete inventory, we may have to reduce our prices and write down inventory to its estimated realizable value, which in turn could result in lower gross
margins. If we are unable to effectively manage our supply and inventory, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be adversely affected.

Because we depend on third-party manufacturers to build our products, we are susceptible to manufacturing delays and pricing fluctuations that could prevent us from
shipping end-customer orders on time, if at all, or on a cost-effective basis, which may result in the loss of sales and customers.

We depend on third-party contract manufacturers to manufacture our product lines. A significant portion of our cost of revenue consists of payments to these third-party
contract manufacturers. Our reliance on these third-party contract manufacturers reduces our control over the manufacturing process, quality assurance, product costs and product
supply and timing, which exposes us to operational risks including their ability to obtain in a timely manner sufficient components for our products and to ramp manufacturing
sufficiently to meet our customer demand. Our reliance on contract manufacturers also yields the potential for their infringement, misappropriation or other violation of third-party
intellectual property rights in the manufacturing of our products or their infringement, misappropriation or other violation of our intellectual property rights in the manufacturing of
other customers’ products. If we are unable to manage our relationships with our third-party contract manufacturers effectively, or if these third-party manufacturers suffer delays or
disruptions or quality control problems in their operations, experience increased manufacturing lead times, capacity constraints or fail to meet our future requirements for timely
delivery, our ability to ship products to our customers would be severely impaired, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects would be seriously
harmed.

To the extent that our products are manufactured at facilities in foreign countries, we may be subject to additional risks associated with complying with local rules and
regulations in those jurisdictions. For example, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, some of our contract manufacturers experienced temporary closures and labor shortages as a result
of shelter in place orders issued in their local jurisdictions. shortages. Shelter in place orders, factory closures or reductions in staffing at our manufacturing sites would result in
material disruptions, increased lead times and supply shortages of our products. Due to their existence in foreign locations, our contract manufacturers may also be subject to or
become subject to new or increased tariffs which, if sufficiently high, may affect the profitability of these operations and may require relocation to new locations, moves which may
require bearing associated costs. There is no guarantee that any contract manufacturing location may not be targeted by tariffs or other trade measures imposed by the United
States or another country.

Our contract manufacturers typically fulfill our supply requirements on the basis of individual orders. We do not have long-term contracts with our third-party manufacturers
that guarantee capacity, the continuation of particular pricing terms or the extension of credit limits. Accordingly, they are not obligated to continue to fulfill our supply requirements,
which could result in supply shortages, and the prices we are charged for manufacturing services could be increased on short notice. For example, a competitor could place large
orders with the third-party manufacturer, thereby utilizing all or substantially all of such third-party manufacturer’s capacity and leaving the manufacturer little or no capacity to fulfill
our individual orders without price increases or delays, or at all. Our contract with one of our contract manufacturers permits it to terminate the agreement for convenience, subject to
prior notice requirements. We may not be able to develop alternate or second contract manufacturers in a timely manner.

If we add or change contract manufacturers or change any manufacturing plant locations within a contract manufacturer network, we would add additional complexity and
risk to our supply chain management and may increase our working capital requirements. Ensuring a new contract manufacturer or new plant location is qualified and has sufficient
manufacturing capacity to manufacture our products to our standards and industry requirements could take significant effort and be time consuming and expensive, and any delays
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or failures to adequately ramp production to meet our customer demand could negatively impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Any addition
or change in manufacturers may be extremely costly, time consuming and we may not be able to do so successfully. successfully

. Furthermore, when we introduce new products, it could take time for manufacturing to ramp production and fulfill customer demand.

In addition, we may be subject to additional significant challenges to ensure that quality, processes and costs, among other issues, are consistent with our expectations and
those of our customers. A new contract manufacturer or manufacturing location may not be able to scale its production of our products at the volumes or quality we require. This
could also adversely affect our ability to meet our scheduled product deliveries to our customers, which could damage our customer relationships and cause the loss of sales to
existing or potential customers, late delivery penalties, delayed revenue or an increase in our costs which could adversely affect our gross margins. This could also result in
increased levels of inventory subjecting us to increased risk of excess and obsolete charges that could have a negative impact on our operating results.

Any production interruptions, labor shortages or disruptions for any reason, including those noted above, as well as a natural disaster, epidemic, war, capacity shortages,
adverse results from intellectual property litigation or quality problems, at one of our manufacturing partners would adversely affect sales of our product lines manufactured by that
manufacturing partner and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We base our inventory requirements on our forecasts of future sales. If these demand forecasts are materially inaccurate or change from our initial projections, we may
procure inventory that we may be unable to use in a timely manner or at all.

We and our contract manufacturers procure components and build our products based on our forecasts. These forecasts are based on estimates of future demand for our
products, which are in turn based on historical trends and analysis from our sales and marketing organizations, adjusted for overall market conditions and other factors. In order to
address supply chain shortages and extended lead times, we have entered, and may continue to enter, into significant purchase commitments with our contract manufacturers and
suppliers, and we have issued with issuance of non-cancellable purchase orders for such commitments. Although we have seen a recent decline in our purchase commitments, we
have also experienced increased inventory levels. There is no guarantee that suppliers will meet their commitments or that actual customer demand will directly match our demand
forecasts. If our forecasts are materially inaccurate or change from our initial projections, customers' orders are cancelled or if we otherwise do not need such inventory, we may
under- or over-procure inventory, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Interruptions or delays in shipments could cause our revenue for the applicable period to fall below expected levels.

We have been and could continue to be subject to manufacturing disruptions and supply chain delays. delays in the future. This places significant pressure on supply chain
management, manufacturing, inventory and quality control management, shipping and trade compliance. Consequently, this has hindered and may continue to hinder our ability to
forecast component supply, manufacturing capacity and timing of inventory receipts. A significant interruption in these critical functions has resulted and could continue to result in
delayed order fulfillment or cancellation of orders, which may negatively impact our relationships with our customers, reduce future sales or otherwise adversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects and result in a decline in the market price of our common stock.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property and Other Proprietary Rights

Assertions by third parties of infringement, misappropriation or other violations by us of their intellectual property rights, or other lawsuits asserted against us, could
result in significant costs and substantially harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Patent and other intellectual property rights disputes are common in the network infrastructure, network security and Wi-Fi industries and have resulted in protracted and
expensive litigation for many companies. Many companies in the network infrastructure, network security and Wi-Fi industries, including our competitors and other third parties, as
well as non-practicing entities, own large numbers of patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets and other intellectual property rights, which they may use to assert claims of
infringement, misappropriation, or other violations of intellectual property rights against us. From time to time, they have or may in the future also assert such claims against us, our
customers or channel partners whom we typically indemnify against claims that our products infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate the intellectual property rights of third
parties. For example, we have previously been involved in litigation with Cisco and OptumSoft, and are currently involved in litigation with WSOU Investments LLC (“WSOU”), which
is described in the “Legal Proceedings” subheading in Note 5. Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part Il, Item 8, of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

As the number of products and competitors in our market increases and overlaps occur or if we enter into new markets, claims of infringement, misappropriation and other
violations of intellectual property rights may increase. Any claim of infringement, misappropriation or other violations of intellectual property rights by a third-party, even those without
merit, could cause us to incur substantial costs defending against the claim, distract our management from our business and require us to cease use or practice of such intellectual
property. In addition, some claims for patent infringement may relate to subcomponents that we purchase from third parties. If these third parties are unable or unwilling to indemnify
us for these claims, we could be substantially harmed.

The patent portfolios of most of our competitors are larger than ours. This disparity may increase the risk that our competitors may sue us for patent infringement and may
limit our ability to counterclaim for patent infringement or settle through patent cross-licenses. In addition, future assertions of patent rights by third parties, and any resulting
litigation, may involve patent holding companies or other adverse patent owners who have no relevant product revenue and against whom our own patents may therefore provide
little or no deterrence or protection. We cannot assure you that we are not infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating any third-party intellectual property rights.

The third-party asserters of intellectual property rights infringement claims may be unreasonable in their demands, or may simply refuse to settle, which could lead to
expensive settlement payments, longer periods of litigation and related expenses, additional burdens on employees or other resources, distraction from our business, supply
stoppages and lost sales.

An adverse outcome of a dispute may require us to pay substantial damages or penalties including treble damages if we are found to have willfully infringed a third-party’s
patents; cease making, licensing, using or importing into the U.S. products or services that are alleged to infringe, misappropriate or violate the intellectual property rights of others;
expend additional development resources to attempt to redesign our products or services or otherwise to develop non-infringing technology, which may not be successful; enter into
potentially unfavorable royalty or license agreements in order to obtain the right to use necessary technologies or intellectual property rights; and indemnify our partners and other
third parties. Any damages, penalties or royalty obligations we may become subject to as a result of an adverse outcome, and any third-party indemnity we may need to provide,
could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Royalty or licensing agreements, if required or desirable, may be unavailable on terms acceptable
to us, or at all, and may require significant royalty payments and other expenditures. Further, there is little or no information publicly available concerning market or fair values for
license fees, which can lead to overpayment of license or settlement fees. In addition, some licenses may be non-exclusive, and therefore our competitors may have access to the
same technology licensed to us. Suppliers subject to third-party intellectual property rights infringement claims also may choose or be forced to discontinue or alter their
arrangements with us, with little or no advance notice to us. Any of these events could seriously harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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In the event that we are found to infringe, misappropriate or violate any third-party intellectual property rights, we could be enjoined, or subject to other remedial orders that
would prohibit us, from making, licensing, using or importing into the U.S. or elsewhere such products or services. In order to resume such activities with respect to any affected
products or services, we (or our component suppliers) would be required to develop technical redesigns that no longer infringe, misappropriate or violate the third-party intellectual
property right. In any efforts to develop technical redesigns for these products or services, we (or our component suppliers) may be unable to do so in a manner that does not
continue to infringe the third-party intellectual property right or that is acceptable to our customers. These redesign efforts could be extremely costly and time consuming as well as
disruptive to our other development activities and distracting to management. Moreover, such redesigns could require us to obtain approvals from the court or administrative body to
resume the activities with respect to these affected solutions. We may not be successful in our efforts to obtain such approvals in a timely manner, or at all. Any failure to effectively
redesign our solutions or to obtain timely approval of those redesigns by a court or administrative body may cause a disruption to our product shipments and materially and
adversely affect our business, prospects, reputation, results of operations, and financial condition. For example, in two prior investigations brought by Cisco in the International
Trade Commission (“ITC"), we were subjected to remedial orders that prohibited us from importing and selling after importation any products the ITC found to infringe Cisco's
patents. As a result, we were required to redesign certain aspects of our products and obtain U.S. Customs and Border Protection’s approval of those redesigns before we could
continue to import those products into the United States.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights, our competitive position could be harmed or we could be required to incur significant expenses to enforce
our rights.

We depend on our ability to protect our proprietary technology. We rely on trade secret, patent, copyright and trademark laws and confidentiality agreements with employees
and third parties, all of which offer only limited protection.

The process of obtaining patent protection is expensive and time-consuming, and we may not be able to prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a
reasonable cost or in a timely manner. We may choose not to seek patent protection for certain innovations and may choose not to pursue patent protection in certain jurisdictions.
Further, we do not know whether any of our pending patent applications will result in the issuance of patents or whether the examination process will require us to narrow our claims.
To the extent that additional patents are issued from our patent applications, which is not certain, they may be contested, circumvented or invalidated in the future. Moreover, the
rights granted under any issued patents may not provide us with proprietary protection or competitive advantages, and, as with any technology, competitors may be able to develop
similar or superior technologies to our own now or in the future. In addition, we rely on confidentiality or license agreements with third parties in connection with their use of our
products and technology. There is no guarantee that such parties will abide by the terms of such agreements or that we will be able to adequately enforce our rights, in part because
we rely on “shrink-wrap” or other unsigned licenses in some instances.

We have not registered our trademarks in all geographic markets. Failure to secure those registrations could adversely affect our ability to enforce and defend our trademark
rights and result in indemnification claims. Further, any claim of infringement by a third-party, even those claims without merit, could cause us to incur substantial costs defending
against such claim, could divert management attention from our business and could require us to cease use or practice of such intellectual property in certain geographic markets.

Despite our efforts, the steps we have taken to protect our proprietary rights may not be adequate to preclude misappropriation of our proprietary information or infringement
of our intellectual property rights, and our ability to police such misappropriation or infringement or any other violation is uncertain, particularly in countries outside of the United
States.

Detecting and protecting against the unauthorized use of our products, technology and proprietary rights is expensive, difficult and, in some cases, impossible. Litigation
may be necessary in the future to enforce or defend our intellectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of
others. Such litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of management resources, either of which could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects, and there is no guarantee that we would be successful. Furthermore, many of our current and potential competitors have the ability to dedicate substantially greater
resources to protecting their technology or intellectual property rights than we do. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing or
misappropriating our intellectual property rights, which could result in a substantial loss of our market share.

We rely on the availability of licenses to third-party software and other intellectual property.

Many of our products and services include software or other intellectual property licensed from third parties, and we otherwise use software and other intellectual property
licensed from third parties in our business. This exposes us to risks over which we may have little or no control. For example, a licensor may have difficulties keeping up with
technological changes or may stop supporting the software or other intellectual property that it licenses to us. Also, it will be necessary in the future to renew licenses, expand the
scope of existing licenses or seek new licenses, relating to various aspects of these products and services or otherwise relating to our business, which may result in increased
license fees. These licenses may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, a third-party may assert that we or our customers are in breach of the terms of a license,
which could, among other things, give such third-party the right to terminate a license or seek damages from us, or both. The inability to obtain or maintain certain licenses or other
rights or to obtain or maintain such licenses or rights on favorable terms, or the need to engage in litigation regarding these matters, could result in delays in releases of products
and services and could otherwise disrupt our business, until equivalent technology can be identified, licensed or developed, if at all, and integrated into our products and services or
otherwise in the conduct of our business. Moreover, the inclusion in our products and services of software or other intellectual property licensed from third parties on a nonexclusive
basis may limit our ability to differentiate our products from those of our competitors. Lastly, our use of third-party technology may subject us to claims of infringement which could
result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and time-intensive litigation and for which we may not be eligible for indemnification
protections. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Our products contain third-party open source software components, and failure to comply with the terms of the underlying open source software licenses could restrict
our ability to sell our products.

Our products contain software modules licensed to us by third-party authors under “open source” licenses. Use and distribution of open source software may entail greater
risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or other contractual protections regarding intellectual property rights
infringement, misappropriation or violation claims or the quality of the code. Some open source licenses contain requirements that we make available source code for modifications
or derivative works we create based upon the type of open source software that we use. If we combine our software with open source software in a certain manner, we could, under
certain open source licenses, be required to release portions of the source code of our software to our customers or the public more generally.

This would allow our competitors to create similar products with lower development effort and time and ultimately could result in a loss of product sales for us.

Although we monitor our use of open source software to avoid subjecting our products to conditions we do not intend, the terms of many open source licenses have not
been interpreted by U.S. courts, and these licenses could be construed in a way that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our
products. Moreover, we cannot assure you that our processes for controlling our use of open source software in our products will be effective. If we are held to have breached the
terms of an open source software license, we could be required to seek licenses from third parties to continue offering our products on terms that are not economically feasible, to
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re-engineer our products, to discontinue the sale of our products if re-engineering could not be accomplished on a timely basis or to make generally available, in source code form,
our proprietary code, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We provide access to our software and other selected source code to certain partners, which creates additional risk that our competitors could develop products that
are similar to or better than ours.

Our success and ability to compete depend substantially upon our internally developed technology, which is incorporated in the source code for our products. We seek to
protect the source code, design code, documentation and other information relating to our software, under trade secret, patent and copyright laws. However, we have chosen to
provide access to selected source code of our software to several of our partners for co-development, as well as for open application APIs, formats and protocols. Though we
generally control access to our source code and other intellectual property and enter into confidentiality or license agreements with such partners as well as with our employees and
consultants, this combination of procedural and contractual safeguards may be insufficient to protect our trade secrets and other rights to our technology. Our protective measures
may be inadequate, especially because we may not be able to prevent our partners, employees or consultants from violating any agreements or licenses we may have in place or
abusing their access granted to our source code. Improper disclosure or use of our source code could help competitors develop products similar to or better than ours.

Risks Related to Litigation
We may become involved in litigation that may materially adversely affect us.

From time to time, we are involved in legal proceedings relating to matters incidental to the ordinary course of our business, including patent, copyright, commercial, product
liability, employment, class action, whistleblower and other litigation, in addition to governmental and other regulatory investigations and proceedings. Such matters can be time-
consuming, divert management'’s attention and resources, cause us to incur significant expenses or liability and/or require us to change our business practices. For example, we
were previously involved in litigation with Cisco and OptumSoft. In addition, on November 25, 2020, WSOU filed a lawsuit against us in the Western District of Texas asserting that
certain of our products infringe three WSOU patents. WSOU's allegations are directed to certain features of our wireless and switching products. WSOU seeks remedies including
monetary damages, attorney’s fees and costs. On February 4, 2021, we filed an answer denying WSOU's allegations. On November 5, 2021, the case was transferred to the
Northern District of California. On March 30, 2022, WSOU dismissed one of the patents with prejudice, removing Arista wireless products from those accused of infringement. On
July 1, 2022, the court stayed the case pending the resolution of an inter partes review of one of the patents-in-suit. On May 30, 2023, the US Patent Trial and Appeal Board
(“PTAB") ruled all challenged claims in the inter partes review unpatentable. The district court case remains stayed pending appeal and/or final resolution of the PTAB ruling. We
intend to vigorously defend against the claims brought against us by WSOU. However, we cannot be certain that any of WSOU's claims will be resolved in our favor, regardless of
the merits of those claims. Any adverse litigation ruling could result in a significant damages award against us and injunctive relief.

Because of the potential risks, expenses and uncertainties of litigation, we may, from time to time, settle disputes, even where we have meritorious claims or defenses.
Although we have insurance which may provide coverage for some kinds of claims we may face, that insurance may not cover some kinds of claims or types of relief and may not
be adequate in a particular case. Because litigation is inherently unpredictable, we cannot assure you that the results of any of these actions will not have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

For more information regarding the litigation in which we have been involved, see the “Legal Proceedings” subheading in Note 5. Commitments and Contingencies of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part Il, Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Risks Related to Cybersecurity and Data Privacy,

Defects, errors or vulnerabilities in our products, the failure of our products to detect security breaches or incidents, the misuse of our products or the risks of product
liability could harm our reputation and adversely impact our operating results.

Our products, services and internal network systems could become a target for security attacks, including attacks specifically designed to disrupt our business and our
customers and introduce malicious software and attacks by state sponsors. If our products, services or internal networks, system or data are or are perceived to have been
compromised, our reputation may be damaged and our financial results may be negatively affected.

Organizations are increasingly subject to a wide variety of attacks on their networks, systems, endpoints, products and services, and no security solution, including our
security platform, can address all possible security threats or block all methods of penetrating a network, products and services or otherwise perpetrating a security incident.
Additionally, any defects, errors, or vulnerabilities in our security platform or in the hardware upon which it is deployed, including a failure to implement updates to such platform,
could temporarily or permanently limit our detection capabilities and expose our end-customers’ networks, leaving their networks unprotected against the latest security threats. If
customers of our security platform do suffer a data security incident or data breach, even if it is not attributable to a failure of our platform to identify any threat or vulnerability,
customers may believe that our platform failed to detect a threat or vulnerability, which could harm our reputation or negatively affect our financial results.

The classifications of application type, virus, spyware, vulnerability exploits, data, or URL categories by our security platform may also falsely detect, report and act on
applications, content, or threats that do not actually exist. These false positives may impair the perceived reliability of our security platform and may therefore adversely impact
market acceptance of our security platform. Any such false identification of important files or applications could result in damage to our reputation, negative publicity, loss of channel
partners, end-customers and sales, increased costs to remedy any problem, and costly litigation.

Breaches of our cybersecurity systems, or other security or privacy breaches or incidents with respect to our products, services, networks, systems, or data, could
degrade our ability to conduct our business operations and deliver products and services to our customers, cause vulnerabilities in our products and services, and
subject us to regulatory enforcement actions and or fines or liabilities for damages incurred by our customers or partners, delay our ability to recognize revenue,
compromise the integrity of our software products and our networks, systems, and data, result in significant data losses and the theft of our intellectual property,
damage our reputation, expose us to liability to third parties and require us to incur significant additional costs to maintain the security of our networks and data.

We increasingly depend upon our IT systems to conduct virtually all of our business operations, ranging from our internal operations and product development activities to
our marketing and sales efforts and communications with our customers and business partners. Computer programmers or other persons or organizations may attempt to penetrate
our network security, or that of our website or systems, and access, use, or obtain confidential, personal, or otherwise sensitive or proprietary information about us or our customers,
or via these or other methods, including denial of service attacks and other cyberattacks, disrupt or cause interruptions of our service. systems, products, services and networks. In
addition, geopolitical tensions and conflicts, such as the Russia-Ukraine conflict, the Israel-Hamas hostilities and deteriorating relations with China, may create a greater risk of
cyberattacks against our company and our manufacturers, suppliers, logistics providers, banks and other business partners. Because the techniques used to access, disrupt, or
sabotage networks and systems change frequently and may not be recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques. In addition, our
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software and sophisticated hardware and operating system software and applications that we develop or procure from third parties may contain vulnerabilities or defects in design or
manufacture, including “bugs,” viruses, ransomware and other malware, and other problems that could cause the software or applications to fail or otherwise to unexpectedly
interfere with the operation of the system or that could result in a breach of or disruption to our systems, products, services or networks or the systems, networks, products, or
services of third parties that support us and our services. We also face risks of others gaining unauthorized access to our products and services and introducing malicious software,
and such malicious software, defects, bugs or vulnerabilities, or other defects, bugs, or vulnerabilities in our products or services may result in failures or interruptions of our
products or services or expose our end-customers' networks, leaving their networks unprotected against the latest security threats.

We have also outsourced a humber of our some business functions to third parties, including our manufacturers, logistics providers, and cloud service providers, and our
business operations also depend, in part, on the success of these third parties’ own cybersecurity measures. Similarly, we rely upon distributors, resellers and system integrators to
sell our products and our sales

sales operations depend, in part, on the reliability of their cybersecurity measures. Additionally, we depend upon our employees to appropriately handle confidential, sensitive, and
proprietary data and comply with the security measures we have instituted to prevent exposure of our networks and systems to security breaches and incidents, the unauthorized
access to our products and the loss of data. We and all of the aforementioned third parties also face the risk of ransomware and other malicious software, phishing schemes and
other social engineering methods, fraud and other malfeasance, cybersecurity threats from state sponsors and other actors, and intentional or negligent acts or omissions of
employees and contractors. Furthermore, our acquisition of Awake Security and our provision of its NDR platform may result in us being a more attractive target for such attacks.
Accordingly, if our cybersecurity systems and measures or those of any of the aforementioned third parties fail to protect against sophisticated cyber-attacks, other means of
effectuating security breaches or incidents, interruptions or other disruptions of our or our third-party service providers’ systems, networks, products, or services, the mishandling of
data by employees and contractors, the corruption, loss, or mishandling or other unauthorized processing of data by unauthorized persons, or any other means of unauthorized
access to, or use of, our manufacturing process, products, services, networks, systems, or data that we or such third parties maintain, operate, or process, our ability to conduct our
business effectively could be damaged in a number of ways, including:

« sensitive data regarding our business or our customers, including intellectual property and other proprietary data, could be stolen or lost, modified, rendered unavailable, or
otherwise assessed, used, or processed; processed in authorized manners;

« our electronic communications systems, including email and other methods, or other systems, and access to or availability of data, could be disrupted or harmed, and our
ability to conduct our business operations could be seriously damaged until such systems or data access and availability can be restored, which we may be unable to
achieve in a prompt manner or at all;

« our ability to process customer orders and electronically deliver products and services could be degraded, and our distribution channels could be disrupted, resulting in
delays in revenue recognition;

« defects and security vulnerabilities could be introduced into our software, thereby damaging the reputation and perceived reliability and security of our products and
potentially making the data systems of our customers vulnerable to further data loss and cyber security breaches and incidents;

« our manufacturing process, products, services, supply chain, network systems and data could be corrupted; corrupted or otherwise disrupted; and

« personal data of our customers, employees, contractors, and business partners could be lost, accessed, obtained, modified, disclosed or used without authorization,
corrupted or made unavailable, or otherwise compromised.

Should any of the above events occur, or be perceived to occur, we could be subject to significant claims for liability from our customers and others and regulatory
investigations and actions from governmental agencies, and we could be required to expend significant capital and other resources to remediate and otherwise address any data
security incidentbreach or breach, incident, including to notify individuals, entities, or regulatory bodies and to implement measures in an effort to prevent further breaches or
incidents. In addition, our ability to protect our intellectual property rights could be compromised and our reputation and competitive position could be significantly harmed. Also, the
regulatory and contractual actions, proceedings, litigation, investigations, fines, penalties and liabilities relating to any actual or perceived data breaches or security incidents that
result in losses of, damage or destruction of, or unauthorized access to or acquisition of, credit card information or other personal or sensitive data of users of our services can be
significant in terms of fines and reputational impact and necessitate changes to our business operations that may be disruptive to us. Additionally, we could incur significant costs in
order to upgrade our cybersecurity systems and other measures in an effort to prevent network and system disruptions and other security breaches and other incidents. Even the
perception of inadequate security may damage our reputation and negatively impact our ability to win new customers and retain existing customers. Consequently, our financial
performance and results of operations could be adversely affected by any of the foregoing types of security breaches, incidents, vulnerabilities, or other matters, or the perception
that any of them have occurred.

In addition, we cannot assure that any limitation of liability provisions in our customer agreements, contracts with third-party vendors and service providers or other contracts
would be enforceable or adequate or would otherwise protect us from any liabilities or damages with respect to any particular claim relating to a security breach or other security-
related matter. We also cannot be certain that our insurance coverage will be adequate for data handling or data security liabilities actually incurred, that insurance will continue to
be available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all, or that any future claim will not be excluded or otherwise be denied coverage by any insurer. The successful assertion
of one or more large claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the
imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have a material adverse effect on our business, including our reputation, financial condition and operating results.

Risks Related to Accounting, Compliance, Regulation and Tax
If we fail to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, the accuracy and timing of our financial reporting may be adversely affected.

Assessing our processes, procedures and staffing in order to improve our internal control over financial reporting is an ongoing process. Preparing our financial statements
involves a number of complex processes, many of which are done manually and are dependent upon individual data input or review. These processes include, but are not limited to,
calculating revenue, inventory costs and the preparation of our statement of cash flows. While we continue to automate our processes and enhance our review controls to reduce
the likelihood for errors, we expect that for the foreseeable future many of our processes will remain manually intensive and thus subject to human error.

If our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies are based on assumptions that change or prove to be incorrect or if there is a change in
accounting principles, our results of operations could fall below expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in the market price of our
common stock.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. A change in these principles or interpretations could harm our
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revenue and financial results, and could affect the reporting of transactions completed before the announcement of a change. In addition, we base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, as described in "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations”, in Part Il, Item 7, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of
assets, liabilities, equity, revenue and expenses. Significant assumptions and estimates used in preparing our consolidated financial statements include those related to revenue
recognition, inventory valuation and contract manufacturer/supplier liabilities, income taxes and loss contingencies. If our assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ from
those in our assumptions, our results of operations may be adversely affected and may fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in the
market price of our common stock.

Enhanced United States Escalating U.S. tax, tariff, import/export restrictions, Chinese regulations orand other trade or regulatory barriers, as well as countermeasures
taken by affected countries, may have a negative effect on global economic conditions, financial markets and our business.

Because our products are primarily manufactured internationally, the import of our products may be affected by changes in applicable tariffs. Our products are primarily
manufactured in Malaysia, Vietham, and Mexico, and we also procure some of our products directly from China. In February 2025, the U.S. government scheduled 25% tariffs to be
imposed on products of Mexican origin. Although subsequent discussions between the President of the United States and the President of Mexico have resulted in an agreement to
temporarily defer the effective date for these tariffs, this policy may be reversed at any time. In addition, imports of products manufactured in Malaysia and/or Vietham may be
targeted for U.S. tariff increases in light of the increased trade imbalances between the United States and these countries, which has increased significantly in the past decade as
manufacturing operations have increasingly moved to these countries due to strained U.S.-China trade relations. An increase in trade-related costs associated with these imports
may impair the profitability of such international production, may strain our suppliers’ ability to provide inputs necessary for the production of these items, and may otherwise affect
our manufacturing partners’ ability to provide our products at previously contracted prices. We also may not be able to pass on the full burden of the increase in trade-related costs
to our partners and/or customers which could impact our profitability and/or our competitiveness.

Our products may also be subject to further increased U.S. or international tariffs as a result of the outbreak of and escalation in international trade wars between the U.S.,
China, Mexico and other countries. In response to the February 2025 U.S. government tariffs scheduled on goods of Canadian, Mexican, and Chinese origin, all three affected
countries announced plans to implement retaliatory measures including new tariffs on certain U.S. goods, and, in the case of China, new export controls on certain critical metal
items. The U.S. tariffs on Canadian and Mexican origin products and the Canadian and Mexican tariffs on U.S. origin products has been suspended for a period of 30 days pursuant
to agreements between the U.S. government and the Canadian and Mexican governments, pending further negotiations between these countries. Such

agreements and negotiations may fail and result in the imposition of new trade measures between any or all of these countries and the United States. The February 2025 U.S.
government executive orders scheduling the tariff increases on goods of Canadian, Mexican, and Chinese origin also included provisions allowing for further escalation of tariffs in
the event affected countries implement retaliatory measures. Such increases could result in the imposition of extreme tariff or non-tariff measures, which may lead to a breakdown in
international supply chains due to increased tariff costs and disruptions in the availability of goods.

There is currently significant uncertainty about the future relationship between the United States, and various other countries, most significantly China, Canada and Mexico,
with respect to trade policies, treaties, tariffs and taxes. The U.S. government has and continues to make significant additional changes in U.S. trade policy and has taken certain
actions that could negatively impact U.S. trade. In addition, there may be further changes in U.S. trade policy given the change in the presidential administration.

For example, in 2018, the Office of the U.S. Trade Representative ("USTR") enacted various tariffs of 7.5%, 10%, 15% and 25% on imports into the U.S. from China,
including communications equipment products and components manufactured and imported from China. USTR has continued to expand these tariffs recently announcing new tariffs
of up to 100% on certain products. Since then, China has retaliated through various trade related measures including imposing tariffs on imports into China from the United States.
Most recently, in February 2025, the U.S. government imposed an additional 10% tariff on imports from China, on top of existing tariff burdens, and the U.S. President has indicated
that additional tariffs may be forthcoming. In response, China announced additional tariffs on certain U.S.-origin goods and implemented new export controls on various critical
metals.

Additional changes or threatened changes in U.S. trade measures have affected and may continue to affect trade involving additional countries as well, including Mexico,
Canada, Colombia, the United Kingdom, and the member countries of the European Union among others. Each of these measures or threatened measures may instigate reciprocal
countermeasures by affected countries, potentially accelerating further increases in trade measures. Such escalations in these trade measures may directly impair our business by
increasing trade-related costs or disrupting established supply chains and may indirectly impair our business by causing a negative effect on global economic conditions and
financial markets. The ultimate impact of these trade measures is uncertain, and may be affected by various factors, including whether and when such trade measures are
implemented, the timing when such measures may become effective, and the amount, scope, or nature of such trade measures.

The U.S. government continues to add additional entities, in China and elsewhere, to restricted party lists impacting the ability of U.S. companies to provide products, and in
certain cases services, to these entities and, in some cases, receive products or services from these entities. Additionally, the U.S. government continues to expand controls
enacted in October 2022 restricting the ability to send certain products and technology related to semiconductors, semiconductor manufacturing, and supercomputing to China
without an export license. In 2023 and 2024, the U.S. government expanded the list of advanced integrated circuits subject to heightened export controls, including certain hardware
containing these specified integrated circuits, expanded the list of destinations requiring export authorization for such items, and added new restrictions based on the headquarters
location of the parties involved. Proposed regulations would further expand the controls to impose a worldwide licensing requirement on certain integrated circuits and computing
resources that are used for training of Al models. The U.S. government also has expanded continues to expand the scope of restrictions on the development or production of
advanced integrated circuits and certain semiconductor manufacturing equipment, and the restrictions on supercomputing, in China and other countries. Proposed regulations would
expand these controls further and impose additional reporting requirements. Other foreign governments may in turn impose similar or more restrictive controls. These controls or
any additional restrictions may impact our ability to export certain products to China or other countries, prohibit us from selling our products to certain of our customers, restrict our
ability to use certain Integrated Circuits (“ICs”) in our products, or impact our suppliers who may utilize facilities or equipment described in these controls.

It also is possible that the Chinese government will retaliate in ways that could impact our business. For example, China has announced controls on both the use of Micron
products and export license requirements on certain materials used,

among other things, in the production of semiconductors, optical components, and other electronic devices including germanium and gallium. China also has announced a new
export control regime. Additionally, these restrictions could disrupt the ability of China to produce semiconductors and other electronics and impact our ability to source components
from China. China has also announced plans to implement retaliatory countermeasures in response to the additional 10% tariffs imposed by the United States in February 2025,
including new tariffs on certain U.S. origin goods, and has implemented export controls on various critical metal materials. These restrictions could impact the cost of components or
inputs used to produce our products.
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Should the relationship between China and Taiwan deteriorate, it is possible that the U.S. government could impose new controls on China, specific parties, or specific kinds
of transactions in the region that could impact our business including our ability to source components from China and sell to certain of our customers. These restrictions could
impact the cost of components or inputs used to produce our products. Additionally, these controls or any additional restrictions may impact our ability to export certain products to
China and/or prohibit us from selling our products to certain of our customers.

We cannot predict what actions may ultimately be taken with respect to trade relations between the United States and China or other countries, what products may be
subject to such actions or what actions may be taken by the other countries in retaliation. If we are unable to obtain or use components for inclusion in our products, if component
prices increase significantly or if we are unable to export or sell our products to any of our customers, our business, liquidity, financial condition, and/or results of operations would
be materially and adversely affected.

As well, due to concerns with products and services from certain semiconductor, telecommunications and video providers based in China, U.S. Congress has enacted bans
on the use of certain Chinese-origin components or systems either in items sold to the U.S. government or, in some cases, in the internal networks of government contractors and
subcontractors (even if those networks are not used for government-related projects). Further, the Chinese government has responded to these U.S. actions by indicating its
intention to develop an unreliable entity list, which may limit the ability of companies on the list to engage in business with Chinese customers.

If tariffs, trade restrictions, or trade barriers remain in place or if new tariffs, trade restrictions, or trade barriers are placed on products such as ours by U.S. or foreign
governments, especially China, our costs may increase. We believe we can adjust our supply chain and manufacturing practices to minimize the impact of the tariffs and any impact
on the supply chain of components sourced in China, but our efforts may not be successful, there can be no assurance that we will not experience a disruption in our business
related to these or other changes in trade practices and the process of changing suppliers in order to mitigate any such tariff costs could be complicated, time-consuming, and
costly.

The U.S. tariffs may also cause customers to delay orders as they evaluate where to take delivery of our products in connection with their efforts to mitigate their own tariff
exposure. Such delays create forecasting difficulties for us and increase the risk that orders might be canceled or might never be placed. Current or future tariffs imposed by the
U.S. may also negatively impact our customers' sales, thereby causing an indirect negative impact on our own sales. Even in the absence of further tariffs, the related uncertainty
and the market's fear of an escalating trade war might cause our distributors and customers to place fewer orders for our products, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, liquidity, financial condition, and/or results of operations.

In June 2022, the import restrictions contained in the Uyghur Forced Labor Prevention Act ("UFLPA") became effective. The UFLPA creates a rebuttable presumption that
any goods mined, produced or manufactured, wholly or in part in the Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region (“XUAR") of China, or produced by a listed entity, were made with forced
labor and would therefore not be entitled to entry at any U.S. port. Importers are required to present clear and convincing evidence that such goods are not made with forced labor.
While we do not source items from the XUAR or from listed parties, and we have increased our supply chain diligence, there is risk that our ability to import components and
products may be adversely affected by the UFLPA.

Given the relatively fluid regulatory environment in China and the United States and uncertainty how the U.S. government or foreign governments will act with respect to
tariffs, international trade agreements and policies, a trade war, further governmental action related to tariffs or international trade policies, or additional tax or other regulatory
changes in the future could directly and adversely impact our financial results and results of operations.

In addition to laws aimed directly at trade, failure of our products to comply with a broader set of evolving industry standards and government regulations may adversely
impact our business and in particular our ability to market in particular countries. Our products must comply with various U.S. federal government regulations and standards defined
by agencies such as the Federal Communications Commission, standards established by governmental authorities in various foreign countries and recommendations of the
International Telecommunication Union. In some circumstances, we must obtain regulatory approvals or certificates of compliance before we can offer or distribute our products in
certain jurisdictions or to certain customers. In recent years, certain jurisdictions have tied these approvals to concerns about international relationships, including, e.g., concerns
about entities with components sourced from China. Complying with new regulations or obtaining certifications, especially as standards evolve, may be costly and disruptive to our
business and also may affect our ability to sell our products where these standards or regulations apply, which in turn may prevent us from sustaining our net revenues or achieving
profitability.

Changes in our income taxes or our effective tax rate, enactment of new tax laws or changes in the application of existing tax laws of various jurisdictions or adverse
outcomes resulting from examination of our income tax returns could adversely affect our results.

Our income taxes are subject to volatility and could be adversely affected by several factors, some of which are outside of our control, including earnings that are lower than
anticipated in countries that have lower tax rates and higher than anticipated in countries that have higher tax rates; our ability to generate and use tax attributes; changes in the
valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities; transfer pricing adjustments from tax authorities challenging our methods for valuing developed technology or intercompany
arrangements; tax effects of nondeductible compensation, including certain stock-based compensation; tax costs related to inter-company restructuring; changes in accounting
principles; changes in tax law and regulations, treaties, or interpretation thereof; imposition of withholding or other taxes on payments by subsidiaries or customers; or a change in
our decision to indefinitely reinvest certain foreign earnings.

Significant judgment is required to evaluate our tax positions and determine our income tax liability. The accounting guidance for uncertainty in income taxes applies to all
income tax positions, including the potential recovery of previously paid taxes, which if settled unfavorably could adversely affect income taxes.

Tax laws are dynamic and subject to change. Changes in tax laws and regulations and interpretations of such laws and regulations, including taxation of earnings outside of
the U.S. may have adverse effects on our operating results and could impact the tax treatment of our earnings and cash and cash equivalent balances we currently maintain.
Furthermore, due to shifting economic and political conditions, tax policies and rates in various jurisdictions, may be subject to significant change. For example, Domestically,
following the 2024 Presidential election, it is possible the newly elected Trump Administration and Republican controlled Congress will pass some tax reform in 2022, order to
address certain provisions of the United States passed the Inflation Reduction Act, which made a number of changes to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended ("IRC"),
including a 15% corporate minimum tax on adjusted financial statement income of certain large companies. The impact of these provisions on our effective tax rate will depend on
additional guidance to be issued by the Treasury Secretary. We are currently evaluating the impact of these provisions on our effective tax rate. While we do not anticipate any
materially adverse impacts to our effective tax rate, we cannot provide any assurances that these provisions will not have a materially adverse impact on our effective tax rate.
Further, beginning in 2022, the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act expiring at the end of 2017 (“TCJA”) eliminated 2025. It is uncertain what proposals to reform U.S. and International tax
laws might pass and whether such laws could increase or decrease the option to deduct research and development expenditures currently and requires taxpayers to capitalize and
amortize them over five years for U.S. incurred expenditures or fifteen years for non-U.S. incurred expenditures, pursuant to IRC Section 174. However, recently proposed corporate
tax legislation, if enacted, would restore the ability to deduct currently domestic research and development expenditures through 2025 and would retroactively restore this benefit for
2022 and 2023. Finally, several countries, including the United States and other members of the rate. The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (“OECD”) have
reached agreement on, comprising 38 international member countries including the United States, has introduced a global minimum tax initiative (“Pillar Two”). Other, which has
been adopted by members of the European Union ("EU"), among other jurisdictions. While the U.S. has not yet adopted Pillar Two, other OECD countries outside or the EU are also
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actively considering changes to existing tax laws or have proposed new laws to align with the recommendations and guidelines proposed by the OECD, including Pillar Two.
Enactment of such tax laws could increase our tax obligations in countries where we do business or cause us to change the way we operate our business. We have assessed the
impacts of these new laws in countries that we operate in and do not currently anticipate any material impacts to our effective tax rate. However, we cannot provide any assurance
that there will not be a material impact to our effective tax rate in the future as a result of these developments. developments or other proposed changes.

Finally, we are subject to examination of our income tax returns by the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") and other tax authorities. Audits by the IRS or other tax authorities
are subject to inherent uncertainties and could result in unfavorable outcomes, including potential fines or penalties. As we operate in numerous taxing jurisdictions, the application
of tax laws can be subject to diverging and sometimes conflicting interpretations by tax authorities of these jurisdictions. The expense of defending and resolving such audits may be
significant. The amount of time to resolve an audit is also unpredictable and may divert management’s attention from our business operations. We regularly assess the likelihood of
adverse outcomes resulting from tax examinations to determine the adequacy of our provision for income taxes. We cannot assure you that fluctuations in our provision for income
taxes or our effective tax rate, the enactment of new tax laws or changes in the application or interpretation of existing tax laws or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of
our tax returns by tax authorities will not have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Failure to comply with governmental laws and regulations could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Our business is subject to regulation by various federal, state, local and foreign governmental agencies, including agencies responsible for monitoring and enforcing
employment and labor laws, workplace safety, product safety, environmental laws (including new laws related to climate change), consumer protection laws, privacy, data protection,
telecommunications, anti-bribery laws such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, import/export controls and sanctions, conflict minerals, federal securities laws and tax laws
and regulations. In addition, emerging tools and technologies we utilize in providing our products, like Al and machine learning, may also become subject to regulation under new
laws or new applications of existing laws. Violations of these laws and regulations could result in fines and penalties, criminal sanctions against us, our officers or our employees,
prohibitions on the conduct of our business, and damage to our reputation.

In addition, in certain jurisdictions, these regulatory requirements may be more stringent than those in the United States. For example, States, such as the EU has
implemented the EU's General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”). The GDPR provides for substantial obligations relating to the handling, storage and other processing of data
relating to individuals and administrative fines for violations, which can be up to four percent of the previous year’s annual revenue or €20 million, whichever is higher. We have In
the past, we relied on the E.U.-U.S. and Swiss-U.S. Privacy Shield programs, and and/or the use of standard contractual clauses approved by the European Commission ("SCCs"),
to legitimize these transfers. In July 2020, the Courttransfers of Justice data out of the E.U. ("CJEU") issued a decision invalidating EU. EU courts later invalidated the E.U.-U.S.
Privacy Shield and imposingimposed additional obligations in connection with the use of the SCCs. The European Commission subsequently issued new SCCs. The continued
validity of these new SCCs that address certain of the CJEU’s concerns and which are required to be implemented. The effects of the CJEU's decision and related developments
relating tofor cross-border data transfer areis uncertain and difficult to predict. Among other effects, we may experience additional costs associated with increased compliance
burdens and new contract negotiations with third parties that aid in processing data on our behalf. We may experience reluctance or refusal by current or prospective European
customers to use our products, and we may find it necessary or desirable to make further changes to our handling of personal data of residents of the European Economic Area
(“EEA"). The regulatory environment applicable to the handling of EEA residents’ personal data, and our actions taken in response, may cause us to assume additional liabilities or
incur additional costs and could result in our business, operating results and financial condition being harmed. Additionally, we and our customers may face a risk of enforcement
actions by data protection authorities in the EEA relating to personal data transfers to us and by us from the EEA. Any such enforcement actions could result in substantial costs and
diversion of resources, distract management and technical personnel and negatively affect our business, operating results, and financial condition. Further, the UK has implemented
legislation that substantially mirrors the GDPR, and which provides for fines of up to the greater of 17.5 million British Pounds or four percent of the previous year’s annual revenue,
whichever is higher. The relationship between the UK and the EU in relation to certain aspects of data protection law remains unclear following the UK'’s exit from the EU, including
with respect to regulation of data transfers between EU member states and the UK. The UK has issued new standard contractual clauses that, like the SCCs, are required to be
implemented.

We may experience reluctance or refusal by current or prospective customers in the European Economic Area (the "EEA"), the UK, or other regions to use our products,
and we may find it necessary or desirable to make further changes to our handling of personal data of residents of the EEA, UK, or other regions. The regulatory environment
applicable to the handling of personal data of EEA and UK residents, and our actions taken in response, may cause us to assume additional liabilities or incur additional costs and
could result in our business, operating results and financial condition being harmed. Additionally, we and our customers may face a risk of enforcement actions by data protection
authorities relating to personal data transfers to us and by us from the EEA, UK, or other regions. Any such enforcement actions could result in substantial costs and diversion of
resources, distract management and technical personnel and negatively affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Several jurisdictions have passed new laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection, and other matters, and other jurisdictions are considering imposing additional
restrictions. These laws continue to develop and may be inconsistent from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act (‘CCPA”) became operative
on January 1, 2020 and was amended by the California Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA") going into effect over time through July 1, 2023. The CCPA requires covered companies to,
among other things, provide new disclosures to California consumers, and affords such consumers new abilities to opt-out of certain sales of personal information. Certain
aspects Aspects of the CCPA CCPA/CPRA and its interpretation remain uncertain and are likely to remain uncertain for an extended period. Further, a new privacy law, the California
Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA"), was approved in the November 3, 2020 election. The CPRA modified the CCPA significantly, creating obligations relating to consumer data that
commenced on January 1, 2022 and went into effect on July 1, 2023. The CPRA has resulted in further uncertainty period and may require us to incur additional costs and expenses
in an effort to comply. In addition to the CCPA/CPRA, numerous other states have enacted or are considering similar laws that will require ongoing compliance efforts and
investment. For example, Connecticut, Virginia, Colorado and Utah have enacted legislation similar to the CCPA and CPRA that took effect in 2023; Florida, Montana, Oregon, and
Texas have enacted similar legislation that becomes effective took effect in 2024; Delaware, Tennessee, lowa, Maryland, Minnesota, New Hampshire, Nebraska, New Jersey and
lowa Tennessee have enacted similar legislation that will take effective, or taking effect in 2025; and Indiana, has Rhode Island and Kentucky have enacted similar legislation that will
become effective in 2026.

Among other emerging laws relating to privacy and data protection globally, India has released its Digital Personal Data Protection Act 2023, although India’s Ministry of
Electronics and Information Technology has published Draft Digital Personal Data Protection Rules for public comment on January 3, 2025, addressing various matters under this
law, but the full scope of the implementation remains uncertain. We maintain an employee and operational presence in India, and this act may require us to modify our policies and
practices and incur increased costs in our efforts to comply.

In addition, some countries are considering or have enacted legislation requiring local storage and processing of data that could increase the cost and complexity of
delivering our services. Accordingly, we cannot predict the full impact of the CCPA, the CPRA or other evolving privacy and data protection obligations on our business or
operations. Complying with emerging and changing legal and regulatory requirements relating to privacy, data protection and other matters may cause us to incur costs or require us
to change our business practices, which could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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We are also subject to environmental laws and regulations governing the management and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes, including the hazardous material
content of our products and laws relating to the collection, recycling and disposal of electrical and electronic equipment. Our failure, or the failure of our partners, including our
contract manufacturers, to comply with past, present and future environmental laws could result in fines, penalties, third-party claims, reduced sales of our products, re-engineering
our products, substantial product inventory write-offs and reputational damage, any of which could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. We
also expect that our business will be affected by new environmental laws and regulations on an ongoing basis applicable to us and our partners, including our contract
manufacturers. To date, our expenditures for environmental compliance have not had a material effect on our results of operations or cash flows. Although we cannot predict the
future effect of such laws or regulations, they will likely result in additional costs or require us to change the content or manufacturing of our products, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

From time to time, we may receive inquiries from governmental agencies or we may make voluntary disclosures regarding our compliance with applicable governmental
regulations or requirements relating to various matters, including import/export controls, federal securities laws and tax laws and regulations which could lead to formal
investigations. Actual or alleged noncompliance with applicable laws, regulations or other governmental requirements could lead to regulatory investigations, enforcement actions,
and other proceedings, private claims and litigation, and potentially may subject us to sanctions, mandatory product recalls, enforcement actions, disgorgement of profits, fines,
damages, civil and criminal penalties or injunctions. If any governmental fines, penalties, or other sanctions are imposed, or if we do not prevail in any possible civil or criminal
litigation, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially adversely affected. In addition, responding to any investigation, action or other
proceeding will likely result in a significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and an increase in professional fees. Enforcement actions, investigations, and fines,
penalties, and other sanctions could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Issues in the development and use of artificial intelligence, combined with an uncertain regulatory environment, may result in reputational harm, liability, or other
adverse consequences to our business operations.

We use machine learning and Al technologies in our offerings and business, including in our Arista Guardian for Network Identity offering, and we are making investments in
expanding our Al capabilities in our products, services, and tools, including ongoing deployment and improvement of existing machine learning and Al technologies, as well as
developing new product features using Al technologies. Al technologies are complex and rapidly evolving, and we face significant competition from other companies as well as
evolving legal and regulatory landscapes. Laws and regulations applicable to Al continue to develop and may be inconsistent from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. For example, the
European Union has reached political agreementadopted on an Atrtificial Intelligence Act that, when finalized, would prohibit effective, prohibits certain Al applications and systems
and impose imposes additional requirements on the use of certain applications or systems. Additionally, some U.S. states have proposed, and in certain cases enacted, legislation
addressing aspects of the use and deployment of Al. The use of Al technologies in new or existing products may result in new or enhanced governmental or regulatory scrutiny, new
or modified laws or regulations, claims, demands, and litigation, confidentiality, privacy, data protection, or security risks, ethical concerns, or other complications that could
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Uncertainty around new and emerging Al technologies may require additional investment in the developmentobtaining, developing and maintenance maintaining of
proprietary datasets and machine learning models, development of new approaches and processes to provide attribution or remuneration to creators of training data, and
development of appropriate protections, safeguards, and policies for handling the processing of data with Al technologies, which may be costly and could impact our expenses. Al
technologies also present emerging legal, ethical and social issues, including with respect to potential or actual bias reflected in, or flawed outputs of,

models. Al technologies that we make use of may produce or create outputs that appear correct but are factually inaccurate or otherwise flawed, which may expose us to brand or
reputational harm, competitive harm, regulatory scrutiny, and/or legal liability.

We are subject to governmental export and import controls that could impair our ability to compete in international markets or subject us to liability if we violate these
controls.

Our products are subject to various export controls and because we incorporate encryption technology into certain of our products, certain of our products may be exported
from various countries only with the required export license or through an export license exception. If we were to fail to comply with the applicable export control laws, customs
regulations, economic sanctions or other applicable laws, we could be subject to monetary damages or the imposition of restrictions which could be material to our business,
operating results and prospects and could also harm our reputation. Further, there could be criminal penalties for knowing or willful violations, including incarceration for culpable
employees and managers. Obtaining the necessary export license or other authorization for a particular sale may be time-consuming and may result in the delay or loss of sales
opportunities. Furthermore, certain export control and economic sanctions laws prohibit the shipment of certain products, technology, software and services to embargoed countries
and sanctioned governments, entities, and persons. For example, in addition to the controls imposed on China, following Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, the United States and other
countries imposed restrictions on the import to the US of raw materials and goods from Russia and certain economic sanctions and severe export control restrictions against Russia,
Belarus and regions of Ukraine as well as certain Russian nationals and entities which required us, in many cases, to terminate business relationships in those countries. These
sanctions and restrictions have continued to increase as the conflict has further escalated, and the United States and other countries could impose wider sanctions and export
restrictions as well as prohibitions on the import into the United States of additional raw materials from Russia and take other actions in the future that could further impact our
business. Any deterioration in relations between Taiwan and China could lead to additional sanctions or export controls on China, on specific individuals or entities, or otherwise in
the region which could impact our ability to sell to certain of our customers, source components from China, or otherwise negatively impact our business. Even though we take
precautions to ensure that we and our channel partners comply with all relevant regulations, any failure by us or our channel partners to comply with such regulations could have
negative consequences, including reputational harm, government investigations and penalties. In addition, economic sanctions that are vague and not subject to guidance by
regulators lead to heightened compliance risk.

Although we have developed procedures and controls to comply with export control and other applicable laws, historically, we have had some instances where we, or a
business that we acquired, inadvertently did not fully comply with certain trade laws, but we made relevant disclosures to, and implemented corrective actions with, the appropriate
government agencies.

In addition, various countries regulate the import of certain encryption technology, including through import permit and license requirements, and have enacted laws that
could limit our ability to distribute our products or could limit our customers’ ability to implement our products in those countries. Any change in export or import regulations,
economic sanctions or related legislation, shift in the enforcement or scope of existing regulations or change in the countries, governments, persons or technologies targeted by
such regulations could result in decreased use of our products by, or in our decreased ability to export or sell our products to, existing or potential customers with international
operations or create delays in the introduction of our products into international markets. Any decreased use of our products or limitation on our ability to export or sell our products
could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Failure to comply with anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws and anti-money laundering laws, and similar laws, could subject us to penalties and other adverse
consequences.
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We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (the “FCPA"), the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, the United Kingdom Bribery
Act 2010, and possibly other anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws and anti-money laundering laws in countries outside of the United States where we conduct our activities. Anti-
corruption and anti-bribery laws have been enforced aggressively in recent years and are interpreted broadly to generally prohibit companies, their employees, agents,
representatives, business partners, and third-party intermediaries from authorizing, offering, or providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or benefits to recipients in the
public or private sector.

We sometimes leverage third parties to sell our products and conduct our business abroad. We, our employees, agents, representatives, business partners and third-party
intermediaries may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or state-owned or affiliated entities and we may be held liable for the
corrupt or other illegal activities of these employees, agents, representatives, business partners or third-party intermediaries even if we do not explicitly authorize such activities. We
cannot assure you that all of our employees, agents, representatives, business partners or third-party intermediaries will not take actions in violation of applicable law for which we
may be ultimately held responsible. As we increase have increased our international sales and business, our risks under these laws may increase. have increased.

These laws also require that we keep accurate books and records and maintain internal controls and compliance procedures designed to prevent any such actions. While
we have policies and procedures to address compliance with such laws, we cannot assure you that none of our employees, agents, representatives, business partners or third-party
intermediaries will take actions in violation of our policies and applicable law, for which we may be ultimately held responsible.

Any allegations or violation of the FCPA or other applicable anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws and anti-money laundering laws could result in whistleblower complaints,
sanctions, settlements, prosecution, enforcement actions, fines, damages, adverse media coverage, investigations, loss of export privileges, severe criminal or civil sanctions, or
suspension or debarment from government contracts, all of which may have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations, and prospects. Responding to any
investigation or action will likely result in a materially significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and significant defense costs and other professional fees.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
The trading price of our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile, and the value of your investment could decline.

The trading price of our common stock has historically been and is likely to continue to be volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors,
some of which are beyond our control. These fluctuations could cause you to lose all or part of your investment in our common stock. In addition, although the trading price of our
common stock has increased significantly in recent years, it is uncertain to continue to increase at the same rate and it may decrease in the future. Factors that could cause
fluctuations in the market price of our common stock include, but are not limited to, forward-looking statements related to future revenue, gross margins and earnings per share,
changes or decreases in our growth rate, manufacturing, supply or distribution shortages or constraints, the decline in purchases from any of our large customers or the degradation
in our relationships with any of our material vendors or partners, ratings changes by securities analysts, actual or anticipated announcements of new products by our company or
our competitors, developments in the markets in which we operate, both in the U.S. and globally, litigation, actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations in our results of operations,
regulatory developments, repurchases of our common stock, departures of key executives, the financial results or financial projections of our large customers, major catastrophic
events, macroeconomic factors including the new U.S. presidential administration, international trade wars, inflation and interest rate fluctuations and other broad market and
industry fluctuations.

In addition, technology stocks have historically experienced high levels of volatility and, if the market for technology stocks or the stock market in general experiences a loss
of investor confidence, the market price of our common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. The
market price of our common stock might also decline in reaction to events that affect other companies in our industry even if these events do not directly affect us, or where actual
financial results do not meet the expectations set by industry analysts or other market participants. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s
securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought against that company. If the market price of our common stock is volatile, we may become the target of securities
litigation. Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources from our business and prospects. This could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We have adopted a stock repurchase programsprogram to repurchase shares of our common stock; however, any future decisions to reduce or discontinue
repurchasing our common stock pursuant to such stock repurchase programs program could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

Although our board of directors has authorized a stock repurchase programs, program, any determination to execute stock repurchase programs repurchases will be subject
to, among other things, our financial position and results of operations, available cash and cash flow, capital requirements, market and business conditions, stock price, acquisition
opportunities and other factors, as well as our board of director’s continuing determination that the repurchase programs are program is in the best interests of our shareholders and
is in compliance with all laws and agreements applicable to the repurchase programs. program. Our stock repurchase program does not obligate us to acquire any common stock. If
we fail to meet any expectations related to stock repurchases, the market price of our common stock could decline, and could have a material adverse impact on investor
confidence. Additionally, price volatility of our common stock over a given period may cause the average price at which we repurchase our common stock to exceed the stock’s
market price at a given point in time.

We may further increase or decrease the amount of repurchases of our common stock in the future. As part of the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 signed into law in August
2022, the United States implemented a 1% excise tax on the value of certain stock repurchases by publicly traded companies. This tax could increase the costs to us of any share
repurchases, which could reduce the number of shares we repurchase. Any reduction or discontinuance by us of repurchases of our common stock pursuant to our current stock
repurchase program could cause the market price of our common stock to decline. Moreover, in the event repurchases of our common stock are reduced or discontinued, our failure
or inability to resume repurchasing common stock at historical levels could result in a lower market valuation of our common stock.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public markets, or the perception that such sales might occur, could reduce the market price that our
common stock might otherwise attain and dilute your voting power and your ownership interest in us.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales could occur, could adversely affect the market price of
our common stock and may make it more difficult for you to sell your common stock at a time and price that you deem appropriate and may dilute your voting power and your
ownership interest in us. In addition, we have registered the offer and sale of all shares of common stock that we may issue under our equity compensation plans. If holders, by
exercising their registration rights, sell large numbers of shares, it could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Insiders have substantial control over us, which could limit your ability to influence the outcome of key transactions, including a change of control.

Our directors, executive officers and each of our stockholders who own greater than 10% of our outstanding common stock together with their affiliates, in the aggregate,
beneficially own approximately 18.4% 17.9% of the outstanding shares of our common stock, based on shares outstanding as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024. As a
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result, these stockholders, if acting together, could exercise a significant level of influence over matters requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election of directors and
the approval of mergers, acquisitions or other extraordinary transactions. They may also have interests that differ from yours and may vote in a way with which you disagree and
which may be adverse to your interests. This concentration of ownership may also discourage a potential investor from acquiring our common stock due to the limited voting power
of such stock or otherwise may have the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change of control of our company, could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a
premium for their common stock as part of a sale of our company and might ultimately affect the market price of our common stock.

Our charter documents and Delaware law could discourage takeover attempts and lead to management entrenchment.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change in control of our company.
These provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders to elect directors that are not nominated by the current members of our board of directors or take other corporate
actions, including effecting changes in our management. These provisions include:

« a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of a majority of our board of
directors;

« the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those shares, including preferences and voting rights,
without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;

« the exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill an unfilled seat on our board of directors created by the expansion of our board of directors or the
resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of directors;

« aprohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of our stockholders;

« the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by the chairman of our board of directors, our chief executive officer, our president (in the absence
of our chief executive officer) or a majority vote of our board of directors, by a vote of a majority of the total number of authorized directors, which could delay the ability of
our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors;

« the requirement that a director may be removed from office by our stockholders only for cause and only by the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting
power of our capital stock entitled to vote thereon;

< the requirement for the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of our capital stock entitled to vote generally in
the voting stock;, election of directors, voting together as a single class, to amend the provisions of our amended and

restated certificate of incorporation relating to the structure of our board of directors, the management of our business, and certain rights of our stockholders (including the
right prohibition on

the stockholder’s ability to take action act by written consent) or, which may inhibit the ability of an acquirer to effect such amendments to facilitate an unsolicited takeover
attempt;

« the requirement for the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of our capital stock entitled to vote thereon for stockholders to amend, alter or
repeal our amended and restated bylaws, which may inhibit the ability of an acquirer to effect such amendments to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt;

« the ability of our board of directors, by a vote of a majority vote, of the total number of authorized directors, to amend the bylaws, which may allow our board of directors to
take additional actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover and inhibit the ability of an acquirer to amend the bylaws to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt; and

« advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’
meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to
obtain control of us.

In addition, as a Delaware corporation, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. These provisions may prohibit large stockholders, in
particular those owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock, from merging or combining with us for a certain period of time.

General Risks

If we are unable to hire, retain, train and motivate qualified personnel and senior management, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects
could suffer.

Our future success depends, in part, on our ability to continue to attract and retain highly skilled personnel, particularly software engineering and sales personnel. In
addition, we are expanding internationally and into adjacent markets including the enterprise and Al market, which requires a significant investment of time, effort and financial
resources into hiring and training our sales force to address these markets. If we do not effectively train our direct sales force, we may be unable to add new customers, increase
sales to our existing customers, or successfully expand into new markets. Competition for highly skilled personnel is often intense, especially in the San Francisco Bay Area where
we have a substantial presence and need for highly skilled personnel. Many of the companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have greater resources than we
have to provide more attractive compensation packages and other amenities. Research and development personnel are aggressively recruited by startup and growth companies,
which are especially active in many of the technical areas and geographic regions in which we conduct product development. In addition, in making employment decisions,
particularly in the high-technology industry, job candidates often consider the value of the stock-based compensation they are to receive in connection with their employment.
Declines in the market price of our stock could adversely affect our ability to attract, motivate or retain key employees. In addition, our future performance also depends on the
continued services and continuing contributions of our senior management to execute our business plan and to identify and pursue new opportunities and product innovations. Our
employment arrangements with our employees do not generally require that they continue to work for us for any specified period, and therefore, they could terminate their
employment with us at any time. If we are unable to attract or retain qualified personnel, or if there are delays in hiring required personnel, our business, financial condition, results
of operations and prospects may be seriously harmed.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, fire, power outages, floods, health epidemics and other catastrophic events including as a result of climate change
and to interruption by man-made problems such as terrorism and war.
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Our corporate headquarters and the operations of our key manufacturing vendors, logistics providers and partners, as well as many of our customers, are located in areas
exposed to risks of natural disasters such as earthquakes and tsunamis, including the San Francisco Bay Area, Japan and Taiwan. In addition, climate change may result in greater
frequency and severity of natural disasters. A significant natural disaster, such as an earthquake, tsunami, fire or a flood, or other catastrophic event such as the COVID-19
pandemic or other disease outbreak, could have a material adverse effect on our or their business, which could in turn materially affect our financial condition, results of operations
and prospects. These events could result in manufacturing and supply chain disruptions, shipment delays, order cancellations, and sales delays which could result in missed
financial targets. Any health epidemic could have a material adverse effect on our ability to obtain components for our products that are supplied from Asia or to manufacture our
products in Asia. Any such disruption of our suppliers, our contract manufacturers or our service providers would likely impact our sales and operating results. In addition, a health
epidemic could adversely affect the economies of many countries, resulting in an economic downturn that could affect demand for our products and likely impact our operating
results. In addition, acts of terrorism and war could cause disruptions in our business or the business of our manufacturers, logistics providers, partners or customers or the
economy as a whole. Given our typical concentration of sales at each quarter end, any disruption in the business of our manufacturers, logistics providers, partners or customers
that affects sales at the end of our quarter could have a particularly significant adverse effect on our quarterly results.

We have not paid dividends in the past and do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.

We have never declared nor paid any dividends on our common stock, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the future. As a result, you may only receive a
return on your investment in our common stock if the market price of our common stock increases.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None. Not applicable.
Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

We have developed and implemented a cybersecurity risk management program intended to protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our critical systems and
information. In addition, our Legal and Information Technology (IT)/Information Security (IS) teams work together to oversee our compliance with applicable laws and regulations and
coordinate with subject matter experts throughout our business to identify, monitor and mitigate risk including information security risk management and cyber defense programs.

Our cybersecurity risk management program is aligned with our overall enterprise risk management programs and shares common methodologies, reporting channels and
governance processes that apply across the enterprise risk management programs to other legal, compliance, strategic, operational, and financial risk areas.

Our cybersecurity risk management program includes:

« an information security management systems policy, including a business continuity policy, acceptable use and physical security policies, and an incident response policy
and plan for responding to cybersecurity incidents, among others;

« risk assessments designed to help identify material cybersecurity risks to our critical systems, information, products, services, and our broader enterprise IT environment;

* a security team principally responsible for managing (1) our cybersecurity risk assessment processes, (2) our security controls, and (3) our response to cybersecurity
incidents;

« the use of internal audit teams and external service providers, where appropriate, to assess, test or otherwise assist with aspects of our security controls;

« cybersecurity awareness, data protection, and privacy training of our employees, incident response personnel, and senior management; and

* avetting and management process for third party service providers, suppliers, and vendors

Through this program, our IT/IS team identifies and executes improvements based upon its own assessments, public cybersecurity events and the identification of new risks
by third parties, including our external cybersecurity consultants. As part of these continuous improvement efforts, there may be times when the IT/IS team prioritizes certain
cybersecurity fixes or program improvements over other measures, which could lead to new known or unknown risks being identified on an ongoing basis. Cybersecurity threat
actors are often highly sophisticated and nimble in their attacks. Despite these efforts, we cannot guarantee that our priorities and efforts will prevent any cybersecurity incident from
happening.

We also engage in periodic testing programs, using both internal assets and external consultants, including penetration testing, and incorporate multiple layers of physical,
logical and written controls into our cybersecurity risk management program. Our IT/IS team leverages centralized identity management, encryption configurations and technologies
on the systems, devices, and third-party connections used in our operations.

We also maintain cyber liability insurance coverage. While we currently hold such coverage, we cannot be certain that our insurance coverage will be adequate for liabilities
actually incurred, that insurance will continue to be available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all, or that any future claim will not be excluded or otherwise be denied
coverage by any insurer.

As of the date of this report, we have not identified any risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, that we believe have, or
are likely to, materially affect us, our business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. For additional information concerning risks from cybersecurity threats, please
refer to Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” in this annual report on Form 10-K, including the risk factors in the category entitled, “Risks Related to Cybersecurity and Data Privacy”.

Cybersecurity Governance

Our Board considers cybersecurity risk as part of its risk oversight function and has delegated to the Audit Committee (Committee) oversight of cybersecurity and other
information technology risks. The Committee oversees management's implementation of our cybersecurity risk management program. The Committee receives quarterly reports
from our Vice

President and Chief Information Security Officer (CISO), in conjunction with other senior managers, on cybersecurity risks. In
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addition, these managers update the Committee, as necessary, regarding any material cybersecurity incidents, as well as incidents with lesser impact potential. The Committee
reports to the full Board on cybersecurity no less frequently than once annually. The full Board also receives briefings from management on our cyber risk management program on
a periodic basis.

Our cybersecurity program includes an annual funding and forecast process, and we have further established processes to secure additional funding in response to
emerging risks, threats and identified improvement opportunities. Our IS team, led by one of our Vice Presidents who also serves as our CISO, is responsible for assessing and
managing risks from cybersecurity threats. The IS team has primary responsibility for our overall cybersecurity risk management program and supervises both our internal
cybersecurity personnel and our external cybersecurity consultants.

Our CISO has over 20 years of experience in the cybersecurity industry and has been instrumental in building several key security technologies, viz. Network Intrusion
Prevention Systems (NIPS), Host Intrusion Prevention Systems (HIPS), Web Application Firewalls (WAF), Whitelisting, Endpoint/Server Host Monitoring (EDR) and Virtualization
Based Security (VBS). Previously, our CISO served in senior executive and technical leadership roles in several security companies. In addition, our CISO has experience as a pen-
tester and has in-depth knowledge of operating system, networking and security products. Our CISO holds a bachelor’'s degree in computer science and a master's degree in
software systems. In addition, our IS team includes over 20 members each with experience in network security related roles, with the two IS leads reporting to our CISO each having
more than 20 years of security experience.

Our management team, including our CISO in consultation with our Chief Technology Officer and Chief Financial Officer, supervises efforts to prevent, detect, mitigate, and
remediate cybersecurity risks and incidents, which may include: briefings from internal security personnel; threat intelligence and other information obtained from governmental,
public or private sources, including external cybersecurity consultants; and alerts and reports produced by security tools deployed in our IT environment. However, as indicated
above, we cannot guarantee that our efforts will prevent any cybersecurity incident from occurring.

As part of our IT security program, our Cybersecurity Executive Committee and Information Security Steering Committee meet throughout the year to monitor and assess
information security risks. In addition, we perform an enterprise risk assessment that is reviewed by the Committee and our Board of Directors on an annual basis and monitored on
a quarterly basis by the Committee. The enterprise risk assessment is an assessment of key risks, including information security risks, data privacy, supply chain, human capital,
and other risks.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters are located in Santa Clara, California where we lease approximately 180,000 square feet of space under a lease agreement that expires in
September 2026. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we purchased land and the improvements thereon in Santa Clara, California to construct a building for office, lab and
lab data center space. In addition, we lease office spaces for data centers, operations, sales personnel and research and development in locations throughout the U.S. and various
international locations, including Ireland, Canada, India, and Australia. We also lease data centers in the U.S., Ireland and Australia. We believe that our current facilities are
adequate to meet our current needs and are being utilized by our business.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The information set forth under the “Legal Proceedings” in Note 5. Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part Il
Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information

Our common stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol “ANET". As of February 7, 2024 February 12, 2025, there were 5244 holders of record of our common stock.
Because many of our shares of common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders
represented by these record holders.

Dividend Policy
We have never declared nor paid any cash dividends on our common stock, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
Stock Performance Graph

The following shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or incorporated by reference into any of our other filings under the Exchange Act
or the Securities Act, except to the extent we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

The following graph compares the cumulative total return of our common stock with the total return for the NYSE Composite Index and the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index (the
“S&P 500”) from December 31, 2018 December 31, 2019 (the last trading day of the year) to December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024.

The graph assumes $100 was invested at the market close on December 31, 20182019 in the Company’s common stock and in each of the aforementioned indices with
the re-investment of dividends, if any. The stock price performance on the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.

#1512

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

Information about securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans is provided in Note 6. Stockholders' Equity and Stock-Based Compensation of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part Il, Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities
There were no sales of unregistered securities during fiscal year 2023. 2024.
Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities

Under our equity incentive plans, certain participants may exercise options prior to vesting, subject to a right of repurchase by us. During the fourth quarter of 2023, 2024,
there were no repurchases of unvested shares of our common stock made pursuant to our equity incentive plans as a result of us exercising our rights nor pursuant to any publicly-
announced plan or program.

Stock Repurchase Program

In October 2021, our board of directors authorized a $1.0 billion stock repurchase program (the “Repurchase Program”). This authorization allows us From time to time, we
repurchase shares of our common stock pursuant to the Repurchase Programs (as defined below) that are funded from working capital. In April 2024, we completed repurchases
under our previous $1.0 billion stock repurchase program (the “Prior Repurchase Program”). In May 2024, our board of directors authorized and announced a new $1.2 billion stock
repurchase program (the “New Repurchase Program” and together with the Prior Repurchase Program, the "Repurchase Programs"), which expires in May 2027. The Repurchase
Program expires in the fourth quarter of 2024. Repurchases may be made at management's discretion from time to time on the open market, through privately negotiated
transactions, transactions structured through investment banking institutions, block purchase techniques, 10b5-1 trading plans, or a combination of the foregoing. The Repurchase
Program does Programs do not obligate us to acquire any of our common stock, and may be suspended or discontinued by usthe company at any time without prior notice.

We did not repurchase any shares during During the year ended December 31, 2024, we repurchased a total of $279.0 million of our common stock under our New
Repurchase Program and $144.6 million of our common stock under our Prior Repurchase Program. As of December 31, 2024, the remaining authorized amount for stock
repurchases under the New Repurchase Program was approximately $921.0 million. Our repurchases for the three months ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 are
disclosed as below (in thousands, except per share amounts). For our repurchase activities made during for the year ended December 31, 2023, December 31, 2024, please refer to
Note 6. Stockholders' Equity and Stock-Based Compensation of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Total Number of Shares Approximate Dollar Value of Shares That May
Total Number of Average Price Paid Purchased as Part of Publicly Yet Be Purchased Under the Publicly
Shares Purchased Per Share Announced Plans or Programs Announced Plans or Programs
October 1, 2024 - October 31, 2024 — $ — — $ 1,044,650
November 1, 2024 - November 30, 2024 (1) 1,306 94.80 1,306 920,854
December 1, 2024 - December 31, 2024 — — — 920,854
1,306 1,306

(1) November results have been adjusted to reflect the four-for-one stock split effected in December, 2024. See Note 1,0rganization and Summary of Accounting Policies, included
in Part Il, Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for details.

Item 6. [Reserved]

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with the consolidated financial statements and related
notes that are included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements based upon current plans, expectations and beliefs that
involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set
forth under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

Arista Networks is an industry leader in data-driven, client to cloud networking for large Al, data center, campus and routing environments. Arista's platforms deliver availability,
agility, automation, analytics and security through an advanced network operating stack. Since Arista’s inception, our founders have reimagined cloud networks for performance,
scale and programmability with a focus on differentiating in three ways: uncompromising reliability built on the foundation of robust quality assurance capabilities with a suite of
automated diagnostics, advanced open and standards-based technology and a robust quality assurance capability builtintelligent automation to decrease the manual workload on a
suite of automated diagnostics. the operator. At the core of Arista’s platform is Arista’s Arista EOS, a modernized publish-subscribe state-sharing networking operating system. Arista
EOS, combined with a set of network applications and our Ethernet switching and routing platforms using best of breed merchant silicon, provides customers with a highly
competitive and diversified portfolio of products with improved price/performance and time to market.

We generate The Company'’s current portfolio of products, services and technologies are grouped into the following categories: Core (Data Center, Cloud and Al Networking),
Cognitive Adjacencies (Campus and Routing), and Cognitive Network (Software and Services). The percentage of revenue primarily derived from sales of our switching these
product categories during the current fiscal year was approximately 65% from Core, 18% from Cognitive Adjacencies, and routing platforms, which incorporate our EOS 17% from
Networking software and related network applications. We also generate revenue from post-contract support ("PCS"), whichservices. Our customers typically purchase in
conjunction with our products,include companies of all sizes and renewals of PCS. We sell our products through both our direct sales force and our channel partners. Our
customers span a range of industries and geographies including large cloudand are grouped into the following categories: Cloud and Al Titans, Enterprise and Providers. The
percentage of revenue derived from these customers or hyperscalers, other internet providers, service providers, financial services organizations, government agencies during the
current fiscal year was approximately 48% from Cloud and a cross section of enterprise customers. Over the past five years, we have diversified the types of enterprise customers
we sell to Al Titans, 35% from Enterprise and have continued to expand our presence across a wide spectrum of industries including media and entertainment, healthcare, oil and
gas, education, manufacturing, industrial, and more. 17% from Providers.
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Historically, large purchases by a relatively limited number of customers have accounted for a significant portion of our revenue. We have experienced unpredictability in the timing
of orders from these large customers primarily due to the time it takes these customers to evaluate, test, qualify and accept our newer products, the overall complexity of these large
orders and changes in demand patterns specific to these customers, including reductions in or changes in mix of capital expenditures by these customers and the impact of cost
reduction and other efficiency efforts by these customers. For example, sales to our end customers customer Microsoft and Meta Platforms represented 20%, 18% and 21% 16% of
our total revenue respectively, in fiscal for the years ended 2024, 2023 16% and 2022 respectively. And sales to our end customer Meta Platforms represented 15%, 21% and 26%
of our total revenue, respectively in fiscal 2022 for the years ended 2024, 2023 and 15% and less than 10% of our total revenue, respectively in fiscal 2021. 2022. This variability in
customer concentration has been linked to the timing of new product deployments and spending cycles with these customers, and we expect continued variability in our customer
concentration and timing of sales on a quarterly and annual basis. InIn addition, we typically provide pricing discounts to large customers, which reduces gross margins for the
period in which such sales occur.

We believe an increased focus on the deployment of Al enabled solutions by these our large customers has accelerated the need for advanced technology offerings including some
offerings from potential new market entrants. This prioritization and acceleration of Al related infrastructure investment has at times come in conjunction with a reduction or changes
in the announcement mix of previously planned purchases and various cost reduction measures by these customers, including optimization and increased efficiency in non-Al
related capital expenditures. In addition, although the focus on deployment of Al enabled solutions has driven increased demand for networking, the long-term trajectory is unknown.
As such, demand estimates for our new products are difficult to forecast and can create volatility in our revenue. In some instances, such measures have had, and may continue to
have, an impact on certain current or future projects and have reduced our visibility to customer demand increased our risk of excess and obsolescence charges on existing
products, and may result in reductions a reduction or uncertainty in future demand the timing of orders from these large customers and negatively impactincrease the risk of charges
for excess and obsolete inventory. Fiscal 2024 was marked by a year of new product introductions and expanded use cases, particularly in the Al Ethernet market, and we expect
this to continue into fiscal 2025. This has resulted in increased customer trials and contracts with acceptance periods, and an increase in the volatility and magnitude of our product
deferred revenue balances, which in turn may create variability in our revenue financial condition, business results on a quarterly and annual basis. In addition, if we are not able to
satisfy the requirements under customer trials or prospects. Furthermore, contracts with acceptance periods, we typically provide pricing discounts may be required to large accept
product returns from our customers, which reduces gross margins for would prevent us from recognizing revenue on such transactions and may result in the period in which such
sales occur. write-down of inventory.

We believe that cloud computing represents a fundamental shift from traditional legacy network architectures. As organizations of all sizes have moved workloads to the cloud,
spending on cloud and next-generation data centers has increased rapidly, while traditional legacy IT spending has grown at a slower rate. Our cloud networking platforms are well
positioned to address the growing cloud networking market, and to address increasing performance requirements driven by the growing number of connected devices, as well as the
need for constant connectivity and access to data and applications.

The markets for cloud networking solutions are highly competitive and characterized by rapidly changing technology, changing end-customer needs, evolving industry standards,
frequent introductions of new products and services, and industry consolidation. We expect competition to intensify in the future as the market for cloud networking expands and
existing competitors and new market entrants introduce new products or enhance existing products. Our future success is dependent upon our ability to continue to evolve and
adapt to our rapidly changing environment. We must also continue to develop

market-leading products and software features that address the changing needs of our existing and new customers, and increase sales in the cloud, Al and enterprise data center
switching, ethernet switching/routing markets, and campus workspace markets. We intend to continue expanding our sales force and marketing activities in key geographies, as well
as our relationships with channel, technology and system-level partners in order to reach new customers more effectively, increase sales to existing customers, and provide services
and support. In addition, we intend to continue to invest in our research and development organization to enhance the functionality of our existing cloud networking platform,
introduce new products and features, and build upon our technology leadership. We believe one of our greatest strengths lies in our ability to rapidly develop new features and
applications.

Macroeconomic Update

Our development model is focused on the development of new products based on our EOS software and enhancements to EOS. We engineer our products to be agnostic with
respect to the underlying merchant silicon architecture. The programmability of EOS has allowed us to expand our software applications to address the ever-increasing demands of
cloud networking, including workflow automation, network visibility, analytics and network detection and response, and has further allowed us to integrate rapidly with a wide range
of third-party applications for virtualization, management, automation, orchestration and network services. This enables us to focus our research and development resources on our
software core competencies and to leverage the investments made by merchant silicon vendors to achieve cost-effective solutions. We work closely with third-party contract
manufacturers to manufacture our products. Our contract manufacturers deliver our products to our third-party direct fulfillment facilities. We and our fulfillment partners then perform
labeling, final configuration, quality assurance testing and shipment to our customers.

Macroeconomic Update
Global economic and business activities continue to face widespread macroeconomic uncertainties, including the effects of, among other things, inflation, monetary policy

shifts, recession risks, and potential supply chain and other disruptions, such as the Russia-Ukraine and Israel-Hamas conflicts, the Houthi attacks on marine vessels changes in the
Red Sea, U.S. administration, geopolitical pressures and the U.S. escalating international trade war with China. measures.

As we exit 2023, theOur business is emerging from a period of unprecedented global supply chain disruptions. Throughout this period, we made significant supply chain
investments, including funding additional working capital and incremental purchase commitments in response to extended visibility to deployment plans from our customers. We
have worked closely with our contract manufacturers and supply chain partners to ramp production following a period of delayed component sourcing and workforce disruptions.
This increased Increased capacity has allowed us to ship products against previously committed demand/deployment plans and accelerate some deployments where needed, while
trying to limit building customer inventory, balance our customers' requirements and to some extent balancing customer lead times with those currently experienced fromthe
availability of key components and products and lead times of our key suppliers. suppliers and contract manufacturers. As a result, some shipments against these previously
committed demand/deployment plans have extended into 2024. 2025.

As the global supply chain has experienced some improvements and as customer lead times have been reduced from their peak, we have seen and expect to continue to see a
commensurate reduction in visibility to customer demand and a gradual return to shorter demand-planning horizons resulting in lower demand levels. horizons. Given thesethe
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timing and prioritization of customer orders and shipment patterns, as well as the timing and order patterns, outcome of customer trials and contracts with acceptance periods, near
term revenue trends may not be solely reflective of current demand levels, butand as discussed above will also benefit from demand/deployment plans that hadhave been
previously committed. While We expect that our inventory and working capital levels may remain elevated in the near term, we expect that purchase commitments will continue to
declineremain volatile as supplier lead times shorten. we ramp new product introductions. The larger magnitude of these balances, combined with a reduction in customer demand-
planning horizons and shifting customer product priorities, has resulted in increased risk that we may not be able to sell all of this inventory, which in turn has resulted and may in the
future result, in additional excess and obsolete inventory and supplier liability charges.

In addition, inflation pressure in our supply chain and scarcity of some materials needed to build our products and disruptions to our manufacturing process have increased our cost
of revenue and have impacted, and may continue to negatively impact our gross margin. Our operating cash-flows have also been These cost pressures may be increased if
escalating tariff and may non-tariff international trade measures continue to proliferate in or affect our supply chain. We also may not be able to pass on the full burden of the
increase in trade-related costs to our customers, which could further negatively impacted by significant component inventories on hand or atimpact our contract
manufacturers. gross margin. While we have seen improvements in our supply chain and manufacturing operations, any remaining or new supply chain and manufacturing related
constraints could negatively impact our business in future periods. In addition, although our business has experienced limited disruption as a result of the recent Russia-Ukraine
conflict, continued escalation of this conflict as well as the Israeli-Hamas conflict and Houthi movement in the Red Sea may negatively impact the global economy and our future
operating results and financial condition.

Management continues to actively monitor the impact of macroeconomic factors on the Company's financial condition, liquidity, operations, suppliers, industry, and
workforce. The extent of the impact of these factors on our operational and financial performance, including our ability to execute our business strategies and initiatives in the
expected time frame, will depend on future developments, the impact on our customers, partners, employees, contract manufacturers and supply chain, all of which continue to
evolve and are unpredictable. In addition, any continued or renewed disruption in manufacturing and supply and new or enhanced tariffs imposed by the U.S. and other countries
resulting from these factors could negatively impact our business. We also believe that some of our customers, following a year of elevated purchases, must now consider changing
technology roadmaps and priorities, including the need for the rapid deployment of Al and related technologies, resulting in some uncertainty as to future investment plans and a
more constrained approach to some forecasts and orders in the near term. In addition, Furthermore, any prolonged economic disruptions or further deterioration in the global
economy could have a negative impact on demand from our customers in future periods, particularly in the enterprise market where we are continuing to expand our penetration.
Accordingly, current results and financial conditions discussed herein may not be indicative of future operating results and trends.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023

Revenue, Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin (in thousands, except percentages)

Year Ended December 31,

2023

2023

2023 2022 Change in
2024

2024

2024 2023 Change in
% of % of % of
$ $ Revenue $ Revenue $ % $ Revenue

Revenue

Product

Product

Product $5,029,493 85.8 85.8 % $3,716,079 84.8 84.8 % $1,313,414 35.3 353 % $5,884,021 84.0 840 %

Service

Total
revenue

Cost of
revenue

Product
Product
Product
Service

Total cost
of
revenue

Gross Gross Gross
profit profit  $3,630,281 61.9 61.9 % $2,675,696 61.1 61.1 % $ 954,585 35.7 35.7 % profit $4,491,303 64.1 64.1 %

Gross
margin

Revenue by Geography (in thousands, except percentages)
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Year Ended December 31,

% of
2023 Total 2022 % of Total
% of
2024 Total 2023 % of Total
Americas Americas  $4,651,193 79.4 79.4 % $3,462,621 79.0 79.0 %Americas  $5,729,039 81.8 81.8 % $4,651,193 79.4 79.4 %
Europe, Middle East and
Africa
Asia-Pacific
Total Total
Total revenue revenue  $5860,168 100.0 100.0 % $4,381,310 100.0 100.0 % evenue  $7.003,146 100.0 100.0 % $5,860,168 100.0 100.0 %
Revenue

Product revenue primarily consists of sales of our switching and routing products, and related network applications. Service revenue is primarily derived from sales of PCS
contracts, which are typically purchased in conjunction with our products, and subsequent renewals of those contracts. We expect our revenue may vary from period to period based
on, among other things, the timing, size, and complexity of orders, especially with respect to our large customers.

Product revenue increased by $1.3 billion $854.5 million, or 35.3% 17.0%, for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 compared to 2022. These increases
reflect increased 2023. This increase reflects healthy customer demand and higher shipments of our switching and routing products platforms, with strong contributions across our
customer base including improved supply availability for our enterprise customers.. In addition, service revenue increased by $165.4 million $288.5 million, or 24.9% 34.7%, infor the
year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 compared to 2022,2023, as a result of continued growth in initial and renewal support contracts as our customer installed base
has continued to expand. International revenues as a percentage of our total revenues decreased from 21.0%20.6% in 20222023 to 20.6% 18.2% in 20283, 2024, which was
primarily driven by changes in the geographic mix of sales to our large global customers.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Cost of product revenue primarily consists of amounts paid for inventory to our third-party contract manufacturers and merchant silicon vendors, overhead costs of our
manufacturing operations, including freight, and other costs associated with manufacturing our products and managing our inventory and supply chain. Cost of service revenue
primarily consists of personnel and other costs associated with our global customer support and services organizations.

Cost of revenue increased by $524.3 million $282.0 million, or 30.7% 12.6% for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 compared to 2022.2023. These
increases were primarily driven by a corresponding increase in product and service revenues, combined with an increase partially offset by reductions of $180.4 million in provisions
for net excess/obsolete inventory and supplier liability charges. charges for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to 2023.

Gross margin, or gross profit as a percentage of revenue, has been and will continue to be affected by a variety of factors, including pricing pressure on our products and
services due to competition, the mix of sales to large customers who generally receive lower pricing, the mix of products sold, manufacturing-related costs, including costs
associated with supply chain sourcing activities, merchant silicon costs, and excess/obsolete inventory charges, including charges and supplier liability charges. For example, in
order to meet customer lead times, we have, and may continue to expedite the supply of components and make incremental investments in our supply chain to increase our
capacity for excess/obsolete component inventory held by manufacturing products, which increases our contract manufacturers product costs and suppliers. negatively impacts our
gross margin. We expect our gross margin to fluctuate over time, depending on the factors described above.

Gross margin increased from 61.1% for the year ended December 31, 2022 to 61.9% for the year ended December 31, 2023 to 64.1% for the year ended December 31,
2024. These changes reflect an improvement in product margins of 60.9% in 2024 compared to 59.0% in 2023, driven by a lower mixreduction of revenue from our larger
customers, partly offset by an increase $180.4 million in net excess/obsolete inventory-related charges. In addition, our gross margin benefited in 20232024 from the leverage of
relatively fixed manufacturing overhead costs on a higher revenue base. base of $7.0 billion in 2024 compared to $5.9 billion in 2023.

Operating Expenses (in thousands, except percentages)

Our operating expenses consist of research and development, sales and marketing, and general and administrative expenses. The largest component of our operating
expenses is personnel costs. Personnel costs consist of wages, benefits, bonuses and, with respect to sales and marketing expenses, sales commissions. Personnel costs also
include stock-based compensation and travel-related expenses.

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
Change
2023 2022 in 2024 2023 Change in
% of % of % of % of
$ Revenue $ Revenue $ % $ Revenue $ Revenue $

Operating
expenses:

Research and

development

Research and

development

Research and

development '$ 854,918 14.6 14.6 % $ 728,394 16.6 16.6 % $126,524 17.4 17.4% $ 996,717 14.2 142 % $ 854,918 14.6 146 % $141,
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Sales and
marketing
General and
administrative
Total operating
expenses
Total operating
expenses

Total operating
expenses $1,373,032 23.4  23.4 % $1,148,590 26.2 26.2 % $224,442 195 19.5 % $1,546,687 22.1 22.1 % $1,373,032 23.4 234 % $173¢

Research and development.

Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel costs, prototype expenses, third-party engineering costs, and an allocated portion of facility and IT
costs. Our research and development efforts are focused on new product development and maintaining and developing additional functionality for our existing products, including
new releases and upgrades to our EOS software and applications. We expect our research and development expenses to increase in absolute dollars as we continue to invest in
software development in order to expand the capabilities of our cloud networking platform, introduce new products and features, and continue to invest in our technology.

Research and development expenses increased by $126.5 million $141.8 million, or 17.4% 16.6%, for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 compared to
2022.2023. The increase was primarily due to a $84.1 million $64.9 million increase in personnel costs driven by an increase in headcount, and a $40.7 $52.3 million increase in
new product introduction costs, including non-recurring engineering costs and prototype expenses as we expand our product portfolio.

Sales and marketing.

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel costs, marketing, trade shows, and other promotional activities, and an allocated portion of facility and IT costs.
We expect our sales and marketing expenses to increase in absolute dollars as we continue to expand our sales and marketing efforts worldwide.

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $72.1 million $28.2 million, or 22.0% 7.1%, for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 compared to 2022.
The 2023 primarily due to an increase was primarily caused by increased in personnel costs driven by headcount growth, in addition to increased sales and marketing events and
field demonstration costs.

General and administrative.

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs and professional services costs for our finance, human resources, legal and certain executive
functions. Our professional services costs are primarily related to external legal, accounting, and tax services.

General and administrative expenses increased by $25.8 million $3.6 million, or 27.7% 3.0%, for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 compared to 2022.
The increase was primarily caused by an increase in personnel costs driven by increased stock-based compensation, and increased legal and professional fees. 2023.

Other Income, Net (in thousands, except percentages)

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest income from our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, and gains and losses on our marketable
securities and strategic investments, and foreign currency transaction gains and losses. investments. We expect other income (expense), net may fluctuate in the future as a result
of changes in interest rates, changes in our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities balances, and the re-measurement of our equity investments upon the occurrence of
either observable price changes or impairments, changes in interest rates or returns on our cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities, and foreign currency exchange
rate fluctuations. impairments.

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

Change
2023 2022 in 2024 2023 Ct

% of % of % of
$ Revenue $ Revenue $ % $ Revenue $

Other
income
(expense),
net:

Interest income

Interest income

Interest income $152,421 2.6 2.6 % $27,556 0.6 0.6 % $124,865 453.1 453.1 % $310,998 4.4 44 %  $152,421

Gain (loss) on

strategic investments

Gain (loss) on

strategic investments

Gain (loss) on

strategic investments
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Other income
(expense), net
Other income
(expense), net

Other
income
(expense),
net
Total Total
Total other  other other
income, income, income,
net net $164,777 2.8 2.8 % $54,690 1.2 1.2 % $110,087 2013 201.3% net $320,418 4.6 4.6 % $164

The favorable movement in other income (expense), net, during the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 as compared to 20222023 was driven by an
increase in interest income of $124.9 million $158.6 million due to an increase in our cash and investments marketable securities balances, andcoupled with higher interest
rates. investment yields.

Provision for Income Taxes (in thousands, except percentages)

We operate in a number of tax jurisdictions and are subject to taxes in each country or jurisdiction in which we conduct business. Earnings from our non-U.S. activities are
subject to local country income tax and may also be subject to U.S. income tax. Generally, our U.S. tax obligations are reduced by a credit for foreign income taxes paid on these
foreign earnings, which avoids double taxation. Our tax expense to date consists of federal, state and foreign current and deferred income taxes.

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 Change in
% of % of
$ Revenue $ Revenue $ %
Provision for income taxes $ 412,980 59% $ 334,705 57% $ 78,275 23.4 %
Effective tax rate 12.6 % 13.8 %

Our provision for income taxes increased for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to 2023, while our effective tax rate decreased for the year ended December
31, 2024, as compared to 2023. The increase in our income taxes was largely due to an increase in pre-tax income, partly offset by a decrease in our effective tax rate due to
favorable changes in state taxes and tax benefits attributable to stock-based compensation. For further information regarding income taxes and the impact on our results of
operations and financial position, refer to Note 8. Income Taxes of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part Il, Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31, 2023 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenue, Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin (in thousands, except percentages)

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 Change in
% of % of
$ Revenue $ Revenue $ %

Revenue

Product $ 5,029,493 858 % $ 3,716,079 848% $ 1,313,414 35.3 %

Service 830,675 14.2 665,231 15.2 165,444 249
Total revenue 5,860,168 100.0 4,381,310 100.0 1,478,858 33.8
Cost of revenue

Product 2,061,167 35.2 1,573,629 35.9 487,538 31.0

Service 168,720 2.9 131,985 3.0 36,735 27.8
Total cost of revenue 2,229,887 38.1 1,705,614 38.9 524,273 30.7
Gross profit $ 3,630,281 619% $ 2,675,696 61.1% $ 954,585 35.7 %
Gross margin 61.9 % 61.1 %

Revenue by Geography (in thousands, except percentages)

Year Ended December 31,

2023 % of Total 2022 % of Total

Americas $ 4,651,193 794 % $ 3,462,621 79.0 %
Europe, Middle East and Africa 670,960 11.4 529,800 12.1
Asia-Pacific 538,015 9.2 388,889 8.9
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Total revenue $ 5,860,168 100.0 % $ 4,381,310 100.0 %

Revenue

Product revenue increased by $1.3 billion, or 35.3%, for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to 2022. These increases reflect increased shipments of our
switching and routing products across our customer base, including improved supply availability for our enterprise customers. In addition, service revenue increased by $165.4
million, or 24.9%, in the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to 2022, as a result of continued growth in initial and renewal support contracts as our customer installed base
has continued to expand. International revenues as a percentage of our total revenues decreased from 21.0% in 2022 to 20.6% in 2023, which was primarily driven by changes in
the geographic mix of sales to our large global customers.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue increased by $524.3 million, or 30.7% for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to 2022. These increases were primarily driven by a corresponding
increase in product and service revenues, combined with an increase in provisions for excess/obsolete inventory and supplier liability charges.

Gross margin increased from 61.1% for the year ended December 31, 2022 to 61.9% for the year ended December 31, 2023. These changes reflect an improvement in
product margins driven by a lower mix of revenue from our larger customers, partly offset by an increase in excess/obsolete inventory-related charges. In addition, our gross margin
benefited in 2023 from the leverage of relatively fixed overhead costs on a higher revenue base.

Operating Expenses (in thousands, except percentages)

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 Change in
% of % of
$ Revenue $ Revenue $ %

Operating expenses:

Research and development $ 854,918 146 % $ 728,394 166 % $ 126,524 17.4 %

Sales and marketing 399,034 6.8 326,955 7.5 72,079 22.0

General and administrative 119,080 2.0 93,241 2.1 25,839 27.7
Total operating expenses $ 1,373,032 234% $ 1,148,590 262% $ 224,442 19.5 %

Research and development

Research and development expenses increased by $126.5 million, or 17.4%, for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to 2022. The increase was primarily due to a
$84.1 million increase in personnel costs driven by an increase in headcount, and a $40.7 million increase in new product introduction costs, including non-recurring engineering
costs and prototype expenses as we expand our product portfolio.

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $72.1 million, or 22.0%, for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to 2022. The increase was primarily caused by
increased personnel costs driven by headcount growth, in addition to increased sales and marketing events and field demonstration costs.

General and administrative

General and administrative expenses increased by $25.8 million, or 27.7%, for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to 2022. The increase was primarily caused
by an increase in personnel costs driven by increased stock-based compensation, and increased legal and professional fees.

Other Income, Net (in thousands, except percentages)

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 Change in
% of % of
$ Revenue $ Revenue $ %
Other income, net:
Interest income $ 152,421 26% $ 27,556 06% $ 124,865 453.1 %
Other income (expense), net 12,356 0.2 27,134 0.6 (14,778) (54.5)
Total other income, net $ 164,777 28% $ 54,690 12% $ 110,087 201.3 %

The favorable movement in other income (expense), net, during the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to 2022 was driven by an increase in interest income of
$124.9 million due to an increase in our cash and investments balances and higher interest rates.

Provision for Income Taxes (in thousands, except percentages)

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 Change in
% of % of
$ Revenue $ Revenue $ %
Provision for income taxes $ 334,705 57% $ 229,350 52% $ 105,355 45.9 %
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Effective tax rate 13.8 % 14.5 %

Our provision for income taxes increased in 2023, as compared to 2022, and our effective tax rate decreased in 2023 as compared to 2022. The increase in our income
taxes was largely due to an increase in pre-tax income, partly offset by an increase in tax benefits attributable to stock-based compensation. The decrease in our effective tax rate
was primarily due to a reduction of unrecognized tax benefits on uncertain tax positions due to the expiration of the statute of limitations. For further information regarding income
taxes and the impact on our results of operations and financial position, refer to Note 8. Income Taxes of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part Il, Item 8,
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2021

Revenue, Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin (in thousands, except percentages)

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 Change in
% of % of
$ Revenue $ Revenue $ %

Revenue

Product 3,716,079 848% $ 2,377,727 80.7% $ 1,338,352 56.3 %

Service 665,231 15.2 570,310 19.3 94,921 16.6
Total revenue 4,381,310 100.0 2,948,037 100.0 1,433,273 48.6
Cost of revenue

Product 1,573,629 35.9 958,363 325 615,266 64.2

Service 131,985 3.0 108,895 3.7 23,090 21.2
Total cost of revenue 1,705,614 38.9 1,067,258 36.2 638,356 59.8
Gross profit 2,675,696 61.1% $ 1,880,779 63.8% $ 794,917 423 %
Gross margin 61.1 % 63.8 %
Revenue by Geography (in thousands, except percentages)

Year Ended December 31,
2022 % of Total 2021 % of Total

Americas $ 3,462,621 790 % $ 2,156,183 732 %
Europe, Middle East and Africa 529,800 12.1 486,836 16.5
Asia-Pacific 388,889 8.9 305,018 10.3
Total revenue $ 4,381,310 1000 % $ 2,948,037 100.0 %
Revenue

Product revenue increased by $1.3 billion, or 56.3%, in the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to 2021. The increase reflects strong demand for our switching and
routing platforms from across our customer base, including healthy contributions from our large cloud customers. Although we saw some improvement in component supply in the
latter part of fiscal 2022, supply chain and manufacturing constraints limited our revenue performance throughout the year, and while changes in product deferred revenue impacted
the timing of revenue recognition on a quarterly basis, the net change in product deferred revenue for the full year was an immaterial contributor to revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2022. In addition, service revenue increased by $94.9 million, or 16.6%, in the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to 2021, as a result of continued growth in
initial and renewal PCS contracts as our customer installed base continued to expand. International revenues as a percentage of our total revenues decreased from 26.8% in 2021
to 21.0% in 2022, which was primarily driven by increased purchases from large cloud customers in our Americas region. As a result of cost inflation in our supply chain, we
implemented targeted price increases during the year, which began to benefit our revenue in late 2022. As supply chain costs improve, we expected to return to a more competitive
pricing environment for our products and services.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue increased by $638.4 million, or 59.8% for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to 2021. These increases were primarily driven by a corresponding
increase in product and service revenues, combined with an increase in material and logistics costs to mitigate supply chain constraints and to meet customer demand, as well as
an increase in provisions for excess/obsolete finished goods and component inventory.

Gross margin decreased from 63.8% for the year ended December 31, 2021 to 61.1% for the year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease was primarily driven by an
increased proportion of our sales to larger customers who generally receive larger discounts, increased material and logistics costs, and increased excess/obsolete finished goods
and component inventory charges, partly offset by the leverage of fixed overhead costs on a higher revenue base.

Operating Expenses (in thousands, except percentages)

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 Change in
% of % of
$ Revenue $ Revenue $ %
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Operating expenses:

Research and development 728,394 166% $ 586,752 199% $ 141,642 24.1 %

Sales and marketing 326,955 7.5 286,171 9.7 40,784 14.3

General and administrative 93,241 2.1 83,117 2.8 10,124 12.2
Total operating expenses $ 1,148,590 262% $ 956,040 324% $ 192,550 20.1 %

Research and development

Research and development expenses increased by $141.6 million, or 24.1%, for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to 2021. The increase was primarily due to a
$68.6 million increase in personnel costs driven by an increase in headcount, and a $57.5 million increase in new product introduction costs, including third-party engineering and
other product development costs.

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $40.8 million, or 14.3%, for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to 2021. The increase was primarily caused by
increased personnel costs driven by headcount growth.

General and administrative

General and administrative expenses increased by $10.1 million, or 12.2%, for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to 2021. The increase was driven by an
increase in personnel costs driven by increased headcount, and increased legal and professional fees primarily driven by acquisitions during the first half of 2022.

Other Income, Net (in thousands, except percentages)

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 Change in
% of % of
$ Revenue $ Revenue $ %

Other income, net:

Interest income $ 27,556 06% $ 7,215 02% $ 20,341 281.9 %

Gain on investments in privately-held companies 27,479 0.6 — — 27,479 100.0

Other income (expense), net (345) — (1,075) — 730 (67.9)
Total other income, net $ 54,690 12% $ 6,140 02% $ 48,550 790.7 %

The movement in other income (expense), net, during the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to 2021 was driven by an increase in interest income due to higher
interest rates. In addition, we had unrealized gains of $27.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2022 related to our equity investments.

Provision for Income Taxes (in thousands, except percentages)

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 Change in

% of % of

Revenue $ %

31% $ 139,325

$ Revenue $
229,350 52% $ 90,025
14.5 % 9.7 %

Provision for income taxes $ 154.8 %

Effective tax rate

Our provision for income taxes and effective tax rate increased in 2022 as compared to 2021. The increase in our income taxes was due to an increase in pre-tax income.
The increase in our effective tax rate was largely attributable to a decrease in the proportion of tax benefits attributable to stock-based compensation versus total pre-tax income.
For further information regarding income taxes and the impact on our results of operations and financial position, refer to Note 8. Income Taxes of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Part Il, Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal sources of liquidity are cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities, and cash generated from operations. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, our
total balance of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities was $5.0 billion $8.3 billion, of which approximately $770.3 million $1.4 billion was held outside the U.S. in our
foreign subsidiaries.

Our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities are held for general business purposes, including the funding of working capital. Our marketable securities investment
portfolio is primarily invested in highly-rated securities, with the primary objective of minimizing the potential risk of principal loss. We plan to continue to invest for long-term growth.
We believe that our existing balances of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, together with cash generated from operations, will be sufficient to meet our working
capital requirements and our growth strategies for at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our growth rate, the timing and
extent of our spending to support research and development activities, the timing and cost of establishing additional sales and marketing capabilities, the introduction of new and
enhanced product and service offerings, our costs associated with supply chain activities, including access to outsourced manufacturing, our costs related to investing in or
acquiring complementary or strategic businesses and technologies, the continued market acceptance of our products, stock repurchases, and capital expenditures, including the
construction of a new building in Santa Clara, California. In addition, although the global supply chain has shown improvement, we have had to invest in inventory to address
forecast uncertainty and stock repurchases. expect that our inventory and purchase commitments will remain volatile as we ramp new product introductions. In particular, we have
increased our purchase commitments to respond to the rapid deployment of Al networks and reduce overall lead times which will increase our working capital requirements. If we
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require or elect to seek additional capital through debt or equity financing in the future, we may not be able to raise capital on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are required and
unable to raise additional capital when desired, our business, operating results and financial condition may be adversely affected.

Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

2024 2023 2022

(in thousands)

Cash provided by operating activities
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Our operating activities consist of net income, adjusted for certain non-cash items, and changes in operating assets and liabilities.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, cash provided by operating activities was $3.7 billion, primarily from net income of $2.9 billion along with a net decrease in
working capital requirements of $985.2 million, offset by net non-cash adjustments to net income of $129.0 million. Cash inflows consisted of an increase in deferred revenue of
$1.3 billion resulting from increased customer PCS contracts and an increase in product deferred revenue related to customer contracts with acceptance terms, and a $110.6 million
decrease in inventory resulting from strong product shipments. These cash inflows were partially offset by a $234.2 million increase in other assets driven by increased deferred cost
of sales associated with higher product revenue deferrals, an increase in accounts receivable of $106.1 million due to increased product and service billings and a $66.5 million
increase in income tax payments due to timing. Net non-cash adjustments primarily consisted of an increase in deferred income taxes of $492.9 million primarily resulting from
increased deferred tax assets associated with the increase in deferred revenue and capitalization of research and development costs under IRC Section 174, which were largely
offset by $355.4 million of stock-based compensation expenses.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, cash provided by operating activities was $2.0 billion, primarily from net income of $2.1 billion, offset by net non-cash
adjustments to net income of $37.4 million, and a net change of $15.9 million in working capital requirements. Net non-cash adjustments primarily consisted of an increase in
deferred income taxes of $370.8 million $370.8 million primarily resulting from increased deferred tax assets associated with the capitalization of research and development costs
under IRC Section 174, which were largely offset by $296.8 million $296.8 million of stock-based compensation expenses and $70.6 million$70.6 million of depreciation,
amortization and other expenses. The change in working capital requirements primarily consisted of a $655.5 million $655.5 million increase in inventory in response to a significant
increase in business volume, a $101.5 million $101.5 million increase in accounts receivable due to the larger business volume and timing of shipments in the fourth quarter of 2023,
as well as a $66.4 million $66.4 million increase in other assets primarily driven by increased deferred cost of sales associated with higher product revenue deferrals. These cash
outflows were largely offset by a $465.0 million $465.0 million increase in deferred revenue driven by a growth in PCS contracts and increased product deferred revenue related to
customer contracts with acceptance terms, a $322.3 million $322.3 million increase in accounts payable and other liabilities related to significant business volume, timing of
payments, and increased supplier and contract manufacturer liability reserves and a $20.2 million increase in income taxes, net, due to timing of payments.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, cash provided by operating activities was $492.8 million, primarily from net income of $1.4 billion and net non-cash adjustments
to net income of $53.2 million, partially offset by a net increase of $912.8 million in working capital requirements. Net non-cash adjustments primarily consisted of $230.9 million of
stock-based compensation expenses and $62.7 million of depreciation, amortization and other expenses, which were largely offset by an increase in deferred income taxes of
$244.4 million primarily resulting from increased deferred tax assets associated with the capitalization of research and development costs under IRC Section 174. The increase in
working capital requirements primarily consisted of a $638.9 million increase in inventory in response to a significant increase in business volume, increased lead times and supply
chain disruptions, and a $401.5 million increase in accounts receivable due to the larger business volume and timing of shipments in the fourth quarter of 2022, as well as an
$85.2 million increase in prepaid and other current assets primarily driven by increased inventory deposits to our contract manufacturers. These cash outflows were largely offset by
a $99.0 million increase in deferred revenue driven by a growth in PCS contracts, a $98.0 million increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities related to significant business
volume, timing of payments, and increased supplier and contract manufacturer liability reserves and a $44 million increase in income taxes, net, due to an increase in our income
tax provision and timing of payments.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Our investing activities primarily consist of our marketable securities investments, business combinations, investments in privately-held companies, and capital
expenditures.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, cash used in investing activities was $2.5 billion, consisting of purchases of available-for-sale securities of $4.5 billion, partially
offset by proceeds of $2.1 billion from maturities and sales of marketable securities.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, cash used in investing activities was $687.5 million, consisting of purchases of available-for-sale securities of $2.6 billion, and
purchases of property, equipment and intangible assets of $34.4 million, partially offset by proceeds of $1.9 billion from maturities of marketable securities, and proceeds from the
sale of marketable securities of $67.3 million,

During the year ended December 31, 2022 $67.3 million, cash provided by investing activities was $216.3 million, consisting of proceeds of $1.6 billion from maturities of
marketable securities, proceeds from the sale of marketable securities of $193.8 million, partially offset by purchases of available-for-sale securities of $1.4 billion, $145.1 million for
business acquisitions, purchases of property, equipment and intangible assets of $44.6 million, and investments and notes receivable in private companies of $12.7 million.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Our financing activities consist of proceeds from the issuance of our common stock under employee equity incentive plans, offset by repurchases of our common stock.
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, cash used in financing activities was $421.8 million, consisting of payments for repurchases of our common stock from the open
market of $423.6 million and employee taxes withheld and paid of $58.4 million upon vesting of restricted stock units, partially offset by proceeds from the issuance of common stock
under employee equity incentive plans of $60.2 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, cash used in financing activities was $83.7 million, consisting primarily of common stock repurchases of $112.3 million and
taxes paid of $33.6 million upon vesting of restricted stock units, offset partially by proceeds from the issuance of common stock under employee equity incentive plans of $62.1
million.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, cash used in financing activities was $654.6 million, consisting primarily of common stock repurchases of $670.3
million and taxes paid of $32.7 million upon vesting of restricted stock units, offset partially by proceeds from the issuance of common stock under employee
equity incentive plans of $48.4 million.

Stock Repurchase Programs

From time to time, we repurchase shares of our common stock pursuant to the Repurchase Programs that are funded from working capital. In October 2021, April 2024, we
completed repurchases under our previous $1.0 billion stock repurchase program (“Prior Repurchase Program”). In May 2024, our board of directors authorized a $1.0 billion new
$1.2 billion stock repurchase program (the “Repurchase (‘New Repurchase Program” and together with the Prior Repurchase Program, the "Repurchase Programs"). This
authorization allows us to repurchase shares of our common stock funded from working capital and, which expires in the fourth quarter of 2024. May 2027. The Repurchase
Program does Programs do not obligate us to acquire any of our common stock, and may be suspended or discontinued by the company at any time without prior notice. During the
three months year ended December 31,

2023, December 31, 2024, we did not repurchase any shares. repurchased a total of $279.0 million of our common stock under our New Repurchase Program and $144.6 million of
our common stock under our Prior Repurchase Program. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the remaining authorized amount for stock repurchases under the New
Repurchase Program was $144.5 million approximately $921.0 million. Refer to Note 6. Stockholders' Equity and Stock-Based Compensation of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Part II, Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion.

Material cash requirements Cash Requirements

Our material cash requirements will have an impact on our future liquidity. Our material cash requirements represent material expected or contractually committed future
payment obligations. We believe that we will be able to fund these obligations through cash generated from operations and from our existing balances of cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities.

Our material cash requirements include the following contractual and other obligations:
Purchase Obligations

Purchase obligations not recorded on our balance sheet represent an estimate of all non-cancellable open purchase orders and contractual obligations, made either directly
by Arista or by our contract manufacturers on our behalf, in the ordinary course of business for which we have not received the goods or services. As of December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024, we had $1,586.7 million $3.1 billion of such purchase obligations, of which $1,547.2 million 2.8 billion are expected to be received within 12 months, and
$39.5 million 0.3 billion are expected to be received after one year. These open purchase orders are considered enforceable and legally binding, and while we may have some
limited ability to reschedule and adjust our requirements based on our business needs prior to the delivery of goods or performance of services, this can only occur with the
agreement of the related supplier.

Leases

We have operating lease arrangements for office space, data center, equipment and other corporate assets. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we had lease
payment obligations, net of immaterial sublease income, of $72.0 million $65.3 million, with $24.0 million $24.7 million payable within 12 months.

Property project

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we purchased land and the improvements thereon in Santa Clara, California to construct a building for office, lab and lab data
center space. The estimated capital expenditures related to this project is expected to be approximately $80.0$235.0 million to $100.0 million $260.0 million for the year ending
2024, next two years, with construction expected to commence inbe completed by the second half end of 2024. fiscal 2026.

Accrued Income Taxes

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we have recorded long-term tax liabilities of $95.8 million $110.0 million related to uncertain tax positions; however, we are
unable to make a reasonably reliable estimate of the timing of settlement, if any, of these future payments.

In connection with the TCJA, effective from January 1st, 2022, the TCJA eliminates the option to deduct research and development expenditures currently and requires
taxpayers to capitalize and amortize them over five or fifteen years pursuant to IRC Internal Revenue Code (“IRC") Section 174. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the
incremental cash tax impact resulting from the regulation was approximately $191.7 million $210.2 million for the year, of which substantially all the liability has been paid. It is
anticipated that IRC Section 174 will result in cash tax outlays exceeding our income tax expense over the next three years unless the current legislation is changed. There is no
material change to our effective tax rate as a result of this regulation.

Off-balance sheet arrangements Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we did not have any relationships with any unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to
as structured finance or special purpose entities, that would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or
limited purposes.

Critical Accounting Estimates

We have prepared our consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP" or "U.S. GAAP") and
include our accounts and the accounts of our wholly owned subsidiaries. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires our management to make estimates,
assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the applicable periods. Note 1, “Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting
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Policies,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part Il, Item 8 of this Form 10-K describes the significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of
the Company'’s consolidated financial statements. We base our estimates, assumptions and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Different assumptions and judgments would change the estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements, which, in
turn, could change the results from those reported. We evaluate our estimates, assumptions and judgments on an ongoing basis. Actual results may differ from these estimates. To
the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and our actual results, our future financial statements will be affected.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from sales of our products, which incorporate our EOS software and accessories such as cables and optics, to direct customers and channel partners
together with PCS. We typically sell products and PCS in a single contract. We recognize revenue upon transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to receive in exchange for those products or services. Most of our contracts with customers, other than renewals of
PCS, contain multiple performance obligations with a combination of products and PCS. Products and PCS generally qualify as distinct performance obligations. Our hardware
includes EOS software, which together deliver the essential functionality of our products. For contracts which contain multiple performance obligations, we allocate revenue to each
distinct performance obligation based on the standalone selling price (“SSP”). Judgment is required to determine the SSP for each distinct performance obligation. We use a range
of amounts to estimate SSP for products and PCS sold together in a contract to determine whether there is a discount to be allocated based on the relative SSP of the various
products and PCS.

If we do not have an observable SSP, such as when we do not sell a product or service separately, then SSP is estimated using judgment and considering all reasonably
available information, such as gross margin objectives, market conditions and information about the size and/or purchase volume of the customer. We generally use a range of
amounts to estimate SSP for individual products and services based on multiple factors including, but not limited to, product category, actual and expected volume, discounting
policies, and end customer vertical and size.

We limit the amount of revenue recognition for contracts containing forms of variable consideration, such as future performance obligations, customer-specific returns, and
acceptance or refund obligations. We defer revenue recognition on customer contracts for new products or use cases, which contain customer-specified requirements that must be
met prior to acceptance. We include some or all of an estimate of the related at-risk consideration in the transaction price only to the extent that it is probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recorded under each contract will not occur when the uncertainties surrounding the variable consideration are resolved.

We may occasionally accept returns to address customer satisfaction issues even though there is generally no contractual provision for such returns. We estimate returns
for sales to customers based on historical return rates applied against current-period shipments. Specific customer returns and allowances are considered when determining our
sales return reserve estimate.

We have elected a practical expedient to apply the guidance to a portfolio of contracts or performance obligations with similar characteristics so long as such application
would not differ materially from applying the guidance to the individual contracts (or performance obligations) within that portfolio. Consequently, we have chosen to apply the
portfolio approach when possible, which we do not believe will happen frequently. Additionally, we will evaluate a portfolio of data, when possible, in various situations, including
accounting for commissions, rights of return and transactions with variable consideration.

Inventory Valuation and Contract Manufacturer/Supplier Liabilities

Inventories primarily consist of finished goods, including evaluation inventory held at customers or partners, and strategic components, primarily integrated circuits.
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (computed using the first-in, first-out method) and net realizable value. Evaluation inventory consists of new products and/or use cases at
customer or partner sites for trial purposes. Title to the inventory remains with Arista during the trial period and invoicing occurs only upon completion of the trial period and when/if
the products have been accepted by the customer. Manufacturing overhead costs and inbound shipping costs are included in the cost of inventory. We record a provision when
inventory is determined to be in excess of anticipated demand, or obsolete, to adjust inventory to its estimated realizable value.

Our contract manufacturers procure components and assemble products on our behalf and we procure strategic components from suppliers based on our forecasts. We

record a liability and a corresponding charge for non-cancellable, non-returnable purchase commitments with our contract manufacturers orand suppliers for quantities in excess of
our demand forecasts or that are considered obsolete due to manufacturing and engineering change orders resulting from design changes.

We use significant judgment in establishing our forecasts of future demand and obsolete material exposures. These estimates depend on our assessment of current and
expected orders from our customers, product development plans and current sales levels. In addition, industry-wide supply chain shortages in prior years have resulted in extended
lead times for some

components, and consequently we were required to extend the time horizon of our demand forecasts. As We have experienced some improvements in the supply chain throughout
the year, and as customer lead times reduce more broadly, we have seen and expect to continue to see a commensurate reduction in visibility to customer demand and a gradual
return to shorter demand-planning horizons resulting in lower demand levels. While horizons. In addition, we expect that our inventory and working capital levels may remain
elevated in the near term, we expect that purchase commitments will continue to declineremain volatile as supplier lead times shorten. we ramp new product introductions. There is
however no guarantee that all suppliers will meet their commitments in the time frame committed or that actual customer demand will directly match our demand forecasts. If actual
market demand conditions or supplier execution on commitments are less favorable than those projected by management, which may be caused by factors within and/or outside of
our control, we may be required to increase our inventory write-downs and liabilities to our contract manufacturers and suppliers, which could have an adverse impact on our gross
margins and profitability. We regularly evaluate our exposure for inventory write-downs and adequacy of our contract manufacturer and supplier liabilities.

Income Taxes

Significant management judgment is required in developing our provision for or benefit from income taxes, including the determination of deferred tax assets and liabilities
and any valuation allowances that might be required against the deferred tax assets. In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we consider all available evidence, including
past operating results and estimates of our ability to generate sufficient future taxable income in certain foreign and state tax jurisdictions, future reversals of taxable temporary
differences, and potential tax planning strategies. An adjustment to the valuation allowance will either increase or decrease our provision for or benefit from income taxes in the
period such determination is made.

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and numerous foreign jurisdictions, which involves significant judgment in the interpretation of complex domestic and
international tax laws and may give rise to uncertain tax positions. We recognize potential liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues in the U.S. and other tax jurisdictions based on
our estimate of whether it is more likely than not that additional taxes, interest, and penalties will be due. Although management believes our unrecognized tax benefits are
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reasonable, no assurance can be given that the final tax outcome of these matters will not be different from that which is reflected in our unrecognized tax benefits. Our
unrecognized tax benefits are adjusted considering changing facts and circumstances, such as the closing of a tax examination or the refinement of an estimate. Resolution of these
uncertainties in a manner inconsistent with management’s expectations could have a material impact on our financial condition and operating results.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to the subheading titled “Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements” in Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part Il, ltem 8, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk in the ordinary course of our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to adverse changes
in financial market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily a result of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates, and strategic equity investments.
Macroeconomic Global economic and business activities continue to face widespread macroeconomic uncertainties, including the effects of, among other things, inflation, monetary
policy shifts, uncertainty in the global banking and financial services markets, recession risks, potential supply chain disruptions, from the Russia-Ukraine geopolitical pressures, and
Israel-Hamas conflicts, the Houthi movement in the Red Sea and the U.S.escalating international trade war with China have increased the volatility of global financial
markets, measures, which may increase our foreign currency exchange risk and interest rate risk. For further discussion of the potential impacts on our business, operating results,
and financial condition, see Risk Factors included in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Substantially all of our revenue is denominated in
U.S. dollars, and therefore, our revenue is not directly subject to foreign currency risk. However, we are indirectly exposed to foreign currency risk. A stronger U.S. dollar could make
our products and services more expensive in foreign countries and therefore reduce demand. A weaker U.S. dollar could have the opposite effect. Such economic exposure to
currency fluctuations is difficult to measure or predict because our sales are also influenced by many other factors.

Our expenses are generally denominated in the currencies in which our operations are located, which is primarily in the U.S. and to a lesser extent in Europe and Asia. Our
results of operations and cash flows are, therefore, subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates and may be adversely affected in the future due to
changes in foreign exchange rates. A hypothetical 10% change in foreign currency exchange rates on our monetary assets and liabilities would not be material to our financial
condition or results of operations. To date, foreign currency transaction gains and losses and exchange rate fluctuations have not been material to our financial statements. While we
have not engaged in the hedging of our foreign currency transactions to date and do not enter into any hedging contracts for trading or speculative purposes, we may in the future
hedge selected significant transactions denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, and 2022,2023, we had cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale marketable securities totaling $5.0 billion $8.3 billion
and $3.0 billion $5.0 billion, respectively. Cash equivalents and marketable securities were invested primarily in money market funds, corporate bonds, U.S. agency mortgage-
backed securities, U.S. treasury securities and commercial paper. Our primary investment objectives are to preserve capital and maintain liquidity requirements. In addition, our
policy limits the amount of credit exposure to any single issuer. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes and have not used any derivative financial
instruments to manage our interest rate risk exposure. Our primary exposure to market risk is interest income sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of the
interest rates in the U.S. A decline in interest rates would reduce our interest income on our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. For the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022 and 2021, the effect of an immediate 10% change in interest rates would not have been material to our operating results and the total value of the portfolio assuming
consistent investment levels. Conversely, an increase in interest rates could have a material impact to the fair market value of our investments in fixed income securities. We would
incur unrealized losses on fixed income securities if there is an increase in interest rates compared to interest rates at the time of purchase. A hypothetical 100 basis point increase
in market interest rates would have resulted in a decrease approximately $70.0 million and $39.0 million in the market value of our available-for-sale debt securities and cash
equivalents as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. In the unlikely event we are forced to sell our marketable securities prior to maturity, we may incur realized losses in such
investments. However, because of the conservative and short-term nature of the investments in our portfolio, a change in interest rates is not expected to have a material impact on
our consolidated financial statements.

Strategic Equity Investments

Our non-marketable equity investments in privately-held companies are recorded in “other assets” in our consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2023 December
31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, the total carrying amount of our investments in privately-held companies was $62.3 million $81.3 million and $39.5 million $62.3 million, respectively. For
the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, we recorded a net gain of $13.9 million, $15.8 million and $0, respectively, with respect to these investments. See Note 2. Fair
Value Measurements of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part Il, Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for details.

The privately-held companies in which we invested are in the startup or development stages. These investments are inherently risky because the markets for the
technologies or products these companies are developing are typically in the early stages and may never materialize. We could lose our entire investment in these companies. Our
evaluation of investments in privately-held companies is based on the fundamentals of the businesses invested in, including among other factors, the nature of their technologies
and potential for financial return.

One of our equity investments in a privately-held company completed an initial public offering at the beginning of 2022 and subsequently our investment converted to a
marketable equity security. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company sold all its shares of this security for $23.9 million. The cost of this investment was $3.0 million
and the cumulative gain since inception was $20.9 million, the majority of which has been reflected in prior periods as mark-to-market net gains in Other income, net.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Arista Networks, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Arista Networks, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, the related
consolidated statements of operations,income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated February 12, 2024 February 18, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to
the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex
judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by
communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Inventory Valuation and Contract Manufacturer/Supplier Liabilities

Description of the Matter As discussed in Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost (computed using the first-
in, first-out method) and net realizable value. The Company’s inventory balance totaled $1.9 billion $1.8 billion on December 31, 2023 December 31,
2024. The Company records a provision when inventory is determined to be in excess of anticipated demand, or obsolete, to adjust inventory to its
estimated realizable value. The Company records a contract manufacturer/supplier liability and a corresponding charge for non-cancellable, non-
returnable purchase commitments with contract manufacturers or suppliers for quantities in excess of the Company’s demand forecasts, or that are
considered obsolete.

Auditing management’s assessment of net realizable value for inventory and contract manufacturer/supplier liabilities was complex and highly
judgmental due to the assessment of management’s estimates of forecasted product demand, which can be impacted by changes in overall
customer demand, changes in the timing of the introduction and customer adoption of new products, adjustments to manufacturing and engineering
schedules, and overall general economic and market conditions.

How We Addressed the Matter \yq gptained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the Company's determination of the net

in Our Audit realizable value of inventory and the contract manufacturer/supplier liability. This included controls over the preparation of the demand and
production forecasts, and the evaluation of the accuracy and completeness of the inventory provision and contract manufacturer/supplier liability.

To test the inventory provision and contract manufacturer/supplier liability, we performed audit procedures that included, among others, assessing
the Company’s methodology over the computation of the provision and liability, testing the significant assumptions and the underlying inputs used
by the Company in its analysis including historical sales trends, expectations regarding future sales, changes in the Company'’s business, customer
base and other relevant factors.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2008.
San Mateo, California
February 12, 2024 18, 2025

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Arista Networks, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Arista Networks, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Arista Networks,
Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the
Company as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, and the related notes and our report dated February 12, 2024 February 18,
2025 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company'’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
San Mateo, California
February 12, 2024 18, 2025

ARISTA NETWORKS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Income
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Revenue:

Product $ 5,884,021 $ 5,029,493 $ 3,716,079

Service 1,119,125 830,675 665,231
Total revenue 7,003,146 5,860,168 4,381,310
Cost of revenue:

Product 2,299,063 2,061,167 1,573,629

Service 212,780 168,720 131,985
Total cost of revenue 2,511,843 2,229,887 1,705,614
Gross profit 4,491,303 3,630,281 2,675,696
Operating expenses:

Research and development 996,717 854,918 728,394

Sales and marketing 427,264 399,034 326,955

General and administrative 122,706 119,080 93,241

Total operating expenses 1,546,687 1,373,032 1,148,590

Income from operations 2,944,616 2,257,249 1,527,106
Other income, net 320,418 164,777 54,690
Income before income taxes 3,265,034 2,422,026 1,581,796
Provision for income taxes 412,980 334,705 229,350
Net income $ 2,852,054 $ 2,087,321 $ 1,352,446
Earnings per share (1):

Basic $ 227 $ 169 $ 1.10

Diluted $ 223 % 165 $ 1.07
Weighted-average common shares outstanding (1):

Basic 1,256,303 1,237,417 1,225,891

Diluted 1,281,077 1,268,538 1,265,835

(1) Prior period results have been adjusted to reflect the four-for-one stock split effected in December 2024. See Note 1, Organization and Summary of Accounting Policies, for details.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ARISTA NETWORKS, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except par value)

December 31,

2023 2022
2024 2023
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
CURRENT ASSETS:
CURRENT ASSETS:
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Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Acquisition-related intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Goodwill and acquisition-related intangible assets, net
Deferred tax assets
Other assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable
Accounts payable
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Income taxes payable
Deferred revenue, non-current
Deferred revenue, non-current
Deferred revenue, non-current
Other long-term liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

Commitments and Commitments and
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5) contingencies (Note 5) contingencies (Note 5)
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value—100,000 shares authorized and no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value—100,000 shares authorized and no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value—100,000 shares authorized and no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022

Common stock, $0.0001 par value—1,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2023 and 2022; 312,245 and
306,890 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022

Additional paid-in capital

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value—100,000 shares authorized and no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value—100,000 shares authorized and no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value—100,000 shares authorized and no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023

Common stock, $0.0001 par value—4,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2024 and 2023; 1,261,334 and
1,248,982 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (1)

Additional paid-in capital (1)

Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(1) Prior period results have been adjusted to reflect the four-for-one stock split effected in December 2024. See Note 1, Organization and Summary of Accounting Policies, for details.
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
ARISTA NETWORKS, INC.

Consolid |

1its of Compret
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Net income

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Available-for-sale investments:

Changes in net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities
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Changes in net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities

Changes in net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities

Less: reclassification adjustment for net (gains) losses included in net income
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ARISTA NETWORKS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(In thousands)

Common Common Additional Accumulated Total Common Additional

Stock Stock Paid-  Retained Other Stockholders’ Stock Paid-

In Capital Earnings Comprehensive Equity In Capital

Shares (1) Shares (1) Amount Income (Loss) Shares (1) Retained [6)) St

Balance — December 31, 2020
Balance—December 31, 2021

Net income

Net income

Net income

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax

Stock-based compensation

Issuance of common stock in
connection with employee equity
incentive plans

Repurchase of common stock

Tax withholding paid for net share
settlement of equity awards

Common stock issued for business
combinations

Balance—December 31, 2022
Net income
Net income
Net income

Other comprehensive income, net of
tax

Stock-based compensation

Issuance of common stock in
connection with employee equity
incentive plans

Repurchase of common stock

Tax withholding paid for net share
settlement of equity awards

Common stock issued for business
acquisition
Balance—December 31, 2023
Net income
Net income
Net income
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Stock-based compensation

Issuance of common stock in
connection with employee equity
incentive plans
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Repurchase of common stock

Tax withholding paid for net share
settlement of equity awards

Balance — December 31, 2021
Balance — December 31, 2021
Balance — December 31, 2021

Net income

Net income

Net income

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax

Stock-based compensation

Issuance of common stock in
connection with employee equity
incentive plans

Repurchase of common stock

Tax withholding paid for net share
settlement of equity awards

Common stock issued for business
acquisition
Balance — December 31, 2022
Net income
Net income
Net income

Other comprehensive income, net of
tax

Stock-based compensation

Issuance of common stock in
connection with employee equity
incentive plans

Repurchase of common stock

Tax withholding paid for net share
settlement of equity awards
Common stock issued for business
acquisition
Common stock issued for business
acquisition
Common stock issued for business
acquisition
Balance — December 31, 2023
Balance—December 31, 2024
Balance—December 31, 2024
Balance—December 31, 2024

(1) Prior period results have been adjusted to reflect the four-for-one stock split effected in December 2024. See Note 1, Organization and Summary of Accounting Policies, for details.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ARISTA NETWORKS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
2024 2023 2022
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
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Net income
Net income
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, amortization and other
Depreciation, amortization and other
Depreciation, amortization and other
Noncash lease expense
Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Deferred income taxes
Gain on strategic investments
Amortization (accretion) of investment premiums (discount)
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net
Accounts receivable, net
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Other assets
Accounts payable
Other liabilities
Deferred revenue
Income taxes, net
Net cash provided by operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities
Purchases of marketable securities
Purchases of property, equipment and intangible assets
Cash paid for business combination, net of cash acquired
Investment in notes and privately-held companies
Investment in notes and privately-held companies
Investment in notes and privately-held companies
Other Investing activities
Other Investing activities
Other Investing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under equity plans
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under equity plans
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under equity plans
Tax withholding paid on behalf of employees for net share settlement
Repurchase of common stock
Net cash used in financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH
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NET INCREASE IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH —Beginning of period

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH —End of period

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds

Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds

Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING INFORMATION:
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING INFORMATION:
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING INFORMATION:
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities
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ARISTA NETWORKS, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

Arista Networks, Inc. (together with our subsidiaries, “we,” “our,” "Arista," "Company" or “us”) is a supplier of cloudan industry leader in data-driven, client-to-cloud
networking solutions that use software innovations to address the needs of next-generation for large Al, data center, campus and campus workspace routing environments. Our
cloud networking solutions consist of our EOS, a set of network applications and our Gigabit Ethernet switching and routing platforms. We are incorporated in the state of Delaware.
Our corporate headquarters are located in Santa Clara, California, and we have wholly-owned subsidiaries throughout the world, including North America, Europe, Asia and
Australia.

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Arista Networks, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries and are prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP"). All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

On November 7, 2024, the Company announced a four-for-one forward stock split ("Stock Split") of the Company’s common stock that was effected through the filing of an
amendment to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (“Amendment") on December 3, 2024. The Stock Split proportionately increased the authorized
shares of common stock, and all share and per share amounts presented herein have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the impact of the Stock Split.

Certain reclassifications of prior period amounts were made in the current year to conform to the current period presentation.
Risk and Uncertainties

Global economic and business activities continue to face widespread macroeconomic uncertainties, including inflation, monetary policy shifts, recession risks, and potential
supply chain and other disruptions such as the Russia-Ukraine and Israel-Hamas conflicts, the Houthi attacks on marine vessels in the Red Sea and the U.S. trade war with China.

As we exit 2023, the business is emerging from a period of unprecedented global supply chain disruptions. Throughout this period, we made significant supply chain
investments, including funding additional working capital and incremental purchase commitments in response to extended visibility to deployment plans from our customers. We
have worked closely with our contract manufacturers and supply chain partners to ramp production following a period of delayed component sourcing and workforce disruptions.
This increased capacity has allowed us to ship products against previously committed demand/deployment plans and accelerate some deployments where needed, while trying to
limit building customer inventory and to some extent balancing customer lead times with those currently experienced from our key suppliers. As a result, some shipments against
these previously committed demand/deployment plans have extended into 2024.

As the global supply chain has experienced some improvements and as customer lead times have been reduced from their peak, we have seen and expect to continue to
see a commensurate reduction in visibility to customer demand and a gradual return to shorter demand-planning horizons resulting in lower demand levels. Given these shipment
and order patterns, near term revenue trends may not be solely reflective of current demand levels, but as discussed above will benefit from demand/deployment plans that had
been previously committed. While inventory and working capital levels may remain elevated in the near term, we expect that purchase commitments will continue to decline as
supplier lead times shorten. The larger magnitude of these balances, combined with a reduction in customer demand-planning horizons and shifting customer product priorities, has
resulted in increased risk that we may not be able to sell all of this inventory, which in turn has resulted, and may in the future result, in additional excess and obsolete inventory and
supplier liability charges.

In addition, inflation pressure in our supply chain, scarcity of some materials needed to build our products and disruptions to our manufacturing process have increased our cost
of revenue and have impacted, and may continue to negatively impact our gross margin. Our operating cash-flows have also been and may continue to be negatively impacted by
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significant component inventories on hand or at our contract manufacturers. While we have seen improvements in our supply chain and manufacturing operations, any remaining or
new supply chain and manufacturing related constraints could negatively impact our business in future periods. In addition, although our business has experienced limited disruption
as a result of the Russia-Ukraine conflict, continued escalation of this conflict as well as the Israeli-Hamas conflict and Houthi movement in the Red Sea may negatively impact the
global economy and our future operating results and financial condition.

Management continues to actively monitor the impact of macroeconomic factors on the Company's financial condition, liquidity, operations, suppliers, industry, and workforce. The
extent of the impact of these factors on our operational and financial performance, including our ability to execute our business strategies and initiatives in the expected time frame,
will depend on future developments, the impact on our customers, partners, employees, contract manufacturers and supply chain, all of which continue to evolve and are
unpredictable. In addition, any continued or renewed disruption in manufacturing and supply resulting from these factors could negatively impact our business. We also believe that
some of our customers, following a year of elevated purchases, must now consider changing technology roadmaps and priorities, including the need for the rapid deployment of Al
and related technologies, resulting in some uncertainty as to future investment plans and a more constrained approach to some forecasts and orders in the near term. In addition,
any prolonged economic disruptions or further deterioration in the global economy could have a negative impact on demand from our customers in future periods, particularly in the
enterprise market where we are continuing to expand our penetration. Accordingly, current results and financial conditions discussed herein may not be indicative of future operating
results and trends.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Those estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to, valuation of inventory
and contract manufacturer/supplier liabilities, accounting for income taxes, including the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities, valuation allowance on deferred tax assets
and reserves for uncertain tax positions, revenue recognition and deferred revenue, allowance for doubtful accounts, sales rebates and return reserves, valuation of goodwill and
acquisition-related intangible assets, estimate of useful lives of long-lived assets including intangible assets, and the recognition and measurement of contingent liabilities. We
evaluate our estimates and assumptions based on historical experience and other factors and adjust these estimates and assumptions when facts and circumstances dictate. Actual
results could differ materially from these estimates.

Concentrations of Business and Credit Risk

We work closely with third-party contract manufacturers to manufacture our products. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we had four primary contract
manufacturing partners, who provided the vast majority of our electronic manufacturing services. Our contract manufacturing partners deliver our products to our third-party direct
fulfillment facilities. We and our fulfillment partners then perform labeling, final configuration, quality assurance testing and shipment to our customers. Our products rely on key
components, including certain integrated circuit components and power supplies, some of which our contract manufacturing partners purchase on our behalf from a limited number
of suppliers, including certain sole-source providers. We generally do not have guaranteed supply contracts with our component suppliers, and our manufacturing partners could
delay shipments or cease manufacturing such products or selling them to us at any time. If we are unable to obtain a sufficient quantity of these components on commercially
reasonable terms or in a timely manner, or if we are unable to obtain alternative sources for these components, sales of our products could be delayed or halted entirely, or we may
be required to redesign our products. Quality or performance failures of our products or changes in our contractors’ or vendors’ financial or business condition could disrupt our
ability to supply quality products to our customers. Any of these events could result in lost sales and damage to our end-customer relationships, which would adversely impact our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities, and accounts receivable.
Our cash equivalents and marketable securities are invested in high quality financial instruments with banks and financial institutions. Such deposits may be in excess of insured
limits provided on such deposits.

Our accounts receivable are unsecured and represent amounts due to us based on contractual obligations of our customers. We mitigate credit risk with respect to accounts
receivable by performing ongoing credit evaluations of our customers to assess the probability of collection based on a number of factors, including past transaction experience with
the customer, evaluation of their credit history, the credit limits extended, review of the invoicing terms of the arrangement, and current economic conditions that may affect a
customer’s ability to pay. In situations where a customer may be thinly capitalized and we have limited payment history with it, we will either establish a small credit limit or require it
to prepay its purchases. We generally do not require our customers to provide collateral to support accounts receivable. We have recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts for
accounts receivables that we have determined to be uncollectible. We mitigate credit risk with respect to accounts receivables by performing ongoing credit evaluations of the
borrower to assess the probability of collecting all amounts due to us under the existing contractual terms.

We market and sell our products through both our direct sales force and our channel partners, including distributors, value-added resellers, system integrators and OEM
partners, and in conjunction with various technology partners. Significant customers are those that represent more than 10% of our total net revenue during the period or net
accounts receivable balance at each respective balance sheet date. As of December 31, 2024, we had two resellers who represented 26% and 24% of total accounts receivable. As
of December 31, 2023, we had two customersresellers who represented 28% and 11% of total accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2022, we had two customers who
represented 28% and 16% of total accounts receivable. For the year ended December 31, 2023, there There were two end customers who represented more than 10% of our total
revenue for the years ended 2024, 2023 and 2022. Sales to one end customer represented 15%, 21% and 18% 26% of our total revenue. Forrevenue, and sales to the year ended
December 31, 2022 other end customer represented 20%, there were two end customers who represented 26% 18% and 16% of total revenue. For the year ended December 31,
2021, there was one end customer who represented 15% of our total revenue. revenue for the years ended 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with original or remaining maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash
equivalents consist of cash on deposit with various financial institutions and highly liquid investments in money market funds. Interest is accrued as earned.

Marketable Securities

We classify all highly liquid investments in debt securities with maturities of greater than three months at the date of purchase as marketable securities. We have classified
and accounted for our marketable debt and equity securities as available-for-sale. We determine the appropriate classification of these investments at the time of purchase and
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reevaluate such designation at each balance sheet date. We may or may not hold securities with stated maturities greater than 12 months until maturity. After consideration of our
risk versus reward objectives, as well as our liquidity requirements, we may hold or sell these securities prior to their stated maturities. As we view these securities as available to
support current operations, we classify securities with maturities beyond 12 months as current assets under the caption marketable securities in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. We carry these securities at fair value. For marketable debt securities, we report the unrealized gains and losses, net of taxes, as a component of stockholders’
equity. For marketable equity securities, we report the unrealized gains and losses in other income (expense), net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. We determine the
cost of the debt investment sold based on an average cost basis at the individual security level, and record the interest income in other income, net in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. We determine any realized gains or losses on the sale of marketable securities using the specific identification method, and record such
gains and losses in other income, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. income.

For our debt securities in an unrealized loss position, we determine whether a credit loss exists by considering, among other factors, current market conditions, credit quality
of debt issuers, any changes to the rating of the security by a rating agency, and the extent to which fair value is less than cost. We would recognize an allowance for credit losses,
up to the amount of the unrealized loss when appropriate, and write down the amortized cost basis of the investment if it is more likely than not we will be required to sell or we
intend to sell the investment before recovery of its amortized cost basis.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount, net of allowances for doubtful accounts, sales rebates and returns reserves. accounts. We estimate our allowance
for doubtful accounts based upon the collectability of the receivables in light of historical trends, reasonable and supportable information of our customers' economic conditions that
may affect our customers’ ability to pay, and prevailing economic conditions. This evaluation is done in order to identify issues that may impact the collectability of receivables and
related estimated required allowance. Revisions to the allowance are recorded as an adjustment to bad debt expense. After appropriate collection efforts are exhausted, specific
accounts receivable deemed to be uncollectible are charged against the allowance in the period they are deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of accounts receivable previously
written-off are recorded as credits to bad debt expense. We primarily estimate our sales rebates and returns reserves based on historical rates applied against current period
billings. Specific customer returns, rebates and allowances are considered when determining our estimates. Revisions to sales rebate and return reserves are recorded as
adjustments to revenue.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or an exit price that would be paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous
market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. We apply fair value accounting for all financial assets and liabilities
that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis. These assets and liabilities include cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities,
accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities. Cash equivalents,

accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities are stated at carrying values in our consolidated financial statements, which approximate their fair value due to the
short-term nature of these instruments.

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are categorized based upon the level of judgment
associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value. We use a fair value hierarchy to measure fair value, maximizing the use of observable inputs and minimizing the use of
unobservable inputs. The three-tiers of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

Level I—Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date;

Level ll—Inputs are observable, unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, unadjusted quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities
in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the related assets or liabilities;
and

Level Ill—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market data for the related assets or liabilities and typically reflect management’s estimate of assumptions
that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

Foreign Currency
The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is either the U.S. dollar or their local currency depending on the nature of the subsidiaries’ activities.

Transaction re-measurement - Assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than a subsidiary’s functional currency are re-measured into the subsidiary's functional
currency using exchange rates in effect at the end of the reporting period, with gains and losses recorded in other income, net in the consolidated statements of operations. income.
To date, foreign currency transaction gains and losses and exchange rate fluctuations have not been material to our consolidated financial statements.

Translation - Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries denominated in foreign functional currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at the closing exchange rate on the balance
sheet date and equity-related balances are translated at historical exchange rates. Revenues, costs and expenses in foreign functional currencies are translated using average
exchange rates that approximate those in effect during the period. Translation adjustments are recorded within accumulated other comprehensive income, a separate component of
total stockholders’ equity.

Inventory Valuation and Contract Manufacturer/Supplier Liabilities
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Inventories primarily consist of finished goods, including evaluation inventory held at customers or partners, and strategic components, primarily integrated circuits.
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (computed using the first-in, first-out method) and net realizable value. Evaluation inventory consists of new products and/or use cases at
customer or partner sites for trial purposes. Title to the inventory remains with Arista during the trial period and invoicing occurs only upon completion of the trial period and when/if
the products have been accepted by the customer. Manufacturing overhead costs and inbound shipping costs are included in the cost of inventory. We record a provision when
inventory is determined to be in excess of anticipated demand, or obsolete, to adjust inventory to its estimated realizable value. For the years ended December 31, 2023 December
31, 2024, 20222023 and 2021,2022, we recorded charges of $234.4 million $267.2 million, $71.4 million $234.4 million and $61.8 million $71.4 million, respectively, within cost of
product revenue for inventory write-downs.

Our contract manufacturers procure components and assemble products on our behalf and we procure strategic components from suppliers based on our forecasts. We
record a liability and a corresponding charge for non-cancellable, non-returnable purchase commitments with our contract manufacturers or and suppliers for quantities in excess of
our demand forecasts or that are considered obsolete due to manufacturing and engineering change orders resulting from design changes. For the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022, we recorded charges of $113.0 million and $43.7 million, respectively, within cost of product revenue for such liabilities with our contract manufacturers and suppliers. For
the year ended December 31, 2021,

December 31, 2024, we did not incur any losses onrecorded a credit of $74.3 million within cost of product revenue related to such liabilities. liabilities, which was driven by a
reduction in the liability due to the receipt of excess components that were previously reserved. We subsequently assessed the realizable value of such components upon inventory
receipt.

We use significant judgment in establishing our forecasts of future demand and obsolete material exposures. These estimates depend on our assessment of current and
expected orders from our customers, product development plans and current sales levels. In addition, when industry-wide supply chain shortages resulted in extended lead times for
components, we were required to extend the time horizon of our demand forecasts and increase our purchase commitments for long lead time components. As customer lead times
reduce more broadly, we have seen and expect to continue to see a commensurate reduction in visibility to customer demand and a gradual return to shorter demand-planning
horizons resulting horizons. Although the global supply chain has shown improvement, we have had to invest in lower demand levels. While inventory to address forecast
uncertainty and working capital levels may remain elevated in the near term, we expect that our inventory and purchase commitments will continue to decline remain volatile as
supplier lead times shorten. we ramp new product introductions. There is, however, no guarantee that all suppliers will meet their commitments in the time frame committed or that
actual customer demand will directly match our demand forecasts. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, which may be caused by
factors within and/or outside of our control, we may be required to increase our inventory write-downs and liabilities to our contract manufacturers and suppliers, which could have
an adverse impact on our gross margins and profitability. We regularly evaluate our exposure for inventory write-downs and adequacy of our contract manufacturer and supplier
liabilities.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation, except for land which is not depreciated. We capitalize any additions and improvements and
expense maintenance and repairs as incurred. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, generally three years.
Our leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the improvements or the remaining lease term.

Leases

We lease office space, data centers, and equipment under non-cancellable operating leases with various expiration dates through 2029.2031. We determine if an
arrangement contains a lease at inception. Operating leases are recorded as right-of-use (“ROU") assets and lease liabilities, and are included in other assets and other current and
non-current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. We do not have any finance leases in any of the periods presented.

ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of remaining lease payments over the lease term. The interest rate
implicit in our operating leases is not readily available, and therefore, an incremental borrowing rate is estimated based on a hypothetical interest rate on a collateralized basis with
similar terms, payments, and economic environments. ROU assets also include any prepaid lease payments and lease incentives.

Our operating lease agreements may contain rent concession, rent escalation, and option to renew provisions. Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
lease term commencing on the date we have the right to use the leased property. Our lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain
that the option will be exercised. In addition, certain of our operating lease agreements contain tenant improvement allowances from landlords. These allowances are accounted for
as lease incentives and decrease our right-of-use asset and reduce lease expense over the lease term.

Our lease agreements may contain lease and non-lease components, which are combined and accounted for as a single lease component. We also have elected to apply
the short-term lease measurement and recognition exemption in which ROU assets and lease liabilities are not recognized for leases with terms of 12 months or less.

Business Combinations

We use the acquisition method to account for our business combinations in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 805 - Business Combinations. We
allocate the total fair value of purchase consideration to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. The excess of the
consideration transferred over the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. The results of operations of the acquired businesses are
included in our consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. Acquisition-related transaction and restructuring costs are expensed as incurred.
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During the measurement period, which is not to exceed one year from the acquisition date, we may record adjustments to the acquired assets and liabilities assumed, with a
corresponding offset to goodwill or the preliminary purchase price, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. Upon
the conclusion of the measurement period, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to earnings.

Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired in a business combination. The Company has one reporting unit and tests
goodwill for impairment at least annually in the fourth quarter or more frequently if indicators of potential impairment exist. We first perform a qualitative assessment to determine
whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of our reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If the reporting unit does not pass the qualitative assessment, a quantitative
test is performed by comparing the fair value of our reporting unit with its carrying amount. We would recognize an impairment loss for the amount by which the carrying amount
exceeds the fair value. There

were no impairment charges in any of the periods presented in the consolidated financial statements. See Note 4. Acquisition, Goodwill and Acquisition-Related Intangible Assets
for additional information.

Acquired intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. All acquired intangible assets have been determined to have definite lives and are amortized
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, ranging from three to eight years. Acquired intangible assets are reviewed for impairment under the long-lived asset model
described below. There were no impairment charges in any of the periods presented in the consolidated financial statements. See Note 4. Acquisition, Goodwill and Acquisition-
Related Intangible Assets for additional information.

Equity Investments in Privately-Held Companies

Our equity investments in privately-held companies without readily determinable fair values are measured using the measurement alternative, defined by ASC 321 -
Investments-Equity Securities as cost, less impairments, and remeasured based on observable price changes from orderly transactions of identical or similar securities of the same
issuer. Any adjustments resulting from impairments and/or observable price changes are recorded within other income, net, in our consolidated statements of operations. income.
This election is reassessed each reporting period to determine whether investments in privately-held companies have a readily determinable fair value, in which case they would no
longer be eligible for this election. The Company did not hold investments in privately-held companies whose fair value was readily determinable as of December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022. 2023.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Investments in Privately-Held Companies

The carrying amounts of our long-lived assets, including property and equipment, intangible assets, ROU assets and investments in privately-held companies, are
periodically reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these
assets is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of each asset to the future undiscounted cash flows the asset is expected to generate over its remaining life. If the asset is
considered to be impaired, the amount of any impairment is measured as the difference between the carrying value and the fair value of the impaired asset. No impairment of any
long-lived assets was identified for any of the periods presented in the consolidated financial statements.

Loss Contingencies

In the ordinary course of business, we are a party to claims and legal proceedings including matters relating to commercial, employee relations, business practices and
intellectual property. In assessing loss contingencies, we use significant judgments and assumptions to estimate the likelihood of loss, impairment of an asset or the incurrence of a
liability, as well as our ability to reasonably estimate the amount of loss. We record a provision for contingent losses when it is both probable that an asset has been impaired or a
liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. We record a charge equal to the minimum estimated liability for litigation costs or a loss
contingency only when both of the following conditions are met: (i) information available prior to issuance of our consolidated financial statements indicates that it is probable that a
liability had been incurred at the date of the financial statements, and (ii) the range of loss can be reasonably estimated. We regularly evaluate current information available to us to
determine whether such accruals should be adjusted and whether new accruals are required.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from sales of our products, which incorporate our EOS software and accessories such as cables and optics, to direct customers and channel partners
together with post-contract customer support (“PCS”). We typically sell products and PCS in a single contract. We recognize revenue upon transfer of control of promised products
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to receive in exchange for those products or services. We apply the following five-step
revenue recognition model:

« Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer

« Identification of the performance obligations in the contract

« Determination of the transaction price

« Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

* Recognition of revenue when (or as) we satisfy the performance obligation
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Post-Contract Customer Support ("PCS")

PCS, which includes technical support, hardware repair and replacement parts beyond standard warranty, bug fixes, patches and unspecified upgrades on a when-and-if-
available basis, is offered under renewable, fee-based contracts. We initially defer PCS revenue and recognize it ratably over the life of the PCS contract as there is no discernible
pattern of delivery related to these promises. We do not provide unspecified upgrades on a set schedule and address customer requests for technical support if and when they
arise, with the related expenses recognized as incurred. PCS contracts generally have a term of one to three years. We include billed but unearned PCS revenue in deferred
revenue.

Contracts with Multiple Performance Obligations

Most of our contracts with customers, other than renewals of PCS, contain multiple performance obligations with a combination of products and PCS. Products and PCS
generally qualify as distinct performance obligations. Our hardware includes EOS software, which together deliver the essential functionality of our products. For contracts that
contain multiple performance obligations, we allocate revenue to each distinct performance obligation based on the standalone selling price ("SSP"). Judgment is required to
determine the SSP for each distinct performance obligation. We use a range of amounts to estimate SSP for products and PCS sold together in a contract to determine whether
there is a discount to be allocated based on the relative SSP of the various products and PCS.

If we do not have an observable SSP, such as when we do not sell a product or service separately, then SSP is estimated using judgment and considering all reasonably
available information such as gross margin, market conditions and information about the size and/or purchase volume of the customer. We generally use a range of amounts to
estimate SSP for individual products and services based on multiple factors including, but not limited to product category, actual and expected volume, discounting policies, and end
customer vertical and size.

We limit the amount of revenue recognition for contracts containing forms of variable consideration, such as future performance obligations, customer-specific returns, and
acceptance or refund obligations. We defer revenue recognition on customer contracts for new products or use cases, which contain customer-specified requirements that must be
met prior to acceptance. We include some or all of an estimate of the related at-risk consideration in the transaction price only to the extent that it is probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recorded under each contract will not occur when the uncertainties surrounding the variable consideration are resolved.

Most of our contracts with customers have standard payment terms of 30 days and the remainder generally between 30 to 90 days. We have determined our contracts
generally do not include a significant financing component because the Company and the customer have specific business reasons other than financing for entering into such
contracts. Specifically, both we and our customers seek to ensure the customer has a simplified way of purchasing Arista products and services.

We account for multiple contracts with a single partner as one arrangement if the contractual terms and/or substance of those agreements indicate that they may be so
closely related that they are, in effect, parts of a single contract.

We may occasionally accept returns to address customer satisfaction issues even though there is generally no contractual provision for such returns. We estimate returns

for sales to customers based on historical return rates applied against current-period shipments. Specific customer returns and allowances are considered when determining our
sales return reserve estimate.

Our policy applies to the accounting for individual contracts. However, we have elected a practical expedient to apply the guidance to a portfolio of contracts or performance
obligations with similar characteristics so long as such application would not differ materially from applying the guidance to the individual contracts (or performance obligations)
within that portfolio. Consequently, we have chosen to apply the portfolio approach when possible, which we do not believe will happen frequently. Additionally, we will evaluate a
portfolio of data, when possible, in various situations, including accounting for commissions, rights of return and transactions with variable consideration.

We report revenue net of sales taxes. We include shipping charges billed to customers in revenue and the related shipping costs are included in cost of product revenue.

We account for customer sales rebates as a reduction to revenue and accrue for such rebates based on the amount that is earned and expected to be claimed
by customers.

Contract Balances

A contract asset is recognized when we have a contractual right to consideration for both completed and partially completed performance obligations that have not yet been
invoiced. Contract assets are included in other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

A contract liability is recognized when we have received customer payments in advance of our satisfaction of a performance obligation under a contract that is cancellable.
Contract liabilities are included in other current liabilities and other long-term liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Research and Development Expenses

Costs related to the research, design and development of our products are charged to research and development expenses as incurred. Software development costs are
capitalized beginning when a product’s technological feasibility has been established and ending when the product is available for general release to customers. Generally, our
products are released soon after technological feasibility has been established. As a result, costs incurred subsequent to achieving technological feasibility have not been significant
and accordingly, all software development costs have been expensed as incurred.

Segment Reporting

We develop, market and sell cloud networking solutions, which primarily consist of our switching and routing platforms and related network applications, and there are no
segment managers who are held accountable for operations or operating results below the Company level. Our chief operating decision maker is our President, Chief Executive
Officer and Chairperson of the Board, who reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial
performance. Accordingly, we have determined that we operate as one reportable segment.
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Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation cost for equity awards is measured at the grant-date fair value using appropriate valuation techniques and recognized as expense over the
requisite service or performance period. We account for forfeitures when they occur.

Stock-based compensation costs for stock options and restricted stock units ("RSUs") are recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is
generally two to five years. The Company has granted RSUs that vest upon the satisfaction of both service-based and performance-based conditions ("PRSUs"). The service-based
condition for these awards is generally satisfied over one to four years. The performance-based conditions are satisfied upon achieving specified performance targets, such as
financial or operating metrics. We record stock-based compensation expense for performance-based equity awards on an accelerated attribution method over the requisite service
period, and only if performance-based conditions are considered probable to be satisfied.

See Note 6. Stockholders' Equity and Stock-Based Compensation for a detailed discussion of the Company’s stock plans, assumptions to the valuation techniques, and
stock-based compensation expense.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense is an estimate of current income taxes payable in the current fiscal year based on reported income before income taxes. Deferred income taxes reflect
the effect of temporary differences and carryforwards that we recognize for financial reporting and income tax purposes.

We account for income taxes under the liability approach for deferred income taxes, which requires recognition of deferred income tax assets and liabilities for the expected
future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our consolidated financial statements, but have not been reflected in our taxable income. Estimates and judgments
occur in the calculation of certain tax liabilities and in the determination of the recoverability of certain deferred income tax assets, which arise from temporary differences and
carryforwards. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using the currently enacted tax rates that apply to taxable income in effect for the years in which those tax
assets are expected to be realized or settled. We regularly assess the likelihood that our deferred income tax assets will be realized based on the positive and negative evidence
available. We record a valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax assets to the amount that we are more likely than not to realize.

We believe that we have adequately reserved for our uncertain tax positions, although we can provide no assurance that the final tax outcome of these matters will not be
materially different. To the extent that the final tax outcome of these matters is different than the amounts recorded, such differences will affect the provision for income taxes in the
period in which such determination is made and could have a material impact on our financial condition and results of operations. The provision for income taxes includes the effects
of any reserves that we believe are appropriate, as well as the related net interest and penalties.

We regularly review our tax positions and benefits to be realized. We recognize tax liabilities based upon our estimate of whether, and to the extent to which, additional
taxes will be due when such estimates are more likely than not to be sustained. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being
sustained. We recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters as income tax expense.

The U.S. tax rules require U.S. tax on foreign earnings, known as global intangible low taxed income (“GILTI"). Under U.S. GAAP, we are allowed to make an accounting
policy choice of either (1) treating taxes due on future U.S. inclusions in taxable income related to GILTI as a current-period expense when incurred (the “period cost method”) or (2)
factoring such amounts into a company’s measurement of its deferred taxes (the “deferred method”). We selected the deferred method of accounting and recorded the associated
basis differences anticipated to influence prospective GILTI calculations.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280)-Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. The ASU requires that an entity
disclose significant segment expenses impacting profit and loss that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker. The update is required to be applied retrospectively
to prior periods presented, based on the significant segment expense categories identified and disclosed in the period of adoption. The amendments in this ASU are required to be
adopted for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023. Early adoption is permitted. We have
adopted ASU 2023-07 for the year ended December 31, 2024. The adoption of this new standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. For more
information regarding the adoption, see Note 9, Segment and Geographical Information for the inclusion of the new required disclosures.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Effective

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740)-Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. The ASU requires that an entity disclose specific
categories in the effective tax rate reconciliation as well as provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold. Further, the ASU requires certain
disclosures of state versus federal income tax expense and taxes paid. The amendments in this ASU are required to be adopted for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024.
Early adoption is permitted for annual financial statements that have not yet been issued. The amendments should be applied on a prospective basis although retrospective
application is permitted. we have
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not early adopted ASU 2023-09 for December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024. We are currently evaluating the impact of future adoption on our financial disclosures.

In November 2023, 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280)-Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. No. 2024-03, Disaggregation
of Income Statement Expenses (Subtopic 220-40). The ASU requires that an entity disclose significant segment expenses impacting profit and loss that are regularly provided to the
chief operating decision maker. The update is required to be applied retrospectively to prior periods presented, based on the significant segment disaggregated disclosure of specific
expense categories, identified including purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, and disclosed inamortization, within relevant income statement captions.
This ASU also requires disclosure of the period total amount of adoption. selling expenses along with the definition of selling expenses. The amendments in this ASU are required to
be adopted is effective for fiscal years annual periods beginning after December 15, 2023 December 15, 2026, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2024 December 15, 2027. Adoption of this ASU can either be applied prospectively to consolidated financial statements issued for reporting periods after the effective date of this
ASU or retrospectively to any or all prior periods presented in the consolidated financial statements. Early adoption is also permitted. We have not early adopted This ASU 2023-07
forwill likely result in the year ended December 31, 2023. required additional disclosures being included in our consolidated financial statements, once adopted. We are currently
evaluating the impact provisions of future adoption on our financial disclosures. this ASU.

2. Fair Value Measurements
Assets measured at fair values on a recurring basis

We measure and report our cash equivalents, restricted cash, and available-for-sale marketable securities at fair value on a recurring basis. The following tables summarize the
fair value of these financial assets by significant investment category and their levels within the fair value hierarchy (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Level | Levell = Levelll Levellll Total Levell  Levelll Levellll Total Levell Levelll Levellll Total Levell Levelll Levellll Total
Financial Assets:
Cash Equivalents:
Cash Equivalents:
Cash Equivalents:
Money market funds
Money market funds
Money market funds
Commercial paper
Agency securities
U.S. government notes
1,015,705
1,738,879
Marketable Securities:
Certificates of deposits (1)
Certificates of deposits (1)
Commercial paper
Commercial paper
Commercial paper
Certificates of deposits ()
U.S. government notes
Corporate bonds
Agency securities
Marketable equity securities()
1,044,859
1,921,490
Other Assets:
Money market funds - restricted
Money market funds - restricted

Money market funds - restricted
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Money market funds - restricted cash
Money market funds - restricted cash
Money market funds - restricted cash

Total Financial Assets

(1) As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, , all of our certificates of deposits were domestic deposits.

(2) During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company sold all its shares of its marketable equity security for $23.9 million. This publicly-traded equity investment
generated an unrealized gain of $4.8 million and $10.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The initial cost of this investment was $3.0 million with
no changes since our initial investment. The cumulative gain from the initial purchase was $20.9 million, the majority of which has been reflected in prior periods as net unrealized
gains. The realized and unrealized gains/losses are included in Other income (expense), net on the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. Refer to Note 3.
Financial Statements Details.

During the year ended on December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the Company did not make any transfers between the levels of the fair value hierarchy.

Marketable debt securities

The following table summarizes the amortized cost, unrealized gains and losses, and fair value of our debt securities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Amortized Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Cost Gains Losses Value Cost Gains Losses Value Cost Gains Losses Value Cost Gains Losses Value
uU.s.
government
u.s.
government
Commercial
paper
u.s.
government
Corporate
bonds
Agency
securities
Total
For debt securities in unrealized loss positions, it is not likely that we will be required to sell such securities before recovery of their amortized cost basis nor do we have the
intent to sell such securities before maturity; we invest in debt securities that have maximum maturities of two three years and are generally deemed to be low risk based on their
credit ratings from the major rating agencies. The longer the duration of these marketable securities, the more susceptible they are to changes in market interest rates and bond
yields. Given the short-term and conservative nature of our portfolio, the unrealized losses are not subject to credit risk; therefore, we did not recognize any credit losses or non-
credit-related impairments related to our available-for-sale marketable debt securities for the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, December 31, 2022 December

31, 2023 and December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022. All unrealized losses were recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). Realized losses were immaterial for the years
ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022.

The following table is an analysis of our marketable debt securities in unrealized loss positions (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024
Unrealized Losses Unrealized Losses Unrealized Losses 12 Unrealized Losses Unrealized Losses 12
within 12 months within 12 months months or greater Total within 12 months months or greater Total
Fair Fair Fair  Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Fair Value Value Unrealized Losses Value Unrealized Losses Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Value Losses
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u.s.
government
notes

Corporate
bonds

Agency
securities
Total

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we had no marketable debt securities with contractual maturities that exceed 24 36 months. The fair values of marketable
debt securities, by remaining contractual maturities, are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 2024

Due in 1 year or less $ 1,627,7802,749,020
Due in 1 year through 23 years 1,436,582 2,792,096
Total marketable securities $ 3,064,3625,541,116

The weighted-average remaining duration of our marketable debt securities is approximately 0.9 1.1 years as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024.

Assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis

Non-Marketable Equity Securities

We have non-marketable equity securities in privately-held companies that do not have readily-determinable fair values. Their initial cost is adjusted to fair value on a non-
recurring basis based on observable price changes from orderly transactions of identical or similar securities of the same issuer, or for impairment. These investments are classified
within Level Il of the fair value hierarchy as we estimate the value based on valuation methods using the observable transaction price at the transaction date and other significant
unobservable inputs, such as volatility, rights, and obligations related to these securities. In addition, the valuation requires management judgment due to the absence of market
price and lack of liquidity.

We did not record any realized gains for our non-marketable equity securities during the three years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021. 2022.
We recorded immaterial amounts of realized unrealized gains, unrealized and unrealizedrealized losses during the three years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024,
20222023 and 2021. Unrealized gains for our non-marketable equity securities are summarized below (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Unrealized gains on non-marketable equity securities () $ 13,901 $ 16,731 $ =
(1) These 2022. The unrealized gains were recorded on investments that were re-measured to fair value as of the date observable transactions occurred.

We evaluate our non-marketable equity securities for impairment at each reporting period via a qualitative assessment with various potential impairment indicators, including, but not
limited to, an assessment of a significant adverse change in the economic environment, significant adverse changes in the general market condition of the geographies and
industries in which our investees operate, and other publicly-available information that may affect the value of the non-marketable equity securities.

The following table summarizes the activity related to our non-marketable equity securities as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31,
2023 (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Cost of investments ()

Cumulative impairment and downward adjustments
Cumulative upward adjustments

Carrying amount of investments (included in other assets)

(1) During the year ended December 31, 2023, we had an $8.0 million convertible note previously included in other assets, plus accrued interest of $0.6 million,
that was converted to an equity investment and included in cost of investment
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3. Financial Statements Details

3
(1]
3
3
)
g |

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2024 2023

Raw materials

Finished goods1)

Total inventories
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets (1) The balance as of December 31, 2024 includes evaluation inventory held at customers or partners of $422.1 million. Evaluation inventory as of December 31, 2023 was not
material.

Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment, net consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2024 2023
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Land
Equipment and machinery
Computer hardware and software
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements
Construction-in-process
Construction-in-process
Construction-in-process

Property and equipment, gross
Less: accumulated depreciation

Property and equipment, net

Depreciation expense was $31.7 million $34.0 million, $25.6 million $31.7 million and $19.5 million $25.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024,
2023 and 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

2023 2022

2024 2023
Accrued compensation-related costs
Supplier liability
Accrued manufacturing costs
Accrued product development costs
Other
Other
Other

Total accrued liabilities

Contract Liabilities, Deferred Revenue and Other Performance Obligations
Contract Liabilities

A contract liability is recognized when we have received customer payments in advance of our satisfaction of a performance obligation under a cancellable contract. The
following table summarizes the activity related to our contract liabilities (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

2024 2023
Contract liabilities, beginning balance
Less: Revenue recognized from beginning balance
Less: Beginning balance reclassified to deferred revenue
Add: Contract liabilities recognized
Contract liabilities, ending balance

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, $65.7 million and $59.2 million and $45.2 million, respectively, of our contract liabilities were recorded within
other current liabilities with the remaining balance recorded within other long-term liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Deferred Revenue
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Deferred revenue is comprised mainly of unearned service revenue related to annual and multi-year PCS contracts, and product deferrals related to contracts with
acceptance clauses. The following table summarizes the activity related to our deferred revenue (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

2024 2023
Deferred revenue, beginning balance
Less: Revenue recognized from beginning balance
Add: Deferral of revenue in current period, excluding amounts recognized during the period

Deferred revenue, ending balance

Other Performance Obligations

Other performance obligations totaling $704.1 $450.4 million as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 include unbilled multi-year PCS and service contract amounts of
$336.4 million $388.8 million and $367.7 $61.6 million of binding contractual agreements with certain customers that are primarily related to future product shipments.

Revenue from Total Remaining Performance Obligations

Total revenue from our contract liabilities, deferred revenue and other performance obligations that willis expected to be recognized in future periods amounts to $2.3 billion.
Included in this amount is the $367.7 millionwas $3.4 billion as of binding contractual agreements related primarily to future product shipments that are expected to be recognized
as revenue over the next eighteen months. In addition, approximately 79% of the remaining $2.0 billion December 31, 2024. Approximately 85% of this future revenue is expected to
be recognized over the next two years and approximately 21% the remaining 15% is expected to be recognized during the third to the fifth year.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net consists of the following (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

2024 2023 2022

Other income (expense), net:
Interest income
Interest income
Interest income
Gain (loss) on strategic investments
Gain (loss) on strategic investments
Gain (loss) on strategic investments
Other income (expense)
Other income (expense)
Other income (expense)

Total other income, net

4. Acquisition, Goodwill and Acquisition-Related Intangible Assets

Acquisitions and Goodwill

We had no material business acquisitions during the yearyears ended December 31, 2023. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we completed two acquisitions of private
companies for total consideration of $158.9 million, including $4.0 million in common stock December 31, 2024 and the remainder in cash. The purchase prices included
$62.3 million of intangible assets, $77.5 million of goodwill and $19.1 million of net tangible assets acquired. We also incurred certain acquisition-related expenses of $4.7 million,
which primarily consisted of retention bonuses to continuing employees as well as professional and consulting fees. 2023.

The intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, as we believe this method most closely reflects the pattern in which the

economic benefits of the assets will be consumed. The following table sets forth the components of identifiable intangible assets acquired and their estimated useful lives as of the
date of acquisition (in thousands, except years):
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Weighted Average
Estimated Useful Life (in

Acquisition Date Fair Value years)
Developed technology $ 30,200 5.7
Customer relationships 28,700 7.0
Trade name 3,400 3.0
Total intangible assets acquired $ 62,300

The purchase price allocation for the two acquisitions have been finalized. No There were no material changes were made to the purchase price allocation for the year
ended December 31, 2023.

Goodwill

The changes in the carrying values of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022 are as follows (in thousands):

Amount
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 188,397
Additions related to current year acquisitions 85,048
Measurement-period adjustments (7,521)
Balance at December 31, 2022 265,924
Additions related to current year acquisition 2,607
Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 268,531

2023. The Company performed an annual qualitative test for goodwill impairment in the fourth quarter of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and
20222023 and determined that goodwill was not impaired.

Acquisition-Related Intangible Assets
The following table presents details of our acquisition-related intangible assets as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 20222023 (in thousands, except for

years):

Gross Carrying Amount Gross Carrying Amount Accumulated Amortization Net Carrying Amount

December 31,
2022

December 31,
2023

Developed technology

Developed technology

Developed technology ~ $154,930 $ $— $ $154,930 $ $(79,036) $ $(23,457) $ $ (102,493) $ $ 75,894 $ $52,437 4.0

Customer  Customer

relationships relationships 54,620 — — 54,620 54,620  (14,097) (14,097) (7,700) (7,700) (21,797) (21,797) 40,523 40,523 32,823

Trade name Trade name 12,390 — — 12,390 12,390 (6,602) (6,602) (2,280) (2,280) (8,882) (8,882) 5,788 5,788 3,508
Total Total $221,940 $ $— $ $221,940 $ $(99,735) $ $(33,437) $ $ (133,172) $ $122,205 $ $88,768 4o

Amortization expense related to acquisition-related intangible assets was $26.8 million, $33.4 million $33.7 million and $29.2 $33.7 million for the years ended December
31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively.

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, future estimated amortization expense related to the acquired-related intangible assets is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31, Years Ending December 31, Future Amortization Expense Years Ending December 31, Future Amortization Expense

2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
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Thereafter
2029
Total
Total
Total

5. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

We lease various offices and data centers in North America, Europe, Asia and Australia under non-cancellable operating lease arrangements that expire on various dates
through 2029. 2031. Some of our leases include options to extend the term of such leases for a period from three months to up to 10 years and/or options to early terminate the
leases. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we did not include any such options in determining the lease terms because we were not reasonably certain that we would

exercise these options.

The following table summarizes the supplemental balance sheet information related to our operating leases (in thousands):

Right-of-use assets:

Operating lease right-of-use assets (included in other assets)

Lease liabilities:

Operating lease liabilities, current (included in other current liabilities)

Operating lease liabilities, non-current (included in other long-term liabilities)

Total operating lease liabilities

The following table summarizes our lease costs (in thousands):

Operating lease costs:
Fixed lease costs

Variable lease costs

Total operating lease costs

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2022

$ 55,890 $ 53,390
21,106 19,878

44,413 43,964

$ 65,519 $ 63,842

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

$ 23541 % 24,134
9,717 8,682

$ 33,258 $ 32,816

The operating lease costs in the table above include costs for long-term and short-term leases. Total short-term lease costs were immaterial. Fixed lease costs include
expenses recognized for base rent payments on a straight-line basis. Variable lease costs primarily include maintenance, utilities and operating expenses that are incremental to the
fixed base rent payments, and are excluded from the calculation of operating lease liabilities and ROU assets. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, cash paid for
amounts associated with our operating lease liabilities were approximately $22.7 million and $23.9 million, respectively, which were classified as operating activities in the

accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows.

Right-of-use assets:

Operating lease right-of-use assets (included in other assets)

Lease liabilities:

Operating lease liabilities, current (included in other current liabilities)

Operating lease liabilities, non-current (included in other long-term liabilities)

Total operating lease liabilities

December 31, 2024

December 31, 2023

$ 51,956

22,143
37,499

55,890

21,106
44,413

$ 59,642

65,519

Maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 are presented in the table below (in thousands):

Years ending December 31,
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
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2029 and thereafter 159

Total undiscounted operating lease payments (excluding non-lease components) 71,997

Less: imputed interest (6,478)

Present value of operating lease payments as of December 31, 2023 $ 65,519
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Other information:

Weighted-average remaining lease term — operating leases 3.4 years 4.2 years
Weighted-average discount rate — operating leases 5.4% 5.1%
Years ending December 31, Amount
2025 $ 24,704
2026 16,766
2027 12,238
2028 8,063
2029 2,695
2030 and thereafter 841
Total undiscounted operating lease payments (excluding non-lease components) 65,307
Less: imputed interest (5,665)
Present value of operating lease payments as of December 31, 2024 $ 59,642

Purchase Commitments

We outsource most of our manufacturing and supply chain management operations to third-party contract manufacturers, who procure components and assemble products
on our behalf. A significant portion of our purchase orders to our contract manufacturers for finished products consists of non-cancellable purchase commitments. In addition, we
purchase strategic component inventory from certain suppliers under non-cancellable purchase commitments, including integrated circuits, which are consigned to our contract
manufacturers. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we had non-cancellable purchase commitments not recorded on our balance sheet of $1,586.7 million, $3.1 billion, of
which $1,547.2 million $2.8 billion have confirmed receipt dates within 12 months, and $39.5 million $0.3 billion have confirmed receipt dates greater than 12 months. These open
purchase orders are considered enforceable and legally binding, and while we may have some limited ability to reschedule, and adjust our requirements based on our business
needs prior to the delivery of goods or performance of services, this can only occur with the agreement of the related supplier.

We also had deposits to our contract manufacturers to secure our purchase commitments in the amount of $133.3 million $95.8 million and $192.5 million $133.3 million as

of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022,2023, respectively, which were recorded within prepaid expenses and other current assets, as well as other assets in the
consolidated balance sheets.

Property project

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we purchased land and the improvements thereon in Santa Clara, California to construct a building for office, lab and data
center space. The estimated capital expenditures related to this project is expected to be approximately $235.0 million to $260.0 million through December 31, 2026 at which time
construction is expected to be completed.

Guarantees

We have entered into agreements with some of our direct customers and channel partners that contain indemnification provisions relating to potential situations where
claims could be alleged that our products infringe the intellectual property rights of a third-party. We have, at our option and expense, the ability to repair any infringement, replace
product with a non-infringing equivalent-in-function product or refund our customers all or a portion of the value of the product. Other guarantees or indemnification agreements
include guarantees of product and service performance and standby letters of credit for leased facilities and corporate credit cards. We have not recorded a liability related to these
indemnification and guarantee provisions, and our guarantee and indemnification arrangements have not had any material impact on our consolidated financial statements to date.

Legal Proceedings

WSOQOU Investments, LLC
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On November 25, 2020, WSOU Investments LLC ("WSOU") filed a lawsuit against us in the Western District of Texas asserting that certain of our products infringe three WSOU
patents. WSOU's allegations are directed to certain features of our wireless and switching products. WSOU seeks remedies including monetary damages, attorney's fees and costs.
On February 4, 2021, we filed an answer denying WSOU's allegations. On November 5, 2021, the case was transferred to the Northern District of California. On March 30, 2022,
WSOU dismissed one of the patents with prejudice, removing Arista wireless products from those accused of infringement. On July 1, 2022, the court stayed the case pending the
resolution of an inter partes review of one of the patents-in-suit. On May 30, 2023, the US Patent Trial and Appeal Board (“PTAB”) ruled all challenged claims in the inter partes
review unpatentable. The district court case remains stayed pending appeal and/or final resolution of the PTAB ruling.

We intend to vigorously defend against the claims brought against us by WSOU; however, we cannot be certain that any of WSOU's claims will be resolved in our favor,
regardless of the merits of those claims. Any adverse litigation ruling could result in a significant damages award against us and injunctive relief.

With respect to the legal proceedings described above, it is our belief that while a loss is not probable, it may be reasonably possible. Further, at this stage in the litigation, any
possible loss or range of loss cannot be estimated; however, the outcome of litigation is inherently uncertain. Therefore, if this legal matter were resolved against us in a reporting
period for a material amount, our consolidated financial statements for that reporting period could be materially adversely affected.

Other matters

In the ordinary course of business, we are a party to other claims and legal proceedings including matters relating to commercial, employee relations, business practices and
intellectual property.

We record a provision for contingent losses when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. As of December
31, 2023 December 31, 2024, provisions recorded for contingent losses related to other claims and matters have not been significant. Based on currently-available information,
management does not believe that any additional liabilities relating to other unresolved matters are probable or that the amount of any resulting loss is estimable, and believes these
other matters are not likely, individually and in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows; however, litigation is
subject to inherent uncertainties and our view of these matters may change in the future. Were an unfavorable outcome to occur, there exists the possibility of a material adverse
impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows for the period in which the unfavorable outcome occurs, and potentially in future periods.

6. Stockholders' Equity and Stock-Based Compensation

Stock Repurchase Program

In October 2021, April 2024, we completed repurchases under our previous $1.0 billion stock repurchase program (the “Prior Repurchase Program”). In May 2024, our
board of directors authorized a $1.0 new $1.2 billion stock repurchase program (the “Repurchase “New Repurchase Program” and together with the Prior Repurchase Program, the
"Repurchase Programs")., which expires in May 2027. This authorization allows us to repurchase shares of our common stock that will be funded from working capital. The
Repurchase Program expires in the fourth quarter of 2024. Repurchases may be made at management’s management's discretion from time to time on the open market, through
privately negotiated transactions, transactions structured through investment banking institutions, block purchases, 10b5-1 trading plans under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), or a combination of the foregoing. The Repurchase Program does Programs do not obligate us to acquire any of our
common stock, and may be suspended or discontinued by usthe company at any time without prior notice. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we repurchased a total of
$279.0 million of our common stock under our New Repurchase Program and $144.6 million of our common stock under our Prior Repurchase Program. As of December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024, the remaining authorized amount for stock repurchases under this programthe New Repurchase Program was approximately $144.5 million $921.0
million.

A summary of the stock repurchase activities for the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 20222023 is as follows, as adjusted to give effect to the
Stock Split (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

2024 2023
Aggregate purchase price
Shares repurchased

Average price paid per share

The aggregate purchase price of repurchased shares of our common stock is recorded as a reduction to retained earnings in our consolidated statements of stockholders'
equity. All shares repurchased have been retired.

2014 Equity Incentive Plan

In April 2014, our board of directors and stockholders approved the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”), effective on the first day that our
common stock was publicly traded, and simultaneously terminated the 2004 and 2011 equity plans as to future grants. However, these plans will continue to
govern the terms and conditions of the outstanding options previously granted thereunder.
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Awards granted under the 2014 Plan could be in the form of Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”), Nonstatutory Stock Options (“NSOs”), Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”),
Restricted Stock Awards (“RSAs”) or Stock Appreciation Rights (“SARs”). The number of shares available for grant and issuance under the 2014 Plan increases automatically on
January 1 of each year commencing with 2016 by the number of shares equal to 3% of the outstanding shares of our common stock on the immediately preceding December 31,
but not to exceed 50 million shares (the “2014 Plan Evergreen Increase”), unless the board of directors, in its discretion, determines to make a smaller increase. Effective January 1,
20230n April 16, 2024, our board of directors authorizedadopted an increase amended and restated Arista Networks, Inc. 2014 Equity Plan ("Restated Plan"), effective April 17,
2024 ("Effective Date") subject to the approval of 9.2 million shares our stockholders, which was approved at the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders on June 7, 2024.

The Restated Plan provides for future issuance the grant of equity-based awards, including stock options, restricted stock units, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, and
performance awards. The share pool available under the prior version of the Company's 2014 Equity Incentive Plan ("Prior Plan") was extinguished, and the Restated Plan provides
for a new share pool not to exceed (i) 52,800,000 shares of our Common Stock (“Shares”), plus (ii) any Shares subject to awards under the Prior Plan that, on or after the Effective
Date, expired or otherwise terminated without having been exercised in full, or that were forfeited to or repurchased by us, including net settlement of Shares subject to restricted
stock units, with the maximum number of Shares to be added to the Restated Plan as a result of clause (ii) equal to 40,158,628 Shares. The Restated Plan’s terms are substantially
similar to the Prior Plan’s terms, including with respect to treatment of equity awards in the event of a “change in control” as defined under the Restated Plan, but with certain
modifications, including the elimination of the automatic “evergreen” share reserve increase provided for under the Prior Plan. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, there
remained approximately 95.3 million 52.4 million shares available for issuance grant under the 2014 Plan. Restated Plan, as adjusted to give effect to the Stock Split.

2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In April 2014, the board of directors and stockholders approved the 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP" (‘ESPP”). The ESPP became effective on the first day
that our common stock was publicly traded. The number of shares reserved for issuance under the ESPP increases automatically on January 1 of each year by the number of
shares equal to 1% of our shares outstanding immediately preceding December 31, but not to exceed 1040 million shares, unless the board of directors, in its discretion, determines
to make a smaller increase. Effective January 1, 2023 January 1, 2024, our board of directors authorized an increase of 3.1 million 12.5 million shares, as adjusted to give effect to
the Stock Split, for future issuance under the ESPP. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, there remained 23.4 million 104.9 million shares available for issuance under the
ESPP. Furthermore, in February, 2024, our board of directors authorized an increase of 3.1 million shares for future issuance under the ESPP effective January 1, 2024.

Under our ESPP, eligible employees are permitted to acquire shares of our common stock at 85% of the lower of the fair market value of our common stock on the first
trading day of each offering period or on the exercise date. Each offering period lasts approximately two years starting on the first trading date after February 15 and August 15 of
each year, and includes purchase dates every six months on or after February 15 and August 15 of each year. Participants may purchase shares of common stock through payroll
deductions up to 10% 15% of their eligible compensation, subject to Internal Revenue Service mandated purchase limits.

During the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we issued 279,498 1.12 million shares at an average purchase price of $105.69 $29.08 per share under our
ESPP.ESPP, as adjusted to give effect to the Stock Split.

Stock Option Activities

The following table summarizes the option activities and related information, as adjusted to give effect to the Stock Split (in thousands, except years and per share
amounts):

Number of Number of Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Shares Shares Average Average ber of d Average
Underlying Underlying Exercise Remaining  Aggregate Shares Average Remaining  Aggregate
Outstanding Outstanding Price per Contractual Intrinsic Underlying Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Options Options Share Term (In Years) Value Outstanding Options Price per Share Term (In Years) Value

Balance—December 31, 2022
Balance—December 31, 2023

Options granted

Options exercised

Options exercised

Options exercised

Options canceled

Options canceled

Options canceled
Balance—December 31, 2023
Balance—December 31, 2023
Balance—December 31, 2023

Vested and exercisable—December 31,
2023

Balance—December 31, 2024
Balance—December 31, 2024
Balance—December 31, 2024

Vested and exercisable—December 31,
2024

We did not grant any stock options during the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 20222023 and 2021.2022. The aggregate intrinsic value of options
exercised during the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $495.1 million, $525.3 million and 2021 was $525.3 million, $311.7 million and
$410.9 million, respectively. The total fair value of options vested for the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 20212022 was approximately $8.7
million $5.6 million, $16.6 million $8.7 million and $25.3 million $16.6 million, respectively.
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Restricted Stock Unit (RSU) Activities

The following table summarizes the RSU activities and related information, as adjusted to give effect to the Stock Split (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Weighted- Weighted-
Number of Number of Average Grant Number of Average Grant
Shares Shares Date Fair Value Per Share Shares Date Fair Value Per Share

Unvested balance—December 31, 2022
Balance—December 31, 2023

RSUs and PRSUs granted

RSUs and PRSUs vested

RSUs and PRSUs forfeited/canceled
Unvested balance—December 31, 2023
Unvested balance—December 31, 2024

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted during the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $72.61, $39.49 and 2021
was $157.94, $101.35 and $93.18 $25.34 per share, respectively. respectively, as adjusted to give effect to the Stock Split. The total fair value of RSUs vested for the years ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021 2022 was approximately $225.5 million $251.8 million, $174.0 million $225.5 million, and $120.4 million $174.0 million,
respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The following table summarizes the stock-based compensation expense related to our equity awards (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

2024 2023 2022
Cost of revenue
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation
Determination of Fair Value

We record stock-based compensation awards based on fair value as of the grant date. We value RSUs at the market close price of our common stock on the grant date. For
option awards and ESPP offerings, we use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine fair value. We recognize such costs as compensation expense generally on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award.

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, there were $733.7 million $1.0 billion of unrecognized compensation costs related to all unvested awards. The unamortized
compensation costs are expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 3.44.2 years.

7. NetIncome Per Share

Basic net income per share is computed using the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share is
computed using the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period, including potential common shares assuming the dilutive effect of
outstanding stock options, restricted stock units, and the employee stock purchase plan using the treasury stock method. Potential common shares whose effect would have been
antidilutive are excluded from the computation of diluted net income per share. The following table sets forth the computation of our basic and diluted net income per share

attributable to common stockholders, as adjusted to give effect to the Stock Split (in thousands, except per share amounts):
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

2024 2023 2022

Net income
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding
Add weighted-average effects of dilutive securities:

Stock options and RSUs

Stock options and RSUs

Stock options and RSUs

Employee stock purchase plan

Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding
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Net income per share:
Basic
Basic
Basic
Diluted
The following weighted-average outstanding shares of common stock equivalents were excluded from the computation of diluted net income per share attributable to

common stockholders because their effects would have been anti-dilutive for the periods presented, as adjusted to give effect to the Stock Split (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

2024 2023 2022
Stock options and RSUs
Employee stock purchase plan

Total

8. Income Taxes

The components of income before provision for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

2024 2023 2022
Domestic
Foreign

Income before income taxes

The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

2024 2023 2022
Current provision for income taxes:
Federal
Federal
Federal
State
Foreign
Total current
Deferred tax expense (benefit):
Federal
Federal
Federal
State
Foreign
Total deferred tax expense (benefit)
Total provision for income taxes

The reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate and our effective income tax rate is as follows (in percentages):
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
2024 2023 2022
U.S. federal statutory income tax  U.S. federal statutory income tax U.S. federal statutory income tax
rate rate 21.00 % 21.00 % 21.00 % 4¢e 21.00 % 21.00 % 21.00 %
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State tax, net of federal benefit

Taxes on foreign earnings
differential

Tax credits

Change in valuation allowance
Stock-based compensation
Stock-based compensation
Stock-based compensation
Acquisition and integration costs

Other, net

Effective tax rate Effective tax rate 13.81 % 14.50 % 9.67 % Effective tax rate 12.65 % 13.81 % 14.50 %

The change in our effective tax rate was due to a favorable change in state taxes and tax benefits attributable to stock-based compensation and the reduction of
unrecognized tax benefits as a result of lapse of the applicable statute of limitation in 2023.compensation. Excess tax benefits resulting from stock awards were $151.2
million $212.3 million, $93.5 million $151.2 million and $105.8 million $93.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 20222023 and 2021, respectively.
The reduction of unrecognized tax benefits due to expiration of statute of limitations were immaterial for the three years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022
Deferred tax assets:
Intangible assets $ 322,325 $ 355,521
Reserves and accruals not currently deductible 120,973 63,517
Deferred revenue 295,268 182,594
Tax credits 118,123 100,284
Lease financing obligation 15,485 15,072
Capitalized research and development expenses 417,095 228,946
Stock-based compensation 28,079 25,480
Net operating losses 34,274 29,469
Other 1,328 8,721
Gross deferred tax assets 1,352,950 1,009,604
Valuation allowance (146,268) (132,689)
Total deferred tax assets 1,206,682 876,915
Deferred tax liabilities:
US tax on foreign earnings (245,074) (286,625)
Right of use asset (12,935) (12,383)
Other (2,881) (3,037)
Total deferred tax liabilities (260,890) (302,045)
Net deferred tax assets $ 945,792 $ 574,870

The following table presents the breakdown between non-current

December 31,

2024 2023
Deferred tax assets:
Intangible assets $ 273,867 $ 322,325
Reserves and accruals not currently deductible 135,167 120,973
Deferred revenue 566,273 295,268
Tax credits 130,188 118,123
Lease financing obligation 13,719 15,485
Capitalized research and development expenses 634,534 417,095
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Stock-based compensation 38,631 28,079

Net operating losses 25,916 34,274
Other 3,593 1,328
Gross deferred tax assets 1,821,888 1,352,950
Valuation allowance (179,789) (146,268)
Total deferred tax assets 1,642,099 1,206,682

Deferred tax liabilities:

US tax on foreign earnings (189,823) (245,074)
Right of use asset (11,571) (12,935)
Other (287) (2,881)
Total deferred tax liabilities (201,681) (260,890)

Net deferred tax assets $ 1,440,418 $ 945,792

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, $1.4 billion and $0.9 billion were recorded as deferred tax assets, non-current respectively. We did not have any balance related to
deferred tax liabilities as of December 31, 2024 and liabilities (in thousands):

December 31,
2023 2022
Deferred tax assets, non-current $ 945,792 $ 574,912
Deferred tax liabilities, non-current — (42)
Total net deferred tax assets $ 945,792 $ 574,870

2023.

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we had $246.5 $225.1 million and $137.6 $120.6 million of net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state income tax
purposes, respectively, from acquisitions. These federal and state losses will begin to expire in 2028 and 2029, respectively. We do not have any material foreign net operating
losses.

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, our federal, state and foreign tax credit carryforwards for income tax purposes before valuation allowances were
approximately $2.8$238.4 million, $217.3 million and $1.2 million, respectively. Our federal tax credit will begin to expire in 2038, and our foreign tax credit will begin to expire in
2034, while our state tax credits which can be carried over indefinitely. We have provided a valuation allowance of $146.3 $179.8 million for deferred tax assets, primarily related to
state and foreign tax credit carryforwards that we do not believe are more likely than not to be realized.

Utilization of the net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards may be subject to limitations due to ownership change limitations provided in the Internal Revenue
code Code and similar state or foreign provisions.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enacted on December 22, 2017 U.S. tax law generally requires U.S. shareholders of a Transition Tax on previously untaxed accumulated and
current controlled foreign earnings. corporation (“CFC”) to include the annual earnings of foreign subsidiaries into U.S. taxable income each year. Correspondingly, allmost of the
undistributed earnings are deemed to be previously taxed for U.S. tax purposes and distributions of the unremitted earnings do not have any significant U.S. federal income tax
impact. We have not provided for any remaining tax effect, if any, of limited outside basis differences of our foreign subsidiaries based upon plans of future reinvestment. The
determination of the future tax consequences of the remittance of these earnings is not practicable.

Uncertain Tax Positions

We recognize uncertain tax positions only to the extent that management believes that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained. The reconciliation of the
beginning and ending amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021 2022 is as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

2024 2023 2022
Gross unrecognized tax benefits—beginning balance
Increases related to tax positions taken in a prior year
Increases related to tax positions taken during current year
Decreases related to tax positions taken in a prior year
Decreases related to lapse of statute of limitations

Decreases related to settlements with taxing authorities

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 83/152

©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Gross unrecognized tax benefits—ending balance

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 20222023 and 2021, 2022, the total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits was $163.3 million $181.5 million, $137.4
million $163.3 million and $114.8 million $137.4 million, respectively, of which $90.0 million $103.4 million, $79.3 million $90.0 million and $60.9 million $79.3 million would affect our
effective tax rate if recognized.

Our policy is to recognize interest and penalties accrued on any unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. For the years ended December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, the net expense for interest and penalties and the recognized liability for interest and penalties were not material.

The statute of limitations for Federal and most states remains open for 2017, 2020 2021 and forward. Some states have net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, and
therefore remain open to examination. The majority of our Our foreign tax returns, where the statute of limitations have not yet lapsed, are open to audit under the statute of
limitations of in the respective foreign countries where the subsidiaries are located. It is possible that the amount of existing gross unrecognized tax benefits may decrease within the
next 12 months as a result of statute of limitation lapses or payments to tax authorities in certain jurisdictions. However, any such changes are not anticipated to be material.

9. Segment and Geographical Information

We operate as one reportable segment. The accounting policies of the reportable segment are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting
policies. The financial information reviewed by the CODM reflects quarterly and year-to-date operating results, with a primary focus on revenue, gross margin, operating margin and
net income as reported on the consolidated statements of income. Consolidated financial information is used by the CODM to evaluate performance and make decisions regarding
resource allocation and other strategic initiatives. This consolidated financial information is also what is used to establish and approve operating budgets and forecasts. The
measure of segment assets is reported on the consolidated balance sheets in total. There was no change for each of the periods presented in the measurement methods used to
determine reported segment profit and loss.

The CODM reviews the following significant segment expenses, which are presented separately on the Company’s consolidated statements of income: cost of product, cost
of services, selling and marketing expenses, general and administrative expenses, and research and development expenses. Other segment items that are included in the
calculation of the Company’s net income include other income (expense), net, which is further described in Note 3. Financial Statements Details and income taxes, which is further
described in Note 8. Income Taxes. Other segment disclosures such as depreciation and amortization and stock-based compensation are disclosure in the Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows.

The following table represents revenue based on customers' shipping addresses (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Americas() $ 4,651,193 $ 3,462,621 $ 2,156,183
Europe, Middle East and Africa 670,960 529,800 486,836
Asia Pacific 538,015 388,889 305,018
Total revenue $ 5,860,168 $ 4,381,310 $ 2,948,037

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Americas() $ 5,729,039 $ 4,651,193 $ 3,462,621
Europe, Middle East and Africa 713,175 670,960 529,800
Asia Pacific 560,932 538,015 388,889
Total revenue $ 7,003,146 $ 5,860,168 $ 4,381,310

(1) Includes $5,663.0 million, $4,541.5 million $3,424.8 million and $2,125.9 $3,424.8 million revenue generated from the U.S. for the three years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024,
2022 2023 and 2021,2022, respectively
Long-lived assets, excluding intercompany receivables, investments in subsidiaries, investments in privately-held companies and deferred tax assets, net by location are

summarized as follows (in thousands):
December 31,

2023 2022
2024 2023
United States
International
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Total

10. Post-Employment Benefits

We have a 401(k) Plan that covers substantially all of our employees in the U.S. Effective January 1, 2017, we have elected to match 100% of employees' contributions up
to a maximum of 3% of an employee's annual salary. Matching contributions are immediately vested. For the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
and 2021, the amounts we contributed approximately $13.1 million, $12.4 million and $9.8 million for the matching contributions respectively.

were not material.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) and our Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act,
means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include,
without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, our CEO and CFO concluded that, as of such date, our
disclosure controls and procedures are designed at a reasonable assurance level and are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our CEO and CFO, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Securities
and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Controls

Our management, including our CEO and CFO, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal controls over financial reporting will prevent or
detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control
system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if
any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur
because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management
override of the controls. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance
that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may
occur and not be detected.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of our principal executive and principal financial officers to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.
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Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our
management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could
have a material effect on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate. Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, based on the framework set forth
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013 framework). Based on that assessment,
management concluded that, as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, its internal control over financial reporting was effective to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the independent
registered public accounting firm that audits our Consolidated Financial Statements, as stated in their report included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which expresses
an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024.

Item 9B. Other Information
Securities Trading Plans of Directors and Executive Officers

During our last fiscal quarter, the following directors and officer, as defined in Rule 16a-1(f), adopted a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” as defined in Regulation S-K Item
408, as follows:

On December 5, 2023, Ita Brennan, our Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, modified the Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement previously adopted June 8, 2023
providing for the sale from time to time of an aggregate of up to 58,000 shares of our common stock to adjust scheduled sales dates as a result of her planned departure from the
Company. The trading arrangement is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense in Rule 10b5-1(c). The duration of the trading arrangement is until September 8, 2024, or earlier if
all transactions under the trading arrangement are completed.

On December 14, 2023 December 13, 2024, Jayshree Ullal, our Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement providing for the sale
from time to time of an aggregate of of: (i) up to 538,270 7,349,668 shares of our common stock. stock; and (ii) a number of shares of our common stock that may be earned in
connection with grants of performance-based restricted stock units, which cannot be determined at this time. The trading arrangement is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense
in Rule 10b5-1(c). The duration of the trading arrangement is until March 14, 2025, or earlier if all transactions under the trading arrangement are completed.

On December 14, 2023, Anshul Sadana, our Chief Operating Officer, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement providing for the sale from time to time of an aggregate of
up to 126,861 shares of our common stock. The trading arrangement is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense in Rule 10b5-1(c). The duration of the trading arrangement is until
March 13, 2025 April 17, 2026, or earlier if all transactions under the trading arrangement are completed.

No other officers or directors, as defined in Rule 16a-1(f), adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or a “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as
defined in Regulation S-K Item 408, during the last fiscal quarter.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not Applicable.

PART il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance

Information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2024 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2024 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2024 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2024 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
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Information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2024 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
Documents filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are as follows:
1. Consolidated Financial Statements
Our Consolidated Financial Statements are listed in the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” under Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
2. Financial Statement Schedules

Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not required, not applicable, not present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or
the required information is shown in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the following Exhibit Index are filed or incorporated by reference into this report:

EXHIBIT INDEX
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Number Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Filed Herewith
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant. 10-Q 001-36468 3.1 8/8/2014
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Arista Networks, Inc. dated December 18, 2023 8-K 001-36468 3.1 12/20/2023
4.1 Form of the Registrant's common stock certificate. S-1/A 333-194899 4.1 4/21/2014
4.2 Description of Registrant’s securities registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act u
10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and each of its directors and 10-Q 001-36468 10.1 11/1/2019
executive officers.
10.2 2004 Equity Incentive Plan. S-1 333-194899 10.2 3/31/2014
103 1 2011 Equity Incentive Plan. S-1 333-194899 10.3 3/31/2014
10.4 2014 Equity Incentive Plan. S-1/A 333-194899 10.4 5/27/2014
105t 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. 10-K 001-36468 10.5 3/12/2015
10.6 T Offer Letter, dated October 17, 2004, by and between the Registrant and Kenneth Duda. S-1 333-194899 10.6 3/31/2014
10.7 t Offer Letter, dated June 8, 2007, by and between the Registrant and Anshul Sadana. S-1 333-194899 10.7 3/31/2014
10.8 t Offer Letter, dated August 1, 2008, by and between the Registrant and Jayshree Ullal. S-1 333-194899 10.8 3/31/2014
109 t Offer Letter, dated March 27, 2013, by and between the Registrant and Charles Giancarlo. S-1 333-194899 10.9 3/31/2014
10.11 Lease between Arista Networks, Inc. and The Irvine Company LLC, dated August 10, 2012, S-1 333-194899 10.15 3/31/2014
as amended on February 28, 2013.
10.12 Second Amendment to Lease, by and between Arista Networks, Inc. and The Irvine 10-Q 001-36468 10.1 8/8/2014
Company LLC, dated July 30, 2014.
10.13 License Agreement, dated November 30, 2004, by and between the Registrant and S-1 333-194899 10.16 3/31/2014
OptumSoft, Inc.
10.14% Manufacturing Services Letter Agreement, dated February 5, 2007, between the Registrant S-1 333-194899 10.17 3/31/2014
and Jabil Circuit, Inc.
10.15 Employee Incentive Plan. S-1/A 333-194899 10.21 4/21/2014
10.16 T Offer Letter, dated May 18, 2015, by and between the Registrant and Ita Brennan. 8-K 001-36468 10.1 5/14/2015
10.17 t Severance Agreement, effective May 18, 2015, by and between the Registrant and Ita 8-K 001-36468 10.2 5/14/2015
Brennan.
10.18 2015 Global Sales Incentive Plan. 10-Q 001-36468 10.3 5/5/2016
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000135027814000011/ex31amendedandrestatedcert.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653223000349/bylaws_revisedxproxyacce.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514149636/d639957dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653219000230/ex101indemnificationag.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex103.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514178074/d639957dex104.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653215000004/ex1052014employeestockpurc.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex106.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex107.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex108.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex109.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex1015.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000135027814000011/ex101secondamendmenttolease.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex1016.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex1017.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514149636/d639957dex1021.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653215000008/ex101q12015.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653215000008/ex102q12015.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653216000255/ex1032015globalsalesincent.htm

10.19 Offer letter, dated January 2, 2013, by and between the Registrant and Marc Taxay. 10-Q 001-36468 10.1 5/8/2017

10.20 T Severance Agreement, dated March 30, 2015, by and between the Registrant and Marc 10-Q 001-36468 10.2 5/8/2017
Taxay.

10.21 Offer letter, dated February 14, 2017, by and between the Registrant and John McCool. 10-Q 001-36468 10.3 5/8/2017

10.22 Severance Agreement, dated March 20, 2017, by and between the Registrant and John 10-Q 001-36468 10.4 5/8/2017
McCool.

10.23 Term Sheet of Mutual Release and Settlement Agreement, dated August 6, 2018, between 10-Q 001-36468 10.1 11/5/2018
the Registrant and Cisco Systems, Inc.

10.24 Mutual Release and Settlement Agreement, dated August 6, 2018, by and between the 10-K 001-36468 10.24 2/15/2019
Registrant and Cisco Systems, Inc.

10.25 Awake Security, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan S-8 333-249591 99.1 10/22/2020

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Number Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Filed Herewith

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant. 10-Q 001-36468 3.1 8/8/2014

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Arista Networks, Inc. dated December 18, 2023 8-K 001-36468 3.1 12/20/2023

3.3 Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the 8-K 001-36468 3.1 12/3/2024
Regjistrant

4.1 Form of the Registrant's common stock certificate. S-1/A 333-194899 4.1 4/21/2014

4.2 Description of Registrant’s securities registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act u

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and each of its directors and 10-Q 001-36468 10.1 11/1/2019
executive officers.

10.2 t 2004 Equity Incentive Plan. S-1 333-194899 10.2 3/31/2014

10.3 t 2011 Equity Incentive Plan. S-1 333-194899 10.3 3/31/2014

10.4 t 2014 Equity Incentive Plan. u

105t 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. u

10.6 T Offer Letter, dated October 17, 2004, by and between the Registrant and Kenneth Duda. S-1 333-194899 10.6 3/31/2014

10.7 t Offer Letter, dated June 8, 2007, by and between the Registrant and Anshul Sadana. S-1 333-194899 10.7 3/31/2014

10.8 Offer Letter, dated August 1, 2008, by and between the Registrant and Jayshree Ullal. S-1 333-194899 10.8 3/31/2014

109 t Offer Letter, dated March 27, 2013, by and between the Registrant and Charles Giancarlo. S-1 333-194899 10.9 3/31/2014

10.11 Lease between Arista Networks, Inc. and The Irvine Company LLC, dated August 10, 2012, S-1 333-194899 10.15 3/31/2014
as amended on February 28, 2013.

10.12 Second Amendment to Lease, by and between Arista Networks, Inc. and The Irvine 10-Q 001-36468 10.1 8/8/2014
Company LLC, dated July 30, 2014.

10.13 License Agreement, dated November 30, 2004, by and between the Registrant and S-1 333-194899 10.16 3/31/2014
OptumSoft, Inc.

10.14% Manufacturing_Services Letter Agreement, dated February 5, 2007, between the Registrant S-1 333-194899 10.17 3/31/2014
and Jabil Circuit, Inc.

10.15 Employee Incentive Plan. S-1/A 333-194899 10.21 4/21/2014

10.16 T Offer Letter, dated May 18, 2015, by and between the Registrant and Ita Brennan. 8-K 001-36468 10.1 5/14/2015

10.17 1 Severance Agreement, effective May 18, 2015, by and between the Registrant and Ita 8-K 001-36468 10.2 5/14/2015
Brennan.

10.18 1 2015 Global Sales Incentive Plan. 10-Q 001-36468 10.3 5/5/2016

10.19 Offer letter, dated January 2, 2013, by and between the Registrant and Marc Taxay. 10-Q 001-36468 10.1 5/8/2017

10.20 Severance Agreement, dated March 30, 2015, by and between the Registrant and Marc 10-Q 001-36468 10.2 5/8/2017
Taxay.

10.21 1 Offer letter, dated February 14, 2017, by and between the Registrant and John McCool. 10-Q 001-36468 10.3 5/8/2017

10.22 1 Severance Agreement, dated March 20, 2017, by and between the Registrant and John 10-Q 001-36468 10.4 5/8/2017
McCool.

10.23 Term Sheet of Mutual Release and Settlement Agreement, dated August 6, 2018, between 10-Q 001-36468 10.1 11/5/2018
the Registrant and Cisco Systems, Inc.

10.24 Mutual Release and Settlement Agreement, dated August 6, 2018, by and between the 10-K 001-36468 10.24 2/15/2019
Registrant and Cisco Systems, Inc.
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653217000088/ex101marctaxay-offerletter.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653217000088/ex102marctaxay-severanceag.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653217000088/ex103johnmccool-offerletter.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653217000088/ex104johnmccool-severancea.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653218000233/ex101termsheetofciscosettl.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653219000027/ex1024_mutualreleaseandset.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312520273780/d77296dex991.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000135027814000011/ex31amendedandrestatedcert.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653223000349/bylaws_revisedxproxyacce.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653224000402/amendmenttotheamendedandre.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514149636/d639957dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653219000230/ex101indemnificationag.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex103.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex106.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex107.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex108.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex109.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex1015.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000135027814000011/ex101secondamendmenttolease.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex1016.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514122171/d639957dex1017.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000119312514149636/d639957dex1021.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653215000008/ex101q12015.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653215000008/ex102q12015.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653216000255/ex1032015globalsalesincent.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653217000088/ex101marctaxay-offerletter.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653217000088/ex102marctaxay-severanceag.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653217000088/ex103johnmccool-offerletter.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653217000088/ex104johnmccool-severancea.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653218000233/ex101termsheetofciscosettl.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596532/000159653219000027/ex1024_mutualreleaseandset.htm

10.25

Exhibit Number

Awake Security, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan

Description

333-249591 GOKI 10/22/2020

Incorporated by Reference

10.26

10.27

10.28
211
231
241

311

31.2

32.1*

97.1
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
104.0

Third Amendment to Lease, by and between Arista Networks, Inc. and The SANTA CLARA
GATEWAY | LLC, dated February 1, 2023

List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting_Firm.
Power of Attorney (contained on signature page hereto)

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Compensation Recovery Policy

XBRL Instance Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

Cover Page Interactive File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

File No. Exhibit Filing Date Filed Herewith
001-36468 10.1 2/13/2023
001-36468 10.1 12/1/2023

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Number Description File No. Exhibit Filing Date Filed Herewith

10.26 Third Amendment to Lease, by and between Arista Networks, Inc. and The SANTA CLARA 001-36468 10.1 2/13/2023
GATEWAY | LLC, dated February 1, 2023

10.27 Letter Agreement by and between the Company and Chantelle Breithaupt, dated October 001-36468 10.1 12/1/2023
15,2023

10.28 Form of Severance Agreement by and between the Company and Chantelle Breithaupt 001-36468 10.28 2/13/2024

10.29** Consulting Agreement between the Company and Anshul Sadana, dated May 21, 2024 u

19.0 Insider Trading Policy. u

21.1 List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant. u

231 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. u

24.1 Power of Attorney (contained on signature page hereto) U

311 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 1}
Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley u
Act of 2002.

32.1* Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. u
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

97.1 Compensation Recovery Policy. 001-36468 97.1 2/13/2024

101.INS XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
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101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

104.0 Cover Page Interactive File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

T Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
$ Confidential treatment has been requested for portions of this exhibit. These portions have been omitted and have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

** Certain information contained in this exhibit has been redacted pursuant to Iltem 601(a)(6) of Regulation S-K.

* The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K are not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by
reference into any filing of Arista Networks, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this

Annual Report on Form 10-K, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ARISTA NETWORKS, INC.

(Registrant)
Dated: February 12, 2024 18, 2025 By: /s/ JAYSHREE ULLAL
Jayshree Ullal
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairperson of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Jayshree Ullal and Ita Brennan, Chantelle
Breithaupt, jointly and severally, his or her attorney-in-fact, with the power of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his or her substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated:
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Signature Title Date

/sl JAYSHREE ULLAL President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairperson of the February 12, 2024 18, 2025
Board (Principal Executive Officer)

Jayshree Ullal

Is/ ITA BRENNAN CHANTELLE BREITHAUPT Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting and Financial February 12, 2024 18, 2025
Ita Brennan Chantelle Breithaupt Officer) (Senior Vice President)
/s/ KENNETH DUDA February 12, 202418, 2025

Chief Technology Officer, Senior Vice President, Director
Kenneth Duda

Is/ KELLY BATTLES . February 12, 2024 18, 2025
Director
Kelly Battles
/sl LEWIS CHEW ) February 12, 2024 18, 2025
Director
Lewis Chew
/sl CHARLES GIANCARLO . February 12, 2024 18, 2025
Director

Charles Giancarlo

/s DAN SCHEINMAN . February 12, 2024 18, 2025
Director
Dan Scheinman
/sl MARK TEMPLETON . February 12, 2024 18, 2025
Director

Mark Templeton

/sl YWVONNE WASSENAAR . February 12, 2024 18, 2025
Director

Yvonne Wassenaar
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Exhibit 4.2
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following description of the capital stock of Arista Networks, Inc. (“us,” “our,” “we” or the “Company”) is a summary of the rights of our capital stock and summarizes
certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws. This summary does not purport to be complete and is qualified in
its entirety by the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and 2004 Rights Agreement, copies of which have been filed as
exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as to the applicable provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

Our authorized capital stock consists of 1,100,000,000 4,100,000,000 shares, with a par value of $0.0001 per share, of which:

« 1,000,000,0004,000,000,000 shares are designated as common stock; and

¢ 100,000,000 shares are designated as preferred stock.
Common Stock

The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders and do not have cumulative voting rights. Accordingly,
holders of a majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote in any election of directors may elect all of the directors standing for election. Subject to preferences that may be
applicable to any preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of outstanding shares of common stock are entitled to receive ratably any dividends declared by our board of
directors out of assets legally available. Upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of our common stock are entitled to share ratably in all assets remaining after
payment of liabilities and the liquidation preference of any then outstanding shares of preferred stock. Holders of common stock have no preemptive or conversion rights or other
subscription rights. There are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to the common stock.

Preferred Stock

Pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our board of directors has the authority, without further action by the stockholders, to issue, from time to
time, up to 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series. Our board of directors may designate the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of the preferred
stock, including dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, redemption rights, liquidation preference, sinking fund terms and the number of shares constituting any series or the
designation of any series. The issuance of preferred stock could have the effect of restricting dividends on the common stock, diluting the voting power of the common stock,
impairing the liquidation rights of the common stock or delaying, deterring or preventing a change in control. Such issuance could have the effect of decreasing the market price of
the common stock.

Registration Rights—2004 Rights Agreement

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 91/152
©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Certain holders of shares of our common stock or their permitted transferees are entitled to rights with respect to the registration of these shares under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). These rights are provided under the terms of a rights agreement dated October 16, 2004 between us and the holders of these shares (the
“2004 Rights Agreement”) and include demand registration rights, short-form registration rights and piggyback registration rights.

The registration rights provided for in the 2004 Rights Agreement terminate seven (7) years following the completion of our initial public offering or, with respect to any
particular stockholder, at such time that such stockholder can sell all of its registrable securities during any three-month period pursuant to Rule 144 of the Securities Act or the
registrable securities of such stockholders represent less than one percent of our outstanding capital stock.

Demand Registration Rights

Certain holders of shares of our common stock or their permitted transferees, are entitled to demand registration rights pursuant to the 2004 Rights Agreement. Under the
terms of the 2004 Rights Agreement, we will be required, upon the written request of holders of at least 50% of the shares that are entitled to registration rights under the 2004
Rights Agreement with respect to a registration with an anticipated aggregate offering price, before any underwriting discounts and commissions, in excess of $25.0 million, to
register, as soon as practicable, all or a portion of these shares for public resale. We are required to effect only one registration pursuant to this provision of the rights agreement.
Depending on certain conditions, however, we may defer such registration for up to 90 days twice in any 12-month period. We are not required to

effect a demand registration earlier than 180 days after the effective date of this offering. If the holders requesting registration intend to distribute their shares by means of an
underwriting, the underwriters of such offering will have the right to limit the number of shares to be underwritten for reasons related to the marketing of the shares.

Short-Form Registration Rights
Certain holders of shares of our common stock or their permitted transferees are also entitled to short-form registration rights pursuant to the 2004 Rights Agreement. If we
are eligible to file a registration statement on Form S-3, these holders have the right, upon written request from holders of these shares, to have such shares registered by us if the

proposed aggregate offering price of the shares to be registered by the holders requesting registration is at least $2.5 million, net of any underwriter’s discounts or commissions,
subject to exceptions set forth in the 2004 Rights Agreement.

Piggyback Registration Rights
Certain holders of shares of our common stock or their permitted transferees are entitled to piggyback registration rights pursuant to the 2004 Rights Agreement. If we
register any of our securities under the Securities Act, subject to certain exceptions, the holders of these shares will be entitled to notice of the registration and to include their

registrable securities in the registration. The underwriters of any underwritten offering have the right to limit the number of shares registered by these holders for marketing reasons,
subject to limitations set forth in the 2004 Rights Agreement.

Anti-Takeover Effects of Delaware Law and Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could have the effect of delaying, deferring or discouraging
another party from acquiring control of us. These provisions and certain provisions of Delaware law, which are summarized below, could discourage takeovers, coercive or
otherwise. These provisions are also designed, in part, to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to negotiate first with our board of directors. We believe that the
benefits of increased protection of our potential ability to negotiate with an unfriendly or unsolicited acquirer outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging a proposal to acquire us.

Undesignated Preferred Stock. As discussed above under “—Preferred Stock,” our board of directors has the ability to designate and issue preferred stock with voting or
other rights or preferences that could deter hostile takeovers or delay changes in our control or management.

Limits on Ability of Stockholders to Act by Written Consent or Call a Special Meeting. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that our stockholders
may not act by written consent. This limit on the ability of stockholders to act by written consent may lengthen the amount of time required to take stockholder actions. As a result,
the holders of a majority of our capital stock would not be able to amend the amended and restated bylaws or remove directors without holding a meeting of stockholders called in
accordance with the amended and restated bylaws.

In addition, our amended and restated bylaws provides that special meetings of the stockholders may be called only by the chairman of the board, the chief executive
officer, the president (in the absence of a chief executive officer) or our board of directors. A stockholder may not call a special meeting, which may delay the ability of our
stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or for holders controlling a majority of our capital stock to take any action, including the removal of directors.

Requirements for Advance Notification of Stockholder Nominations and Proposals. Our amended and restated bylaws contain advance notice procedures with respect to
stockholder proposals and the nomination of candidates for election as directors, other than nominations made by or at the direction of our board of directors or a committee of the
board of directors. These advance notice procedures may have the effect of precluding the conduct of certain business at a meeting if the proper procedures are not followed and
may also discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect its own slate of directors or otherwise attempt to obtain control of our company.

Board Classification. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that our board of directors is divided into three classes, one class of which is elected
each year by our stockholders. The directors in each class serve for a three-year term. Our classified board of directors may tend to discourage a third party from making a tender
offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us because it generally makes it more difficult for stockholders to replace a majority of the directors.

Election and Removal of Directors. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that establish specific
procedures for appointing and removing members of our board of directors. Under our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws,
vacancies and newly created directorships on our board of directors may be filled only by a vote of a majority of the directors then serving on the board of directors. Under our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, directors may be
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removed only for cause by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares then entitled to vote at an election of directors.

No Cumulative Voting. The Delaware General Corporation Law provides that stockholders are not entitled to the right to cumulate votes in the election of directors unless
our restated certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws do not expressly provide for cumulative
voting. Without cumulative voting, a minority stockholder may not be able to gain as many seats on our board of directors as the stockholder would be able to gain if cumulative
voting were permitted. The absence of cumulative voting makes it more difficult for a minority stockholder to gain a seat on our board of directors to influence our board of directors’
decision regarding a takeover.

Amendment of Charter Provision. Any amendment of the above provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation would require approval by holders of at
least two-thirds of our then outstanding common stock.

Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute. We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law regulating corporate takeovers. In general,
Section 203 prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging, under certain circumstances, in a business combination with an interested stockholder for a period of
three years following the date the person became an interested stockholder unless:

« prior to the date of the transaction, our board of directors approved either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an
interested stockholder;

« upon completion of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of
the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the voting stock outstanding, but not the outstanding voting stock

owned by the interested stockholder, (1) shares owned by persons who are directors and also officers and (2) shares owned by employee stock plans in which employee
participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or

e at or subsequent to the date of the transaction, the business combination is approved by our board of directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting of
stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least 66 23% of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

Generally, a business combination includes a merger, asset or stock sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. An interested
stockholder is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns or, within three years prior to the determination of interested stockholder status, did own 15% or more of a
corporation’s outstanding voting stock. We expect the existence of this provision to have an anti-takeover effect with respect to transactions our board of directors does not approve
in advance. We also anticipate that Section 203 may discourage attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares of common stock held by stockholders.

The provisions of Delaware law and the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws could have the effect of
discouraging others from attempting hostile takeovers and as a consequence, they might also inhibit temporary fluctuations in the market price of our common stock that often result
from actual or rumored hostile takeover attempts. These provisions might also have the effect of preventing changes in our management. It is also possible that these provisions
could make it more difficult to accomplish transactions that stockholders might otherwise deem to be in their best interests.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Computershare Trust Company, N.A.

ARISTA NETWORKS, INC.
2014 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

(as amended, restated and extended effective as of April 17, 2024, and as adjusted pursuant to the stock split effective December 3, 2024)

1. Purposes of the Plan. The purposes of this Plan are:
. to attract and retain the best available personnel for positions of substantial responsibility,
. to provide additional incentive to Employees, Directors and Consultants, and
. to promote the success of the Company’s business.
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The Plan permits the grant of Incentive Stock Options, Nonstatutory Stock Options, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Stock
Appreciation Rights, Performance Units and Performance Shares.

2. Definitions. As used herein, the following definitions will apply:

€) “Administrator” means the Board or any of its Committees as will be administering the Plan, in accordance with Section 4 of the
Plan.

(b) “Applicable Laws” means the requirements relating to the administration of equity-based awards under U.S. state corporate laws,
U.S. federal and state securities laws, the Code, any stock exchange or quotation system on which the Common Stock is listed or quoted and the
applicable laws of any foreign country or jurisdiction where Awards are, or will be, granted under the Plan.

(c) “Award” means, individually or collectively, a grant under the Plan of Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock,
Restricted Stock Units, Performance Units or Performance Shares.

(d) “Award Agreement” means the written or electronic agreement setting forth the terms and provisions applicable to each Award
granted under the Plan. The Award Agreement is subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.

(e) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.
U) “Change in Control” means the occurrence of any of the following events:

0] A change in the ownership of the Company which occurs on the date that any one person, or more than one person acting
as a group (“Person”), acquires ownership of the stock of the Company that, together with the stock held by such Person, constitutes more than fifty
percent (50%) of the total voting power of the stock of the Company; provided, however, that for purposes of this subsection, the acquisition of
additional stock by any one Person, who is considered to own more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power of the stock of the Company will
not be considered a Change in Control; or

(i) A change in the effective control of the Company which occurs on the date that a majority of members of the Board is
replaced during any twelve (12) month period by Directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of the members of the Board
prior to the date of the appointment or election. For purposes of this subsection (i), if any Person is considered to be in effective control of the
Company, the acquisition of additional control of the Company by the same Person will not be considered a Change in Control; or

(i) A change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company’s assets which occurs on the date that any Person
acquires (or has acquired during the twelve (12) month period ending on the date of the most recent acquisition by such person or persons) assets
from the Company that have a total gross fair market value equal to or more than fifty percent (50%) of the total gross fair market value of all of the
assets of the Company immediately prior to such acquisition or acquisitions; provided, however, that for purposes of this subsection (iii), the following
will not constitute a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company’s assets: (A) a transfer to an entity that is controlled by the
Company’s stockholders immediately after the transfer, or (B) a transfer of assets by the Company to: (1) a stockholder of the Company (immediately
before the asset transfer) in exchange for or with respect to the Company’s stock, (2) an entity, fifty percent (50%) or more of the total value or voting
power of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company, (3) a Person, that owns, directly or indirectly, fifty percent (50%) or more of the total
value or voting power of all the outstanding stock of the Company, or (4) an entity, at least fifty percent (50%) of the total value or voting power of
which is owned, directly or indirectly, by a Person described in this subsection (iii)(B)(3). For purposes of this subsection (iii), gross fair market value
means the value of the assets of the Company, or the value of the assets being disposed of, determined without regard to any liabilities associated
with such assets.

For purposes of this definition, persons will be considered to be acting as a group if they are owners of a corporation that enters into a
merger, consolidation, purchase or acquisition of stock, or similar business transaction with the Company.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, a transaction will not be deemed a Change in Control unless the transaction qualifies as a change in
control event within the meaning of Code Section 409A, as it has been and may be amended from time to time, and any proposed or final Treasury
Regulations and Internal Revenue Service guidance that has been promulgated or may be promulgated thereunder from time to time.

Further and for the avoidance of doubt, a transaction will not constitute a Change in Control if: (i) its sole purpose is to change the state
of the Company’s incorporation, or (ii) its sole purpose is to create a holding company that will be owned in substantially the same proportions by the
persons who held the Company’s securities immediately before such transaction.

(9) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Reference to a specific section of the Code or regulation
thereunder shall include such section or regulation, any valid regulation promulgated under such section, and any comparable provision of any future
legislation or regulation amending, supplementing or superseding such section or regulation.

(h)  “Committee” means a committee of Directors or of other individuals satisfying Applicable Laws appointed by the Board, or a duly
authorized committee of the Board, in accordance with Section 4 hereof.

-2
0] “Common Stock” means the common stock of the Company.
0) “Company” means Arista Networks, Inc., a Delaware corporation, or any successor thereto.

(k) “Consultant” means any person, including an advisor, engaged by the Company or a Parent or Subsidiary to render services to
such entity, provided the services (i) are not in connection with the offer or sale of securities in a capital raising transaction, and (ii) do not directly
promote or maintain a market for the Company’s securities.

0] “Director” means a member of the Board.

(m) “Disability” means total and permanent disability as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code, provided that in the case of Awards
other than Incentive Stock Options, the Administrator in its discretion may determine whether a permanent and total disability exists in accordance
with uniform and non-discriminatory standards adopted by the Administrator from time to time.

(n) “Effective Date” means April 17, 2024.

(0) “Employee” means any person, including Officers and Directors, employed by the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the
Company. Neither service as a Director nor payment of a director’s fee by the Company will be sufficient to constitute “employment” by the Company.

(p)  “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

(a) “Exchange Program” means a program under which (i) outstanding Awards are surrendered or cancelled in exchange for awards
of the same type (which may have higher or lower exercise prices and different terms), awards of a different type, and/or cash, (ii) Participants would
have the opportunity to transfer any outstanding Awards to a financial institution or other person or entity selected by the Administrator, and/or (iii) the
exercise price of an outstanding Award is increased or reduced. The Administrator will determine the terms and conditions of any Exchange Program
in its sole discretion.

n “Eair Market Value” means, as of any date, the value of Common Stock determined as follows:

0] If the Common Stock is listed on any established stock exchange or a national market system, including without limitation
the New York Stock Exchange, the NASDAQ Global Select Market, the NASDAQ Global Market or the NASDAQ Capital Market of The NASDAQ
Stock Market, its Fair Market Value will be the closing sales price for such stock (or the closing bid, if no sales were reported) as quoted on such
exchange or system on the day of determination, as reported in The Wall Street Journal or such other source as the Administrator deems reliable;

(i) If the Common Stock is regularly quoted by a recognized securities dealer but selling prices are not reported, the Fair
Market Value of a Share will be the mean between the high bid and low asked prices for the Common Stock on the day of determination (or, if no bids
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and asks were reported on that date, as applicable, on the last trading date such bids and asks were reported), as reported in The Wall Street Journal
or such other source as the Administrator deems reliable; or

(i) In the absence of an established market for the Common Stock, the Fair Market Value will be determined in good faith by
the Administrator.

(s) “Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the Company.

® “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option intended to qualify as an incentive stock option within the meaning of Section 422 of
the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

(u)  “Inside Director” means a Director who is an Employee.

v) “Nonstatutory Stock Option” means an Option that by its terms does not qualify or is not intended to qualify as an Incentive Stock
Option.

(w) “Officer” means a person who is an officer of the Company within the meaning of Section 16 of the Exchange Act and the rules
and regulations promulgated thereunder.

x) “Option” means a stock option granted pursuant to the Plan.

(y) “Outside Director” means a Director who is not an Employee.

(2) “Parent” means a “parent corporation,” whether now or hereafter existing, as defined in Section 424(e) of the Code.
(aa) “Participant” means the holder of an outstanding Award.

(ab) “Performance Share” means an Award denominated in Shares which may be earned in whole or in part upon attainment of
performance goals or other vesting criteria as the Administrator may determine pursuant to Section 10.

(ac) “Performance Unit” means an Award which may be earned in whole or in part upon attainment of performance goals or other
vesting criteria as the Administrator may determine and which may be settled for cash, Shares or other securities or a combination of the foregoing
pursuant to Section 10.

(ad)  “Period of Restriction” means the period during which the transfer of Shares of Restricted Stock are subject to restrictions and
therefore, the Shares are subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture. Such restrictions may be based on the passage of time, the achievement of target
levels of performance, or the occurrence of other events as determined by the Administrator.

(ae) “Plan” means this 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated.

(af) “Restricted Stock” means Shares issued pursuant to a Restricted Stock award under Section 7 of the Plan, or issued pursuant to
the early exercise of an Option.

(ag) “Restricted Stock Unit” means a bookkeeping entry representing an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of one Share, granted
pursuant to Section 8. Each Restricted Stock Unit represents an unfunded and unsecured obligation of the Company.

(ah) “Rule 16b-3" means Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act or any successor to Rule 16b-3, as in effect when discretion is being
exercised with respect to the Plan.
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(ai) “Section 1(b)” means Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act.
(aj) “Service Provider” means an Employee, Director or Consultant.
(ak) “Share” means a share of the Common Stock, as adjusted in accordance with Section 14 of the Plan.

(al) “Stock Appreciation Right” means an Award, granted alone or in connection with an Option, that pursuant to Section 9 is
designated as a Stock Appreciation Right.

(am) “Subsidiary” means a “subsidiary corporation,” whether now or hereafter existing, as defined in Section 424(f) of the Code.

3. Stock Subject to the Plan.

€) Stock Subject to the Plan. Subject to the provisions of Section 14 of the Plan, as of the Effective Date, the maximum aggregate
number of Shares that may be issued under the new amended, restated and extended Plan is (i) 52,800,000 Shares, plus (ii) any Shares subject to
Awards under the previous version of the Plan that had been in place prior to the Effective Date (the “Existing_Plan”) that, on or after the Effective
Date, expire or otherwise terminate without having been exercised in full, or that are forfeited to or repurchased by the Company, including net
settlement of Shares subject to Restricted Stock Units, with the maximum number of Shares to be added to the Plan as a result of clause (ii) equal to
40,158,628. The Shares may be authorized, but unissued, or reacquired Common Stock. For the avoidance of doubt, the available Share reserve
under the Existing Plan will no longer be available for grant and the only shares available for grant on the Effective Date shall be the number set forth
in clause (i) above.

(b) [REDACTED].

(c) Lapsed Awards. If an Award expires or becomes unexercisable without having been exercised in full, is surrendered pursuant to
an Exchange Program, or, with respect to Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Units or Performance Shares, is forfeited to or
repurchased by the Company due to failure to vest, the unpurchased Shares (or for Awards other than Options or Stock Appreciation Rights the
forfeited or repurchased Shares), which were subject thereto will become available for future grant or sale under the Plan (unless the Plan has
terminated). With respect to Stock Appreciation Rights, only Shares actually issued (i.e., the net Shares issued) pursuant to a Stock Appreciation
Right will cease to be available under the Plan; all remaining Shares under Stock Appreciation Rights will remain available for future grant or sale
under the Plan (unless the Plan has terminated). Shares that have actually been issued under the Plan under any Award will not be returned to the
Plan and will not become available for future distribution under the Plan; provided, however, that if Shares issued pursuant to Awards of Restricted
Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares or Performance Units are repurchased by the Company or are forfeited to the Company, such
Shares will become available for future grant under the Plan. Shares used to pay the exercise price of an Award or to satisfy the tax withholding
obligations related to an Award will become available for future grant or sale under the Plan. To the extent an Award under the Plan is paid out in cash
rather than Shares, such cash payment will not result in reducing the number of Shares available for issuance under the Plan. Notwithstanding the
foregoing and, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 14, the maximum number of Shares that may be issued upon the exercise of Incentive
Stock Options will equal the aggregate Share number stated in Section 3(a), plus, to the extent allowable under Section 422 of the Code and the
Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, any Shares that become available for issuance under the Plan pursuant to Sections 3(b) and 3(c).

-5-

(d) Share Reserve. The Company, during the term of this Plan, will at all times reserve and keep available such number of Shares as
will be sufficient to satisfy the requirements of the Plan.

4. Administration of the Plan.
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(@  Procedure.

0] Multiple Administrative Bodies. Different Committees with respect to different groups of Service Providers may administer

the Plan.

(i)  Section 162(m). To the extent that the Administrator determines it to be desirable to qualify Awards granted hereunder as
“performance-based compensation” within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code, the Plan will be administered by a Committee of two (2) or
more “outside directors” within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code.

(i) Rule 16b-3. To the extent desirable to qualify transactions hereunder as exempt under Rule 16b-3, the transactions
contemplated hereunder will be structured to satisfy the requirements for exemption under Rule 16b-3.

(iv)  Other Administration. Other than as provided above, the Plan will be administered by (A) the Board or (B) a Committee,
which committee will be constituted to satisfy Applicable Laws.

(b) Powers of the Administrator. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, and in the case of a Committee, subject to the specific duties
delegated by the Board to such Committee, the Administrator will have the authority, in its discretion:

0] to determine the Fair Market Value;

(i)  to select the Service Providers to whom Awards may be granted hereunder;

(iii)  to determine the number of Shares to be covered by each Award granted hereunder;
(iv) to approve forms of Award Agreements for use under the Plan;

(v) to determine the terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the terms of the Plan, of any Award granted hereunder. Such
terms and conditions include, but are not limited to, the exercise price, the time or times when Awards may be exercised (which may be based on
performance criteria), any vesting acceleration or waiver of forfeiture restrictions, and any restriction or limitation regarding any Award or the Shares
relating thereto, based in each case on such factors as the Administrator will determine;

(vi) to construe and interpret the terms of the Plan and Awards granted pursuant to the Plan;

(vii) to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to the Plan, including rules and regulations relating to sub-
plans established for the purpose of satisfying applicable foreign laws or for qualifying for favorable tax treatment under applicable foreign laws;

-6-

(viii) to modify or amend each Award (subject to Section 19 of the Plan), including but not limited to the discretionary authority to
extend the post-termination exercisability period of Awards and to extend the maximum term of an Option (subject to Section 6(b) of the Plan
regarding Incentive Stock Options);

(ix) to allow Participants to satisfy withholding tax obligations in such manner as prescribed in Section 15 of the Plan;

(x)  to authorize any person to execute on behalf of the Company any instrument required to effect the grant of an Award
previously granted by the Administrator;

(xi) to allow a Participant to defer the receipt of the payment of cash or the delivery of Shares that would otherwise be due to
such Participant under an Award; and

(xii) to make all other determinations deemed necessary or advisable for administering the Plan.

(c) Effect of Administrator’s Decision. The Administrator’s decisions, determinations and interpretations will be final and binding on all
Participants and any other holders of Awards.
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5. Eligibility & Limitations.

(a) Eligibility. Nonstatutory Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares
and Performance Units may be granted to Service Providers. Incentive Stock Options may be granted only to Employees.

(b) Limitations.

0] No Exchange Program. The Administrator may not implement an Exchange Program. Accordingly, there is no ability to
perform an Award repricing or exchange or transfer Awards to a third-party financial institution.

(i) Dividends and Other Distributions. No dividends or other distributions shall be paid with respect to any Shares underlying
any unvested portion of an Award.

6. Stock Options.

(a) Limitations. Each Option will be designated in the Award Agreement as either an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonstatutory Stock
Option. However, notwithstanding such designation, to the extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value of the Shares with respect to which Incentive
Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by the Participant during any calendar year (under all plans of the Company and any Parent or
Subsidiary) exceeds one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000), such Options will be treated as Nonstatutory Stock Options. For purposes of this
Section 6(a), Incentive Stock Options will be taken into account in the order in which they were granted. The Fair Market Value of the Shares will be
determined as of the time the Option with respect to such Shares is granted.

(b) Term of Option. The term of each Option will be stated in the Award Agreement. In the case of an Incentive Stock Option, the term
will be ten (10) years from the date of grant or such shorter term as may be provided in the Award Agreement. Moreover, in the case of an Incentive
Stock Option granted to a Participant who, at the time the Incentive Stock Option is granted, owns stock representing more than ten percent (10%) of
the total combined

voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary, the term of the Incentive Stock Option will be five (5) years from the
date of grant or such shorter term as may be provided in the Award Agreement.

(c) Option Exercise Price and Consideration.

0] Exercise Price. The per share exercise price for the Shares to be issued pursuant to exercise of an Option will be
determined by the Administrator, subject to the following:

(2) In the case of an Incentive Stock Option

(A) granted to an Employee who, at the time the Incentive Stock Option is granted, owns stock representing more
than ten percent (10%) of the voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary, the per Share exercise price will be no
less than one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant.

(B) granted to any Employee other than an Employee described in paragraph (A) immediately above, the per
Share exercise price will be no less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant.

(2) In the case of a Nonstatutory Stock Option, the per Share exercise price will be no less than one hundred percent
(100%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant.

?3) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Options may be granted with a per Share exercise price of less than one hundred
percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant pursuant to a transaction described in, and in a manner consistent with,
Section 424(a) of the Code.
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(i)  Waiting_Period and Exercise Dates. At the time an Option is granted, the Administrator will fix the period within which the
Option may be exercised and will determine any conditions that must be satisfied before the Option may be exercised.

(i) Form of Consideration. The Administrator will determine the acceptable form of consideration for exercising an Option,
including the method of payment. In the case of an Incentive Stock Option, the Administrator will determine the acceptable form of consideration at the
time of grant. Such consideration may consist entirely of: (1) cash; (2) check; (3) promissory note, to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws, (4) other
Shares, provided that such Shares have a Fair Market Value on the date of surrender equal to the aggregate exercise price of the Shares as to which
such Option will be exercised and provided that accepting such Shares will not result in any adverse accounting consequences to the Company, as
the Administrator determines in its sole discretion; (5) consideration received by the Company under a broker-assisted (or other) cashless exercise
program (whether through a broker or otherwise) implemented by the Company in connection with the Plan; (6) by net exercise; (7) such other
consideration and method of payment for the issuance of Shares to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws; or (8) any combination of the foregoing
methods of payment.

(d) Exercise of Option.

(@) Procedure for Exercise; Rights as a Stockholder. Any Option granted hereunder will be exercisable according to the terms
of the Plan and at such times and

under such conditions as determined by the Administrator and set forth in the Award Agreement. An Option may not be exercised for a fraction of a
Share.

An Option will be deemed exercised when the Company receives: (i) a notice of exercise (in such form as the Administrator may
specify from time to time) from the person entitled to exercise the Option, and (ii) full payment for the Shares with respect to which the Option is
exercised (together with applicable withholding taxes). Full payment may consist of any consideration and method of payment authorized by the
Administrator and permitted by the Award Agreement and the Plan. Shares issued upon exercise of an Option will be issued in the name of the
Participant or, if requested by the Participant, in the name of the Participant and his or her spouse.

Until the Shares are issued (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the
Company), no right to vote or receive dividends or any other rights as a stockholder will exist with respect to the Shares subject to an Option,
notwithstanding the exercise of the Option. The Company will issue (or cause to be issued) such Shares promptly after the Option is exercised. No
adjustment will be made for a dividend or other right for which the record date is prior to the date the Shares are issued, except as provided in Section
14 of the Plan.

Exercising an Option in any manner will decrease the number of Shares thereafter available, both for purposes of the Plan and for
sale under the Option, by the number of Shares as to which the Option is exercised.

(i)  Termination of Relationship as a Service Provider. If a Participant ceases to be a Service Provider, other than upon the
Participant’s termination as the result of the Participant’s death or Disability, the Participant may exercise his or her Option within such period of time
as is specified in the Award Agreement to the extent that the Option is vested on the date of termination (but in no event later than the expiration of the
term of such Option as set forth in the Award Agreement). In the absence of a specified time in the Award Agreement, the Option will remain
exercisable for three (3) months following the Participant’s termination. Unless otherwise provided by the Administrator, if on the date of termination
the Participant is not vested as to his or her entire Option, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Option will revert to the Plan. If after
termination the Participant does not exercise his or her Option within the time specified by the Administrator, the Option will terminate, and the Shares
covered by such Option will revert to the Plan.

(i)  Disability of Participant. If a Participant ceases to be a Service Provider as a result of the Participant’s Disability, the
Participant may exercise his or her Option within such period of time as is specified in the Award Agreement to the extent the Option is vested on the
date of termination (but in no event later than the expiration of the term of such Option as set forth in the Award Agreement). In the absence of a
specified time in the Award Agreement, the Option will remain exercisable for twelve (12) months following the Participant’s termination. Unless
otherwise provided by the Administrator, if on the date of termination the Participant is not vested as to his or her entire Option, the Shares covered by
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the unvested portion of the Option will revert to the Plan. If after termination the Participant does not exercise his or her Option within the time
specified herein, the Option will terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option will revert to the Plan.
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(iv) Death of Participant. If a Participant dies while a Service Provider, the Option may be exercised following the Participant’s
death within such period of time as is specified in the Award Agreement to the extent that the Option is vested on the date of death (but in no event
may the option be exercised later than the expiration of the term of such Option as set forth in the Award Agreement), by the Participant’s designated
beneficiary, provided such beneficiary has been designated prior to Participant’s death in a form acceptable to the Administrator. If no such beneficiary
has been designated by the Participant, then such Option may be exercised by the personal representative of the Participant’s estate or by the
person(s) to whom the Option is transferred pursuant to the Participant’s will or in accordance with the laws of descent and distribution. In the absence
of a specified time in the Award Agreement, the Option will remain exercisable for twelve (12) months following Participant’s death. Unless otherwise
provided by the Administrator, if at the time of death Participant is not vested as to his or her entire Option, the Shares covered by the unvested
portion of the Option will immediately revert to the Plan. If the Option is not so exercised within the time specified herein, the Option will terminate, and
the Shares covered by such Option will revert to the Plan.

7. Restricted Stock.

(®) Grant of Restricted Stock. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, the Administrator, at any time and from time to time,
may grant Shares of Restricted Stock to Service Providers in such amounts as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine.

(b) Restricted Stock Agreement. Each Award of Restricted Stock will be evidenced by an Award Agreement that will specify the
Period of Restriction, the number of Shares granted, and such other terms and conditions as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine.
Unless the Administrator determines otherwise, the Company as escrow agent will hold Shares of Restricted Stock until the restrictions on such
Shares have lapsed.

(c) Transferability. Except as provided in this Section 7 or the Award Agreement, Shares of Restricted Stock may not be sold,
transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated until the end of the applicable Period of Restriction.

(d) Other Restrictions. The Administrator, in its sole discretion, may impose such other restrictions on Shares of Restricted Stock as it
may deem advisable or appropriate.

(e) Removal of Restrictions. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 7, Shares of Restricted Stock covered by each Restricted
Stock grant made under the Plan will be released from escrow as soon as practicable after the last day of the Period of Restriction or at such other
time as the Administrator may determine. The Administrator, in its discretion, may accelerate the time at which any restrictions will lapse or be
removed.

® Voting_Rights. During the Period of Restriction, Service Providers holding Shares of Restricted Stock granted hereunder may
exercise full voting rights with respect to those Shares, unless the Administrator determines otherwise.

(9) Dividends and Other Distributions. During the Period of Restriction, Service Providers holding Shares of Restricted Stock will be
entitled to receive all dividends and other distributions paid with respect to such Shares, unless the Administrator provides otherwise. If any such
dividends or distributions are paid in Shares, the Shares will be subject to the same restrictions on transferability and forfeitability as the Shares of
Restricted Stock with respect to which they were paid.

-10-
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(h) Return of Restricted Stock to Company. On the date set forth in the Award Agreement, the Restricted Stock for which restrictions
have not lapsed will revert to the Company and again will become available for grant under the Plan.

8. Restricted Stock Units.

(@) Grant. Restricted Stock Units may be granted at any time and from time to time as determined by the Administrator. After the
Administrator determines that it will grant Restricted Stock Units under the Plan, it will advise the Participant in an Award Agreement of the terms,
conditions, and restrictions related to the grant, including the number of Restricted Stock Units.

(b) Vesting_Criteria and Other Terms. The Administrator will set vesting criteria in its discretion, which, depending on the extent to
which the criteria are met, will determine the number of Restricted Stock Units that will be paid out to the Participant. The Administrator may set
vesting criteria based upon the achievement of Company-wide, divisional, business unit, or individual goals (including, but not limited to, continued
employment or service), applicable federal or state securities laws or any other basis determined by the Administrator in its discretion.

(c) Earning_Restricted Stock Units. Upon meeting the applicable vesting criteria, the Participant will be entitled to receive a payout as
determined by the Administrator. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time after the grant of Restricted Stock Units, the Administrator, in its sole
discretion, may reduce or waive any vesting criteria that must be met to receive a payout.

(d) Form and Timing_of Payment. Payment of earned Restricted Stock Units will be made as soon as practicable after the date(s)
determined by the Administrator and set forth in the Award Agreement. The Administrator, in its sole discretion, may only settle earned Restricted
Stock Units in cash, Shares, or a combination of both.

(e) Cancellation. On the date set forth in the Award Agreement, all unearned Restricted Stock Units will be forfeited to the Company.

9. Stock Appreciation Rights.

€) Grant of Stock Appreciation Rights. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, a Stock Appreciation Right may be granted to
Service Providers at any time and from time to time as will be determined by the Administrator, in its sole discretion.

(b) Number of Shares. The Administrator will have complete discretion to determine the number of Stock Appreciation Rights granted
to any Service Provider.

(c) Exercise Price and Other Terms. The per share exercise price for the Shares to be issued pursuant to exercise of a Stock
Appreciation Right will be determined by the Administrator and will be no less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on
the date of grant. Otherwise, the Administrator, subject to the provisions of the Plan, will have complete discretion to determine the terms and
conditions of Stock Appreciation Rights granted under the Plan.

(d) Stock Appreciation Right Agreement. Each Stock Appreciation Right grant will be evidenced by an Award Agreement that will
specify the exercise price, the term of the Stock Appreciation Right, the conditions of exercise, and such other terms and conditions as the
Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine.
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(e) Expiration of Stock Appreciation Rights. A Stock Appreciation Right granted under the Plan will expire upon the date determined
by the Administrator, in its sole discretion, and set forth in the Award Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the rules of Section 6(b) relating to
the maximum term and Section 6(d) relating to exercise also will apply to Stock Appreciation Rights.

® Payment of Stock Appreciation Right Amount. Upon exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right, a Participant will be entitled to receive
payment from the Company in an amount determined by multiplying:

0] The difference between the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of exercise over the exercise price; times
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(i)  The number of Shares with respect to which the Stock Appreciation Right is exercised.

At the discretion of the Administrator, the payment upon Stock Appreciation Right exercise may be in cash, in Shares of equivalent value, or in
some combination thereof.

10. Performance Units and Performance Shares.

€) Grant of Performance Units/Shares. Performance Units and Performance Shares may be granted to Service Providers at any
time and from time to time, as will be determined by the Administrator, in its sole discretion. The Administrator will have complete discretion in
determining the number of Performance Units and Performance Shares granted to each Participant.

(b) Value of Performance Units/Shares. Each Performance Unit will have an initial value that is established by the Administrator on or
before the date of grant. Each Performance Share will have an initial value equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant.

(c) Performance Objectives and Other Terms. The Administrator will set performance objectives or other vesting provisions
(including, without limitation, continued status as a Service Provider) in its discretion which, depending on the extent to which they are met, will
determine the number or value of Performance Units/Shares that will be paid out to the Service Providers. The time period during which the
performance objectives or other vesting provisions must be met will be called the “Performance Period.” Each Award of Performance Units/Shares will
be evidenced by an Award Agreement that will specify the Performance Period, and such other terms and conditions as the Administrator, in its sole
discretion, will determine. The Administrator may set performance objectives based upon the achievement of Company-wide, divisional, business unit
or individual goals (including, but not limited to, continued employment or service), applicable federal or state securities laws, or any other basis
determined by the Administrator in its discretion.

(d) Earning_of Performance Units/Shares. After the applicable Performance Period has ended, the holder of Performance
Units/Shares will be entitled to receive a payout of the number of Performance Units/Shares earned by the Participant over the Performance Period, to
be determined as a function of the extent to which the corresponding performance objectives or other vesting provisions have been achieved. After the
grant of a Performance Unit/Share, the Administrator, in its sole discretion, may reduce or waive any performance objectives or other vesting
provisions for such Performance Unit/Share.
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(e) Form and Timing_of Payment of Performance Units/Shares. Payment of earned Performance Units/Shares will be made as soon
as practicable after the expiration of the applicable Performance Period. The Administrator, in its sole discretion, may pay earned Performance
Units/Shares in the form of cash, in Shares (which have an aggregate Fair Market Value equal to the value of the earned Performance Units/Shares at
the close of the applicable Performance Period) or in a combination thereof.

® Cancellation of Performance Units/Shares. On the date set forth in the Award Agreement, all unearned or unvested Performance
Units/Shares will be forfeited to the Company, and again will be available for grant under the Plan.

11. Leaves of Absence/Transfer Between Locations. Unless the Administrator provides otherwise, vesting of Awards granted hereunder will
be suspended during any unpaid leave of absence. A Participant will not cease to be an Employee in the case of (i) any leave of absence approved by
the Company or (ii) transfers between locations of the Company or between the Company, its Parent, or any Subsidiary. For purposes of Incentive
Stock Options, no such leave may exceed three (3) months, unless reemployment upon expiration of such leave is guaranteed by statute or contract.
If reemployment upon expiration of a leave of absence approved by the Company is not so guaranteed, then six (6) months following the first (1st) day
of such leave any Incentive Stock Option held by the Participant will cease to be treated as an Incentive Stock Option and will be treated for tax
purposes as a Nonstatutory Stock Option.

12. Outside Director Limitations.

(@) Cash-Settled Awards. No Outside Director may be granted, in any fiscal year of the Company, cash-settled Awards with a grant
date fair value (determined in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles) of more than $1,500,000, increased to $3,000,000 in
connection with his or her initial service.
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(b) Stock-Settled Awards. No Outside Director may be granted, in any fiscal year of the Company, stock-settled Awards with a grant
date fair value (determined in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles) of more than $1,500,000, increased to $3,000,000 in
connection with his or her initial service.

13.  Transferability of Awards. Unless determined otherwise by the Administrator, an Award may not be sold, pledged, assigned,
hypothecated, transferred, or disposed of in any manner other than by will or by the laws of descent or distribution and may be exercised, during the
lifetime of the Participant, only by the Participant. If the Administrator makes an Award transferable, such Award will contain such additional terms and
conditions as the Administrator deems appropriate.

14.  Adjustments; Dissolution or Liguidation; Merger or Change in Control.

(®) Adjustments. In the event that any dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash, Shares, other securities, or other
property), recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, repurchase, or
exchange of Shares or other securities of the Company, or other change in the corporate structure of the Company affecting the Shares occurs, the
Administrator, in order to prevent diminution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the Plan, will
adjust the number and class of Shares that may be delivered under the Plan and/or the number, class, and price of Shares covered by each
outstanding Award, and the numerical Share limits in Section 3 of the Plan.
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(b) Dissolution or Liquidation. In the event of the proposed dissolution or liquidation of the Company, the Administrator will notify each
Participant as soon as practicable prior to the effective date of such proposed transaction. To the extent it has not been previously exercised, an
Award will terminate immediately prior to the consummation of such proposed action.

(c) Change in Control. In the event of a merger of the Company with or into another corporation or other entity or a Change in
Control, each outstanding Award will be treated as the Administrator determines, including, without limitation, that each Award be assumed or an
equivalent option or right substituted by the successor corporation or a Parent or Subsidiary of the successor corporation. The Administrator will not be
required to treat all Awards similarly in the transaction.

In the event that the successor corporation does not assume or substitute for the Award, the Participant will fully vest in and have the
right to exercise all of his or her outstanding Options and Stock Appreciation Rights, including Shares as to which such Awards would not otherwise be
vested or exercisable, all restrictions on Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units will lapse, and, with respect to Awards with performance-based
vesting, all performance goals or other vesting criteria will be deemed achieved at one hundred percent (100%) of target levels and all other terms and
conditions met. In addition, if an Option or Stock Appreciation Right is not assumed or substituted in the event of a Change in Control, the
Administrator will notify the Participant in writing or electronically that the Option or Stock Appreciation Right will be exercisable for a period of time
determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion, and the Option or Stock Appreciation Right will terminate upon the expiration of such period.

For the purposes of this subsection (c), an Award will be considered assumed if, following the Change in Control, the Award confers the
right to purchase or receive, for each Share subject to the Award immediately prior to the Change in Control, the consideration (whether stock, cash,
or other securities or property) received in the Change in Control by holders of Common Stock for each Share held on the effective date of the
transaction (and if holders were offered a choice of consideration, the type of consideration chosen by the holders of a majority of the outstanding
Shares); provided, however, that if such consideration received in the Change in Control is not solely common stock of the successor corporation or its
Parent, the Administrator may, with the consent of the successor corporation, provide for the consideration to be received upon the exercise of an
Option or Stock Appreciation Right or upon the payout of a Restricted Stock Unit, Performance Unit or Performance Share, for each Share subject to
such Award, to be solely common stock of the successor corporation or its Parent equal in fair market value to the per share consideration received by
holders of Common Stock in the Change in Control.

Notwithstanding anything in this Section 14(c) to the contrary, an Award that vests, is earned or paid-out upon the satisfaction of one or
more performance goals will not be considered assumed if the Company or its successor modifies any of such performance goals without the
Participant’s consent; provided, however, a modification to such performance goals only to reflect the successor corporation’s post-Change in Control
corporate structure will not be deemed to invalidate an otherwise valid Award assumption.
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(d) Outside Director Awards. With respect to Awards granted to an Outside Director that are assumed or substituted for, if on the date
of or following such assumption or substitution the Participant’s status as a Director or a director of the successor corporation, as applicable, is
terminated other than upon a voluntary resignation by the Participant (unless such resignation is at the request of the acquirer), then the Participant
will fully vest in and have the right to exercise Options and/or Stock Appreciation Rights as to all of the Shares underlying such Award, including those
Shares which would not otherwise be vested or exercisable, all restrictions on Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units will lapse, and, with respect
to Awards with performance-based vesting, all performance goals or other vesting criteria will be deemed achieved at one hundred percent (100%) of
target levels and all other terms and conditions met.

15.  Tax.

€) Withholding_Requirements. Prior to the delivery of any Shares or cash pursuant to an Award (or exercise thereof) or such earlier
time as any tax withholding obligations are due, the Company will have the power and the right to deduct or withhold, or require a Participant to remit
to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy federal, state, local, foreign or other taxes (including the Participant’s FICA obligation) required to be
withheld with respect to such Award (or exercise thereof).

(b) Withholding_ Arrangements. The Administrator, in its sole discretion and pursuant to such procedures as it may specify from time
to time, may permit a Participant to satisfy such tax withholding obligation, in whole or in part by (without limitation) (a) paying cash, (b) electing to
have the Company withhold otherwise deliverable cash or Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the minimum statutory amount required to be
withheld, or (c) delivering to the Company already-owned Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the minimum statutory amount required to be
withheld. The Fair Market Value of the Shares to be withheld or delivered will be determined as of the date that the taxes are required to be withheld.

(c) Compliance With Code Section 409A. Awards will be designed and operated in such a manner that they are either exempt from
the application of, or comply with, the requirements of Code Section 409A such that the grant, payment, settlement or deferral will not be subject to the
additional tax or interest applicable under Code Section 409A, except as otherwise determined in the sole discretion of the Administrator. The Plan
and each Award Agreement under the Plan is intended to meet the requirements of Code Section 409A and will be construed and interpreted in
accordance with such intent, except as otherwise determined in the sole discretion of the Administrator. To the extent that an Award or payment, or the
settlement or deferral thereof, is subject to Code Section 409A the Award will be granted, paid, settled or deferred in a manner that will meet the
requirements of Code Section 409A, such that the grant, payment, settlement or deferral will not be subject to the additional tax or interest applicable
under Code Section 409A.

16. No Effect on Employment or Service. Neither the Plan nor any Award will confer upon a Participant any right with respect to continuing
the Participant’s relationship as a Service Provider with the Company, nor will they interfere in any way with the Participant’s right or the Company’s
right to terminate such relationship at any time, with or without cause, to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws.

17. Date of Grant. The date of grant of an Award will be, for all purposes, the date on which the Administrator makes the determination
granting such Award, or such other later date as is determined by the Administrator. Notice of the determination will be provided to each Participant
within a reasonable time after the date of such grant.

-15-

18. Term of Plan. Subject to Section 22 of the Plan, the Plan, as amended and restated, will become effective upon the Effective Date,
subject to stockholder approval at the 2024 Annual General Meeting. It will continue in effect for a term of ten (10) years from the date adopted by the
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Board, unless terminated earlier under Section 19 of the Plan.

19. Amendment and Termination of the Plan.

€) Amendment and Termination. The Administrator may at any time amend, alter, suspend or terminate the Plan.

(b) Stockholder Approval. The Company will obtain stockholder approval of any Plan amendment to the extent necessary and
desirable to comply with Applicable Laws.

(c) Effect of Amendment or Termination. No amendment, alteration, suspension or termination of the Plan will impair the rights of any
Participant, unless mutually agreed otherwise between the Participant and the Administrator, which agreement must be in writing and signed by the
Participant and the Company. Termination of the Plan will not affect the Administrator’s ability to exercise the powers granted to it hereunder with
respect to Awards granted under the Plan prior to the date of such termination.

20. Conditions Upon Issuance of Shares.

(@) Legal Compliance. Shares will not be issued pursuant to the exercise of an Award unless the exercise of such Award and the
issuance and delivery of such Shares will comply with Applicable Laws and will be further subject to the approval of counsel for the Company with
respect to such compliance.

(b) Investment Representations. As a condition to the exercise of an Award, the Company may require the person exercising such
Award to represent and warrant at the time of any such exercise that the Shares are being purchased only for investment and without any present
intention to sell or distribute such Shares if, in the opinion of counsel for the Company, such a representation is required.

21. Inability to Obtain Authority. The inability of the Company to obtain authority from any regulatory body having jurisdiction or to complete
or comply with the requirements of any registration or other qualification of the Shares under any state, federal or foreign law or under the rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the stock exchange on which Shares of the same class are then listed, or any other
governmental or regulatory body, which authority, registration, qualification or rule compliance is deemed by the Company’s counsel to be necessary
or advisable for the issuance and sale of any Shares hereunder, will relieve the Company of any liability in respect of the failure to issue or sell such
Shares as to which such requisite authority, registration, qualification or rule compliance will not have been obtained.

22.  Stockholder Approval. The Plan will be subject to approval by the stockholders of the Company at the 2024 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. If stockholder approval of the Plan is not obtained at the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, then any Award granted on or following
the Effective Date will be forfeited. In accordance with New York Stock Exchange Listing Rule 303A.08, no Shares underlying Awards granted on or
after the Effective Date shall be issued until stockholder approval is obtained. Such stockholder approval will be obtained in the manner and to the
degree required under Applicable Laws.

23. Forfeiture Events.

-16-

(@) All Awards under the Plan will be subject to recoupment under the Company’s current Compensation Recovery Policy and any
clawback policy that the Company is required to adopt pursuant to the listing standards of any national securities exchange or association on which
the Company’s securities are listed or as is otherwise required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act or other
Applicable Laws. In addition, the Administrator may impose such other clawback, recovery or recoupment provisions in an Award Agreement as the
Administrator determines necessary or appropriate, including but not limited to a reacquisition right regarding previously acquired Shares or other cash
or property. Unless this Section 23(a) is specifically mentioned and waived in an Award Agreement or other document, no recovery of compensation
under a clawback policy or otherwise will be an event that triggers or contributes to any right of a Participant to resign for “good reason” or
“constructive termination” (or similar term) under any agreement with the Company or a Subsidiary, or Parent of the Company.

(b) The Administrator may specify in an Award Agreement that the Participant's rights, payments, and benefits with respect to an
Award will be subject to reduction, cancellation, forfeiture, or recoupment upon the occurrence of specified events, in addition to any otherwise
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applicable vesting or performance conditions of an Award. Such events may include, but will not be limited to, termination of such Participant’s status
as Service Provider for cause or any specified action or inaction by a Participant, whether before or after such termination of service, that would
constitute cause for termination of such Participant’s status as a Service Provider.

24,
25,
-17-
ARISTA NETWORKS, INC.
2014 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN
(as adjusted pursuant to the stock split effective December 3, 2024)
1. Purpose. The purpose of the Plan is to provide employees of the Company and its Designated Companies with an opportunity to

purchase Common Stock through accumulated Contributions. The Company intends for the Plan to have two components: a Code Section 423
Component (“423 Component”) and a non-Code Section 423 Component (“Non-423 Component”). The Company’s intention is to have the 423
Component of the Plan qualify as an “employee stock purchase plan” under Section 423 of the Code. The provisions of the 423 Component,
accordingly, will be construed so as to extend and limit Plan participation in a uniform and nondiscriminatory basis consistent with the requirements of
Section 423 of the Code. In addition, this Plan authorizes the grant of an option to purchase shares of Common Stock under the Non-423 Component
that does not qualify as an “employee stock purchase plan” under Section 423 of the Code; such an option will be granted pursuant to rules,
procedures or sub-plans adopted by the Administrator designed to achieve tax, securities laws or other objectives for Eligible Employees and the
Company. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Non-423 Component will operate and be administered in the same manner as the 423
Component.

2. Definitions.
(@) “Administrator” means the Board or any Committee designated by the Board to administer the Plan pursuant to Section 14.
(b)  “Affiliate” means any entity, other than a Subsidiary, in which the Company has an equity or other ownership interest.

(c) “Applicable Laws” means the requirements relating to the administration of equity-based awards under U.S. state corporate laws,
U.S. federal and state securities laws, the Code, any stock exchange or quotation system on which the Common Stock is listed or quoted and the
applicable laws of any foreign country or jurisdiction where options are, or will be, granted under the Plan.

(d) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.
(e) “Change in Control” means the occurrence of any of the following events:

(i) A change in the ownership of the Company which occurs on the date that any one person, or more than one person acting
as a group (“Person”), acquires ownership of the stock of the Company that, together with the stock held by such Person, constitutes more than fifty
percent (50%) of the total voting power of the stock of the Company; provided, however, that for purposes of this subsection, the acquisition of
additional stock by any one Person, who is considered to own more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power of the stock of the Company will
not be considered a Change in Control; or

(ii) A change in the effective control of the Company which occurs on the date that a majority of members of the Board is

replaced during any twelve (12) month period by Directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of the members of the Board
4862-3692-7996.3
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prior to the date of the appointment or election. For purposes of this subsection (i), if any Person is considered to be in effective control of the
Company, the acquisition of additional control of the Company by the same Person will not be considered a Change in Control; or

(iii)A change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company’s assets which occurs on the date that any Person
acquires (or has acquired during the twelve (12) month period ending on the date of the most recent acquisition by such person or persons) assets
from the Company that have a total gross fair market value equal to or more than fifty percent (50%) of the total gross fair market value of all of the
assets of the Company immediately prior to such acquisition or acquisitions; provided, however, that for purposes of this subsection, the following will
not constitute a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company’s assets: (A) a transfer to an entity that is controlled by the
Company’s stockholders immediately after the transfer, or (B) a transfer of assets by the Company to: (1) a stockholder of the Company (immediately
before the asset transfer) in exchange for or with respect to the Company’s stock, (2) an entity, fifty percent (50%) or more of the total value or voting
power of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company, (3) a Person, that owns, directly or indirectly, fifty percent (50%) or more of the total
value or voting power of all the outstanding stock of the Company, or (4) an entity, at least fifty percent (50%) of the total value or voting power of
which is owned, directly or indirectly, by a Person described in this subsection (iii)(B)(3). For purposes of this subsection, gross fair market value
means the value of the assets of the Company, or the value of the assets being disposed of, determined without regard to any liabilities associated
with such assets.

For purposes of this definition, persons will be considered to be acting as a group if they are owners of a corporation that enters into a
merger, consolidation, purchase or acquisition of stock, or similar business transaction with the Company.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a transaction will not be deemed a Change in Control unless the transaction qualifies as a change in
control event within the meaning of Code Section 409A, as it has been and may be amended from time to time, and any proposed or final U.S.
Treasury Regulations and Internal Revenue Service guidance that has been promulgated or may be promulgated thereunder from time to time.

Further and for the avoidance of doubt, a transaction will not constitute a Change in Control if: (i) its sole purpose is to change the state
of the Company’s incorporation, or (ii) its sole purpose is to create a holding company that will be owned in substantially the same proportions by the
persons who held the Company’s securities immediately before such transaction.

U) “Code” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Reference to a specific section of the Code or U.S.
Treasury Regulation thereunder will include such section or regulation, any valid regulation or other official applicable guidance promulgated under
such section, and any comparable provision of any future legislation or regulation amending, supplementing or superseding such section or regulation.

(9) “Committee” means a committee of the Board appointed in accordance with Section 14 hereof.

(h) “Common Stock” means the common stock of the Company.

0] “Company” means Arista Networks, Inc., a Delaware corporation, or any successor thereto.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 108/152
©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

) “Compensation” means an Eligible Employee’s base straight time gross earnings, but exclusive of payments for incentive
compensation, bonuses, commissions and other similar compensation and payments for overtime and shift premium. The Administrator, in its
discretion, may, on a uniform and nondiscriminatory basis, establish a different definition of Compensation for a subsequent Offering Period.

(k) “Contributions” means the payroll deductions and other additional payments that the Company may permit to be made by a
Participant to fund the exercise of options granted pursuant to the Plan.

0} “Designated Company” means any Subsidiary or Affiliate that has been designated by the Administrator from time to time in its
sole discretion as eligible to participate in the Plan. For purposes of the 423 Component, only the Company and its Subsidiaries may be Designated
Companies, provided, however that at any given time, a Subsidiary that is a Designated Company under the 423 Component shall not be a
Designated Company under the Non-423 Component.

(m) “Director” means a member of the Board.

(n) “Eligible Employee” means any individual who is an employee providing services to the Company or a Designated Company and
is customarily employed for at least twenty (20) hours per week and more than five (5) months in any calendar year by the Employer, or any lesser
number of hours per week and/or number of months in any calendar year established by the Administrator (if required under applicable local law) for
purposes of any separate Offering or for Eligible Employee participating in the Non-423 Component. For purposes of the Plan, the employment
relationship will be treated as continuing intact while the individual is on sick leave or other leave of absence that the Employer approves or is legally
protected under Applicable Laws. Where the period of leave exceeds three (3) months and the individual's right to reemployment is not guaranteed
either by statute or by contract, the employment relationship will be deemed to have terminated three (3) months and one (1) day following the
commencement of such leave. The Administrator, in its discretion, from time to time may, prior to an Enrolliment Date for all options to be granted on
such Enrolliment Date in an Offering, determine (on a uniform and nondiscriminatory basis or as otherwise permitted by Treasury Regulation Section
1.423-2) that the definition of Eligible Employee will or will not include an individual if he or she: (i) has not completed at least two (2) years of service
since his or her last hire date (or such lesser period of time as may be determined by the Administrator in its discretion), (ii) customarily works not
more than twenty (20) hours per week (or such lesser period of time as may be determined by the Administrator in its discretion), (iii) customarily
works not more than five (5) months per calendar year (or such lesser period of time as may be determined by the Administrator in its discretion),
(iv) is a highly compensated employee within the meaning of Section 414(q) of the Code, or (V) is a highly compensated employee within the meaning
of Section 414(q) of the Code with compensation above a certain level or is an officer or subject to the disclosure requirements of Section 16(a) of the
Exchange Act, provided the exclusion is applied with respect to each Offering in an identical manner to all highly compensated individuals of the
Employer whose Employees are participating in that Offering. Each exclusion shall be applied with respect to an Offering in a manner complying with
U.S. Treasury Regulation Section 1.423-2(e)(2)(ii).

3
(o) “Employer” means the employer of the applicable Eligible Employee(s).
P) “Enroliment Date” means the first Trading Day of each Offering Period.
(@) “Exchange Act” means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder.

) “Exercise Date” means the first Trading Day on or after February 15 and August 15 of each Purchase Period. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the first Exercise Date under the Plan will be February 17, 2015 (as February 15 falls on a Sunday and the following day is a holiday).

(s) “Fair_Market Value” means, as of any date and unless the Administrator determines otherwise, the value of Common Stock
determined as follows:
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(i) If the Common Stock is listed on any established stock exchange or a national market system, including without limitation
the New York Stock Exchange, NASDAQ Global Select Market, the NASDAQ Global Market or the NASDAQ Capital Market of The NASDAQ Stock
Market, its Fair Market Value will be the closing sales price for such stock as quoted on such exchange or system on the date of determination (or the
closing bid, if no sales were reported), as reported in The Wall Street Journal or such other source as the Administrator deems reliable;

(ii) If the Common Stock is regularly quoted by a recognized securities dealer but selling prices are not reported, its Fair
Market Value will be the mean between the high bid and low asked prices for the Common Stock on the date of determination (or if no bids and asks
were reported on that date, as applicable, on the last Trading Day such bids and asks were reported), as reported in The Wall Street Journal or such
other source as the Administrator deems reliable;

(iii)In the absence of an established market for the Common Stock, the Fair Market Value thereof will be determined in good
faith by the Administrator; or

(iv)For purposes of the Enrolliment Date of the first Offering Period under the Plan, the Fair Market Value will be the initial price
to the public as set forth in the final prospectus included within the registration statement on Form S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission for the initial public offering of the Common Stock (the “Registration Statement”).

(®) “Eiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the Company.

(u) “New Exercise Date” means a new Exercise Date if the Administrator shortens any Offering Period then in progress.

(v)  “Offering” means an offer under the Plan of an option that may be exercised during an Offering Period as further described in
Section 4. For purposes of the Plan, the Administrator may designate separate Offerings under the Plan (the terms of which need not be identical) in
which Employees of one or more Employers will participate, even if the dates of the applicable Offering Periods of each such Offering are identical and
the provisions of the Plan will separately apply to each Offering. To the extent permitted by U.S. Treasury Regulation Section 1.423-2(a)(1), the terms
of each Offering need not be identical provided that the terms of the Plan and an Offering together satisfy U.S. Treasury Regulation Section 1.423-2(a)
(2) and (a)(3).
4

(w) “Offering_Periods” means the periods of approximately twenty-four (24) months during which an option granted pursuant to the
Plan may be exercised, (i) commencing on the first Trading Day on or after February 15 and August 15 of each year and terminating on the first
Trading Day on or after February 15 and August 15, approximately twenty-four (24) months later; provided, however, that the first Offering Period
under the Plan will commence with the first Trading Day on or after the date on which the Securities and Exchange Commission declares the
Company’s Registration Statement effective and will end on the first Trading Day on or after August 15, 2016, and provided, further, that the second
Offering Period under the Plan will commence on February 17, 2015. The duration and timing of Offering Periods may be changed pursuant to
Sections 4 and 19.

x) “Parent” means a “parent corporation,” whether now or hereafter existing, as defined in Section 424(e) of the Code.
) “Participant” means an Eligible Employee that participates in the Plan.
2) “Plan” means this Arista Networks, Inc. 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

(aa) “Purchase Period” means the approximately six (6) month period commencing after one Exercise Date and ending with the next
Exercise Date, except that the first Purchase Period of any Offering Period will commence on the Enrollment Date and end with the next Exercise
Date.

(ab) “Purchase Price” means an amount equal to eighty-five percent (85%) of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on
the Enrollment Date or on the Exercise Date, whichever is lower; provided however, that the Purchase Price may be determined for subsequent
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Offering Periods by the Administrator subject to compliance with Section 423 of the Code (or any successor rule or provision or any other Applicable
Law, regulation or stock exchange rule) or pursuant to Section 19.

(ac) “Subsidiary” means a “subsidiary corporation,” whether now or hereafter existing, as defined in Section 424(f) of the Code.

(ad) “Trading Day” means a day on which the national stock exchange upon which the Common Stock is listed is open for trading.

(ae) “U.S. Treasury Regulations” means the Treasury regulations of the Code. Reference to a specific Treasury Regulation or Section
of the Code shall include such Treasury Regulation or Section, any valid regulation promulgated under such Section, and any comparable provision of
any future legislation or regulation amending, supplementing or superseding such Section or regulation.

3. Eligibility.

(@) Eirst Offering_Period. Any individual who is an Eligible Employee immediately prior to the first Offering Period will be automatically
enrolled in the first Offering Period.
5

(b) Subsequent Offering_Periods. Any Eligible Employee on a given Enrollment Date subsequent to the first Offering Period will be
eligible to participate in the Plan, subject to the requirements of Section 5.

(c) Non-U.S. Employees. Eligible Employees who are citizens or residents of a non-U.S. jurisdiction (without regard to whether they
also are citizens or residents of the United States or resident aliens (within the meaning of Section 7701(b)(1)(A) of the Code)) may be excluded from
participation in the Plan or an Offering if the participation of such Eligible Employees is prohibited under the laws of the applicable jurisdiction or if
complying with the laws of the applicable jurisdiction would cause the Plan or an Offering to violate Section 423 of the Code. In the case of the Non-
423 Component, Eligible Employee may be excluded from participation in the Plan or an Offering if the Administrator has determined that participation
of such Eligible Employee is not advisable or practicable.

(d) Limitations. Any provisions of the Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, no Eligible Employee will be granted an option under the
Plan (i) to the extent that, immediately after the grant, such Eligible Employee (or any other person whose stock would be attributed to such Eligible
Employee pursuant to Section 424(d) of the Code) would own capital stock of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company and/or hold
outstanding options to purchase such stock possessing five percent (5%) or more of the total combined voting power or value of all classes of the
capital stock of the Company or of any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company, or (ii) to the extent that his or her rights to purchase stock under all
employee stock purchase plans (as defined in Section 423 of the Code) of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company accrues at a
rate, which exceeds twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) worth of stock (determined at the Fair Market Value of the stock at the time such option is
granted) for each calendar year in which such option is outstanding at any time, as determined in accordance with Section 423 of the Code and the
regulations thereunder.

4. Offering_Periods. The Plan will be implemented by overlapping Offering Periods with a new Offering Period commencing on the first
Trading Day on or after February 15 and August 15 each year, or on such other date as the Administrator will determine; provided, however, that the
first Offering Period under the Plan will commence with the first Trading Day on or after the date upon which the Company’s Registration Statement is
declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission and end on August 15, 2016, and provided, further, that the second Offering Period
under the Plan will commence on the first Trading Day on February 17, 2015. The Administrator will have the power to change the duration of Offering
Periods (including the commencement dates thereof) with respect to future Offerings without stockholder approval if such change is announced prior
to the scheduled beginning of the first Offering Period to be affected thereafter; provided, however, that no Offering Period may last more than twenty-
seven (27) months.

5. Patrticipation.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 111/152

©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

(@) First Offering_Period. An Eligible Employee will be entitled to continue to participate in the first Offering Period pursuant to Section
3(a) only if such individual submits a subscription agreement authorizing Contributions in a form determined by the Administrator (which may be
similar to the form attached hereto as Exhibit A) to the Company’s designated plan administrator (i) no earlier than the effective date of the Form S-8
registration statement with respect to the issuance of Common Stock under this Plan and (ii) no later than ten (10) business days following the
effective date of such S-8 registration statement or such other period of time as the Administrator may determine (the “Enrollment Window"). An
Eligible Employee’s failure to
6

submit the subscription agreement during the Enrollment Window will result in the automatic termination of such individual's participation in the first
Offering Period.

(b)  Subsequent Offering_Periods. An Eligible Employee may participate in the Plan pursuant to Section 3(b) by (i) submitting to the
Company’s stock administration office (or its designee), on or before a date determined by the Administrator prior to an applicable Enroliment Date, a
properly completed subscription agreement authorizing Contributions in the form provided by the Administrator for such purpose, or (ii) following an
electronic or other enrollment procedure determined by the Administrator.

6. Contributions.

€) At the time a Participant enrolls in the Plan pursuant to Section 5, he or she will elect to have Contributions (in the form of payroll
deductions or otherwise, to the extent permitted by the Administrator) made on each pay day during the Offering Period in an amount not exceeding
fifteen percent (15%) of the Compensation, which he or she receives on each pay day during the Offering Period; provided, however, that should a
pay day occur on an Exercise Date, a Participant will have any payroll deductions made on such day applied to his or her account under the
subsequent Purchase Period or Offering Period. The Administrator, in its sole discretion, may permit all Participants in a specified Offering to
contribute amounts to the Plan through payment by cash, check or other means set forth in the subscription agreement prior to each Exercise Date of
each Purchase Period. A Participant’s subscription agreement will remain in effect for successive Offering Periods unless terminated as provided in
Section 10 hereof.

(b) In the event Contributions are made in the form of payroll deductions, such payroll deductions for a Participant will commence on
the first pay day following the Enrollment Date and will end on the last pay day prior to the Exercise Date of such Offering Period to which such
authorization is applicable, unless sooner terminated by the Participant as provided in Section 10 hereof; provided, however, that for the first Offering
Period, payroll deductions will commence on the first pay day on or following the end of the Enroliment Window.

(c)  All Contributions made for a Participant will be credited to his or her account under the Plan and Contributions will be made in
whole percentages only. A Participant may not make any additional payments into such account.

(d) A Participant may discontinue his or her participation in the Plan as provided in Section 10. Unless otherwise determined by the
Administrator, for each Offering Period, a Participant may decrease (and may not increase) the rate of his or her Contributions once during the
Offering Period by (i) properly completing and submitting to the Company’s stock administration office (or its designee), on or before a date
determined by the Administrator prior to an applicable Exercise Date, a new subscription agreement authorizing the change in Contribution rate in the
form provided by the Administrator for such purpose, or (ii) following an electronic or other procedure prescribed by the Administrator. For clarity, a
Participant may decrease his or her Contribution rate to any whole percentage, including 0%. If a Participant has not followed such procedures to
change the rate of Contributions, the rate of his or her Contributions will continue at the originally elected rate throughout the Offering Period and
future Offering Periods (unless terminated as provided in Section 10). The Administrator may, in its sole discretion, limit the nature and/or number of
Contribution rate changes that may be made by Participants during any Offering Period, and may establish such other conditions or limitations as it
deems appropriate for Plan administration. Any change in payroll deduction rate made pursuant to this Section 6(d) will be effective as of the first

7
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full payroll period following five (5) business days after the date on which the change is made by the Participant (unless the Administrator, in its sole
discretion, elects to process a given change in payroll deduction rate more quickly).

(e) Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent necessary to comply with Section 423(b)(8) of the Code and Section 3(d), a
Participant’s Contributions may be decreased to zero percent (0%) at any time during a Purchase Period. Subject to Section 423(b)(8) of the Code
and Section 3(d) hereof, Contributions will recommence at the rate originally elected by the Participant effective as of the beginning of the first
Purchase Period scheduled to end in the following calendar year, unless terminated by the Participant as provided in Section 10.

0) Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary in the Plan, the Administrator may allow Eligible Employees to participate in the
Plan via cash contributions instead of payroll deductions if (i) payroll deductions are not permitted under applicable local law, (ii) the Administrator
determines that cash contributions are permissible under Section 423 of the Code and (jii) for Participants participating in the Non-423 Component.

(9) At the time the option is exercised, in whole or in part, or at the time some or all of the Common Stock issued under the Plan is
disposed of (or any other time that a taxable event related to the Plan occurs), the Participant must make adequate provision for the Company’s or
Employer’s federal, state, local or any other tax liability payable to any authority including taxes imposed by jurisdictions outside of the U.S., national
insurance, social security or other tax withholding obligations, if any, which arise upon the exercise of the option or the disposition of the Common
Stock (or any other time that a taxable event related to the Plan occurs). At any time, the Company or the Employer may, but will not be obligated to,
withhold from the Participant’s compensation the amount necessary for the Company or the Employer to meet applicable withholding obligations,
including any withholding required to make available to the Company or the Employer any tax deductions or benefits attributable to sale or early
disposition of Common Stock by the Eligible Employee. In addition, the Company or the Employer may, but will not be obligated to, withhold from the
proceeds of the sale of Common Stock or any other method of withholding the Company or the Employer deems appropriate to the extent permitted
by U.S. Treasury Regulation Section 1.423-2(f).

7. Grant of Option. On the Enrollment Date of each Offering Period, each Eligible Employee participating in such Offering Period will be
granted an option to purchase on each Exercise Date during such Offering Period (at the applicable Purchase Price) up to a number of shares of
Common Stock determined by dividing such Eligible Employee’s Contributions accumulated prior to such Exercise Date and retained in the Eligible
Employee’s account as of the Exercise Date by the applicable Purchase Price; provided that in no event will an Eligible Employee be permitted to
purchase during each Purchase Period more than 3,000 shares of Common Stock (subject to any adjustment pursuant to Section 18) and provided
further that such purchase will be subject to the limitations set forth in Sections 3(d) and 13. The Eligible Employee may accept the grant of such
option (i) with respect to the first Offering Period by submitting a properly completed subscription agreement in accordance with the requirements of
Section 5 on or before the last day of the Enrollment Window, and (ii) with respect to any subsequent Offering Period under the Plan, by electing to
participate in the Plan in accordance with the requirements of Section 5. The Administrator may, for future Offering Periods, increase or decrease, in
its absolute discretion, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that an Eligible Employee may purchase during each Purchase Period of an
Offering Period. Exercise of the option will occur as provided in Section 8,

8

unless the Participant has withdrawn pursuant to Section 10. The option will expire on the last day of the Offering Period.
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8. Exercise of Option.

(a) Unless a Participant withdraws from the Plan as provided in Section 10, his or her option for the purchase of shares of Common
Stock will be exercised automatically on the Exercise Date, and the maximum number of full shares subject to the option will be purchased for such
Participant at the applicable Purchase Price with the accumulated Contributions from his or her account. No fractional shares of Common Stock will be
purchased; any Contributions accumulated in a Participant’'s account, which are not sufficient to purchase a full share will be retained in the
Participant’s account for the subsequent Purchase Period or Offering Period, subject to earlier withdrawal by the Participant as provided in Section 10.
Any other funds left over in a Participant’s account after the Exercise Date will be returned to the Participant. During a Participant’s lifetime, a
Participant’s option to purchase shares hereunder is exercisable only by him or her.

(b) If the Administrator determines that, on a given Exercise Date, the number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which
options are to be exercised may exceed (i) the number of shares of Common Stock that were available for sale under the Plan on the Enroliment Date
of the applicable Offering Period, or (ii) the number of shares of Common Stock available for sale under the Plan on such Exercise Date, the
Administrator may in its sole discretion (x) provide that the Company will make a pro rata allocation of the shares of Common Stock available for
purchase on such Enroliment Date or Exercise Date, as applicable, in as uniform a manner as will be practicable and as it will determine in its sole
discretion to be equitable among all Participants exercising options to purchase Common Stock on such Exercise Date, and continue all Offering
Periods then in effect or (y) provide that the Company will make a pro rata allocation of the shares available for purchase on such Enrollment Date or
Exercise Date, as applicable, in as uniform a manner as will be practicable and as it will determine in its sole discretion to be equitable among all
participants exercising options to purchase Common Stock on such Exercise Date, and terminate any or all Offering Periods then in effect pursuant to
Section 19. The Company may make a pro rata allocation of the shares available on the Enroliment Date of any applicable Offering Period pursuant to
the preceding sentence, notwithstanding any authorization of additional shares for issuance under the Plan by the Company’s stockholders
subsequent to such Enrollment Date.

9. Delivery. As soon as reasonably practicable after each Exercise Date on which a purchase of shares of Common Stock occurs, the
Company will arrange the delivery to each Participant of the shares purchased upon exercise of his or her option in a form determined by the
Administrator (in its sole discretion) and pursuant to rules established by the Administrator. The Company may permit or require that shares be
deposited directly with a broker designated by the Company or to a designated agent of the Company, and the Company may utilize electronic or
automated methods of share transfer. The Company may require that shares be retained with such broker or agent for a designated period of time
and/or may establish other procedures to permit tracking of disqualifying dispositions of such shares. No Participant will have any voting, dividend, or
other stockholder rights with respect to shares of Common Stock subject to any option granted under the Plan until such shares have been purchased
and delivered to the Participant as provided in this Section 9.

10.  Withdrawal.

€) A Participant may withdraw all but not less than all the Contributions credited to his or her account and not yet used to exercise
his or her option under the Plan at any time by (i) submitting to the Company’s stock administration office (or its designee) a written notice of
withdrawal in the form determined by the Administrator for such purpose (which may be similar to the form attached hereto as Exhibit B), or
(i) following an electronic or other withdrawal procedure determined by the Administrator. All of the Participant’'s Contributions credited to his or her
account will be paid to such Participant promptly after receipt of notice of withdrawal and such Participant’s option for the Offering Period will be
automatically terminated, and no further Contributions for the purchase of shares will be made for such Offering Period. If a Participant withdraws from
an Offering Period, Contributions will not resume at the beginning of the succeeding Offering Period, unless the Participant re-enrolls in the Plan in
accordance with the provisions of Section 5.

(b) A Participant’s withdrawal from an Offering Period will not have any effect upon his or her eligibility to participate in any similar
plan that may hereafter be adopted by the Company or in succeeding Offering Periods that commence after the termination of the Offering Period from
which the Participant withdraws.
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11.  Termination of Employment. Unless a Participant’s ceasing to be an Eligible Employee, for any reason, he or she will be deemed to have
elected to withdraw from the Plan and the Contributions credited to such Participant’s account during the Offering Period but not yet used to purchase
shares of Common Stock under the Plan will be returned to such Participant and such Participant’s option will be automatically terminated. A
Participant whose employment transfers between entities through a termination with an immediate rehire (with no break in service) by the Company or
a Designated Company shall not be treated as terminated under the Plan; however, if a Participant transfers from an Offering under the 423
Component to the Non-423 Component, the exercise of the option shall be qualified under the 423 Component only to the extent it complies with
Section 423 of the Code.

12. Interest. No interest will accrue on the Contributions of a participant in the Plan, except as may be required by Applicable Law, as
determined by the Company, and if so required by the laws of a particular jurisdiction, shall apply to all Participants in the relevant Offering under the
423 Component, except to the extent otherwise permitted by U.S. Treasury Regulation Section 1.423-2(f).

13. Stock.

(@) Subject to adjustment upon changes in capitalization of the Company as provided in Section 18 hereof, the maximum number of
shares of Common Stock that will be made available for sale under the Plan will be 10,416,000 shares of Common Stock, plus an annual increase to
be added on the first day of each Fiscal Year beginning with the 2015 Fiscal Year equal to the least of (i) 40,000,000 shares of Common Stock, (ii) one
percent (1%) of the outstanding shares of Common Stock on the last day of the immediately preceding Fiscal Year, or (iii) an amount determined by
the Administrator.

(b) Until the shares are issued (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer
agent of the Company), a Participant will only have the rights of an unsecured creditor with respect to such shares, and no right to vote or receive
dividends or any other rights as a stockholder will exist with respect to such shares.

10

(c) Shares of Common Stock to be delivered to a Participant under the Plan will be registered in the name of the Participant or in the
name of the Participant and his or her spouse.

14.  Administration. The Plan will be administered by the Board or a Committee appointed by the Board, which Committee will be constituted
to comply with Applicable Laws. The Administrator will have full and exclusive discretionary authority to construe, interpret and apply the terms of the
Plan, to designate separate Offerings under the Plan, to designate Subsidiaries and Affiliates as participating in the 423 Component or Non-423
Component, to determine eligibility, to adjudicate all disputed claims filed under the Plan and to establish such procedures that it deems necessary for
the administration of the Plan (including, without limitation, to adopt such procedures and sub-plans as are necessary or appropriate to permit the
participation in the Plan by employees who are foreign nationals or employed outside the U.S., the terms of which sub-plans may take precedence
over other provisions of this Plan, with the exception of Section 13(a) hereof, but unless otherwise superseded by the terms of such sub-plan, the
provisions of this Plan shall govern the operation of such sub-plan). Unless otherwise determined by the Administrator, the Employees eligible to
participate in each sub-plan will participate in a separate Offering or in the Non-423 Component. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the
Administrator is specifically authorized to adopt rules and procedures regarding eligibility to participate, the definition of Compensation, handling of
Contributions, making of Contributions to the Plan (including, without limitation, in forms other than payroll deductions), establishment of bank or trust
accounts to hold Contributions, payment of interest, conversion of local currency, obligations to pay payroll tax, determination of beneficiary
designation requirements, withholding procedures and handling of stock certificates that vary with applicable local requirements. The Administrator
also is authorized to determine that, to the extent permitted by U.S. Treasury Regulation Section 1.423-2(f), the terms of an option granted under the
Plan or an Offering to citizens or residents of a non-U.S. jurisdiction will be less favorable than the terms of options granted under the Plan or the
same Offering to employees resident solely in the U.S. Every finding, decision and determination made by the Administrator will, to the full extent
permitted by law, be final and binding upon all parties.
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15.  Transferability. Neither Contributions credited to a Participant’'s account nor any rights with regard to the exercise of an option or to
receive shares of Common Stock under the Plan may be assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise disposed of in any way (other than by will, the
laws of descent and distribution) by the Participant. Any such attempt at assignment, transfer, pledge or other disposition will be without effect, except
that the Company may treat such act as an election to withdraw funds from an Offering Period in accordance with Section 10 hereof.

16. Use of Funds. The Company may use all Contributions received or held by it under the Plan for any corporate purpose, and the
Company will not be obligated to segregate such Contributions except under Offerings or for Participants in the Non-423 Component for which
Applicable Laws require that Contributions to the Plan by Participants be segregated from the Company’s general corporate funds and/or deposited
with an independent third party. Until shares of Common Stock are issued, Participants will only have the rights of an unsecured creditor with respect
to such shares.

17.  Reports. Individual accounts will be maintained for each Participant in the Plan. Statements of account will be given to participating
Eligible Employees at least annually, which statements will set forth the amounts of Contributions, the Purchase Price, the number of shares of
Common Stock purchased and the remaining cash balance, if any.

18.  Adjustments, Dissolution, Liquidation, Merger or Change in Control.
11

€) Adjustments. In the event that any dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash, Common Stock, other securities, or
other property), recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, repurchase, or
exchange of Common Stock or other securities of the Company, or other change in the corporate structure of the Company affecting the Common
Stock occurs, the Administrator, in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under
the Plan, will, in such manner as it may deem equitable, adjust the number and class of Common Stock that may be delivered under the Plan, the
Purchase Price per share and the number of shares of Common Stock covered by each option under the Plan that has not yet been exercised, and
the numerical limits of Sections 7 and 13.

(b) Dissolution or Liquidation. In the event of the proposed dissolution or liquidation of the Company, any Offering Period then in
progress will be shortened by setting a New Exercise Date, and will terminate immediately prior to the consummation of such proposed dissolution or
liquidation, unless provided otherwise by the Administrator. The New Exercise Date will be before the date of the Company’s proposed dissolution or
liquidation. The Administrator will notify each Participant in writing or electronically, prior to the New Exercise Date, that the Exercise Date for the
Participant’s option has been changed to the New Exercise Date and that the Participant’s option will be exercised automatically on the New Exercise
Date, unless prior to such date the Participant has withdrawn from the Offering Period as provided in Section 10 hereof.

(c) Merger or Change in Control. In the event of a merger or Change in Control, each outstanding option will be assumed or an
equivalent option substituted by the successor corporation or a Parent or Subsidiary of the successor corporation. In the event that the successor
corporation refuses to assume or substitute for the option, the Offering Period with respect to which such option relates will be shortened by setting a
New Exercise Date on which such Offering Period shall end. The New Exercise Date will occur before the date of the Company’s proposed merger or
Change in Control. The Administrator will notify each Participant in writing or electronically prior to the New Exercise Date, that the Exercise Date for
the Participant’'s option has been changed to the New Exercise Date and that the Participant's option will be exercised automatically on the New
Exercise Date, unless prior to such date the Participant has withdrawn from the Offering Period as provided in Section 10 hereof.

19. Amendment or Termination.

(@) The Administrator, in its sole discretion, may amend, suspend, or terminate the Plan, or any part thereof, at any time and for any
reason. If the Plan is terminated, the Administrator, in its discretion, may elect to terminate all outstanding Offering Periods either immediately or upon
completion of the purchase of shares of Common Stock on the next Exercise Date (which may be sooner than originally scheduled, if determined by
the Administrator in its discretion), or may elect to permit Offering Periods to expire in accordance with their terms (and subject to any adjustment
pursuant to Section 18). If the Offering Periods are terminated prior to expiration, all amounts then credited to Participants’ accounts that have not
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been used to purchase shares of Common Stock will be returned to the Participants (without interest thereon, except as otherwise required under
Applicable Laws, as further set forth in Section 12 hereof) as soon as administratively practicable.

(b)  Without stockholder consent and without limiting Section 18(a), the Administrator will be entitled to change the Offering Periods or
Purchase Periods, designate separate Offerings, limit the frequency and/or number of changes in the amount withheld during an Offering
12

Period, establish the exchange ratio applicable to amounts withheld in a currency other than U.S. dollars, permit Contributions in excess of the amount
designated by a Participant in order to adjust for delays or mistakes in the Company’'s processing of properly completed Contribution elections,
establish reasonable waiting and adjustment periods and/or accounting and crediting procedures to ensure that amounts applied toward the purchase
of Common Stock for each Participant properly correspond with Contribution amounts, and establish such other limitations or procedures as the
Administrator determines in its sole discretion advisable that are consistent with the Plan.

(c) In the event the Administrator determines that the ongoing operation of the Plan may result in unfavorable financial accounting
consequences, the Administrator may, in its discretion and, to the extent necessary or desirable, modify, amend or terminate the Plan to reduce or
eliminate such accounting consequence including, but not limited to:

(i) amending the Plan to conform with the safe harbor definition under the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting
Standards Codification Topic 718 (or any successor thereto), including with respect to an Offering Period underway at the time;

(i) altering the Purchase Price for any Offering Period or Purchase Period including an Offering Period or Purchase Period
underway at the time of the change in Purchase Price;

(iii)shortening any Offering Period or Purchase Period by setting a New Exercise Date, including an Offering Period or
Purchase Period underway at the time of the Administrator action;

(iv)reducing the maximum percentage of Compensation a Participant may elect to set aside as Contributions; and
(v) reducing the maximum number of Shares a Participant may purchase during any Offering Period or Purchase Period.
Such modifications or amendments will not require stockholder approval or the consent of any Plan Participants.

20. Notices. All notices or other communications by a Participant to the Company under or in connection with the Plan will be deemed to
have been duly given when received in the form and manner specified by the Company at the location, or by the person, designated by the Company
for the receipt thereof.

21. Conditions Upon Issuance of Shares. Shares of Common Stock will not be issued with respect to an option unless the exercise of such
option and the issuance and delivery of such shares pursuant thereto will comply with all applicable provisions of law, domestic or foreign, including,
without limitation, the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the Exchange Act, the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and the requirements
of any stock exchange upon which the shares may then be listed, and will be further subject to the approval of counsel for the Company with respect
to such compliance.

22.  As a condition to the exercise of an option, the Company may require the person exercising such option to represent and warrant
at the time of any such exercise that the shares are being purchased only for investment and without any present intention to sell or distribute
13
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such shares if, in the opinion of counsel for the Company, such a representation is required by any of the aforementioned applicable provisions of law.

23. Code Section 409A. The 423 Component of the Plan is exempt from the application of Code Section 409A and any ambiguities herein
will be interpreted to so be exempt from Code Section 409A. In furtherance of the foregoing and notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the
contrary, if the Administrator determines that an option granted under the Plan may be subject to Code Section 409A or that any provision in the Plan
would cause an option under the Plan to be subject to Code Section 409A, the Administrator may amend the terms of the Plan and/or of an
outstanding option granted under the Plan, or take such other action the Administrator determines is necessary or appropriate, in each case, without
the Participant's consent, to exempt any outstanding option or future option that may be granted under the Plan from or to allow any such options to
comply with Code Section 409A, but only to the extent any such amendments or action by the Administrator would not violate Code Section 409A.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall have no liability to a Participant or any other party if the option to purchase Common Stock under
the Plan that is intended to be exempt from or compliant with Code Section 409A is not so exempt or compliant or for any action taken by the
Administrator with respect thereto. The Company makes no representation that the option to purchase Common Stock under the Plan is compliant
with Code Section 409A.

24.  Term of Plan. The Plan will become effective upon the earlier to occur of its adoption by the Board or its approval by the stockholders of
the Company. It will continue in effect for a term of twenty (20) years, unless sooner terminated under Section 19.

25. Stockholder Approval. The Plan will be subject to approval by the stockholders of the Company within twelve (12) months after the date
the Plan is adopted by the Board. Such stockholder approval will be obtained in the manner and to the degree required under Applicable Laws.

26.  Governing Law. The Plan shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of California (except its choice-
of-law provisions).

27. No Right to Employment. Participation in the Plan by a Participant shall not be construed as giving a Participant the right to be retained
as an employee of the Company or a Subsidiary or Affiliate, as applicable. Furthermore, the Company or a Subsidiary or Affiliate may dismiss a
Participant from employment at any time, free from any liability or any claim under the Plan.

28. Severability. If any provision of the Plan is or becomes or is deemed to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable for any reason in any
jurisdiction or as to any Participant, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect the remaining parts of the Plan, and the Plan shall be
construed and enforced as to such jurisdiction or Participant as if the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had not been included.

29. Compliance with Applicable Laws. The terms of this Plan are intended to comply with all Applicable Laws and will be construed
accordingly.

30. Automatic Transfer to Low Price Offering_Period. To the extent permitted by Applicable Laws, if the Fair Market Value of the Common
Stock on any Exercise Date in an Offering Period is lower than the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on the Enroliment Date
14

of such Offering Period, then all participants in such Offering Period will be automatically withdrawn from such Offering Period immediately after the
exercise of their option on such Exercise Date and automatically re-enrolled in the immediately following Offering Period as of the first day thereof.
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EXHIBIT A

ARISTA NETWORKS, INC.
2014 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN
SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT
Original Application Offering Date:
Change in Payroll Deduction Rate

1. hereby elects to participate in the Arista Networks, Inc. 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Plan”) and
subscribes to purchase shares of the Company’s Common Stock in accordance with this Subscription Agreement and the Plan.

2. | hereby authorize payroll deductions from each paycheck in the amount of % of my Compensation on each payday (from O to
10%) during the Offering Period in accordance with the Plan. (Please note that no fractional percentages are permitted.)

3. | understand that said payroll deductions will be accumulated for the purchase of shares of Common Stock at the applicable Purchase
Price determined in accordance with the Plan. | understand that if | do not withdraw from an Offering Period, any accumulated payroll deductions will
be used to automatically exercise my option and purchase Common Stock under the Plan.

4. | have received a copy of the complete Plan and its accompanying prospectus. | understand that my participation in the Plan is in all
respects subject to the terms of the Plan.

5. Shares of Common Stock purchased for me under the Plan should be issued in the name(s) of (Eligible Employee or
Eligible Employee and Spouse only).

6. | understand that if | dispose of any shares received by me pursuant to the Plan within two (2) years after the Offering Date (the first day
of the Offering Period during which | purchased such shares) or one (1) year after the Exercise Date, | will be treated for federal income tax purposes
as having received ordinary income at the time of such disposition in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of the shares at the time
the date of any disposition of my shares and | will make adequate provision for Federal, state or other tax withholding_obligations,_if any, which arise
upon the disposition of the Common Stock. The Company may, but will not be obligated to, withhold from my compensation the amount necessary to
meet any applicable withholding obligation including any withholding necessary to make available to the Company any tax deductions or benefits
attributable to sale or early disposition of Common Stock by me. If | dispose of such shares at any time after the expiration of the two (2)-
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year and one (1)-year holding periods, | understand that | will be treated for federal income tax purposes as having received income only at the time of
such disposition, and that such income will be taxed as ordinary income only to the extent of an amount equal to the lesser of (a) the excess of the fair
market value of the shares at the time of such disposition over the purchase price which | paid for the shares, or (b) 15% of the fair market value of the
shares on the first day of the Offering Period. The remainder of the gain, if any, recognized on such disposition will be taxed as capital gain.

2 | hereby agree to be bound by the terms of the Plan. The effectiveness of this Subscription Agreement is dependent upon my eligibility to
participate in the Plan.

Employee’s Social
Security Number:

Employee’s Address:

| UNDERSTAND THAT THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT WILL REMAIN IN EFFECT THROUGHOUT SUCCESSIVE OFFERING
PERIODS UNLESS TERMINATED BY ME.

Dated:
Signature of Employee
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EXHIBIT B
ARISTA NETWORKS, INC.
2014 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

NOTICE OF WITHDRAWAL

The undersigned participant in the Offering Period of the Arista Networks, Inc. 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan that began on

(the “Offering_Date”) hereby notifies the Company that he or she hereby withdraws from the Offering Period. He or she hereby

directs the Company to pay to the undersigned as promptly as practicable all the payroll deductions credited to his or her account with respect to such

Offering Period. The undersigned understands and agrees that his or her option for such Offering Period will be automatically terminated. The

undersigned understands further that no further payroll deductions will be made for the purchase of shares in the current Offering Period and the
undersigned will be eligible to participate in succeeding Offering Periods only by delivering to the Company a new Subscription Agreement.

Name and Address of Participant:

Signature:
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Date:
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ARISTA NETWORKS, INC.

INSIDER TRADING POLICY
(Adopted on June 6, 2014, amended as of October 22, 2018, October 18, 2021, April 26, 2023 and February 10, 2025)
A. POLICY OVERVIEW

Arista Networks, Inc. (together with any subsidiaries, collectively the “Company”) has adopted this Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) to help you comply
with the federal and state securities laws and regulations that govern trading in securities and to help the Company minimize its own legal and reputational risk.

It is your responsibility to understand and follow this Policy. Insider trading is illegal and a violation of this Policy. In addition to your own liability for insider
trading, the Company, as well as individual directors, officers and other supervisory personnel, could face liability. Even the appearance of insider trading can lead to
government investigations or lawsuits that are time-consuming, expensive and can lead to criminal and civil liability, including damages and fines, imprisonment and
bars on serving as an officer or director of a public company, not to mention irreparable damage to both your and the Company’s reputation.

You should be alert to possible violations and promptly report violations or suspected violations of this Policy to the Compliance Officer (as defined below). If
your situation requires that your identity be kept secret, your anonymity will be preserved to the greatest extent reasonably possible. You may report violations or
suspected violations of this Policy via our website at www.arista.ethicspoint.com or call the anonymous ethical violation hotline at the telephone number specified at
www.arista.ethicspoint.com. If you wish to remain anonymous, you may send a letter addressed to the Compliance Officer at 5453 Great America Parkway, Santa
Clara, CA 95054. If you make an anonymous report, please provide as much detail as possible, including any evidence that you believe may be relevant to the
issue.

For purposes of this Policy, the Company’s General Counsel serves as the Compliance Officer. The Compliance Officer may designate others, from time to
time, to assist with the execution of his or her duties under this Policy.

B. POLICY STATEMENT

il | No Trading_on Material Nonpublic Information. It is illegal for anyone to trade in securities on the basis of material nonpublic information. If you are in
possession of material nonpublic information about the Company, except as discussed in Section H (Exceptions to Trading Restrictions), you may not, directly or
indirectly through others, engage in any transactions involving securities of the Company.

In addition, if you learn of material nonpublic information through your service with the Company that could be expected to affect the trading price of the
securities of another company, you cannot (x) use that information to trade, directly or indirectly through others, or (y) provide that information to another person in
order to trade, in the securities of that other company. For example, you may be involved in a proposed transaction involving a prospective business relationship
with or transaction between the Company and another company. If information about that transaction constitutes material nonpublic information for that other
company, you would be prohibited from engaging in
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transactions involving the securities of that other company (as well as transactions involving Company securities, if that information is material to the Company). It is
important to note that “materiality” is different for different companies. Information that is not material to the Company may be material to another company. Any
such action will be deemed a violation of this Policy.

2. No Disclosure of Confidential Information. You may not at any time disclose material nonpublic information about the Company or any other company
that you obtained in connection with your service with the Company, unless required by law, or unless (i) disclosure is required for legitimate Company business
purposes, (ii) you are authorized to disclose the information and (iii) appropriate steps have been taken to prevent misuse of that information (for example, entering
into an appropriate nondisclosure agreement that restricts the disclosure and use of the information, if applicable). This includes disclosure to other directors,
officers, employees, consultants, contractors or advisors whose roles do not require them to have the information or anyone outside of the Company, including
friends, family members, business associates, investors, consulting firms or any other person or entity that the Company has not authorized to know such
information. All material nonpublic information you acquire in the course of your service with the Company may only be used for legitimate Company business
purposes. In addition, you must handle the confidential information of others in accordance with any related non-disclosure agreements and other obligations that
the Company has with them and limit your use of the confidential information to the purpose for which it was disclosed. You must also not make recommendations
or express opinions on the basis of material nonpublic information as to trading in the securities of companies to which such information relates. You are prohibited
from engaging in these actions whether or not you derive any profit or personal benefit from doing so. This prohibition against disclosure of material nonpublic
information includes disclosure (even anonymous disclosure) via the internet, social media, blogs, investor forums or chat rooms where companies and their
prospects are discussed. In cases where disclosing nonpublic information to third parties is required, you should coordinate with the Legal Department. You must
also use all reasonable efforts to safeguard nonpublic information in the Company’s possession.

If you receive an inquiry for material nonpublic information from someone outside of the Company, such as a stock analyst, or a request for material
nonpublic information outside the ordinary course of business from someone outside of the Company, such as a business partner, vendor, supplier or salesperson,
then you should refer the inquiry to the Company’s Investor Relations Department. The Company is required under Regulation FD (Fair Disclosure) of the U.S.
federal securities laws to avoid the selective disclosure of material nonpublic information. Responding to a request yourself may violate this Policy and, in some
circumstances, the law. Please consult the Company’s External Communications Policy for more details.

3. Definition of Material Nonpublic Information. “Material information” means information that a reasonable investor would be substantially likely to
consider important in deciding whether to buy, hold or sell securities or would view as significantly altering the total mix of information available in the marketplace
about the issuer of the securities. In general, any information that could reasonably be expected to affect the market price of a security is likely to be material. Either
positive or negative information may be material.

It is not possible to define all categories of “material” information. However, some examples of information that could be regarded as material include, but are
not limited to:

a. financial results, key metrics such as revenues, bookings or product shipments, financial condition, earnings pre-announcements, guidance,
projections or forecasts, particularly if inconsistent with the Company’s guidance or the expectations of the investment community;

b. restatements of financial results, or material impairments, write-offs or restructurings;

c. changes in independent auditors, or notification that the Company may no longer rely on an audit report;

d. business plans or budgets;

e. creation of significant financial obligations, or any significant default under or acceleration of any financial obligation;

f. impending bankruptcy or financial liquidity problems;

g. significant developments involving business relationships, including execution, modification or termination of significant agreements, orders or

forecasts with customers, suppliers, distributors, manufacturers or other business partners;

h. significant information relating to the operation of the Company’s business or its products or services, such as new products or services,
major modifications or performance issues, defects or recalls, significant pricing changes or other announcements of a significant nature;

significant developments in research and development or relating to intellectual property;
j- significant legal or regulatory developments, whether positive or negative, actual or threatened, including litigation or resolving litigation;

k. major events involving the Company’s securities, including calls of securities for redemption, adoption of stock repurchase programs, option
repricings, stock splits, changes in dividend policies, public or private securities offerings, modification to the rights of security holders or notice of delisting;
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I significant corporate events, such as a pending or proposed merger, joint venture or tender offer, a significant investment, the acquisition or
disposition of a significant business or asset or a change in control of the Company;

m. major personnel changes, such as changes in senior management or employee layoffs;
n. data breaches or other cybersecurity events;

o. updates regarding any prior material disclosure that has materially changed; and

p. the existence of a special blackout period.

“Material nonpublic information” means material information that is not generally known or made available to the public. Even if information is widely
known throughout the Company, it may still be nonpublic. Generally, in order for information to be considered public, it must be made generally available through
media outlets, SEC filings, pre-announced public webcast, website or another broad, non-exclusionary form of public communications.

After the release of information, a reasonable period of time must elapse in order to provide the public an opportunity to absorb and evaluate the information
provided. As a general rule, at least two full trading days must pass after the dissemination of information before such information is considered public.

As a rule of thumb, if you think something might be material nonpublic information, it probably is. You can always reach out to the Compliance Officerif you
have questions.

4. Obligation to Disclose Material Nonpublic Information to the Company. You may not enter into any transaction, including those discussed in Section
H (Exceptions to Trading Restrictions), unless you have disclosed any material nonpublic information that you become aware of in the course of your service with
the Company, and that senior management is not aware of, to the Compliance Officer. If you are a member of senior management, the information must be
disclosed to the Chief Executive Officer, and if you are the Chief Executive Officer or a director, you must disclose the information to the board of directors, before

any transaction is permissible.

5. Personal Responsibility. The ultimate responsibility for complying with this Policy and applicable laws and regulations rests with you. You should use
your best judgment at all times and consult with your personal legal and financial advisors, as needed. We advise you to seek assistance if you have any questions
at all. The rules relating to insider trading can be complex, and a violation of insider trading laws can carry severe consequences.

C. PERSONS COVERED BY THIS POLICY

This Policy applies to you if you are a director, officer, employee, consultant, contractor or advisor of the Company, both inside and outside of the United
States. To the extent applicable to you, this Policy also covers your immediate family members, persons with whom you share a household, persons who are your
economic dependents and any entity whose transactions in securities you influence, direct or control. You are responsible for making sure that these other
individuals and entities comply with this Policy.

This Policy continues to apply even if you leave the Company or are otherwise no longer affiliated with or providing services to the Company, for as long as
you remain in possession of material nonpublic information. In addition, if you are subject to a trading blackout under this Policy at the time you leave the Company,
you must abide by the applicable trading restrictions until at least the end of the relevant blackout period.

There may be instances where you suffer financial harm or other hardship or are otherwise required to forego a planned transaction because of the
restrictions imposed by this Policy. Personal financial emergency or other personal circumstances are not mitigating factors under securities laws and will not
excuse a failure to comply with this Policy.

D. TRADING COVERED BY THIS POLICY

Except as discussed in Section H (Exceptions to Trading Restrictions), this Policy applies to all transactions involving the Company’s securities or other
companies’ securities for which you possess material nonpublic information obtained in connection with your service with the Company. This Policy therefore
applies to:

il any purchase, sale, loan or other transfer or disposition of any equity securities (including common stock, options, restricted stock units, warrants and
preferred stock) and debt securities (including debentures, bonds and notes) of the Company and such other companies, whether direct or indirect (including
transactions made on your behalf by money managers), and any offer to engage in the foregoing transactions;

2. any disposition in the form of a gift of any securities of the Company;
3. any distribution to holders of interests in an entity if the entity is subject to this Policy; and
4. any other arrangement that generates gains or losses from or based on changes in the prices of such securities including derivative securities (for

example, exchange-traded put or call options,
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swaps, caps and collars), hedging and pledging transactions, short sales and certain arrangements regarding participation in benefit plans, and any offer to engage
in the foregoing transactions.

There are no exceptions from insider trading laws or this Policy based on the size of the transaction or the type of consideration received.
E. TRADING RESTRICTIONS

Subject to the exceptions set forth in Section H (Exceptions to Trading Restrictions) below, this Policy restricts trading during certain periods and by certain
people as follows:

il Quarterly Blackout Periods. Except as discussed in Section H (Exceptions to Trading Restrictions), all directors, officers and certain employees of the
Company, and those consultants, contractors and advisors identified by the Company, must refrain from conducting transactions involving the Company’s securities
during quarterly blackout periods. Individuals subject to quarterly blackout periods will be informed by the Compliance Officer that they are listed on the covered
persons list maintained by the Compliance Officer (the “Covered Persons List”). To the extent applicable to you, quarterly blackout periods also cover your
immediate family members, persons with whom you share a household, persons who are your economic dependents and any entity whose transactions in securities
you influence, direct or control. Even if you are not specifically identified as being subject to quarterly blackout periods, you should exercise caution when engaging
in transactions during quarterly blackout periods because of the heightened risk of insider trading exposure.

Quarterly blackout periods will start at the end of the fifteenth day of the third month of each fiscal quarter and will end at the start of the third full trading day
following the Company’s earnings release.

The prohibition against trading during the blackout period also means that brokers cannot fulfill open orders on your behalf or on behalf of your immediate
family members, persons with whom you share a household, persons who are your economic dependents or any entity whose transactions in securities you
influence, direct or control, during the blackout period, including “limit orders” to buy or sell stock at a specific price or better and “stop orders” to buy or sell stock
once the price of the stock reaches a specified price. If you are subject to blackout periods or pre-clearance requirements, you should so inform any broker with
whom such an open order is placed at the time it is placed.

From time to time, the Company may identify other persons who should be subject to quarterly blackout periods, and the Compliance Officer may update
and revise the Covered Persons List as appropriate.

2. Special Blackout Periods. The Company always retains the right to impose additional or longer trading blackout periods at any time on any or all of
its directors, officers, employees, consultants, contractors and advisors. The Compliance Officerwill notify you if you are subject to a special blackout period by
providing to you a notice in writing or via email substantially in the form of Exhibit A. If you are notified that you are subject to a special blackout period, you may not
engage in any transaction involving the Company’s securities until the special blackout period has ended other than the transactions that are covered by the
exceptions below. You also may not disclose to anyone else that the Company has imposed a special blackout period. To the extent applicable to you, special
blackout periods also cover your immediate family members, persons with whom you share a household, persons who are your economic dependents and any
entity whose transactions in securities you influence, direct or control.

3. Regulation BTR Blackouts. Directors and officers may also be subject to trading blackouts pursuant to Regulation Blackout Trading Restriction, or
Regulation BTR, under U.S. federal securities laws. In general, Regulation BTR prohibits any director or officer from engaging in certain transactions involving the
Company'’s securities during periods when 401(k) plan participants are

prevented from purchasing, selling or otherwise acquiring or transferring an interest in certain securities held in individual account plans. Any profits realized from a
transaction that violates Regulation BTR are recoverable by the Company, regardless of the intentions of the director or officer effecting the transaction. In addition,
individuals who engage in such transactions are subject to sanction by the SEC as well as potential criminal liability. The Company will notify directors and officers if
they are subject to a blackout trading restriction under Regulation BTR. Failure to comply with an applicable trading blackout in accordance with Regulation BTR is a
violation of law and this Policy.

F. PRE-CLEARANCE OF TRADES

Except as discussed in Section H (Exceptions to Trading Restrictions), the Company’s directors and officers and any other persons identified on the Covered
Persons List of this Policy as being subject to pre-clearance requirements must obtain pre-clearance prior to trading the Company’s securities. If you are subject to
pre-clearance requirements, you should submit a pre-clearance request in the form attached as Exhibit B to the Compliance Officer prior to your desired trade date.
The person requesting pre-clearance will be asked to certify that he or she is not in possession of material nonpublic information about the Company. The
Compliance Officer is under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre-clearance and may determine not to permit the transaction. Further, pre-
clearance of a transaction does not constitute an affirmation by the Company or the Compliance Officer that you are not in possession of material nonpublic
information.

If the Compliance Officer is the requester, then the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer or either of their delegates, must pre-clear or
deny any trade. All trades must be executed within five business days of any pre-clearance.
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Even after preclearance, a person may not trade the Company’s securities if they become subject to a blackout period or aware of material nonpublic
information prior to the trade being executed.

From time to time, the Company may identify other persons who should be subject to the pre-clearance requirements set forth above, and the Compliance
Officer may update and revise the Covered Persons List as appropriate.

G. PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS

You may not engage in any of the following types of transactions other than as noted in Section H (Exceptions to Trading Restrictions) below, regardless of
whether you have material nonpublic information or not.

il | Short Sales. You may not engage in short sales (meaning the sale of a security that must be borrowed to make delivery) or “sell short against the
box” (meaning the sale of a security with a delayed delivery) if such sales involve the Company’s securities.

2. Derivative Securities and Hedging_Transactions. You may not, directly or indirectly, (a) trade in publicly-traded options, such as puts and calls, and
other derivative securities with respect to the Company’s securities (other than stock options, restricted stock units and other compensatory awards issued to you by
the Company) or (b) purchase financial instruments (including prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, and collars), or otherwise engage in transactions,
that hedge or offset, or are designed to hedge or offset, any decrease in the market value of Company equity securities either (i) granted to you by the Company as
part of your compensation or (i) held, directly or indirectly, by you.

3. Pledging_Transactions. If you are required to comply with Section 16 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 or the blackout periods or pre-
clearance requirements under this Policy, you

may not pledge the Company’s securities as collateral for any loan or as part of any other pledging transaction.

4. Margin Accounts. If you are required to comply with Section 16 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 or the blackout periods or pre-clearance
requirements under this Policy, you may not hold the Company’s common stock in margin accounts.

H. EXCEPTIONS TO TRADING RESTRICTIONS

There are no unconditional “safe harbors” for trades made at particular times, and all persons subject to this Policy should exercise good judgment at all
times. Even when a quarterly blackout period is not in effect, you are prohibited from engaging in transactions involving the Company’s securities if you possess
material nonpublic information, are subject to a special blackout period or are otherwise restricted under this Policy.

Other than the limited exceptions set forth below, any other exceptions to this Policy must be approved by the Compliance Officer, in consultation with the
Company'’s board of directors or an independent committee of the board of directors.

The following are certain limited exceptions to the quarterly and special blackout period restrictions and pre-clearance requirements imposed by the
Company under this Policy:

1. receipt and vesting of stock options, restricted stock units, restricted stock or other equity compensation awards from the Company;
2. stock option exercises where the purchase price of such stock options is paid in cash and there is no other associated market activity;
3. net share withholding with respect to equity awards where shares are withheld by the Company in order to satisfy tax withholding requirements, (x)

as required by either the Company’s board of directors (or a committee thereof) or the award agreement governing such equity award or (y) as you elect, if
permitted by the Company, so long as the election is irrevocable and made in writing at a time when a trading blackout is not in place and you are not in possession
of material nonpublic information;

4. sell to cover transactions where shares are sold on your behalf upon vesting of equity awards and sold in order to satisfy tax withholding
requirements, (x) as required by either the Company’s board of directors (or a committee thereof) or the award agreement governing such equity award or (y) as
you elect, if permitted by the Company, so long as the election is irrevocable and made in writing at a time when a trading blackout is not in place and you are not in
possession of material nonpublic information; however, this exception does not apply to any other market sale for the purposes of paying required withholding;

5] purchases pursuant to the employee stock purchase plan; however, this exception does not apply to subsequent sales of the shares;
6. transactions made pursuant to a valid 10b5-1 trading plan approved by the Company (see Section | (10b5-1 Trading Plans) below);
7. purchases of the Company’s stock in the 401(k) plan resulting from periodic contributions to the plan based on your payroll contribution election;

provided, however, that the blackout period restrictions and pre-clearance requirements do apply to elections you make under the 401(k) plan to (a) increase or
decrease the amount of your contributions under the 401(k) plan if such increase or decrease will increase or decrease the amount of your contributions that will be
allocated to a Company stock fund, (b) increase or decrease the percentage of your contributions that will be allocated to a Company stock fund, (c) move balances
into or out of a Company stock fund, (d) borrow money against
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your 401(k) plan account if the loan will result in liquidation of some or all of your Company stock fund balance and (e) prepay a plan loan if the pre-payment will
result in the allocation of loan proceeds to a Company stock fund,;

8. transfers by will or the laws of descent or distribution and, provided that prior written notice is provided to the Compliance Officer, distributions or
transfers (such as certain tax planning or estate planning transfers) that effect only a change in the form of beneficial interest without changing your pecuniary
interest in the Company’s securities; and

9. changes in the number of the Company’s securities you hold due to a stock split or a stock dividend that applies equally to all securities of a class, or
similar transactions.

If there is a Regulation BTR blackout (and no quarterly or special blackout period), then the limited exceptions set forth in Regulation BTR will apply. Please
be aware that even if a transaction is subject to an exception to this Policy, you will need to separately assess whether the transaction complies with applicable law.

l. 10B5-1 TRADING PLANS

The Company permits its directors, officers and employees to adopt written 10b5-1 trading plans in order to mitigate the risk of trading on material nonpublic
information. These plans allow for individuals to enter into a prearranged trading plan as long as the plan is not established or modified during a blackout period or
when the individual is otherwise in possession of material nonpublic information. To be approved by the Company and qualify for the exception to this Policy, any
10b5-1 trading plan adopted by a director, officer or employee must be submitted to the Compliance Officer for approval and comply with the requirements set forth
in the Requirements for Trading Plans attached as Exhibit C. If the Compliance Officer is the requester, then the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer, or their delegate, must approve the written 10b5-1 trading plan.

J. SECTION 16 COMPLIANCE

All of the Company’s officers and directors and certain other individuals are required to comply with Section 16 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934
and related rules and regulations which set forth reporting obligations, limitations on “short swing” transactions, which are certain matching purchases and sales of
the Company'’s securities within a six-month period, and limitations on short sales.

To ensure transactions subject to Section 16 requirements are reported on time, each person subject to these requirements must provide the Company with
detailed information (for example, trade date, number of shares, exact price, etc.) about his or her transactions involving the Company’s securities, including gifts,
transfers, pledges and transactions pursuant to any 10b5-1 trading plan, both prior to (to confirm compliance with pre-clearance procedures, if applicable) and
promptly following execution.

The Company is available to assist in filing Section 16 reports, but the obligation to comply with Section 16 is personal. If you have any questions, you
should check with the Compliance Officer.

K. VIOLATIONS OF THIS POLICY

Company directors, officers, employees, consultants, contractors and advisors who violate this Policy will be subject to disciplinary action by the Company,
including ineligibility for future Company equity or incentive programs or termination of employment or an ongoing relationship with the Company. The Company has
full discretion to determine whether this Policy has been violated based on the information available.

There are also serious legal consequences for individuals who violate insider trading laws, including large criminal and civil fines, significant imprisonment
terms and disgorgement of any profits gained or losses avoided. You may also be liable for improper securities trading by any person (commonly referred to as a
“tippee”) to whom you have disclosed material nonpublic information that you have learned through your position at the Company or made recommendations or
expressed opinions about securities trading on the basis of such information.

Please consult with your personal legal and financial advisors as needed. Note that the Company’s legal counsel, both internal and external, represent the
Company and not you personally. There may be instances where you suffer financial harm or other hardship or are otherwise required to forego a planned
transaction because of the restrictions imposed by this Policy or under securities laws. If you were aware of the material nonpublic information at the time of the
trade, it is not a defense that you did not “use” the information for the trade. Personal financial emergency or other personal circumstances are not mitigating factors
under securities laws and will not excuse your failure to comply with this Policy. In addition, a blackout or trading-restricted period will not extend the term of your
options. As a consequence, you may be prevented from exercising your options by this Policy or as a result of a blackout or other restriction on your trading, and as
a result your options may expire by their term. In such instances, the Company cannot extend the term of your options and has no obligation or liability to replace
the economic value or lost benefit to you. It is your responsibility to manage your economic interests and to consider potential trading restrictions when determining
whether to exercise your options.

L. PROTECTED ACTIVITY NOT PROHIBITED

Nothing in this Policy, or any related guidelines or other documents or information provided in connection with this Policy, shall in any way limit or prohibit you
from engaging in any of the protected activities set forth in the Company’s Whistleblower Policy, as amended from time to time.
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M. REPORTING

If you believe someone is violating this Policy or otherwise using material nonpublic information that they learned through their position at the Company to
trade securities, you should report it to the Compliance Officer, or if the Compliance Officer is implicated in your report, then you should report it in accordance with
the Company’s Whistleblower Policy.

N. AMENDMENTS

The Company reserves the right to amend this Policy at any time, for any reason, subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations, and with or without
notice, although it will attempt to provide notice in advance of any change. Unless otherwise permitted by this Policy, any amendments must be approved by the
Board of Directors of the Company.

EXHIBIT A

FORM OF SPECIAL BLACKOUT NOTICE
[Date]
CONFIDENTIAL COMMUNICATION

Arista Networks, Inc. (the “Company”) has imposed a special blackout period in accordance with the terms of the Company’s Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”).
Pursuant to the Policy, and subject to the exceptions stated in the Policy, you may not engage in any transaction involving the securities of the Company until you
receive official notice that the special blackout period is no longer in effect.

You may not disclose to others the fact that a special blackout period has been imposed. In addition, you should take care to handle any confidential information in
your possession in accordance with the Company’s policies.

If you have any questions at all, please contact me at [insert contact information).

Sincerely,

Compliance Officer

Exhibit A

EXHIBIT B

PRE-CLEARANCE CHECKLIST

Person proposing to trade:

Proposed trade (type and amount):

Manner of trade:

Proposed trade date:

Affiliate of the Company: O Yes [ONo

CINo blackout period. The proposed trade will not be made during a quarterly or special blackout period.
O No pension fund blackout under Regulation BTR.* There is no pension fund blackout period in effect.
O No prohibition under Insider Trading Policy. The person confirmed that the proposed trade is not prohibited under the Insider Trading Policy.

O No 10b5-1 trading plan. The person does not have an outstanding 10b5-1 trading plan, and has confirmed that the proposed trade will not occur during the term of a
10b5-1 trading plan.

[0 Section 16 compliance.* The person confirmed that the proposed trade will not give rise to any potential liability under Section 16 as a result of matched past (or
intended future) transactions.

O Form 4 filing.* A Form 4 has been or will be completed and will be timely filed with the SEC, if applicable.
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O Rule 144 compliance(Response required only from affiliates of the Company).
O The “current public information” requirement has been met (i.e., all 10-Ks, 10-Qs and other relevant reports during the last 12 months have been filed);
[0 The shares that the person proposes to trade are not restricted or, if restricted, the applicable holding period has been met;

O Volume limitations (greater of 1% of outstanding securities of the same class or the average weekly trading volume during the last four weeks) are not
exceeded, and the person is not part of an aggregated group;

O The manner of sale requirements will be met (a “brokers’ transaction” or directly with a market maker or a “riskless principal transaction”); and
O A Form 144, if applicable, has been completed and will be timely filed with the SEC.

O Rule 10b-5 concerns. The person has been reminded that trading is prohibited when in possession of any material nonpublic information regarding the Company that
has not been adequately disclosed to the public. The individual has discussed with the Compliance Officer any information known to the individual or the
Compliance Officer that the individual believes may be material.

* Applies if the individual is a director or an officer subject to Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Date:
(Signature of Compliance Officer)
(Print name of Compliance Officer)
P slide6
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| am not aware of material nonpublic information regarding the Company. | am not trading on the basis of any material nonpublic information. The transaction is in
accordance with the Insider Trading Policy and applicable law. | intend to comply with any applicable reporting and disclosure requirements on a timely basis. | understand
that | must execute the trade by the end of the fifth trading day after the date on which the trade is cleared by the Compliance Officer. | understand that by signing below, |
am not obligated to execute the trade.

Exhibit B

(Signature of person proposing to trade)

P A slide7

EXHIBIT C

REQUIREMENTS FOR TRADING PLANS

For transactions under a trading plan to be exempt from (A) the prohibitions in the Company’s Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) of Arista Networks, Inc.
(together with any subsidiaries, collectively the “Company”) with respect to transactions made while aware of material nonpublic information and (B) the pre-
clearance procedures and blackout periods established under the Policy, the trading plan must comply with the affirmative defense set forth in Exchange Act Rule
10b5-1 and must meet the following requirements (collectively, the “Trading Plan Requirements”):

il The trading plan must be in writing and signed by the person adopting the trading plan.

2. The trading plan must: (a) specify the amount(s), price(s) and date(s) of the transaction(s), (b) specify the objective method for determining the
amount(s), price(s) and date(s) of the transaction(s) or (c) provide any subsequent discretion for determining the amount(s), price(s) and date(s) of the
transaction(s) to another person or entity who is not, at the time of the transaction, aware of material nonpublic information.
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3. The trading plan must be adopted at a time when:

a. the person adopting the trading plan is not aware of any material nonpublic information; and
b. there is no quarterly, special or other trading blackout in effect with respect to the person adopting the plan.
4. The trading plan must be entered in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b5-1, and the person adopting

the trading plan must act in good faith with respect to the trading plan.

5. The trading plan must include representations that, on the date of adoption of the trading plan, the person adopting the trading plan:
a. is not aware of material nonpublic information about the securities or the Company; and
b. is adopting the trading plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b5-1.
6. The person adopting the trading plan may not have entered into or altered a corresponding or hedging transaction or position with respect to the

securities subject to the trading plan and must agree not to enter into any such transaction while the trading plan is in effect.

7. The first trade under the trading plan may not occur until the expiration of a cooling-off period consisting of the later of (a) 90 calendar days after the
adoption of the trading plan and (b) two business days after the filing by the Company of its financial results in a Form 10-Q or Form 10-K for the completed fiscal
quarter in which the trading plan was adopted (but, in any event, this required cooling-off period is subject to a maximum of 120 days after adoption of the trading
plan).

8. The trading plan must have a minimum term of one year (starting from date of adoption of the trading plan).

9. No transactions may occur during the term of the trading plan (except for the “Exceptions to Trading Restrictions” identified in the Policy and bona
fide gifts) except for those transactions

Exhibit C

specified in the trading plan. In addition, the person adopting the trading plan may not have an outstanding (and may not subsequently enter into any additional)
trading plan except as permitted by Rule 10b5-1. For example, as contemplated by Rule 10b5-1, a person may adopt a new trading plan before the scheduled
termination date of an existing trading plan, so long as the first scheduled trade under the new trading plan does not occur prior to the last scheduled trade(s) of the
existing trading plan and otherwise complies with these guidelines. Termination of the existing trading plan prior to its scheduled termination date may impact the
timing of the first trade or the availability of the affirmative defense for the new trading plan; therefore, persons adopting a new trading plan are advised to exercise
caution and consult with the Compliance Officer prior to the early termination of an existing trading plan.

10. Any modification or change to the amount, price or timing of transactions under the trading plan is deemed the termination of the trading plan, and
the adoption of a new trading plan (“Modification”). Therefore, a Modification must be submitted to the Compliance Officer for approval in accordance with Section |
of the Policy and is subject to the same conditions as a new trading plan as set forth in Sections 1 through 8 herein.

11. Within the one year preceding the adoption or a Maodification of a trading plan, a person may not have otherwise adopted or made a Modification to a
plan more than once.

12. A person may adopt a trading plan designed to cover a single trade only once in any consecutive 12-month period except as permitted by Rule 10b5-

13. If the person that adopted the trading plan terminates the plan prior to its stated duration, he or she may not trade in the Company’s securities until
after the expiration of 30 calendar days following termination, and then only in accordance with the Policy.

14. The Company must be promptly notified of any Modification or termination of the trading plan, including any suspension of trading under the trading
plan.

il The Company must have authority to require the suspension of the plan if there are legal, regulatory or contractual restrictions applicable to the
Company or the person that adopted the trading plan, or to require the cancellation of the trading plan at any time, subject to any reasonable broker notice
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requirements as may be set forth in the trading plan.
16. If the trading plan grants discretion to a stockbroker or other person with respect to the execution of trades under the trading plan:

a. the person adopting the trading plan may not exercise any subsequent influence over how, when or whether to effect purchases or sales
under the trading plan;

b. the person adopting the trading plan may not confer with the person administering the trading plan regarding the Company or its securities;
and
c. the person administering the trading plan must provide prompt notice to the Company of the execution of a transaction pursuant to the plan.

17. All transactions under the trading plan must be in accordance with applicable law.

18. Any exceptions to the Trading Plan Requirements must be approved by the Compliance Officer or, in the case of directors and officers who are
subject Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, by the Compliance Officer, in consultation with the Company’s board of directors, chair of the board, an
independent committee of the board of directors, or the chair of such independent committee.

19. The trading plan (including any Modification) must meet such other requirements as the Compliance Officer may determine.

Exhibit C

MEMORANDUM
To: Directors, officers, employees, consultants, contractors and advisors of Arista Networks, Inc.
From: Arista Networks, Inc.

Date:

Re: Insider Trading Policy

Attached is a copy of our Insider Trading Policy, which governs transactions involving trading in securities by directors, officers, employees, consultants, contractors
and advisors of Arista Networks, Inc. (together with any subsidiaries, collectively the “Company”). As described in the Insider Trading Policy, violations of insider
trading laws can result in significant civil and criminal liability. Accordingly, please carefully review the materials provided.

leslide8
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After
reading the Insider Trading Policy, please sign the receipt and acknowledgment at the bottom of this memorandum and return it to the Compliance Officer. The
Insider Trading Policy applies to you regardless of whether you sign the receipt and acknowledgment at the bottom of this memorandum and return it to the
Compliance Officer.

If you have any questions about the Insider Trading Policy or insider trading laws generally or about any transaction involving the securities of the Company, please
contact the Compliance Officer at [email address].

Attachment(s)
Receipt and Acknowledgment

* | have received and read the Insider Trading Policy.
« | have received satisfactory answers to any questions that | had regarding the Insider Trading Policy and insider trading in general.

« lunderstand and acknowledge that the Insider Trading Policy applies to me.
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« lunderstand and agree to comply with the Insider Trading Policy.

* |l understand that my failure to comply in all respects with the Insider Trading Policy is a basis for termination of my employment or other service relationship
with the Company as well as any other appropriate discipline.

* lunderstand and agree that the Company may give stop transfer and other instructions to the Company’s transfer agent with respect to transactions that the
Company considers to be in contravention of the Insider Trading Policy.

Sianature Date
l+slide9
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Print name
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Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF ARISTA NETWORKS, INC. 1)

Name of Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Avrista Networks Limited Ireland

Arista Technology Ireland Unlimited Company Ireland

Arista Networks Holding Corporation United States

Arista Holding Limited Ireland

(1) Pursuant to Item 601(b) (21)(ii) of Regulation S-K, the names of other subsidiaries of Arista Networks, Inc are omitted because, considered in aggregate, they would not
constitute a significant subsidiary as of the end of the year covered by this report.

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 Nos., 333-196550, 333-202919, 333-209723, 333-216136, 333-223093, 333-229730, 333-236426, 333-249591, 333-253277, 333-262733,
333-269744 and 333-269744) 333-277022) pertaining to the 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and 2014 Equity Incentive Plan of Arista Networks, Inc.;

of our reports dated February 12, 2024 February 18, 2025, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Arista Networks, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting of Arista Networks, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024.
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/sl Ernst & Young LLP
San Mateo, California

February 12, 2024 18, 2025

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Jayshree Ullal, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Arista Networks, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@)a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c)c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(@)a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: February 12, 2024 February 18, 2025

/sl JAYSHREE ULLAL

Jayshree Ullal
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
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CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Ita Brennan, Chantelle Breithaupt, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Arista Networks, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@)a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c)c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(@)a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: February 12, 2024 February 18, 2025

/s/ ITA BRENNAN CHANTELLE BREITHAUPT

Ita Brennan Chantelle Breithaupt

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer) Senior Vice President)

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Jayshree Ullal, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of Arista
Networks, Inc. on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
Arista Networks, Inc.

Date: February 12, 2024 February 18, 2025
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By: /sl JAYSHREE ULLAL
Name: Jayshree Ullal

Title: President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

1, Ita Brennan, Chantelle Breithaupt, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual
Report of Arista Networks, Inc. on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of Arista Networks, Inc.

Date: February 12, 2024 February 18, 2025

By: s/ ITA BRENNAN CHANTELLE BREITHAUPT
Name: Ita Brennan Chantelle Breithaupt
Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer) Senior Vice President)

A slidel
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committee of the Board made up of independent members of the Board, in which case all references to the Committee
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-3- “Financial Reporting Measures” are measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the Company's financial statements, and any measures that are derived wholly or in par

Measure need not be presented within the financial statements or included in a filing with the Securities and

from such measures. Stock price and total shareholder return are also Financial Reporting Measures. A Financial Reportin
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be enforceable when the Company ceases to be listed issuer within the meaning of Section 10D of the Exchange Act/
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lappropriate discipline. « | understand that neither the Policy, nor the application of the Policy to me, gives rise to a resignation for good reason

acknowledge that if | have guestions concerning the meaning or application of the Policy, itis my re: ce from the General Counsel, Human Resources or m
IAcknowledgement nor the Policy is meant to constitute an employment contract. Executive (print name) (signature) (date

sponsibility to seek guidan
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